Cannabidiol improves survivability, seizures and associated behavioural comorbidities in a range of animal models of epilepsy



A thesis submitted to the University of Reading in partial fulfilment for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

By

Pabitra Hriday Patra

School of Pharmacy & School of Psychology and Clinical Language Sciences

January 2019

Supervisors

Dr Alister J. McNeish & Prof Claire M. Williams

Declaration

The work described in this thesis was carried out between October 2015 and December 2018 in the School of Pharmacy at the University of Reading. I confirm that this is my own work and materials from other sources have been properly acknowledged.

Date 26/01/2019

Pabitra Hriday Patra

Dedicated to the Animals who sacrificed their life for this work

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my special appreciation and thanks to my supervisors, Dr Alister McNeish and Prof Claire Williams, you both have been a great mentor for me. I have learnt a lot from you both, your encouragement and advice have been priceless. I have really enjoyed working with you both and I am grateful for everything you have done for me.

I would also like to thank and express my gratitude to Dr Ben Whalley (GW Pharmaceuticals) for his enormous help from helping me to secure the PhD funding to providing me the necessary guidance and support during his stay at the University of Reading. I would also like to thank Dr Michael Bazelot (GW Pharmaceuticals) for providing his valuable guidance.

A big thanks to the GW Pharmaceuticals and the University of Reading for funding my PhD.

Thanks to the animal house (BRU) staff Andrew, Wayne, Sophie, Becky, Mhairi and others for their excellent technical service for making my life easier inside the BRU.

I want to say a big thank you to my colleagues Elena, Sarah, Tino, Yuhan, Guilherme, Divya, Charlotte, Emily, Ines, Harry, Sahar and Shanice for all love, advice and support and making my time here pleasant and memorable. I would also like to thank my junior and housemate Hemanta for his emotional support. Many thanks to Dr Sakthi Vaiyapuri for his guidance.

I also want to thank our collaborators Prof Robin Williams (University of Royal Holloway), Dr Melissa Barker-Haliski (University of Washington), Prof Steve White (University of Washington) and Dr Evan Rosenberg (NYU Langone Medical Center) for such wonderful collaboration in different areas of epilepsy.

A very special thanks to my present postdoctoral PI, Prof Tony Pickering at the University of Bristol for his moral support during my PhD writing process.

I am very much grateful to my parents, brother and grandparents and other family members for all your support, and for the sacrifices that you have made on my behalf. You have been my strength and your prayers for me are what sustained me thus far. Also, special thoughts for all my well-wishers and finally, I thank god for everything.

Publications

Part of this thesis

- Patra, P. H., Barker-Haliski, M., White, H. S., Whalley, B. J., Glyn, S., Sandhu, H., Jones, N., Bazelot, M., Williams, C. M. & McNeish, A. J. (2018). Cannabidiol reduces seizures and associated behavioral comorbidities in a range of animal seizure and epilepsy models. *Epilepsia*, 0 (0).
- Rosenberg, E. C.*, **Patra, P. H.*** & Whalley, B. J. (2017). Therapeutic effects of cannabinoids in animal models of seizures, epilepsy, epileptogenesis, and epilepsy-related neuroprotection. *Epilepsy Behav*, **70** (Pt B), 319-27. ***Equally contributed first author.**
- Patra, P. H., Serafeimidou, E., Whalley, B. J., Bazelot, M., Williams, C. M. & McNeish, A. J. Cannabidiol prevents premature mortality and improves comorbidities associated with Dravet syndrome in mice. Manuscript in preparation.

Not part of this thesis

- Rosenberg, E., Bazelot, M., Chamberland, S., Salah, A., Nebet, E., Bailey, S., Patra, P., Whalley, B., Devinsky, O. & Tsien, R. Cannabidiol (CBD) exerts anti-epileptic actions by targeting the LPI-GPR55 signalling system potentiated by seizures. *Neuron*, manuscript under revision.
- Perry, C J., Finch, P., Muller-Taubenberger, A., Warren, E., Oddy, J., Sharma, D., Patra, P. H., Glyn, S., Boberska, J., Stewart, B., Baldwin, A., Piscitelli, F., Harvey, R., Harwood, A., Thompson, C., Claus, S., Williams, C., McNeish, A. J., Whalley, B. & Williams, R. S. B. Cannabis insights to a therapeutic mechanism in epilepsy treatment, from amoeba to mammals.. Manuscript submitted to *Br J Pharmacol*.
- Ravishankar, D., Albadawi, D. A. I., Chaagar, V., Patra, P. H., Williams, H. F., Dash, P., Patel, K., Watson, K. & Vaiyapuri, S. Isorhapontigenin, a resveratrol analogue inhibits ADP-induced platelet activation. Manuscript submitted to *Eur J Pharmacol*.

Conference presentations

- 2018: American Epilepsy Society Annual Meeting, New Orleans, USA (Poster).
- 2017: American Epilepsy Society Annual Meeting, Washington DC, USA (Poster).
- 2017: 8th European Workshop on Cannabinoid Research, British Pharmacological Society, University of Roehampton, UK (**Poster**).

Abstract

Epilepsy is a chronic neurological disease characterised by recurrent seizures, premature mortality and several associated comorbidities such as motor disorder, anxiety, depression, social deficits and cognitive impairment.

Here, the effect of cannabidiol (CBD) in three different preclinical models of epilepsy was investigated. First, the effect of 9-weeks oral CBD administration (200 mg/kg/day) on seizures, motor function, gait and cognition in a reduced intensity status epilepticus induced spontaneous recurrent seizures (RISE-SRS) rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) was evaluated. Subsequently, the effect of long-term CBD administration (100 mg/kg, twice daily s.c. injections from postnatal day 8 (P8) to 25/death) on survivability and a number of welfare parameters such as natural activity, reflex/response to touch, total neonatal welfare, orbital tightening and body condition in the *Scn1a*^{-/-} mouse model was investigated. Finally, the effect of chronic CBD administration (100 mg/kg, twice daily s.c. injections from P8 to 52/death) on premature mortality and comorbidities such as motor dysfunction, social deficits, anxiety, depression and cognitive impairment in the *Scn1a*^{+/-} mouse model of Dravet syndrome was assessed.

I demonstrated for the first time that chronic CBD treatment improved seizures, motor function and cognition without producing any adverse effect on gait in RISE-SRS rat model of TLE. Further, I showed that CBD treatment extended survivability and improved the neonatal welfare parameters in the $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mouse model. Moreover, I established the novel finding that chronic CBD-treatment prevented premature mortality and improved the comorbidities associated with the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mouse model of Dravet syndrome.

Although the anticonvulsant property of CBD has been shown in animal models of seizures, I am the first to demonstrate that CBD has disease modifying potential, and improves seizures, survivability and comorbidities associated with preclinical models of epilepsy. Notably, this project formed a core part in the development and US-FDA approval of Epidiolex[®] (GW Pharmaceuticals) in 2018.

Table of contents

Chapter 1:	General introduction	1
1.1 Epi	lepsy	2
1.1.1	Historical background	3
1.1.2	Aetiology	6
1.1.3	Pathophysiology	7
1.1.4	Antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) and their mechanism of action	10
1.1.5	Classification of seizures	12
1.1.6	Classification of epilepsy	14
1.1.7	Temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE)	16
1.1.8	Dravet syndrome	17
1.1.9	Animal models of seizures and epilepsy	18
1.2 Co	morbidities associated with epilepsy	21
1.2.1	Depression	22
1.2.2	Anxiety	23
1.2.3	Suicidality	24
1.2.4	ADHD	24
1.2.5	Autism spectrum disorder	25
1.2.6	Cognitive impairment	26
1.2.7	Motor disorder and gait abnormalities	27
1.2.8	Other medical conditions	27
1.3 Ca	nnabis and cannabinoids	28
1.3.1	The endocannabinoid system	29
1.3.2	Synthetic cannabinoids	33
1.3.3	Phytocannabinoids	34
1.4 Ob	jectives	41
Chapter 2: temporal lob	Effect of CBD in reducing seizures and associated comorbidities in rat more epilepsy	
2.1 Intr	oduction	44
2.2 Me	thods	45
2.2.1	Animals and test substances	45
2.2.2	Induction of reduced intensity status epilepticus (RISE)	46

2.2	2.3	Confirmation of epilepsy	. 49
2.2	2.4	Experimental design	. 50
2.2	2.5	Assessment of seizures	. 52
2.2	2.6	Assessment of motor coordination	. 53
2.2	2.7	Assessment of gait	. 53
2.2	2.8	Assessment of cognitive function	. 54
2.2	2.9	Statistical analysis	. 55
2.3	Res	ults	. 55
2.3	3.1	CBD reduced long-term seizure burden in epileptic rats	. 55
2.3	3.2	CBD attenuated motor incoordination associated with epilepsy	. 58
2.3	3.3	CBD did not exert any adverse effect on gait in epileptic rats	. 59
2.3	3.4	CBD attenuated working memory deficits associated with epilepsy	. 61
2.4	Dise	cussion	. 62
2.5	Con	clusion	. 67
Chapter mouse		Effect of CBD in improving survivability and neonatal welfare in Scn	
3.1	Intr	oduction	. 69
3.2	Met	hods	. 70
3.2	2.1	Animals and test substances	. 70
3.2	2.2	Genotyping of animals	. 73
3.2	2.3	Experimental design	. 74
3.2	2.4	Assessment of welfare scores	. 75
3.2	2.5	Assessment of survivability	. 78
3.2	2.6	Statistical analysis	. 79
3.3	Res	ults	. 80
3.3	3.1	CBD administration improved neonatal welfare	. 80
3.3	3.2	CBD administration increased survivability	. 88
3.4	Dise	cussion	. 89
3.5	Con	clusion	. 94
Chapter mouse		Effect of CBD in reducing premature mortality and comorbidities in <i>Scale</i> of Dravet syndrome	
4.1	Intr	oduction	. 96
4.2	Met	hods	. 98
4.2	2.1	Animals and test substances	. 98
4.2	2.1	Animals and test substances	•••

	4.2.	2	Experimental design	
	4.2.	3	Assessment of survivability	101
	4.2.	4	Assessment of motor function	101
	4.2.	5	Assessment of gait	102
	4.2.	6	Assessment of social interaction	102
	4.2.	7	Assessment of anxiety-like behaviour	103
	4.2.	8	Assessment of depression-like behaviour	103
	4.2.	9	Assessment of cognition	103
	4.2.	10	Statistical analysis	104
4.	3	Res	ults	105
	4.3.	1	CBD increased survivability of <i>Scn1a</i> ^{+/-} mice	105
	4.3.	2	CBD did not exert any adverse effect on motor function	106
	4.3.	3	CBD did not produce any gait abnormalities	108
	4.3.	4	CBD improved social behaviour of $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice	109
	4.3.	5	CBD reduced anxiety-like behaviour in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice	112
4.3.6 CBD reduced depression-		6	CBD reduced depression-like behaviour in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice	112
4.3.7 CBD impre		7	CBD improved cognition in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice	113
4.	4	Disc	cussion	116
4.	5	Con	clusion	122
Chap	oter	5:	General discussion and conclusion	123
5.	1	Gen	neral Discussion	124
5.	5.2 General Conclusion			
5.	5.3 Future scope of research			132
Re	efere	ences	s	135
Appendix-I (Seizure vs memory correlation)169			169	
A	Appendix-II (Survivability model script)172			171
Appendix-III (Published journal articles)187				

List of figures

Figure 1.1. ILAE 2017 classification of seizure types (basic version)14
Figure 1.2. ILAE classification of epilepsies15
Figure 1.3. Schematic diagram representing the endocannabinoid retrograde signalling mechanism
Figure 2.1. Graphical representation of the induction process of reduced intensity status epilepticus (RISE) in rats
Figure 2.2. Study timeline
Figure 2.3. Effect of chronic administration of vehicle/CBD on seizure burden in epileptic rats
Figure 2.4. Dot plot and bar diagram showing effect of vehicle/CBD treatment on seizure burden ratio in epileptic rats
Figure 2.5. Dot plot showing effect of chronic vehicle/CBD administration on motor coordination of rats in accelerating rotarod test
Figure 2.6. Dot plots showing effect of chronic vehicle/CBD administration on gait of rats60
Figure 2.7. Dot plots showing the effect of chronic administration of vehicle/CBD on spatial memory of rats in hole-board test
Figure 3.1. Schematic diagram showing breeding and experimental design for this experiment
Figure 3.2. Example result from PCR used for genotyping animals produced via breeding of the 129S- <i>Scn1a</i> ^{tm1Kea/Mmjax} transgenic mouse line
Figure 3.3. Scoring of orbital tightening in mice to assess pain77
Figure 3.4. Plots showing chronic administration of CBD to <i>wild type (WT)</i> and <i>Scn1a</i> ^{-/-} mice on weight and total neonatal welfare (TNW) scores
Figure 3.5. Plots showing chronic administration of CBD to <i>wild type (WT)</i> and <i>Scn1a</i> ^{-/-} mice on natural activity (NA) and reflex/response to touch (RT) scores
Figure 3.6. Plots showing chronic administration of CBD to <i>wild type (WT)</i> and <i>Scn1a</i> ^{-/-} mice on orbital tightening (OT) and body condition (BC) scores
Figure 3.7. Plot showing chronic administration of CBD on survival of <i>Scn1a^{-/-}</i> mice89
Figure 4.1. Schematic representation of breeding and experimental design for this experiment
Figure 4.2. Plots showing chronic administration of CBD on survival of $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice106

Figure 4.3. Dot plot, and box and whisker plot showing chronic administration of CBD to $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice on motor function
Figure 4.4. Dot plots showing chronic administration of CBD to $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice on gait109
Figure 4.5. Dot plot, and box and whisker plot showing the effect of chronic administration of CBD to $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice on active social interaction and rearing behaviour111
Figure 4.6. Dot plots showing the effect of chronic administration of CBD to $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice on anxiety-like and depression-like behaviours
Figure 4.7. Dot plot, and box and whisker plot showing chronic administration of CBD to $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice on spatial memory in 8-arm radial arm maze test (RAM)115
Figure 5.1. Pictorial illustration of the overall findings of this project

List of tables

Cable 2.1. Racine's seizure severity scale	46
Cable 2.2. Touch task in post seizure behavioural battery (PSBB) tests	49
Cable 2.3. Pick-up task in post seizure behavioural battery (PSBB) tests	50
Cable 2.4. Modified Racine scale used for coding seizure behaviour for TLE animal model.	53
Cable 3.1. Welfare assessment sheet for neonatal mice	76
Cable 3.2. Welfare assessment sheet for dam	78

List of abbreviation

AA	Arachidonic acid
ABHD6	Alpha/beta-hydrolase domain containing 6
ACEA	Arachidonyl-2'-chloroethylamide
ADHD	Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
AEA	<i>N</i> -Arachidonoylethanolamide
AEA	•
	Antiepileptic drug
2-AG	2-Arachidonoylglycerol
AIDS AK	Acquired immune deficiency syndrome Adenosine kinase
AMPA	
	Ionotropic α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-isoxazole-4-propionic acid
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
4-AP	4-Aminopyridine
BC	Body condition
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
bp CD	Base pairs
CB ₁	Cannabinoid receptor 1
CB_2	Cannabinoid receptor 2
CBC	Cannabichromene
CBD	Cannabidiol
CBDV	Cannabidivarin
CBG	Cannabigerol
CBN	Cannabinol
cm	Centimetre
DAGL	Diacylglycerol lipase
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DSE	Depolarised-induced suppression of excitation
DSI	Depolarised-induced suppression of inhibition
EEG	Electroencephalography
ENT	Equilibrative nucleoside transporter (ENT)
EPM	Elevated plus maze
EtNH2	Ethanolamine
FAAH	Fatty acid amide hydrolase
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GAT1	GABA transporter 1
GLAST	Glutamate aspartate transporter
GLT1	Glutamate transporter 1
GPR55	G-protein coupled receptor, GPR55
h	Hour
5-HT	5-Hydroxytryptamine
Hz	Hertz
i.m.	Intramuscular
i.p.	Intraperitoneal
i.v.	Intravenous
ILAE	International League Against Epilepsy
IQ	Intelligence quotient
IQR	Interquartile range

KA	Kainic acid
kg	Kilogram
Ki	Inhibitory constant
LSL	Left stride length
LTLE	Lateral temporal lobe epilepsy
mA	Milliampere
MAGL	Monoacylglycerol lipase
MES	Maximal electroshock seizure
mg	Milligram
mGluR	Metabotropic G protein coupled receptor
μL	Microlitre
mL	Millilitre
mm	Millimetre
MPEP	2-Methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)pyridine
MTLE	Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy
mTOR	Mechanistic target of rapamycin
NA	Natural activity
NAPE-PLD	<i>N</i> -Acylphosphatidylethanolamine-hydrolysing phospholipase D
nM	Nanomole
NMDA	<i>N</i> -methyl-D-aspartic acid
OT	Orbital tightening
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ
PSBB	Post seizure behavioural battery tests
PTZ	Pentylenetetrazole
QOLCE	Quality of life in childhood epilepsy
RAM	Radial arm maze
	Reduced intensity status epilepticus induced spontaneous recurrent
RISE-SRS	seizures
RM	Reference memory
RME	Reference memory error
RSL	Right stride length
RT	Reflex/response to touch
s.c.	Subcutaneous
SD	Standard deviation
SE	Status epilepticus
SEM	Standard error of mean
SMEI	Severe myoclonic epilepsy of infancy
SRS	Spontaneous seizures
ST	Surface temperature
SW	Stride width
TAE	Tris-acetate-EDTA
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor-β
TLE	Temporal lobe epilepsy
TNW	Total neonatal welfare
TRPA1	Transient receptor potential of ankyrin type 1
TRPA2	Transient receptor potential of ankyrin type 2
TRPM8	Transient receptor potential of melastatin type 8
TRPV1	Transient receptor potential vanilloid receptor type 1
TRPV2	Transient receptor potential vanilloid receptor type 2
	- ••

US-FDA	United States Food and Drug Administration
WHO	World health organization
WM	Working memory
WME	Working memory error
WT	Wild type
Δ^9 -THC	Δ^9 -Tetrahydrocannabinol
Δ^9 -THCV	Δ^9 -Tetrahydrocannabivarin

Chapter 1: General introduction

1.1 Epilepsy

Epilepsy is a progressive, chronic neurological disorder characterised by recurrent seizures (Blume et al., 2001). An epileptic seizure can be defined as "transient occurrence of signs and/or symptoms due to abnormal excessive or synchronous neuronal activity in the brain'' (Fisher et al., 2005). However, a more severe form of seizure termed 'status epilepticus' (SE) can also occur in which an individual exhibits seizure continuously for more than five minutes or repetitive seizures within this time frame without gaining consciousness (Trinka et al., 2015). If SE persists for more than half an hour it might lead to long-term after effects such as neuronal injury, neuronal death and shift of neuronal networks (Trinka et al., 2015). Epilepsy remains a significant health concern as almost more than 65 million people worldwide are diagnosed with this neurological disease (Thurman et al., 2011). Further, the morbidity associated with epilepsy is so high that individuals with the disease are often stigmatised and become isolated from the society (Dilorio et al., 2003; Tekle-Haimanot et al., 1991; Atadzhanov et al., 2010; Baker et al., 2000; Baker et al., 2005). Epilepsy is more prevalent in low- and middle-income countries; almost 80% people with epilepsy live in these countries (WHO, 2018). The higher prevalence in these countries is mainly attributed to inadequate treatment facilities and only about 20% epileptic patients receive treatment (Mbuba et al., 2008). It is notable that >50% of brain diseases show seizure as a secondary symptom so, while not primary epilepsy, carry many of the same problems (WHO, 2018).

There has always been a matter of debate and confusion among the clinicians and researchers on the diagnosis of epilepsy. According to the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE), a person can be considered as epileptic if he/she had two unprovoked seizure in more than 24 hours apart, or one unprovoked seizure together with a probability of minimum 60% general recurrence risk for the next 10 years, or diagnosed with an epilepsy

syndrome (Fisher *et al.*, 2014). According to the authors this definition would be helpful for an early diagnosis and intervention to avoid unnecessary injuries associated with accidents during epileptic attacks or prevent the disease progression. However, issues have been raised on the inclusion of the percentage value (60%) in the second part of the definition by Dr. Hauser, which according to him '*represents an expert consensus and has limited substantive data to support the recommendations*' (Hauser, 2014). The agreed definition of epilepsy therefore remains open to debate.

Next, I will provide a brief historical background of epilepsy before discussing its aetiology, pathophysiology, therapy, classification and animal models. I will also briefly illustrate temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) and Dravet syndrome due to their importance in this project.

1.1.1 Historical background

The history of epilepsy is closely linked to the history of human civilization, with the first account of epileptic seizures traced back to ~2000 BC in a Mesopotamian text written in Akkadian language (Temkin, 1945). The text described a person having seizures and termed the condition as 'antasubbû' (the hand of sin) (Labat, 1951). It was believed that the goddess of the moon punished him for breaching religious/social laws (Labat, 1951). The description of epilepsy can also be found in ancient Egyptian, Babylonian and Greek texts (Daras *et al.*, 1994; Longrigg, 2000). However, during that time epilepsy was not considered as a disease but the outcome of divine possession or punishment. Interestingly, Atreya, an Indian medical author (~600 BC) attributed epilepsy to a brain disorder and rejected the age-old concept of divine possession in his famous text ''Caraka Samhitā Sutra'' (Pirkner, 1929). Nevertheless, epilepsy was not well understood until the famous Greek author Hippocrates suggested a possible aetiology and therapy (Hippocrates, 1950). In his book 'On Sacred Disease' (~400 BC) he mentioned epilepsy as a great disease from where the term 'grand mal' originated

(Hippocrates, 1950). During the post-Hippocratic era a notable contribution was made by Aretaeus (~100 AD) who first described the premonitory symptoms of seizures such as hallucinations, smelling odours, tremors or sensations in the limbs (Aretaeus, 1856). Unfortunately, research on epilepsy became stagnant during the medieval period (~500-1500 BC) where religious superstitions overshadowed the scientific merit and as a result, epilepsy was attributed to demonic possessions or outcome of sins (Beyerstein, 1988).

Epilepsy research regained its scientific importance at the beginning of 16th century and during this time the Swiss-German physician Paracelsus highlighted that epilepsy had natural origins such as hereditary, malnutrition or weakness of semen rather than any divine possessions (Paracelsus, 1933). Further progress in understanding the pathophysiology and therapy was made during the 18th century. For example, Herman Boerhaave, a Dutch doctor tried to define epilepsy as the sudden elimination of vital body functions with increased muscle movement and convulsion (Boerhaave, 1761). Swiss physician Simmon Tissot compiled a large set of previous works in his 'Traite de l' epilepsie' which set up a milestone for epilepsy research (Tissot, 1770). He accepted epilepsy as a hereditary disease and suggested epileptic individual not to get married. Then in 19th century, the French psychiatrist J.D. Esquirol and M. Flourens made significant contribution in understanding different forms of epileptic seizures and their possible origins (Flourens, 1823; Esquirol, 1838). Further, British physician J.C. Prichard described the typical symptoms of an epileptic seizure and he was the first to coin the term 'partial epilepsy' (Prichard, 1828). In addition to understanding the disease, researches were carried on to develop therapies for epilepsy and it gained the success with the introduction of potassium bromide by Edward Sieveking as the first antiepileptic drug (Sieveking, 1857). Among other notable works during this time, the famous book 'Epilepsy: Its Symptoms, Treatment and Relation to Other Chronic Convulsive Diseases' written by British neurologist J.R. Reynold was important where he differentiated 'epilepsy proper' from that of 'idiopathic epilepsy' (Reynolds, 1861). Further, J.H. Jackson (1835-1911), who was also known as the father of modern epileptology, suggested that epilepsy is caused due to sudden, rapid and excessive local discharges from grey matter in the brain (Jackson, 1863; Jackson, 1864). Almost a decade later, Richard Caton first recorded electrical activities in the cerebral hemispheres of rabbits and monkeys using a galvanometer which paved the way for using electrophysiology in epilepsy research (Caton, 1875).

Epilepsy research received a fast pace thereafter in 20th century. For instance, In 1912, Kaufman and Pravdicz-Neminsky induced experimental seizures in dogs and suggested a link between the abnormal electrical discharge and epilepsy (Kaufman, 1912; Pravdicz-Neminski, 1912). In the same year, Alfred Hauptmann discovered the anticonvulsant action of phenobarbital which is considered as a major landmark in the history of antiepileptic drug discovery (Hauptmann, 1912). A decade later, the German psychiatrist Hans Berger first performed electroencephalography (EEG) on a human patient during generalised tonic-clonic seizures (Berger, 1929). Almost at the same time, Merritt and Putnam made a serendipitous discovery of the anticonvulsant efficacy of phenytoin (Merritt and Putnam, 1938). In the middle of the 20th century, several other drugs such as carbamazepine (Schindler and Häfliger, 1954), ethosuximide (Vossen, 1958) and sodium valproate (Meunier et al., 1963) were subsequently introduced. Among other prominent figures in mid to late 20th century, Henri Gastaut made significant contribution in the field of epilepsy. He first defined five major EEG patterns (lambda waves, mu rhythm, pi rhythm, rolandic spikes and posterior theta rhythm) in human and also characterised a number of epilepsy types including Lennox-Gastaut syndrome (Dravet and Roger, 1996). Several notable discoveries have been made in the field of epilepsy research since the late 20th centuries till date which will be highlighted in the coming sections.

1.1.2 Aetiology

Epilepsy is a complex neurological disease with multiple aetiological factors that may influence the risk of developing the disease (Thomas and Berkovic, 2014). For instance, brain tumours including melanoma, multiple metastases, haemorrhagic lesions, slowly growing primary tumours, gangliogliomas, low grade astrocytomas, dysembryoplastic neuroepithelial tumours and oligodendrogliomas are common causes of epilepsy (Liigant et al., 2001; Brahimaj et al., 2014). Further, brain injury is considered as an important factor as around 20% cases of all symptomatic epilepsy are associated with prior brain injury (Lowenstein, 2009). Stroke can also promote the development of epilepsy as it has been reported that about 2-4% of stroke patients experience epilepsy in their lifetime (Olsen, 2001). Moreover, malformations of cortical development significantly contributed to the origin of symptomatic focal epilepsy in children (Fujiwara and Shigematsu, 2004). Interestingly, age serves an important aetiological factor, a meta-analysis study showed that the incidence rate of epilepsy among the children and the elderly are the highest compared to those in between the age of 20-40 years (Cloyd et al., 2006). Among others, cerebral and metabolic anoxia, infection and developmental abnormalities are pertinent risk factors in people of early age, whereas vascular malformations, trauma and hippocampal sclerosis are the predominant causative factors in adolescents, and trauma, tumour and stroke are significant risk factors in elderly people (Pomeroy et al., 1990; Fujiwara and Shigematsu, 2004; Panayiotopoulos, 2005). An important association between Alzheimer's disease progression and epilepsy has also been documented as around 16% of Alzheimer's disease patients experience at least one unprovoked generalised tonic-clonic seizure (Romanelli et al., 1990). Further, a higher risk of developing epilepsy is noticed in several autoimmune encephalopathies such as Rasmussen encephalitis, systemic lupus erythematosus and Behcet's disease (Bien et al., 2005; Liou et al., 1996; Aykutlu et al., 2002). Moreover, chronic heavy alcohol users are reported to be at

higher risk of developing epilepsy and the risk is often dose dependent (Samokhvalov *et al.*, 2010).

Besides these physiological impacts, certain genes play important role in various idiopathic epilepsy syndromes such as Juvenile myoclonic epilepsy (*GABRA1* and *EFHC1*), absence epilepsy (*CACNA1A*), Dravet syndrome (*SCN1A*), autosomal dominant frontal lobe epilepsy (*CHRNA4*), benign familial neonatal convulsion (*KCNQ2*) and benign familial neonatal-infantile seizures (*SCN2A*) (Scheffer *et al.*, 1995; Ronen *et al.*, 1993; Claes *et al.*, 2003; Lopes-Cendes, 2008). Of all these genetic epilepsies, the incidence rates of juvenile myoclonic epilepsy and absence epilepsy are the highest which contribute to 5-11% and 2-8% of all epilepsies, respectively (Lopes-Cendes, 2008).

1.1.3 Pathophysiology

The pathogenesis of epilepsy is intricate where several factors interplay to create an imbalance between brain's inhibitory and excitatory circuitry that ultimately leads to manifestation of spontaneous seizures (Scharfman, 2007). The process through which the neuronal network inside brain shifts from normal to an excitatory one and produces unprovoked seizures is known as epileptogenesis (Engel, 2001; Pitkanen and Lukasiuk, 2011). During the epileptogenesis process a widespread molecular and structural changes along with genetic and epigenetic alterations take place in both neuronal and non-neuronal cells in the brain which ultimately makes the neuronal circuits dysfunctional (Devinsky *et al.*, 2018c).

Glutamate and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) are the two main neurotransmitters which play crucial roles in epilepsy (Rowley *et al.*, 1995). Glutamate, the main excitatory neurotransmitter is released from the presynaptic vesicles with the help of calcium ions (Takumi *et al.*, 1998). Glutamate acts through several receptors such as ionotropic α -amino-3hydroxy-5-methyl-isoxazole-4-propionic acid (AMPA), N-methyl-D-aspartic acid (NMDA) and kainate, as well as metabotropic G protein coupled receptors (mGluRs) to produce excitatory postsynaptic depolarisation (Meldrum *et al.*, 1999; Kew and Kemp, 2005). AMPA receptors are important for fast excitatory neurotransmission via the sodium-potassium channels whereas NMDA receptors are responsible for slow but sustained phase of calcium mediated excitatory neurotransmission (Benke *et al.*, 1998). Further, the mGluRs play important part in modulating glutamatergic signalling in epilepsy (Ure *et al.*, 2006). Following its action, glutamate is transported back into the presynaptic vesicles by glutamate aspartate transporter (GLAST) and glutamate transporter 1 (GLT1) (Lehre *et al.*, 1995). An excessive glutamatergic activity due to upregulation of glutamatergic receptors, increased glutamate concentration in the synaptic cleft or dysfunction of glutamate transporters produces hyperexcitability manifested by seizures (Seifert *et al.*, 2002; Aronica *et al.*, 2000; Yi and Hazell, 2006).

In contrast to glutamate, GABA is an inhibitory neurotransmitter which hyperpolarises neurons and produces inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (Treiman, 2001). GABA acts through mainly two receptors namely GABA_A and GABA_B (Takeuchi and Onodera, 1972; Kaupmann *et al.*, 1997). The GABA_A are ligand-gated ion channel receptors that regulate fast inhibitory presynaptic potentials by mediating chloride influx, whereas GABA_B are G-protein coupled receptors that regulate slow inhibitory presynaptic potentials by enhancing the conductance of potassium and decreasing the entry of calcium (Meldrum, 1989; Takeuchi and Onodera, 1972; Kaupmann *et al.*, 1997). A reduction in GABAergic inhibition due to an impairment of GABA synthesis or release, alteration of GABA receptors and loss of GABAergic neurons increases the probability of generation of excitatory postsynaptic potentials and development of epilepsy (Schwarzer *et al.*, 1997; Brooks-Kayal *et al.*, 1998; Knopp *et al.*, 2008).

Apart from GABA and glutamate other neurotransmitters such as serotonin, adrenaline and dopamine have also been found to play important roles in the pathogenesis of epilepsy (compiled and reviewed in (Svob Strac et al., 2016)). It has been demonstrated in animal studies that a lower level of serotonin or a lacking in serotonin receptors 5-HT_{1A} or 5- HT_{2C} (5-hydroxytryptamine 1A or 2C) are associated with the generation of seizures (Dailey et al., 1992; Applegate and Tecott, 1998; Sarnyai et al., 2000). Serotonin also indirectly modulates the glutamatergic or GABAergic neurotransmission (Schmitz et al., 1995; Katsurabayashi et al., 2003; Ciranna, 2006). Further, the protective role of noradrenaline against seizures has also been reported where a depletion of endogenous noradrenaline increased the neuronal damage and seizure susceptibility (Szot et al., 1999; Weinshenker et al., 2001). On the contrary, dopamine plays an complex role in the pathology of epilepsy and often based on the type of receptor it acts on (Barone et al., 1991). Studies have suggested that an activation of dopamine D_1 receptor exerts proconvulsant effect, whereas the D_2 receptor activation exerts anticonvulsant effect (Clinckers et al., 2004; Barone et al., 1991). Furthermore, a reduced binding potential of dopamine to its transporters has also been shown to be involved in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy (Bagdy et al., 2007).

In addition to the neurotransmitters discussed above, ion channels play crucial roles in the maintenance of neuronal network homeostasis. A dysfunction of ion channels or channelopathy has been reported to be associated with epilepsy (Poolos and Johnston, 2012; Lerche *et al.*, 2013). For example, mutations in the genes that code the voltage gated ion channels such as potassium, sodium, calcium and chloride, and ligand gated ion channel receptors for GABA and acetylcholine have been documented in various genetic epilepsy syndromes (Claes *et al.*, 2001; Baulac *et al.*, 2001; Charlier *et al.*, 1998; Dedek *et al.*, 2001; Niemeyer *et al.*, 2004; Bertrand *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, transcriptional and post-translational modifications of the ion channels might also occur in acquired epilepsies (Scheffer and Berkovic, 2003; Helbig *et al.*, 2008).

Apart from the above mentioned pathophysiological process, several other intracellular signalling and gene expression pathways; including mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), transforming growth factor- β (TGF β) and adenosine kinase (AK) are also reported to be involved in epileptogenesis (for review see (Staley, 2015)). However, a detailed discussion of these are beyond the scope of this thesis and are not discussed here.

1.1.4 Antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) and their mechanism of action

The antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) may be divided into three classes based on their development i.e. i) first generation (1857-1958; e.g. potassium bromide, phenobarbital, mephobarbital, ethosuximide etc.) ii) second generation (1960-1975; carbamazepine, valproate, and various benzodiazepines) and iii) third generation (post 1975; e.g. felbamate, lamotrigine, levetiracetam, gabapentin, pregabalin, oxcarbazepine, tiagabine, vigabatrin, zonisamide, topiramate, lacosamide, rufinamide, eslicarbazepine, perampanel, ezogabine, and stiripentol) (Scharfman, 2015; Kanner *et al.*, 2018b; Kanner *et al.*, 2018a).

Most of the AEDs act through one or more of these five mechanisms- i) blocking voltage-gated sodium channels, ii) blocking voltage-gated calcium channels, iii) antagonising glutamatergic neurotransmission, iv) enhancing GABAergic neurotransmission and v) modulating potassium channels. Sodium channels are responsible for initiation and transmission of action potentials and thus play important role in epilepsy (Wallace *et al.*, 1998). Drugs such as phenytoin, carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, lacosamide and lamotrigine exert their anticonvulsant activity mainly by blocking the voltage gated sodium channels (Brodie, 2017). The T-type calcium channels regulates the intrinsic thalamocortical

oscillations which trigger the spike-wave discharges in generalised absence seizures (Huguenard, 2002). Ethosuximide acts by inhibiting these subtypes of calcium channels in the thalamocortical network thus demonstrates high efficacy in the treatment of absence seizures (Coulter *et al.*, 1989). Additionally, the effectiveness of zonisamide and valproate in absence epilepsy may also be attributed to their action on T-type calcium channels (Broicher et al., 2007). Further, AEDs such as phenobarbital, primidone and benzodiazepines (e.g. diazepam, lorazepam, clonazepam) demonstrate their anticonvulsant action by modulating the GABAA receptor and enhancing the GABAergic neurotransmission. Again, tiagabine and vigabatrin act indirectly by enhancing the GABAergic tone which are mediated by inhibition of GABA transporter GAT1 and antagonisation of the GABA transaminase, respectively (Thompson and Gahwiler, 1992; Loscher et al., 1989). The mechanism of action of valproate is although not clear, it has been suggested that valproate mainly acts through enhancing the GABA concentration in the brain (Meldrum, 1980). As previously mentioned that glutamate is the main excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain, thereby blockade of fast ionotropic AMPA glutamate receptor by perampanel also demonstrates antiseizure activity (Hanada et al., 2011). Topiramate has a diverse mode of actions which includes inhibition of voltage-gated sodium channels, enhancement of GABAergic neurotransmission via modulating the GABA_A-receptor, antagonising the AMPA glutamate receptor, and inhibition of the carbonic anhydrase enzyme (McMillin and Krasowski, 2016). Voltage-gated potassium channels help to maintain the ionic balance in the neurons by permitting the efflux of potassium ions in response to the depolarisation caused due to sodium ion influx, thus a positive modulation of potassium ion channels help in the control of seizures (Rundfeldt, 1997). AEDs such as Ezogabine and retigabine are acting as agonist of K_v7 potassium channels ($K_v7.2-K_v7.5$), present in the nervous system and have been demonstrated to be efficacious in the treatment of focal seizures (Tatulian and Brown, 2003; Rundfeldt, 1997).

Despite the availability of a large number of AEDs, refractoriness or drug-resistance remain a major concern as approximately 30% of people with epilepsy are resistant to one or more of these AEDs (WHO, 2018). Additionally, drug related adverse effects contribute to poor quality of life (discussed in Section 1.2). All these highlight the need for discovery of new safe but efficacious AEDs.

1.1.5 Classification of seizures

The ILAE has recently categorised seizures into three types (Figure 1.1) such as focal, generalised and unknown types depending on their origin (Fisher *et al.*, 2017). Focal seizures originate in a small area of one cerebral hemisphere, whereas generalised seizures begin in both hemispheres of the brain and involve the whole brain neuronal network. Further, the type of seizures whose origin/onset are unknown are considered as 'unknown-onset' type (Fisher *et al.*, 2017).

State of awareness has been optionally included in further classifying focal seizures into 'aware' (formerly known as simple) and 'impaired awareness' (formerly known as complex) seizures which however can be ignored if the awareness level is unknown (Fisher *et al.*, 2017). The focal seizures are further subclassified into motor and nonmotor types. Motor seizures may be of different types such as atonic (loss of body tone), tonic (sustained stiffening of limbs and neck), clonic (rhythmic jerking of limbs), myoclonic (irregular, brief jerking of limbs) and epileptic spasm (flexion or extension of arms and flexion of trunk) (Fisher *et al.*, 2017; Blume *et al.*, 2001). An example of nonmotor seizure is behavioural arrest which is characterised by cessation of movement and unresponsiveness. Seizures which after focal onset become generalised tonic-clonic (previously known as grand mal) are called as 'focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizures' (Fisher *et al.*, 2017). Tonic-clonic seizures present with bilateral symmetric convulsive movements (stiffening followed by jerking) of all limbs (Blume *et al.*, 2001).

In case of classifying generalised onset seizures, awareness level is not considered because in most of the cases awareness is impaired, thus these types of seizures are classified into motor and nonmotor/absence (sudden cessation of activity and awareness) categories. Motor generalised seizures include tonic-clonic or other motor such as atonic, tonic, clonic and myoclonic seizures (Fisher *et al.*, 2017).

Similar to generalised onset seizures, the unknown type seizures are also subclassified as motor and nonmotor types. Additionally, an 'unclassified' section has been kept in the 'unknown onset' type to represent the seizures that do not fit into other categories or the available information are inadequate to categorise them. ILAE cited an example to explain the unclassified seizures ''A 75-year-old man known to have epilepsy reports an internal sense of body trembling and a sense of confusion. No other information is available. EEG and MRI are normal. This event is unclassified.'' (Fisher et al., 2017)



Figure 1.1. ILAE 2017 classification of seizure types (basic version). Adapted from (Fisher *et al.*, 2017). Seizures are primarily classified into focal, generalised and unknown types based on their origin/onset. Awareness level is optionally added for classification of focal seizures. Focal, generalised and unknown types are further subclassified into motor and nonmotor types. Focal seizures if become generalised tonic-clonic then they are termed as 'focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizures'. Seizures with insufficient information or that do not fit into other categories are termed as 'unclassified'.

1.1.6 Classification of epilepsy

In 2017, the ILAE classified epilepsy into four major categories i) focal ii) generalised, iii) combined generalised and focal, and iv) unknown (Scheffer *et al.*, 2017) (Figure 1.2). This classification provides the clinicians a well-defined therapeutic approach to treat epilepsies. In the new epilepsy classification framework, the first step for clinicians is to identify the seizure type which is followed by the classification of the epilepsy type (Scheffer *et al.*, 2017). This classification has the provision for diagnosis of more specific epilepsy

syndromes such as West syndrome, childhood absence epilepsy and Dravet syndrome. An epilepsy syndrome is a cluster of clinical, electrical and age-dependent features which together define a specific epileptic disorder (ILAE, 1989). It is to be noted that a person must be diagnosed as epileptic according to the definition of epilepsy given by the ILAE in 2014 before his/her epilepsy type can be classified (Fisher *et al.*, 2014). In this classification, a major focus has been given on aetiologies and comorbidities in every step of the diagnostic process (Scheffer *et al.*, 2017).



Figure 1.2. ILAE classification of epilepsies. Adapted from (Scheffer *et al.*, **2017).** Based on different types of seizures, epilepsy has been classified into four major types i.e. focal, generalised, combined generalised and focal, and unknown. The third level in this classification system is to identify the specific epilepsy syndrome where possible. Further, aetiologies and comorbidities need to be considered for a precise diagnosis of the epilepsy type.

Currently a large number of epilepsy types are recognised, all of which are mentioned on the website of the Epilepsy Foundation (Scharfman, 2015), but in the interest of this project I will only highlight two of them i.e. temporal lobe epilepsy and Dravet syndrome in the next two sections.

1.1.7 Temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE)

Temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) is one of the most common form of epilepsy characterised by recurrent, unprovoked focal seizures which originate in the temporal lobe of the brain (Manford *et al.*, 1992; Fisher *et al.*, 2017). Inside the temporal lobe, the seizure foci of TLE usually are located in the hippocampus, amygdala, subiculum and entorhinal cortex (Bertram, 2009). A focal seizure in TLE may spreads across other brain areas to become a focal to bilateral seizure (Bone et al., 2012). Several etiologies have been attributed to TLE which includes head injury, cerebral stroke, structural lesion, brain tumour, brain infection or idiopathic (Blair, 2012). TLE may be of two types i.e. mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (MTLE) and lateral temporal lobe epilepsy (LTLE) (Engel, 2001). The MTLE is the most common type where seizure foci are located at the medial or inner aspect of the temporal lobe such as hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus and amygdala (Engel, 2001). The LTLE is in contrast a rarer type where seizure foci are located at the lateral or outer surface of the temporal lobe (Engel, 2001). TLE, though rare may be of hereditary e.g. autosomal dominant LTLE which is associated with LGII gene (Nobile et al., 2009). In addition to clinical manifestation of spontaneous seizures, TLE is often accompanied by several pathological features like hippocampal sclerosis, mossy fiber sprouting, dispersion in the granule cell, astrogliosis and blood brain barrier damage (Pitkanen and Lukasiuk, 2011; Vrinda et al., 2018). Along with seizures several other diseases/conditions such as anxiety, depression, suicidality, motor deficit and memory impairment are often associated with TLE which significantly reduced the patient's quality of life (England et al., 2012) (See section 1.2). Of importance, TLE is often refractory in nature and none of the presently available drugs can provide satisfactory control over seizures and associated conditions (comorbidities) (Asadi-Pooya *et al.*, 2017).

1.1.8 Dravet syndrome

Dravet syndrome is a severe form of myoclonic epilepsy in children that usually begins at six to nine months of age with the first presentation of seizures (Dravet et al., 2005). In 1978, Dr Charlotte Dravet first characterised this disease as severe myoclonic epilepsy of infancy (SMEI) and this early onset, distinguishes it from other similar paediatric epilepsies such as Lennox-Gastaut syndrome, which typically manifests after the age of one (Dravet et al., 2005; Kalume, 2013). Dravet syndrome is a rare (orphan) disease affecting ~1 in 20,000-40,000 children (Shmuely et al., 2016). It is typically triggered by a fever which initiates the first generalised or partial seizure (Dravet et al., 2005). During the first year of life, seizures are relatively infrequent but, over time, can lead to status epilepticus. In subsequent years the symptoms become more severe with generalised tonic-clonic, myoclonic, absence and focal seizures being common, status epilepticus rarely occurs after 10 years of age (Akiyama et al., 2010). A premature mortality rate of 21% has been reported in Dravet syndrome patients (Dravet et al., 2005; Genton et al., 2011). Apart from seizures, several additional comorbidities are associated with Dravet syndrome (e.g. psychomotor developmental delay, gait abnormality (crouch gait), hyperactivity, attention deficit, autism, sleep disorder, anxietylike behaviours, language impairment and severe cognitive deficits) which exert a profound adverse effect upon patient quality of life (Black and Gaebler-Spira, 2016; Brunklaus et al., 2011; Genton et al., 2011; Li et al., 2011).

The *SCN1A* gene which encodes Nav1.1, a voltage-gated sodium channel, plays a pivotal role in Dravet Syndrome. It has been reported that 70-80% of patients exhibit a deletion or mutation (truncating, missense or splice site mutations leading to loss of function)

of this gene on chromosome 2q, where 85% are *de novo* mutations (Harkin *et al.*, 2007; Marini *et al.*, 2011). Although the *SCN1A* gene is expressed in neuronal cell membranes of the central and peripheral nervous systems (Black and Gaebler-Spira, 2016), higher expression has been observed in hippocampal GABAergic inhibitory interneurons such that a loss-of-function mutation leads to abnormal interneuron firing and subsequent disinhibition to promote the severe myoclonic epilepsy observed in Dravet Syndrome (Cheah *et al.*, 2012; Yu *et al.*, 2006). Mutations in some other epilepsy-associated genes e.g. *SCN1B*, *STXBP1*, *GABRA1*, *GABRA2*, *CHD2* and *PCDH19* have also been reported to play a role in Dravet syndrome (Carvill *et al.*, 2014; Depienne and LeGuern, 2012). The genetic mutation often contributes to the manifestation of the disease independently of the seizures, which is why Dravet syndrome is also referred as a 'channelopathy' (Brunklaus and Zuberi, 2014).

Presently the major therapeutic strategies include a conventional AED (e.g. valproate, clonazepam etc.) in combination with a newer drug (e.g. stiripentol, topiramate etc.) (Ceulemans *et al.*, 2004; Chiron, 2005). Since conventional sodium channel blocking AEDs (e.g. carbamazepine and lamotrigine) affect the Na_V1.1 channel, their use can actually worsen seizures in Dravet syndrome and has been associated with premature death (Arzimanoglou, 2009; Guerrini *et al.*, 1998). Seizures in Dravet syndrome are largely refractory to treatment and none of the presently available medications offer satisfactory control of symptoms (Devinsky *et al.*, 2017; Devinsky *et al.*, 2018b).

1.1.9 Animal models of seizures and epilepsy

Animal models of seizures and epilepsy provide valuable information on disease pathogenesis and help in the discovery of new AEDs. In the scope of this thesis, here I will provide a general overview of animal models that are currently in use for drug screening and then specifically describe the models of TLE and Dravet syndrome.

Animal models that are presently used for the screening of novel AEDs are mainly the models of epileptic seizures such as maximal electroshock seizure (MES), 6 Hz psychomotor seizure and subcutaneous pentylenetetrazole (s.c. PTZ) tests (White et al., 1995; Patra et al., 2018). The MES test is predictive of generalised tonic-clonic seizures where a suprathreshold electrical stimulus is applied to a rat (150 mA) or mouse (50 mA) transcorneally for a brief period of time (0.2 seconds) for seizure induction (White et al., 1995; Patra et al., 2018). The 6-Hz psychomotor seizure model in mice is also a useful model for drug screening of refractory partial epilepsy (White et al., 1995; Patra et al., 2018). In this model, a 6 Hz corneal stimulation is applied at two currents (22 mA and 44 mA) for 3 seconds (White et al., 1995; Patra et al., 2018). Notably, 22 mA current intensity is able to evoke seizures in 97% of test mice (Barton et al., 2001). The typical characteristics of this type of seizures are exhibited by a minimal clonic phase followed by stereotyped behaviours that are considered similar to the aura of human with partial seizures (Toman et al., 1952; Barton et al., 2001). The s.c. PTZ seizure test is considered suitable test to assess the anticonvulsive effect of nonconvulsive seizures such as absence or myoclonic seizures. For this test, a convulsive dose of PTZ (that causes clonic seizure in 97% animals for 3 seconds duration) is injected to an animal and observed for 30 minutes. Another popular model for drug screening is corneal kindling model of focal seizures (Matagne and Klitgaard, 1998; Patra et al., 2018) where kindling is done by stimulating the optic nerve through corneal electrodes (3 mA, 60 Hz, 3 seconds) until the animals reach a criterion of 5 consecutive secondarily generalised seizures (Stage 4 or 5, as described by Racine (Racine, 1972)). This is not an acute model and usually takes 10-15 days for animals to be kindled and ready for drug testing (Matagne and Klitgaard, 1998; Patra et al., 2018). The above-mentioned models are easy to generate, aid rapid screening of a large number of compounds and are able to predict the clinical efficacy of AEDs to a certain extent (White et al., 1995; Barker-Haliski et al., 2017). However, the major drawback is that they do not reproduce the spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRS), thus cannot be considered as true models of epilepsy (Modebadze *et al.*, 2016).

Currently the pilocarpine model of SRS is used in preclinical research to investigate effects of candidate drugs on SE, epileptogenesis, SRS or TLE (Andre et al., 2007; Francois et al., 2011; Furtado et al., 2011). In this model, a single large dose of pilocarpine (300-400 mg/kg) is used to induce SE in rats (Biagini et al., 2006; Goffin et al., 2007). Pilocarpine is a muscarinic M₁ acetylcholine receptor agonist, therefore activation of cholinergic neuron leads to an increased level of glutamate in hippocampus region. This increased level of glutamate then damages the fine excitatory and inhibitory neuronal networks resulting into manifestation of seizure (Smolders et al., 1997). NMDA receptors activation then helps in maintenance of seizure (Smolders et al., 1997). However, the most significant problem with this model lies in its high mortality rate during or immediately after SE induction (20-85%) (Andre et al., 2007; Mueller et al., 2009). Therefore, this model has been refined to reduce the mortality rate and to produce progressive neurodegeneration and epileptogenesis. During this refinement process, the lithium pilocarpine model was initially introduced where preadministration of lithium chloride potentiates pilocarpine's convulsant properties thereby manifestation of SE can be observed at a comparatively lower dose of pilocarpine (Jope et al., 1986; Mueller et al., 2009). A further refinement to this model is termed as the reduced intensity status epilepticus induced spontaneous recurrent seizures (RISE-SRS) where repeated low doses of pilocarpine are used instead of a single high dose along with administration of muscle relaxant like xylazine in between the SE process and finally a stop solution which helps the animals to recover from SE state (details given in chapter 2) (Glien et al., 2001; Curia et al., 2008; Modebadze et al., 2016). The RISE-SRS model exhibits a similar disease progression and pathology as the traditional post-SE models, but with reduced mortality during the immediate post-SE period (Modebadze *et al.*, 2016). This model is thus suitable for testing candidate drugs to investigate their prolonged disease modification effects.

The conventional AED screening models do not represent the genetic epilepsy like Dravet syndrome as the former models are largely based on chemical or electrical insults. Currently, various mouse models are available which represent the loss of *SCN1A* gene function as commonly observed in human Dravet syndrome. These models include knock-out models which were developed following a targeted deletion of exon 1 (*Scn1a^{tm1Kea}*) (Miller *et al.*, 2014) and exon 26 (*Scn1a^{tm1Wac}*) (Yu *et al.*, 2006) of the mouse *Scn1a* gene. Further, specific point mutation knock-in mouse model such as *Scn1a R1407X* (Ogiwara *et al.*, 2007), *Scn1a R1648H* (Martin *et al.*, 2010) and *Scn1a E1099X* (Tsai *et al.*, 2015) are also exist.

1.2 Comorbidities associated with epilepsy

When other distinct clinical diseases or syndromes are present alongside the index disease (e.g. epilepsy) then these associated diseases/syndromes are referred as comorbidities of that index disease (Feinstein, 1970). It is reported that ~50% of epileptic adult individuals have at least one comorbidity (Forsgren, 1992). According to Boro and Haunt "*nearly every patient with epilepsy will experience a comorbid medical condition at some point during the course of treatment*" (Boro and Haut, 2003). The comorbidities commonly associated with epilepsy includes psychiatric, cognitive and medical conditions such as depression, anxiety, suicidality, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and autism, memory impairment, and motor deficits (Hesdorffer *et al.*, 1996; Hesdorffer *et al.*, 2006; Hesdorffer *et al.*, 2012; England *et al.*, 2012; Chang *et al.*, 2011; Cleary *et al.*, 2004). These comorbidities have significant consequences including high premature mortality, poor quality of life, increased medical expenses and poor prognosis of disease (Kwan *et al.*, 2009; Fazel *et al.*, 2013; Kanner *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, the treatment of these comorbidities (e.g. antidepressant
therapy) sometimes results into poor seizure outcome (Coupland *et al.*, 2011; Hill *et al.*, 2015). Studies have indicated that AEDs could also worsen comorbidities which leads to discontinuation of antiepileptic therapy and thereby poor disease management (Perucca *et al.*, 2009; Chen *et al.*, 2017a; Chen *et al.*, 2017b). Hence, it is imperative to understand the complex association between the comorbidities and epilepsy for a better therapeutic outcome. In this section, I will focus on the most common comorbidities associated with epilepsy.

1.2.1 Depression

It has been documented in epidemiological studies that depression is more prevalent in people with epilepsy compared to other diseases (Mendez et al., 1986). The lifetime prevalence rate of depression among people with epilepsy extends from 11 to 62% (Wiglusz et al., 2012). Interestingly, a meta-analysis conducted on 5,434 epileptic patients across the globe reported that depression is more prevalent in female than in male patients (26.4% vs 16.7%) (Kim et al., 2018). In paediatric epileptic patients, the rate of depression ranges from 30-70% (Plioplys, 2003; Kanner, 2003) which is especially higher in adolescent (Thome-Souza et al., 2004). The amygdala and the hippocampus, two key structures of the temporal lobe are associated with the pathology of depression (and also anxiety) (Jones et al., 2008; Lopes et al., 2016). It has been observed from imaging studies that individuals with TLE and depression have hippocampal atrophy (Rosso et al., 2005; Richardson et al., 2007). Moreover, the condition is aggravated if epilepsy and depression both persist together (Richardson et al., 2007; Gilliam et al., 2007). However, the relationship between epilepsy and depression is unlikely to be unidirectional as several reports suggested that people with depression are also with higher risk of developing epilepsy. For instance, data obtained from UK General Practice Research Database showed a significantly higher incidence-rate ratio of depression in people three years before they were diagnosed with epilepsy (Hesdorffer et al., 2012). Other studies have supported this notion and reported that people with depression have

up to 7 times higher risk of developing epilepsy (Hesdorffer *et al.*, 2006; Hesdorffer *et al.*, 2000; Salpekar and Mula, 2018).

1.2.2 Anxiety

Prevalence of anxiety disorders among people with epilepsy is also significantly higher. As an example, data obtained from two United States national surveys showed that people with epilepsy have two times higher incidence of anxiety disorders than the general population (Ottman et al., 2011; Kobau et al., 2006). A large Canadian national population health survey also reported a similar trend (Tellez-Zenteno et al., 2007). According to this study, anxiety disorders were observed in 22.8% people with epilepsy in contrast to only 11.2% in general population without epilepsy (Tellez-Zenteno et al., 2007). Further, a national population based study in the UK using clinical interviews reported a strong association of epilepsy with anxiety disorders (Rai et al., 2012). However, it is interesting to note that the prevalence of anxiety amongst people with epilepsy also depends on the methods of diagnosis. For example, a meta-analysis conducted on published data until July 2016 involving 3,221 epileptic patients across the world showed that the prevalence of anxiety was only 8.1% when diagnosis of anxiety was based on unstructured clinical assessment, whereas this rate was 27.3% when structured clinical interviews were conducted (Scott et al., 2017). Notably, the two key structures of brain, amygdala and hippocampus are associated with both the anxiety and epilepsy, thus a bidirectional relationship cannot be ignored i.e. anxiety not only follows epilepsy, but vice-versa might be true (Jones *et al.*, 2008; Lopes et al., 2016). This is supported by a longitudinal cohort study including 3,773 reported epilepsy cases from 1993-2005 in the UK general practice research database observed anxiety disorders were prevalent in epileptic patients before they were diagnosed with epilepsy (Hesdorffer et al., 2012). Again, a Swedish population based case-control study reported that patients hospitalised with anxiety disorders are at >2 times higher risk of developing epilepsy (Adelow *et al.*, 2012). Like depression, anxiety disorders are also found to be associated with drug related adverse effects (Jacoby *et al.*, 2015; Gómez-Arias *et al.*, 2012).

1.2.3 Suicidality

Patients with epilepsy are at higher risk of suicides. A multicentre study by Jones *et al.* reported a suicide rate of about 12% among individuals with epilepsy compared with 1.1-1.2% in the general population (Jones *et al.*, 2003). Further, a large Danish population-based case-control study investigated 21,169 suicide cases where they reported a three-fold higher risk of suicide among the people with epilepsy than those without epilepsy (Christensen *et al.*, 2007). In addition to the occurrence of suicide cases, the attempted suicide or suicidal intention are also higher among the people with epilepsy (Jones *et al.*, 2003). Based on the meta-analysis of the data obtained from the clinical trials the United States Food and Drug Administration (US-FDA) reported that the treatment with AEDs enhance the suicidal thoughts among individuals with epilepsy (FDA, 2008). A population-based retrospective cohort study in the UK assessed the magnitude of the association between suicide attempts and epilepsy where they suggested a common underlying biology in between them (Hesdorffer *et al.*, 2016).

1.2.4 ADHD

ADHD is a persistent pattern of inattention, hyperactivity and impulsivity which affects the normal functioning and development of children (APA, 2013). It is one of the most common comorbidities of epilepsy in children (Dunn and Austin, 2004; Thome-Souza *et al.*, 2004). ADHD plays a significant impact on the quality of life of the children with epilepsy as it not only associated with academic and developmental disabilities but also exacerbates other comorbidities such as anxiety and depression (Kwong *et al.*, 2016). The prevalence rate of ADHD in children with epilepsy has been reported from 30% to 40% (Cohen *et al.*, 2013; Dunn *et al.*, 2003; Chou *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, approximately 2.5-5.5 times higher prevalence of ADHD has been observed in epileptic children than those without epilepsy (Aaberg *et al.*, 2016). The relationship between epilepsy and ADHD is again bidirectional with 3.94 times higher rate of epilepsy in ADHD children compared to the children without ADHD (Chou *et al.*, 2013). Further, AEDs such as valproate is associated with exacerbation of ADHD (Ahmed and Mohamed, 2015). ADHD if not treated, symptoms may persist through adulthood (Ettinger *et al.*, 2015; Salpekar and Mishra, 2014). However, ADHD in epilepsy is often untreated because of the common concept that stimulants may reduce seizure threshold which further worsen the patients' quality of life (Davis *et al.*, 2010; Salpekar and Mishra, 2014).

1.2.5 Autism spectrum disorder

Autism spectrum disorder is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterised by social interaction and communication deficits and presence of restricted and repetitive behaviours (APA, 2013). Autism is one of the most common comorbidities seen in patients with epilepsy especially in children and adolescent (Rai *et al.*, 2012; Selassie *et al.*, 2014). The prevalence rate of autism among patients with epilepsy varied from 4 to 21% (Tuchman *et al.*, 2013; Reilly *et al.*, 2014; Rai *et al.*, 2012). On the other hand, around 30% of autistic individuals develops epilepsy (Viscidi *et al.*, 2013). Interestingly, epileptiform activities have often noticed in EEG recordings of autistic children even in the absence of manifestation of seizures (Rossi *et al.*, 1995; Mulligan and Trauner, 2014). The reason behind this bidirectional relationship between epilepsy and autism may be attributed to involvement of common pathophysiology such as a deficit in interneuron function which results in reduced inhibitory GABA activity in both the cases (Jacob, 2016). Intellectual disability characterised by a low intelligence quotient score (IQ; <70) was reported in patients having both autism and epilepsy (Viscidi *et al.*, 2013). A high prevalence of autism have been documented in

patients with epileptic encephalopathies including Dravet syndrome and Landau-Kleffner syndrome (Besag *et al.*, 2016; Chepure *et al.*, 2018; Rosander and Hallbook, 2015).

1.2.6 Cognitive impairment

Epileptic patients often experience cognitive deficits which severely affect their quality of life (Nau et al., 2018; de la Loge et al., 2016; Arinzechi et al., 2016; Verche et al., 2018). The extent of cognitive decline in epilepsy often determined by the type of epilepsy, the area of damage, presently active epilepsy, AED treatment, and age and reserve capacities of individual (Elger et al., 2004). Cognitive deficits across multiple domains have been reported in a range of epilepsy types. For instance, a significant decline in verbal memory (Griffith et al., 2003), executive function (Keller et al., 2009), working memory (Winston et al., 2013) and alertness (Liu et al., 2016) have been demonstrated in patients with TLE. Further, a meta-analysis conducted on the data obtained from studies on frontal lobe epilepsy patients reported a higher rate of cognitive problems, particularly in the areas involved in the functioning of frontal lobe such as executive functions, attention, and motor skills than general population without epilepsy (Verche et al., 2018). Severe cognitive and intellectual disability are often encountered by the children with epileptic encephalopathies like Dravet syndrome (Acha et al., 2015), Landau Kleffner syndrome (Riccio and Vidrine, 2017) and West Syndrome (Riikonen, 1996). It has been reported that patients with Dravet syndrome often have severe intellectual deficit, in majority of cases the intelligence quotient (IQ) scores remain below 50% (Akiyama et al., 2010). The degree of cognitive decline is also positively correlated with the duration of epilepsy i.e. longer the duration worse the cognitive outcome (Jokeit and Ebner, 2002). Further, several AEDs e.g. carbamazepine (Forsythe et al., 1991; Meador et al., 2001), phenobarbital (Farwell et al., 1990; Calandre et al., 1990), sodium valproate (Stores et al., 1992; Masur et al., 2013), topiramate (Brandl et al., 2010; Dooley et al., 1999) have been reported to be associated with memory impairment in epileptic patients.

However, the mechanism behind cognitive impairment in epilepsy is far more complex and perhaps bidirectional, similar to other comorbidities as described above (Keezer *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, the parts of the brain and neuronal network associated with learning and memory are often associated with epilepsy, therefore a common pathophysiological pathway might be involved in both the conditions (Titiz *et al.*, 2014; Verche *et al.*, 2018).

1.2.7 Motor disorder and gait abnormalities

Apart from neurological comorbidities, motor impairment is also frequently reported in patients with epilepsy (Beckung and Urebrant, 1997; Gloersen *et al.*, 2000; Reijs *et al.*, 2010; Kowalski and Di Fabio, 1995; Ottman *et al.*, 2011). A study conducted on 100 patients with focal motor epilepsy found that the most common type of motor abnormalities in those patients were myoclonus, dystonia, chorea, stereotypies, myoclonus-dystonia and tremor (Fasano *et al.*, 2018). Another study conducted on 87 children with cryptogenic partial and idiopathic generalised epilepsies found a slowing of psychomotor speed in the epileptic children where the authors suggested that cortical inhibition due to excessive neuronal discharge in epilepsy might be the reason of this slowing of psychomotor speed (Boelen *et al.*, 2005). Further, abnormal gait has also been reported in epileptic children especially those with Dravet syndrome (Gitiaux *et al.*, 2016; Rodda *et al.*, 2012). Additionally, treatment with AEDs such as phenobarbital, valproic acid, phenytoin and lacosamide have adverse effects on motor function and gait in the patients with epilepsy (Zaccara *et al.*, 2004; Ristić *et al.*, 2006; Zaccara *et al.*, 2013; Bainbridge *et al.*, 2017).

1.2.8 Other medical conditions

Several other medical conditions such as migraine (Ottman and Lipton, 1994), multiple sclerosis (Allen *et al.*, 2013), diabetes (Weatherburn *et al.*, 2017) and cardiovascular diseases (Rowan, 2005) may also be seen in patients with epilepsy. Moreover, allergy, asthma and osteoporosis although not directly linked to the epilepsy itself, are often linked to AED adverse effects (Tellez-Zenteno *et al.*, 2005; Gaitatzis *et al.*, 2012; Pack *et al.*, 2003).

1.3 Cannabis and cannabinoids

Cannabis (also known as marijuana) has been used since prehistoric times for medicinal, recreational and religious purposes as documented in ancient texts from Mesopotamia, India and China (Abel, 1980). The use of marijuana in the treatment of convulsions also lie in reports from the Middle East that were ascribed to the scholar Al-Mayusi (Lozano, 2001) in 1100 and the historian, Ibn al-Badri in 1464 (Aldrich, 1997). However, it was not until 1649 that Nicholas Culpeper translated the '*Pharmacopoeia Londonensis*' from Latin into English, and suggested marijuana as a treatment of 'inflammation of the head' (Crawford, 2002). Thereafter, there appears to be no further mention of this therapeutic use of marijuana until its introduction to Western medicine from India in the 19th century by William O'Shaughnessy (O'Shaughnessy, 1840). Here, alongside other reports from the same period describing the control seizures with marijuana extracts (McMeens, 1856; McMeens, 1860; Reynolds, 1868).

Cannabis is mainly obtained from an herbaceous annual plant *Cannabis sativa* (also known as Indian hemp) (Russo et al., 2008). This plant comprises more than 525 chemically active natural compounds including cannabinoids, flavonoids, terpenoids and alkaloids (Radwan *et al.*, 2009). Of all these the cannabinoids are the most active compounds that belong to a C21 terpenophenolic class of compounds and are mainly found in the trichomes of female flowers (Elsohly and Gul, 2014). More than 100 cannabinoids have been identified so far from the cannabis plant which are popularly known as phytocannabinoids that include Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC), cannabidiol (CBD), cannabidivarin (Δ^9 -THCV) and

cannabichromene (CBC) (Elsohly and Gul, 2014). These phytocannabinoids primarily exert their effects by modulating the endogenous cannabinoid system (discussed below) that plays an important physiological role in the regulation of brain, immune and endocrine functions. Subsequently, several chemical compounds have been synthesised that can modulate the endocannabinoid system which are collectively known as synthetic cannabinoids.

In the scope of this project, here in this section I will discuss the endocannabinoid system and cannabinoids with a prime focus on their role in epilepsy. As this project mainly deals with CBD, its therapeutic potential in other diseases will also be briefly discussed.

1.3.1 The endocannabinoid system

The endocannabinoid system (Figure 1.3) plays an important physiological role in modifying excitatory and inhibitory synaptic transmission in the brain. The canonical endocannabinoid system consists of two G protein coupled receptors, CB₁ and CB₂, with endogenous ligands 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG) and N-arachidonoylethanolamide (anandamide or AEA), each with unique degradation machinery (Pertwee, 2006; Di Marzo *et al.*, 1998). Of the two cannabinoid receptor subtypes, CB₁ is most widely expressed in the central nervous system, particularly in the mossy cell-granule cell synapses of the hippocampus, microglia, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (Di Marzo *et al.*, 1998). Once thought to be exclusively expressed outside the central nervous system, current research suggests that CB₂ receptors are also expressed in the brain (Li and Kim, 2015), mediating neuronal excitability (Kim and Li, 2015) and inflammation in microglia (Atwood and Mackie, 2010). Importantly, in addition to acting via the canonical cannabinoid receptors, the endocannabinoids can also act via interactions with other receptor types such as the G-protein coupled receptor, GPR55 and the transient receptor potential vanilloid receptor (type 1), TRPV1 (Armstrong *et al.*, 2009).

Chapter 1

Of importance in activity-dependent pathophysiological processes such as epileptogenesis and epilepsy, the synthesis of endocannabinoids typically occurs "on demand" from postsynaptic membrane phospholipids although pre-synthesised endocannabinoid reserves are also contained within intracellular storage organelles (Maccarrone et al., 2010; Min et al., 2010). However, most commonly, postsynaptic neuronal depolarisation triggers membrane phospholipid breakdown by the enzymes diacylglycerol lipase (DAGL) and N-acylphosphatidylethanolamine-hydrolysing phospholipase D (NAPE-PLD) to form 2-AG and AEA respectively (Bisogno et al., 2003; Okamoto et al., 2004). Following their synthesis, the endocannabinoids passively diffuse across the presynapse in a retrograde fashion to orthosterically bind to and activate presynaptically located CB₁ receptor to inhibit the release of glutamate or GABA from principal or GABAergic neurons respectively (Kano et al., 2009; Armstrong et al., 2009). The endocannabinoid-mediated inhibition of excitatory glutamate or inhibitory GABA release are respectively known as depolarised-induced suppression of excitation (DSE) or inhibition (DSI) (Armstrong et al., 2009).

Endocannabinoid signalling is thought to play an important role in epileptogenesis and the subsequently developed epilepsy. Supplementing depolarisation-induced postsynaptic synthesis, endocannabinoids are also synthesised following activation of metabotropic glutamate and muscarinic acetylcholine receptors (Maejima *et al.*, 2001; Ohno-Shosaku *et al.*, 2003). Therefore, in addition to the activity-dependent phasic control of neurotransmitter release described previously, this tonic control of endocannabinoid release mediated by Gprotein couple receptors may play an important role in epileptogenesis (Armstrong *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, the complexities of endocannabinoid signalling also extend to the pharmacological properties of the two principal endocannabinoids. Here, 2-AG (K_i=472 nM), while acting as a full agonist at CB₁ receptor, exhibits lower affinity for CB₁ receptor than AEA ($K_i=32$ nM) which acts as a partial agonist although 2-AG levels are, on average ~170fold higher in brain than AEA (Vemuri and Makriyannis, 2009). Therefore, overall effects on the development of seizures may be driven by relative levels of the endocannabinoids in particular brain areas (von Rüden *et al.*, 2015; Sugiura *et al.*, 2000). Finally, following dissociation from the CB₁ receptors, endocannabinoids are rapidly degraded (Alger, 2014); 2-AG and AEA are catabolised by the enzymes monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL) and alpha/beta-hydrolase domain containing 6 (ABHD6) (Marrs *et al.*, 2010) or fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH), respectively (McKinney and Cravatt, 2005; Dinh *et al.*, 2002).

Furthermore, activation of TRPV1 by AEA can trigger enhanced glutamate release following an increase in intracellular Ca^{+2} concentrations (Bhaskaran and Smith, 2010), although the concentration of AEA required to activate TRPV1 is greater than that required for CB₁ receptor activation (Ross, 2003; Manna and Umathe, 2012). Moreover, TRPV1 activation rapidly leads to desensitisation which, in the presence of persistently raised AEA levels, could lead to reduced neuronal activity (Carletti *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 1.3. Schematic diagram representing the endocannabinoid retrograde signalling mechanism (taken from (Zou and Kumar, 2018)). Endocannabinoids are mainly synthesised and released from postsynaptic terminals. 2-AG is synthesised from DAG by DAGLa, whereas AEA is synthesised from NAPE by NAPE-PLD. The endocannabinoids act retrogradely to activate CB₁ receptors (CB₁Rs) at presynaptic terminals. Activated CB₁Rs inhibit neurotransmitter (NT) release by suppression of calcium influx. 2-AG is degraded to arachidonic acid (AA) and glycerol by MAGL. In addition to CB₁Rs, AEA can activate the TRPV1. Finally, AEA is degraded to AA and ethanolamine (EtNH2) by FAAH. NAPE-PLD may also expressed in presynaptic terminals. Thick arrows represent translocation; thin arrows represent enzymatic process; blunted arrow represent inhibition.

1.3.2 Synthetic cannabinoids

A number of synthetic cannabinoids have been tested preclinically to assess their role in seizures and epilepsy, and it has been discussed in detail in our review article (Rosenberg *et al.*, 2017b). The synthetic cannabinoid URB597, an inhibitor of FAAH (degradative enzyme of AEA) has been shown to have anticonvulsive effect in a number of preclinical seizure models such as MES (Naderi *et al.*, 2011), PTZ-induced (Vilela *et al.*, 2013) and KAinduced (Shubina *et al.*, 2015) models of seizure. Further, URB602 and WWL123, the inhibitors of MAGL and ABHD6 (degradative enzymes of 2-AG), respectively also demonstrate anticonvulsive action in PTZ-induced seizure model (Naderi *et al.*, 2011; Naydenov *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, AM404, an AEA reuptake inhibitor demonstrated to be anticonvulsant in KA-induced (Shubina *et al.*, 2015) and PTZ-induced seizure models (Manna and Umathe, 2012). However, at a higher dose it exerts proconvulsant effect in PTZinduced seizure model (Manna and Umathe, 2012).

Direct agonism of CB₁ receptor by WIN55,212 produced an anti-convulsant effect in MES (Wallace *et al.*, 2001; Naderi *et al.*, 2008; Luszczki *et al.*, 2011) and PTZ-induced (Payandemehr *et al.*, 2015; Naderi *et al.*, 2011) rodent models of seizures. Another direct CB₁ receptor agonist, arachidonyl-2'-chloroethylamide (ACEA) also showed anticonvulsive effect in MES (Luszczki *et al.*, 2006; Luszczki *et al.*, 2010; Andres-Mach *et al.*, 2012) and PTZ-induced (Bahremand *et al.*, 2008; Naderi *et al.*, 2015) models of seizure. However, a proconvulsant effect of both WIN55,212 and ACEA have also been reported on PTZ seizures (Vilela *et al.*, 2013). In addition to the role of CB₁ receptors in reducing seizures, recent studies suggest that activation of mixed CB₁/CB₂ receptors or CB₂ receptor alone, may regulate excitability in the hippocampus, increase excitatory transmission (Kim and Li, 2015), and trigger cell-type specific hyperpolarisation following sustained stimulation (Stempel *et al.*, 2016). AM1241, a CB₂ receptor agonist has been reported to be pro-convulsant in PTZ-

induced seizure model (de Carvalho *et al.*, 2016). On contrary, studies with mixed CB_1/CB_2 receptor agonists (e.g. anandamide, or closely related palmitoylethanolamide) demonstrate primarily anti-convulsive effects in MES (Lambert *et al.*, 2001; Wallace *et al.*, 2002) and PTZ-induced seizures (Aghaei *et al.*, 2015).

1.3.3 Phytocannabinoids

1.3.3.1 Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC)

 Δ^9 -THC is the most abundantly present chemical constituents of cannabis and is primarily responsible for the psychoactive effects accompanying with cannabis smoking (Shen and Thayer, 1999). It exerts its action mainly by acting as a partial agonist on the two cannabinoid receptors i.e. CB1 and CB2 (Pertwee, 2008). However, non-cannabinoid receptor mediated action of Δ^9 -THC by acting as a positive allosteric modulator of opioid receptors (μ and δ) has also been demonstrated (Kathmann *et al.*, 2006). The psychotropic and anticonvulsant effects of Δ^9 -THC are believed to be mediated by CB₁ receptor (Shen and Thayer, 1999). However, the anticonvulsant effect of Δ^9 -THC is widely disputed, and variable results have been demonstrated in both preclinical and clinical studies; a recent review compiled 34 studies involving 6 different animal species reported that Δ^9 -THC showed anticonvulsant in 21, proconvulsant in 1, mixed in 1 and no efficacy in 11 studies (Rosenberg et al., 2015). Δ^9 -THC showed a mixed response in humans as well; for example, a study conducted in five children treated with Δ^9 -THC reported that epilepsy was controlled in two of them whereas three patients showed no significant response (Davis and Ramsey, 1949). Apart from CB₁ mediated anticonvulsant effect, its potent anti-inflammatory and analgesic effects have been demonstrated in various preclinical models (Sofia et al., 1975; Chesher *et al.*, 1973; Rock *et al.*, 2018). Further, the beneficial effects of Δ^9 -THC to improve neuropathic pain associated with diabetes (Wallace et al., 2015; Selvarajah et al., 2010), HIV infection (Ellis et al., 2009; Abrams et al., 2007), brachial plexus avulsion (Berman et al.,

2004) and multiple sclerosis (Wissel et al., 2006) have been reported in clinical trials. Due to its demonstrable efficacy as an analgesic, nabiximols containing a ratio of 1:1 Δ^9 -THC:CBD (Sativex[®]; oromucosal spray; GW Pharmaceuticals) has been approved in Europe and Canada for the treatment of pain associated with multiple sclerosis (Rog et al., 2007; Langford et al., 2013; Russo et al., 2016), cancer (Johnson et al., 2013) and rheumatoid arthritis (Blake et al., 2006). Further, dronabinol and nabilone, the two synthetic Δ^9 -THC are used for the treatment of nausea and vomiting associated with cancer chemotherapy (Badowski, 2017). Moreover, dronabinol is beneficial in the treatment of weight loss and loss of appetite in acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) and cancer patients (Badowski and Yanful, 2018). Although Δ^9 -THC has so many beneficial effects, it is associated with several adverse effects which limit its use as a therapeutic agent. For example, Δ^9 -THC has been demonstrated to cause sedation, hypomotility (Katsidoni et al., 2013; Rock et al., 2015) and even catalepsy (Prescott *et al.*, 1992) in rats. In humans, Δ^9 -THC has been reported to produce psychosis (Kraft et al., 2008; D'Souza et al., 2004), anxiety (D'Souza et al., 2004), euphoria (Wallace et al., 2007), slow response (Lee et al., 2013) and impaired decision making (Ramaekers et al., 2006). Δ^9 -THC also impairs episodic and working memories in human in a dose dependent manner (Curran et al., 2002; Hart et al., 2001). However, recent studies have shown low dose Δ^9 -THC is able to improve memory in old mice (Bilkei-Gorzo *et al.*, 2017; Sarne *et al.*, 2018) and provide protection against inflammation induced cognitive damage (Fishbein-Kaminietsky et al., 2014).

1.3.3.2 Cannabidivarin (CBDV)

CBDV is a non-psychoactive cannabinoid which has shown its anticonvulsive effect both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Hill *et al.*, 2012). CBDV has been demonstrated to reduce epileptiform local field potentials (LFPs) in rat hippocampal brain slices when induced by 4aminopyridine (4-AP) and Mg⁺⁺ (Hill *et al.*, 2012). Further, in a PTZ induced rat seizure model, CBDV significantly attenuated the severity and mortality in the treated group (Hill et al., 2012). Moreover, CBDV reduced the tonic-clonic convulsion frequency in mouse models of audiogenic and maximal electroshock seizure comparable to sodium valproate (Hill et al., 2012). Encouragingly, CBDV does not produce any antagonistic effect to commonly available antiepileptic drugs and does not induce any significant motor side effect when tested by static beam and grip strength task (Hill et al., 2012). The mechanism through which CBDV exerts its anticonvulsant action is still not clear. CBDV has little affinity at CB1 receptor and it has been demonstrated that its anticonvulsant effect is CB1 receptorindependent (Hill et al., 2013). Further, CBDV has been shown to act through CB2 dependent pathways (Scutt and Williamson, 2007). Some in vitro studies also reported that CBDV activates TRPV2, transient receptor potential of ankyrin type 1 (TRPA1) and transient potential of ankyrin type 2 (TRPA2) receptors, inhibits the receptor L-αlysophosphatidylinositol, transient receptor potential of melastatin type 8 (TRPM8) and diacylglycerol lipase- α , but whether these contribute to its anticonvulsant action is still not clear (Anavi-Goffer et al., 2012; De Petrocellis et al., 2012; De Petrocellis et al., 2011).

1.3.3.3 Cannabidiol (CBD)

CBD is a major non-psychoactive constituent of cannabis which exerts its therapeutic potential against several diseases including epilepsy (Thomas *et al.*, 1998). Unlike Δ^9 -THC, CBD shows very low affinity towards CB₁ and CB₂ receptors which makes it nonpsychoactive (Thomas *et al.*, 1998; Bisogno *et al.*, 2001). However, it has been reported that CBD might also act as a negative allosteric modulator of CB₁ and CB₂ receptors (Thomas *et al.*, 2007). At sub- to low- micromolar concentrations, CBD acts as an antagonist of the GPR55 (Ryberg *et al.*, 2007), TRPM8 channel (De Petrocellis *et al.*, 2008), and the equilibrative nucleoside transporter (ENT), whereas it shows agonistic activity on the TRPA1 channel (De Petrocellis *et al.*, 2011), the 5-HT_{1A} receptor (Russo *et al.*, 2005), the glycine receptors (Ahrens *et al.*, 2009), and has a bidirectional effect on intracellular calcium (Ryan *et al.*, 2009). On the other hand, at higher micromolar concentrations, CBD activates the TRPV1 and TRPV2 channels (De Petrocellis *et al.*, 2011), and the peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor γ (PPAR γ) (O'Sullivan *et al.*, 2009). It also inhibits cellular uptake and FAAH-catalysed degradation of anandamide (Bisogno *et al.*, 2001). Further, CBD prevents adenosine reuptake by blocking the equilibrative nucleoside transporter (Carrier *et al.*, 2006). This broad range of action makes CBD a potential candidate for the treatment of several diseases which are discussed briefly below.

1.3.3.3.1 Epilepsy

The role of CBD in epilepsy has been demonstrated both in preclinical and clinical studies. CBD showed marked antiepileptiform properties *in vitro* in rat brain slices experiencing seizure-like activity induced by 4-AP or Mg^{2+} removal (Jones *et al.*, 2012). CBD also reduced both the seizure frequency and mortality in PTZ, penicillin and pilocarpine induced acute seizure model of rats (Chiu *et al.*, 1979; Consroe *et al.*, 1982; Hill *et al.*, 2013; Hansen *et al.*, 2009; Jones *et al.*, 2010; Jones *et al.*, 2012). Further, the anticonvulsive effect of CBD has recently been demonstrated independently by our group and Klein *et al.* in MES, 6 Hz psychomotor seizure, and PTZ acute seizure tests and corneal kindling model of chronic seizures in mice (Klein *et al.*, 2017; Patra *et al.*, 2018). Our group has also established that a single intravenous dose of CBD (10 mg/kg) attenuates the maximum seizure severity in a rat model of pilocarpine-induced SE (Patra *et al.*, 2018). Further, CBD (100 mg/kg twice daily; i.p. for 5 consecutive days) has been shown to reduce seizures in animal models of Dravet syndrome (Kaplan *et al.*, 2017). The same group also demonstrated that a single dose of CBD (10 mg/kg; i.p.) improved social deficit in these mice (Kaplan *et al.*, 2017).

Several clinical studies reported positive effect of CBD on infantile spasms, Lennox-Gastaut syndrome, tuberous sclerosis complex and other intractable epilepsies in children (Hess *et al.*, 2016; Tzadok *et al.*, 2016; Hussain *et al.*, 2015). An open-label Phase-2 study conducted on 137 patients with various epilepsies, reported that CBD exerted a 36.5% median reduction in monthly motor seizures and was safe and tolerable (Devinsky *et al.*, 2016). Further, a randomised double-blind placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial on 120 drug resistant Dravet syndrome patients reported CBD was well tolerable and reduced monthly median seizure frequency from 12.4 to 5.9 in comparison to placebo group where it was reduced from 14.9 to 14 (Devinsky *et al.*, 2017). Additionally, two double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trials on 171 (Thiele *et al.*, 2018) and 225 (Devinsky *et al.*, 2018a) drug resistant Lennox-Gastaut syndrome patients documented a significant reduction in frequency of monthly drop seizures (atonic, tonic or tonic-clonic seizures that could have led to a fall) in the CBD treated groups than the placebo controlled groups. Considering the tolerability of CBD with promising seizure reduction potential in patients with Dravet syndrome and Lenox-Gastaut syndrome, the US-FDA approved CBD (Epidiolex; GW Pharmaceuticals) for the treatment of these two diseases (FDA, 2018).

1.3.3.3.2 Anxiety, depression and psychosis

The anxiolytic and antidepressant potential of CBD has been extensively studied and widely reported the literature. CBD treatment produces anxiolytic effects in rats exhibited by increased open arm visits in elevated plus maze (EPM) test (Campos and Guimaraes, 2008; Guimaraes *et al.*, 1990; Campos and Guimaraes, 2009), increased number of punished licks in the Vogel conflict test (Moreira *et al.*, 2006; Campos and Guimaraes, 2008) and reduced freezing behaviours in the contextual fear conditioning test (Bitencourt *et al.*, 2008). CBD also attenuates anxiety-induced rapid eye movement (REM) sleep disruption in rats caused due to repeated combination tests involving open field and elevated plus maze tests (Hsiao *et al.*, 2012). Further, CBD treatment decreases panic responses in a number of animal models of panic disorders such as the elevated T-maze (Soares Vde *et al.*, 2010), electrical

stimulation of the dorsal portions of the periaqueductal grey matter (Campos et al., 2013) and prey vs predator paradigm (Uribe-Marino et al., 2012). CBD has been shown to have antidepressant like activity in healthy rodents in forced swim test (Reus et al., 2011; El-Alfy et al., 2010; Zanelati et al., 2010; Sales et al., 2018). Additionally, the antidepressant activity of CBD has been demonstrated in genetic (Shoval et al., 2016; Shbiro et al., 2018), olfactory bulbectomy (Linge et al., 2016), chronic unpredictable stress (Campos et al., 2013) models of depression. The anxiolytic properties of CBD is not limited to preclinical studies, it has been demonstrated in both healthy human volunteers (Crippa et al., 2004; Fusar-Poli et al., 2009) and social phobia patients (Crippa et al., 2011; Bergamaschi et al., 2011). CBD treatment also produces significant improvement of psychosis observed in schizophrenia (Leweke et al., 2012; McGuire et al., 2018; Leweke et al., 2018) and Parkinson's disease (Zuardi et al., 2009) patients. The molecular mechanisms through which CBD exert its anxiolytic and antidepressant effects are still not fully understood. One of the possible mechanism is by facilitating the 5-HT_{1A} signalling, as several studies has shown that 5-HT_{1A} receptor antagonist WAY-100635 diminishes its anxiolytic and antidepressant activities (Campos and Guimaraes, 2008; Soares Vde et al., 2010). The anxiolytic and antipsychotic effect of CBD might also be attributed to the enhancement of the endocannabinoid signalling by inhibiting the metabolism and uptake of anandamide (Fogaca et al., 2018) or by the activation of the TRPV1 receptor to facilitate presynaptic release of glutamate (Campos and Guimaraes, 2009). In addition to enhanced endocannabinoids signalling, CBD may produce its antipsychotic action by acting as a partial agonist on dopamine D₂ receptors similar to antipsychotic drug aripiprazole (Seeman, 2016).

1.3.3.3.3 Alzheimer's disease

CBD has also shown to have protective role against Alzheimer's disease in several animal models. For instance, CBD reduces amyloid β -induced expression of inducible nitric

oxide synthase (iNOS), interleukin-1β (IL-1β), glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and S100 calcium binding protein B in rodent astrocytes, thus attenuates reactive gliosis and inflammation associated with Alzheimer's disease (Esposito *et al.*, 2007; Esposito *et al.*, 2011). It has been suggested that CBD induced anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties are mediated through activation of PPARγ (Esposito *et al.*, 2011). CBD treatment also prevents amyloid β-induced microglial activation in mice and reverses spatial memory deficit in Morris water maze test (Martin-Moreno *et al.*, 2011). Chronic CBD treatment also attenuates object recognition memory and social recognition memory deficits in genetically modified mouse model (AβPP/PS1 mice) of Alzheimer's disease (Cheng *et al.*, 2014a; Cheng *et al.*, 2014b). Studies have shown the efficacy of CBD and Δ^9 -THC combinations in reversing dementia in mouse models of complex frontotemporal dementia (PK^{-/-}/TauVLW mice, taupathy) (Casarejos *et al.*, 2013) and Alzheimer's disease (AβPP/PS1 mice) (Aso *et al.*, 2015; Aso *et al.*, 2016).

1.3.3.3.4 Parkinson's disease

Parkinson's disease is a slow neurodegenerative disease associated with progressive death of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons that results into several motor abnormalities such as bradykinesia, rigidity and tremor (Sethi, 2002). CBD exerts neuroprotective effect in 6-hydroxydopamine-induced animal model of Parkinson's disease and reduces progressive degeneration of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons (Lastres-Becker *et al.*, 2005; Garcia-Arencibia *et al.*, 2007). Although no large scale studies have been conducted on human Parkinson's patients, few reports suggested an improvement of psychotic symptoms and REM sleep disorder in Parkinson's disease patients (Chagas *et al.*, 2014a; Zuardi *et al.*, 2009).

1.3.3.3.5 Other diseases

In addition to the above, CBD has also demonstrated its efficacy in pain (King *et al.*, 2017; Ward *et al.*, 2011; Turri *et al.*, 2018; Gamble *et al.*, 2018), cancer (Shrivastava *et al.*, 2011; Elbaz *et al.*, 2015; Ramer *et al.*, 2012; Massi *et al.*, 2004), diabetes (Weiss *et al.*, 2006; Weiss *et al.*, 2008) and cardiovascular diseases (Durst *et al.*, 2007; Walsh *et al.*, 2010; Rajesh *et al.*, 2010).

1.4 Objectives

As mentioned previously, epilepsy is a progressive chronic neurological disease characterised by seizures and associated comorbidities and almost one third of patients with epilepsy are refractory to one or more currently available AEDs. Not only that, the drug induced adverse effects are also alarming. Thus, an AED which can take control of both seizures and associated comorbidities is the need of the hour. As mentioned before, CBD has a multimodal action and it has shown its efficacy against a range of diseases and conditions. Further, several studies have demonstrated the beneficial effects of CBD against acute seizures, however the effect of chronic CBD administration on seizures and comorbidities associated with chronic epilepsy has never been studied. Moreover, the effect of chronic CBD treatment on survivability and comorbidities associated with any genetic form of epilepsy syndrome has never been evaluated. Therefore, this project was designed to investigate the effect of CBD on survivability, seizures and associated comorbidities using animal models of TLE and Dravet syndrome to cover both the acquired and genetic form of epilepsies, respectively. To fulfil the overall aim of this project, I conducted the following three studies.

1. First, I evaluated the effect of chronic CBD treatment in a RISE-SRS model of TLE to assess its role on seizures and associated comorbidities such as motor control, gait and cognition (**Chapter 2**).

- 2. Secondly, I assessed the effect of long-term CBD treatment in a *Scn1a^{-/-}* mouse model of Dravet syndrome to investigate its role on survivability and welfare of *Scn1a^{-/-}* mice. The welfare parameters assessed were weight change, and total neonatal welfare, natural activity, reflex/response to touch, orbital tightening and body condition scores (**Chapter 3**).
- 3. Finally, I investigated the effect of chronic CBD treatment in a *Scn1a*^{+/-} mouse model of Dravet syndrome to assess its effect on survivability and comorbidities associated with Dravet syndrome such as motor dysfunction, gait abnormalities, social deficit, anxiety, depression and cognitive impairment (**Chapter-4**).

Chapter 2: Effect of CBD in reducing seizures and associated comorbidities in rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy

2.1 Introduction

Seizures, whilst the primary symptom, are not the only aspect of temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) that affect a patient's quality of life. A number of comorbidities (e.g. depression, anxiety, motor disorder, cognitive deficits, social dysfunction, etc.) also contribute to a reduced quality of life, in addition to the poor prognosis associated with TLE (England *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, commonly used antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) such as valproate, phenytoin, and lacosamide are also known to produce a variety of cognitive, psychiatric, and motor adverse effects (George *et al.*, 2015; Zaccara *et al.*, 2004); thus therapies that do not carry the potential for adverse effects liability are in significant clinical demand. In this chapter, I investigated the effect of cannabidiol (CBD) in modifying seizures, motor function and cognition in a rat model of TLE.

CBD has been shown to have antiseizure activity in several animal models (Do Val-da Silva *et al.*, 2017; Jones *et al.*, 2012; Rosenberg *et al.*, 2017b; Klein *et al.*, 2017). Given its anticonvulsant efficacy in Phase 3 clinical trials, in 2018 the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (US-FDA) approved CBD (Epidiolex, GW Pharmaceuticals) as a drug for the treatment of Dravet Syndrome and Lennox Gastaut Syndrome in patients older than 2 years old (Devinsky *et al.*, 2017; FDA, 2018; Thiele *et al.*, 2018).

Despite the evidence in support of an antiepileptic action of CBD, few studies have investigated the potential for CBD to modify epilepsy-related behavioural comorbidities (Do Val-da Silva *et al.*, 2017; Jones *et al.*, 2012; Devinsky *et al.*, 2017; Thiele *et al.*, 2018). Further, no preclinical study has yet shown that sustained exposure to CBD not only reduces seizure burden in a TLE model but can also attenuate the severity of the associated behavioural comorbidities. Therefore, I assessed the effects of chronic oral administration of CBD on spontaneous seizures and associated behavioural comorbidities in the reduced intensity status epilepticus induced spontaneous recurrent seizures (RISE-SRS) model (Modebadze *et al.*, 2016). The RISE-SRS model shares several common features with human TLE including the post-insult epileptogenesis process without causing an overall damage of the brain, a similar electrophysiological profile (as observed during *in vitro* recording from human brain tissues) and spontaneous recurrent seizures (Modebadze *et al.*, 2016). This model is, therefore, ideal for long-duration disease modification studies with candidate investigational therapies. Of note, the present study utilised a clinically-relevant treatment design, as animals were only enrolled to receive CBD well-after the onset of SRS. The results of the present study provide the first demonstration in a preclinical model of TLE to suggest that CBD may exert potential disease-modifying effects on SRS and attendant behavioural comorbidities. The work in this chapter has contributed towards a peer-reviewed publication (Patra *et al.*, 2018).

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Animals and test substances

All experiments mentioned in this chapter were conducted at the University of Reading under license (70/7672) UK Home Office regulations (Animals Scientific Procedures Act, 1986) and approved by the Animal Welfare and Ethical review board at the University of Reading. The animals were maintained in room with a 12h:12h dark:light cycle at 21°C and humidity of 50 \pm 10 %, with *ad libitum* access to food and water throughout the study period. Male Wistar rats (>70 g; 3-4 weeks old; Harlan Envigo, UK) were used for the induction of reduced intensity status epilepticus (RISE). For this study, CBD (Batch No. 6046727R) was supplied by GW Pharmaceuticals Ltd (Cambridge, UK). All other drugs and chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Poole, UK) unless stated otherwise.

2.2.2 Induction of reduced intensity status epilepticus (RISE)

RISE-SRS was induced as per the method described by Modebadze *et al.* (Modebadze *et al.*, 2016) followed by an initial recovery and epileptogenesis period. In brief, the animals were initially injected with a subcutaneous injection of lithium chloride (127 mg/kg; s.c.) and returned to their home cage for 24 hours. The following day (24 hours after lithium chloride injection), animals were injected with methyl scopolamine, a muscarinic cholinergic receptor antagonist (1 mg/kg; s.c.) to provide protection against the pilocarpine-induced peripheral side effects. After 30 minutes, the animals were injected subcutaneously with a low dose of pilocarpine (25 mg/kg; s.c.) and were observed for 30 minutes for the symptoms of seizure activity and scored in Racine's scale (Table 2.1) (Racine, 1972). If the animals did not reach the Racine stage 4 i.e. 'bilateral forelimb clonus and rearing' they were injected with further doses of pilocarpine (50 and 75 mg/kg each; s.c.) at 30 minutes intervals until they exhibited this behaviour. Animals that did not reach Racine stage 4 after 3 pilocarpine injections were euthanised by a Schedule 1 method (CO₂ asphyxiation followed by cervical dislocation).

Table 2.1	. Racine's	seizure	severity	scale	(Racine,	1972)
-----------	------------	---------	----------	-------	----------	-------

Score	Observation
1	Mouth and facial movement
2	Head nodding
3	Unilateral forelimb clonus
4	Bilateral forelimb clonus with rearing
5	Generalised motor convulsion with forelimb clonus, rearing, falling and loss of postural tone

Once the animal started exhibiting 'bilateral forelimb clonus and rearing', they were immediately injected with xylazine (2.5 mg/kg; i.m.), an α_2 adrenoreceptor agonist that has sedative and muscle relaxant properties. The animals were kept in the xylazine-modified SE condition for a maximum of 1 hour to reduce seizure severity and prevent seizure-related mortality. During this period the animals were held by the experimenters, with cotton buds placed gently inside the mouth of the animals to avoid tongue biting. Hypromellose eye drops (Medicom Healthcare, UK) were applied periodically to the eyes to prevent dryness. One-hour post xylazine injection the SE was terminated by a subcutaneous injection of 1 mL/kg of 'stop' solution containing MK 801 (0.1 mg/kg; Tocris Bioscience, UK), diazepam (ethanolic solution; 2.5 mg/kg; Hameln Pharmaceuticals, UK) and MPEP (20 mg/kg; Axon Medchem, The Netherlands). The animals were held (in hands) for another 30 minutes until they stopped having symptoms of SE. If the SE continued beyond 30 minutes, a further injection of 'stop' solution was given and held for another 30 minutes.

Once the behavioural manifestation of SE attenuated, the animals were kept on a heat pad to maintain body temperature and allowed to recover. The animals were closely monitored until they become active, at which point they were injected subcutaneously with 0.5 mL of 5% sucrose on one side of the body and with 0.5 mL of 0.9% saline on the other side of the body for rehydration. The animals were then hand-fed with moist powdered food (standard lab chow) and returned to their home cage. Twice daily welfare checks were conducted for another 3 days and weight was monitored. Any weight loss of more than 10% across any 2 consecutive measurements then animals were euthanised by the above-mentioned Schedule 1 method.

The steps of RISE induction have been depicted in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1. Graphical representation of the induction process of reduced intensity status epilepticus (RISE) in rats. 1. The rats were first injected with lithium chloride (127 mg/kg; s.c.). 2. After 24 hours, they were injected with methyl scopolamine (1 mg/kg; s.c.). 3. 30 minutes later, they were injected with increasing doses of pilocarpine (\geq 25 mg/kg; s.c. maximum 3 doses) at 30 minutes interval until the severity of seizure reaches Racine scale stage 4. 4. Xylazine was injected (2.5 mg/kg; i.m.) to reduce the seizure severity and the animals were physically restrained for 60 minutes. 5. A 'stop solution' consist of diazepam (2.5. mg/kg), MK801 (0.1 mg/kg) and MPEP (20 mg/kg) was injected subcutaneously for the termination of status epilepticus (SE). 6. After 2 weeks of post-induction, the post seizure behavioural battery tests (PSBB) were conducted twice weekly for the confirmation of spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRS)/epilepsy.

2.2.3 Confirmation of epilepsy

The animals were confirmed as epileptic by either visual observation of bilateral seizure (Racine scale \geq 3) or a total score \geq 10 (using touch X pick up scores) from four consecutive post-seizure behavioural battery (PSBB) tests, as previously described (Modebadze *et al.*, 2016). The PSBB tests were conducted twice a week (Tuesday and Friday). The tests consisted of two tasks e.g. touch task and pick up task; with the scores obtained from these two tasks multiplied together to obtain a total PSBB score. In the touch task, the animals were gently poked on the rump with a blunt object (back side of a marker pen used consistently throughout the study) and the responses were scored by a previously trained researcher (Table 2.2). During the pickup task, the rats were picked up by grasping around the body and the responses were scored by trained researcher (Table 2.3). However, only animals that were classified as epileptic within 4-8 weeks from the day of SE induction were used for the analysis of seizures and comorbidities in the RISE-SRS model to minimize any age-related variability (Figure 2.2).

Table 2.2. Touch task in post seizure behavioural battery (PSBB) tests (Modebadze *et al.*, 2016).

Score	Observation
1	No reaction
2	Rat turns toward instrument
3	Rat moves away from instrument
4	Rat freezes
5	Rat turns toward the touch
6	Rat turns away from the touch
7	Rat jumps (with or without vocalisation)

 Table 2.3. Pick-up task in post seizure behavioural battery (PSBB) tests (Modebadze et al., 2016).

Score	Observation
1	Very easy pickup
2	Easy pickup with vocalisation
3	Some difficulty in pickup (rat rears and faces the hand)
4	Rat freezes
5	Difficult pickup (rat moves away)
6	Very difficult pickup (rat behaves defensively or attacks the hand)

2.2.4 Experimental design

To study the effect of CBD on seizures and associated comorbidities, 20 epileptic rats were randomly allocated into two groups with 10 animals daily orally treated with 200 mg/kg CBD (Batch No. 6046727R) and 10 animals daily orally treated with vehicle (3.5% Kolliphor[®] HS, Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, UK). 10 age-matched, vehicle-treated non-epileptic control rats were also studied. The CBD-treated group was initially treated for 1 week with vehicle followed by 1 week with a titrating dose of CBD (starting at 50 mg/kg and increasing by 50 mg/kg in every 2 days) to reach the final daily dose of 200 mg/kg. Thereafter 200 mg/kg dose was continued for 8 weeks until the end of all experiments (Figure 2.2). In line with the CBD-treated group both the vehicle-treated groups (non-epileptic/epileptic) were treated for 10 weeks with vehicle (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2. Study timeline. The study consisted of three groups: epileptic vehicle-treated, epileptic CBD-treated and non-epileptic vehicle-treated (n=10/groups). Following the confirmation of spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRS) the epileptic animals were randomised to either vehicle or CBD treatments. The CBD-treated animals were initially treated orally with vehicle for a week followed by one week of oral tapering dose of CBD (50-150 mg/kg/day). CBD at 200 mg/kg/day was then administered orally for 8 weeks until the completion of the study. The other two groups (epileptic and non-epileptic) were treated with vehicle (3.5% Kolliphor[®]) for 10 weeks. Epileptic animals were video monitored for the assessment of seizure burden and seizure burden ratio. All the animals were assessed on their motor (rotarod and gait tests) and cognitive function (hole-board test) during the last two weeks.

2.2.5 Assessment of seizures

All epileptic animals were video monitored 24 hours a day for 7 weeks (Figure 2A). Twenty CCTV cameras (TP-101BK, Topica, Taiwan) were established and connected to a PC, with video footage recorded using Zoneminder (v1.2.3; Triornis Ltd., Bristol, UK) software. Video footage obtained during the light phase (07:00 to 19:00) from initial 4 days (at the beginning of treatment; first bin) and final 4 days (before beginning of the behavioural experiments; final bin) were coded offline to analyse behaviour. The light phase was selected for coding as in this model ~65% spontaneous seizures take place during this phase (Farrimond *et al.*, 2009).

A blinded independent researcher was trained to identify and code severity of convulsive behaviour using a modified Racine scale (Table 2.4) as previously described (Sheffler *et al.*, 2009). Any score of \geq 3 were recorded as these reflected clearly identifiable motor convulsions. Both the severity and frequency of seizures are equally important in estimating the seriousness of the disease, therefore seizure burden in each animal was calculated from i) first, multiplying each seizure severity with its frequency (number of occurrence) ii) then adding up all the scores obtained in step (i) (Barker-Haliski *et al.*, 2015). The seizure burden ratio was calculated from the seizure burden by using the formula:

Mean seizure burden ratio = $\frac{\text{mean seizure burden in final bin}}{\text{mean seizure burden in first bin}}$

A higher seizure burden ratio therefore indicates a worsening of the disease over time.

Table 2.4 Modified Racine scale used for coding seizure behaviour for TLE animal model; adapted from (Sheffler *et al.*, 2009).

Score	Observation	
0	Normal behaviour	
1	Becoming motionless	
2	Forelimb and/or tail extension, rigid posture	
3	Myoclonic jerks or repetitive movements with head bobbing or "wet dog shakes"	
3.5	Unilateral or bilateral forelimb clonus	
4	Bilateral forelimb clonus and rearing	
5	Bilateral forelimb clonus, rearing and occasional falling	
5.5	Bilateral forelimb clonus, continuous rearing and falling	
6	Tonic-clonic seizure with loss of postural tone	

2.2.6 Assessment of motor coordination

Motor coordination was assessed using an accelerating rotarod (Ugo Basile rotarod model 7750) where each animal was placed on a rotating rotarod apparatus that linearly accelerated from 5 to 33 rpm over 5 minutes. Latency to fall from the rod (in seconds) was recorded, with a maximum score of 300 seconds. Each animal performed 3 trials and average latency to fall from the rod was entered into the statistical analysis. The animals were returned to their home cage after each trial and an interval of 2 minutes was given between two consecutive trials. Animals were habituated to the stationary rotarod for 2 minutes/day for two consecutive days before the test day.

2.2.7 Assessment of gait

Effect of the disease/treatment on cerebellar function was assessed by monitoring of gait patterns. A non-toxic ink was used to mark the hind paws of the rats as they walked on white paper (100 cm \times 10 cm) lining the floor of a transparent custom-made Plexiglas tunnel (100 \times 10 \times 10 cm) attached to a darkened box at its end. Animals were habituated to the

runway for two consecutive days before completing two trials on the 3^{rd} day. Left and right stride length were measured by the distance between two successive ipsilateral foot prints, whereas the stride width was measured from the distance between one paw print with its contralateral stride length at right angle (Wecker *et al.*, 2013). The first and last foot prints were not considered for evaluation (Wecker *et al.*, 2013). The mean value of each parameter obtained from the two trials represents a biological replicate in statistical test.

2.2.8 Assessment of cognitive function

A hole-board apparatus made of Plexiglas ($70 \times 70 \times 45$ cm), mounted on a table of 72 cm above the floor level was used to assess the cognitive function of the animals. The apparatus consisted of equally spaced 16 holes on its floor each of 2.5 cm in diameter. In this experiment, each rat was placed in the center of the hole-board and allowed to freely explore the apparatus for 10 min. Four accessible baits (Cheerios[®], Nestle) were kept in four holes, randomly selected for each animal, but kept constant across all test days. Olfactory cues were eliminated by placing inaccessible Cheerios[®] in all other holes. Prior to onset of testing, animals were habituated to the hole-board for four days (two days without bait to let the animals acclimatise to the test arena followed by two days with accessible bait in all the 16 holes to habituate the animals to the rules of the task). Animals were food deprived for 4-5 hours before tests to enhance motivation to complete the task. Testing was conducted on three consecutive days with animals performing five trials each day. Head dips were recorded by a video camera (Sony DCR-SX21E) for later analysis. A head dip was scored when the head was introduced into the holes at least to eye level of the rodent. Errors consisted of headdipping a hole that was baited with an inaccessible Cheerios[®] (reference memory error; RME); or re-dipping a hole that had previously been baited (working memory error; WME).

2.2.9 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses of behavioural data from the RISE-SRS rats were performed using GraphPad Prism 6 software (GraphPad Software, Inc., USA). The normal distribution of the values was tested using the D'agostino-Pearson normality test. Seizure burden data obtained from epileptic animals (Section 2.2.5) were analysed by Wilcoxon matched pair test (nonparametric), whereas seizure burden ratio was analysed by Mann-Whitney test (nonparametric). Fisher's exact test was further conducted to compare the number of animals from both the epileptic groups whose seizure was improved (seizure burden ratio <1). Data obtained from accelerating rotarod (Section 2.2.6), gait (Section 2.2.7) and hole-board (Section 2.2.8) tests were analysed by one-way ANOVA. If a significant main effect of group was found, then Holm-Sidak's post hoc multiple comparison test was conducted to compare the non-epileptic vehicle-treated group with the epileptic vehicle-treated group (to observe the effect of disease), and the epileptic vehicle-treated with the epileptic CBD-treated group (to observe the disease modifying effect of CBD). Multiple comparisons were corrected in all cases. In the hole-board test, two animals from each of the epileptic vehicle-treated and epileptic-CBD treated groups did not respond (did not consume any Cheerios® during the habituation period), hence were excluded from this test. All data were presented as mean \pm SEM. In all cases, p<0.05 was considered as the level of significance.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 CBD reduced long-term seizure burden in epileptic rats

To evaluate the effect of chronic CBD administration on disease progression, the effect of treatment upon seizure burden and seizure burden ratio was examined. Here, the epileptic vehicle-treated rats showed a robust increase in seizure burden from a median value of 25.75 (IQR=18.94-39.34) to 30.13 (IQR=21.00-49.91) over the course of the study

(Wilcoxon matched pair test, W=53, p<0.01; Figure 2.3A). On the other hand, CBD-treated epileptic rats did not demonstrate a time-dependent increase in seizure burden (Wilcoxon matched pair test, W=-31, p=0.13; Figure 2.3B) observed by a change of median value from 28.50 (IQR=26.81-39.75) to 24.75 (IQR=19.69-35.94) in the same time period.



Figure 2.3. Effect of chronic administration of vehicle/CBD on seizure burden in epileptic rats. A. Seizure burden before and after vehicle treatment. Median seizure burden was increased significantly in this group at the end of the observation period. B. Seizure burden before and after CBD treatment. CBD-treated rats showed no change in median seizure burden. Data were analysed by Wilcoxon matched pairs signed rank test; n=10/group; **p<0.01.

Interestingly, the seizure burden ratio was significantly greater in vehicle-treated epileptic animals compared to CBD-treated epileptic animals (n=10/group; Mann Whitney test, U=22, p<0.05; Figure 2.4A). Moreover, a significantly greater number of CBD-treated rats (7 of 10) showed an improvement in disease severity (seizure burden ratio below 1) compared to vehicle-treated rats (1 of 10) (Fisher's exact test, p<0.05, Figure 2.4B).



Figure 2.4. Dot plot and bar diagram showing effect of vehicle/CBD treatment on seizure burden ratio in epileptic rats. A. Median seizure burden ratio of epileptic vehicle-treated and epileptic CBD-treated animals recorded during a 7-week continuous video monitoring period. CBD significantly reduced the seizure burden ratio compared to the vehicle-treated counterpart (n=10/group; data were analysed by Mann Whitney test; *p<0.05). Data are expressed as median, min to max, and interquartile range (IQR). B. Number of epileptic vehicle-treated and epileptic CBD-treated and epileptic CBD-treated animals with seizure burden ratio below or above 1 (Data were analysed by Fisher's exact test; *p<0.05).
2.3.2 CBD attenuated motor incoordination associated with epilepsy

Motor coordination of the animals was tested using the accelerating rotarod. A significant difference in time spent on the rotarod was observed among the groups (One-way ANOVA; $F_{(2,27)}=5.996$; p<0.01). Holm Sidak's *post hoc* test revealed that both the non-epileptic vehicle-treated (130.40 ± 3.99 seconds; p<0.05) and epileptic CBD-treated (149.00 ± 13.10 seconds; p<0.01) animals spent significantly more time on the rod, compared to the epileptic vehicle-treated group (97.87 ± 12.13 seconds). This indicates that chronic oral CBD administration attenuated the TLE-induced motor dysfunction seen in vehicle-treated animals (Figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5. Dot plot showing effect of chronic vehicle/CBD administration on motor coordination of rats in accelerating rotarod test. Mean time spent by non-epileptic vehicle-treated, epileptic vehicle-treated and epileptic CBD-treated animals on accelerating rotarod (n=10/group). Non-epileptic vehicle-treated and epileptic CBD-treated group spent significantly more time on the accelerating rotarod compared to the epileptic vehicle-treated group. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; data were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test; *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

2.3.3 CBD did not exert any adverse effect on gait in epileptic rats

The gait test was performed to assess left stride length (LSL), right stride length (RSL) and stride width (SW) of the animals. The mean values of LSL (Figure 2.6A) of non-epileptic vehicle-treated, epileptic vehicle-treated and epileptic CBD-treated animals were respectively 144.10 ± 5.33 , 143.80 ± 5.38 and 145.20 ± 5.85 millimetres, whereas the mean

values of RSL (Figure 2.6B) in these groups were respectively 142.80 ± 4.64 , 144.80 ± 4.97 and 147.30 ± 5.64 millimetres (n=10/group). Further, SW (Figure 2.6C) in these groups were respectively 41.58 ± 1.27 , 44.30 ± 1.19 and 43.34 ± 1.94 millimetres (n=10/group). No significant differences between the groups were observed for any of these parameters (One-way ANOVA; for LSL $F_{(2,27)}$ =0.019, for RSL $F_{(2,27)}$ =0.198, for SW $F_{(2,27)}$ =0.842 ; p>0.05; Figure 2.6A-C). These data show that chronic CBD administration does not have any adverse effect on gait of the TLE animals.



Figure 2.6. Dot plots showing effect of chronic vehicle/CBD administration on gait of rats. A. Left stride length (millimeters) of non-epileptic vehicle-treated, epileptic vehicle-treated, and epileptic CBD-treated rats (n=10/group). No significant difference in mean left stride length was observed among the groups. **B.** Right stride length (millimeters). No significant difference in mean right stride length was observed among the groups. **C.** Stride width (millimeters). No significant difference in mean \pm SEM; data were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test.

2.3.4 CBD attenuated working memory deficits associated with epilepsy

To assess the effect of CBD on cognitive performance, animals were challenged on the hole-board test of reference and working memory.

A significant difference in number of reference memory errors (RME) was observed between groups (One-way ANOVA; $F_{(2,23)}$ =8.83; p<0.01). The Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test revealed that epileptic vehicle-treated rats (2.72 ± 0.38; n=8) made significantly more RME compared to the non-epileptic vehicle-treated rats (1.11 ± 0.09; n=10; p<0.001; Figure 2.7A). However, no significant difference was observed in between epileptic CBD-treated (1.95 ± 0.34; n=8) and epileptic vehicle-treated rats (Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test; p=0.07; Figure 2.7A). Interestingly, no significant difference was observed in between epileptic CBD-treated and non-epileptic vehicle-treated animals (Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test; p>0.05).

Similar to RME, a significant difference in working memory errors (WME) was found among the groups (One-way ANOVA; $F_{(2,23)}=11.28$; p<0.001). The Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test showed that epileptic vehicle-treated rats (1.87 ± 0.33) made significantly more WME compared to both non-epileptic vehicle-treated (0.99 ± 0.09; p<0.01) and epileptic CBDtreated (0.58 ± 0.05; p<0.001; Figure 2.7B) rats. The data obtained from hole-board test thus showed that chronic CBD-treatment attenuated the working memory deficit associated with epilepsy in RISE-SRS rats without producing any adverse effect on their reference memory.

A further correlation analysis was carried out between seizure burden and RME/WME, however no correlation was found between seizure burden and RME/WME (Appendix-1).



Figure 2.7. Dot plots showing the effect of chronic administration of vehicle/CBD on spatial memory of rats in hole-board test. A. Reference memory errors (RME) in non-epileptic vehicle-treated (n=10), epileptic vehicle-treated (n=8), and epileptic CBD-treated (n=8) groups. CBD did not significantly affect the reference memory compared to the non-epileptic vehicle-treated group. B. Working memory errors (WME). CBD significantly improved WME in epileptic animals compared to the epileptic vehicle-treated animals. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; data were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak's multiple comparison test; **p<0.05, ***p<0.001.

2.4 Discussion

In this study, I demonstrated for the first time that chronic oral administration of CBD improves seizure burden ratio, motor comorbidities, and cognitive function in the RISE-SRS model of TLE in rats after the onset of symptomatic seizures. My study further supports a growing body of evidence to demonstrate that CBD is a well-tolerated and effective therapy

for chronic seizures (Devinsky *et al.*, 2017), as well as demonstrating the potential that chronic oral administration of CBD may confer disease-modifying effects in a preclinical model of TLE. As mentioned in the introduction, this work has been published in the journal *Epilepsia* (Patra *et al.*, 2018).

TLE is one of the most common forms of acquired epilepsy in humans (Jefferys and Jiruska, 2009). A number of FDA-approved antiepileptic drugs, such as valproate, phenobarbital and eslicarbazepine, have demonstrated disease-modifying potential in preclinical models of chronic seizure (Potschka et al., 2014; Brandt et al., 2006; Brandt et al., 2010). Further, CBD has been demonstrated to reduce seizure frequency and mortality in PTZ, penicillin and pilocarpine induced acute rat models of seizures (Chiu et al., 1979; Consroe et al., 1982; Hill et al., 2013; Hansen et al., 2009; Jones et al., 2010; Jones et al., 2012). Not only that, in two independent studies conducted by Klein et al., and our group have shown that CBD is anticonvulsive in MES, 6 Hz psychomotor seizure, and PTZ acute seizure tests and corneal kindling model of chronic seizures in mice (Klein et al., 2017; Patra et al., 2018). Moreover, we proved that intravenous CBD (10 mg/kg) administration is able to reduce maximum seizure severity in a rat model of pilocarpine-induced SE (Patra et al., 2018). Nevertheless, this is the first study to demonstrate the effect of CBD in a preclinical TLE model. Here, I showed that the vehicle-treated epileptic rats exhibited a notable, timedependent increase in disease severity over the course of the study. CBD did not significantly reduce seizure burden after seven weeks of treatment; however, it did markedly modify the natural disease course following SE, as demonstrated by no overall increase in the seizure burden from the first to final seizure monitoring bin (Figure 2.4). Interestingly, seizure burden ratio was significantly lower in epileptic CBD-treated animals compared to their vehicletreated counterparts, which suggests that CBD is disease-modifying in this model. It is also observed that a significantly greater number of CBD-treated animals (70%) showed a significant improvement in disease severity (seizure burden ratio below 1) compared to vehicle-treated animals (10%).

A number of antiepileptic drugs (e.g. phenobarbital, valproic acid, phenytoin etc.) are reported to have adverse effect on motor function characterised by dyskinesia in people with epilepsy (Zaccara *et al.*, 2004; Ristić *et al.*, 2006; Zaccara *et al.*, 2013; Bainbridge *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, patients on phenytoin and valproic acid treatment sometimes exhibit Parkinsonism (Zaccara *et al.*, 2004). While prior reports suggested that CBD is well-tolerated in non-epileptic rats (Jones *et al.*, 2012), no studies have yet been conducted to examine the long-term effects of chronic CBD administration on tolerability and motor function in epileptic animals. Furthermore, no study has yet administered CBD for disease modification purposes after the onset of SRS. In this regard, the present study employed a clinicallyrealistic treatment scenario in a preclinical model of TLE to demonstrate that chronic oral administration of CBD is associated with notable anticonvulsant efficacy, minimal adverse effects liability, and disease-modifying potential well after the onset of symptomatic seizures.

It is well-known that humans and animals with epilepsy are more sensitive to adverse effects of antiepileptic drugs (Klitgaard *et al.*, 2002), thus the present findings that chronic oral administration of CBD in rats with epilepsy was not associated with any adverse effects further supports the potential of this agent for chronic clinical use in epilepsy patient populations. In addition to these drug-induced adverse effects on motor function, motor deficits are one of the most common comorbidities exhibited by patients with epilepsy (Boelen *et al.*, 2005). Here, I used two well-validated models of motor function, the rotarod and gait tests, to assess fine motor control and the gait of animals, respectively (Wecker *et al.*, 2013; Krishnakumar *et al.*, 2009). Epileptic vehicle-treated animals fell from the accelerating rotarod sooner than the non-epileptic vehicle-treated ones, indicating that SRS produced significant motor dysfunction related to balance. Similar findings have been previously

reported using the rotarod test where motor dysfunction was exhibited by pilocarpine induced epileptic rats (Krishnakumar *et al.*, 2009). Importantly though, CBD-treated epileptic animals remained on the accelerating rotarod for a significantly longer time than the vehicle-treated epileptic animals. Thus, I showed for the first time that CBD is not only well-tolerated by epileptic animals after prolonged oral administration, but that CBD reduces the severity of motor deficits induced by epilepsy.

Epileptic rats performed comparably to healthy animals in the gait test which is consistent with lack of reports citing gait disorders in adult epileptic patients with TLE. However, AEDs such as valproic acid and lacosamide have detrimental effect on gait in human patients (Ristić *et al.*, 2006; Bainbridge *et al.*, 2017). I therefore wanted to eliminate the possibility that CBD may cause gait deficits. Interestingly in this study, chronic oral administration of CBD did not produce any changes in stride length or width in the epileptic rats. This result thus demonstrates that the dose of CBD necessary to reduce seizure burden was not associated with gait impairing effects in rats with SRS. Clinical trials conducted on Dravet Syndrome and Lennox Gastaut Syndrome patients also did not report any gait disturbances following CBD administration (Devinsky *et al.*, 2017; Thiele *et al.*, 2018). Whether these potential side effects of CBD are also absent in the general TLE patient population remains to be defined.

Cognitive deficits are one of the most common comorbidities associated with TLE (Rzezak *et al.*, 2017; Realmuto *et al.*, 2015). For example, patients with TLE often exhibit poor executive control and working memory deficits (Lima *et al.*, 2017), whilst amnesia or accelerated long-term loss of memory is also frequently reported in patients with TLE (Miller *et al.*, 2017). Cognitive function in animals is typically assessed using spatial memory tasks measuring reference memory and working memory errors (Douma *et al.*, 1998; Vawter *et al.*, 1997). Reference memory can be defined as long-term storage of acquired information that

remains constant over successive training sessions, while working memory is a form of shortterm memory that refers to storage and manipulation of information acquired within a trial session (Olton, 1979). Several spatial memory tasks e.g. radial arm maze, Morris water maze and hole-board, have been used to evaluate these two types of memory in rodents (Decker, 2006; van der Staay, 1999). Here, I employed the hole-board task where epileptic vehicletreated rats exhibited impairment of both the working and reference memory aspects of the hole-board test. These findings are comparable with previous studies of spatial or hippocampus-dependent memory in rats with TLE, e.g. a delayed nonmatching to position task (Schipper et al., 2016), eight arm radial maze (Wolf et al., 2016), and Morris water maze (Kalemenev et al., 2015). However, reference memory of CBD-treated epileptic animals was not significantly different compared to both non-epileptic and epileptic vehicle-treated animals, which suggests that although CBD could not improve the reference memory, it provided protection against the epilepsy-induced reference memory impairment in these animals. Remarkably, the present study showed that chronic oral administration of CBD improved working memory function in epileptic animals compared to their vehicle-treated counterparts. The beneficial effects of CBD on memory have also been reported which will be discussed in greater detail in chapter 5 (Osborne and Solowij, 2017; Martin-Moreno et al., 2011; Cheng et al., 2014a; Hindocha et al., 2015). Here, I demonstrated that memory deficits were improved by CBD which is a novel finding for TLE in rats. Although SRS are the primary cause of cognitive decline in TLE (van Rijckevorsel, 2006); the improved cognitive function in the CBD-treated epileptic group might be due to a seizure-independent mechanism rather than solely by seizure reduction e.g. anti-inflammatory/neuroprotective action (Schiavon et al., 2014; Pazos et al., 2012; Cassol et al., 2010). A further detailed investigation is thus warranted to shed light on the mechanism by which CBD improved the presently tested behavioural comorbidities.

2.5 Conclusion

In this study, I established that oral administration of CBD attenuated seizures, reduced motor deficits and improved cognitive function without affecting gait in a RISE-SRS rat model of TLE. Moreover, this study demonstrated that CBD has disease modifying effect in TLE and highlighted that it is a potential candidate drug for the treatment of spontaneous symptomatic seizures of TLE. Notably, this work has recently been published in the peer reviewed journal *Epilepsia*.

Chapter 3: Effect of CBD in improving survivability and neonatal welfare in Scn1a^{-/-} mouse model

3.1 Introduction

In the previous chapter, I demonstrated the efficacy of cannabidiol (CBD) against seizures and associated comorbidities in rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE). In this chapter, I will report the role of CBD on survivability and neonatal welfare in *Scn1a*^{-/-} mouse model of Dravet syndrome which reproduces ataxia, seizures and premature mortality as observed in human patients.

As mentioned in Chapter 1, the SCN1A gene encodes the Nav1.1 subtype of voltagegated sodium channels which regulates the inhibitory network of the hippocampal GABAergic interneurons (Malo et al., 1991; Yu et al., 2006). Therefore, a loss of function of this gene due to mutation leads to abnormal interneuron firing and subsequent disinhibition to promote the severe myoclonic epilepsy observed in Dravet Syndrome (Cheah et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2006). The present study employed Scn1a^{-/-} mice that exhibit seizures and associated behavioural symptoms due to lack of Nav1.1 channel expression at GABAergic inhibitory interneurons (Yu et al., 2006). The Scn1a^{-/-} mice differ from human Dravet syndrome by their complete loss of expression of $Na_V 1.1$ channels, but they reproduce the ataxia, seizures and premature mortality commonly observed in Dravet syndrome patients (Yu et al., 2006; Kalume et al., 2007). These mice start exhibiting symptoms such as seizures, ataxia, poor righting reflex from postnatal day 9 (P9) onwards which become progressively worse over time, with animals dying before they reach the age of P16 (Yu et al., 2006; Miller et al., 2014; Kalume et al., 2007). Due to extreme severity and early mortality, this model is not suitable for studying complex behavioural comorbidities but does allow rapid assessment of antiepileptic drug (AED) efficacy to justify a larger study (Chapter 4).

In addition to fast AED screening, the $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mouse model is also useful for the evaluation of a number of well-established parameters such as natural activity,

reflex/response to touch, total neonatal welfare, orbital tightening and body condition that reflect the health and wellbeing of animals (Ullman-Culleré and Foltz, 1999; Wolfensohn and Lloyd, 2007; Langford *et al.*, 2010). For instance, the natural activity and reflex/response to touch (righting reflex) provide important information on the neonatal motor function (Wolfensohn and Lloyd, 2007), while orbital tightening is a potential indicator of pain in animals (Langford *et al.*, 2010). Overall health of the animals can be assessed by neonatal welfare and body condition scores (Wolfensohn and Lloyd, 2007; Ullman-Culleré and Foltz, 1999). In the present study, these welfare parameters were therefore used to assess the neonatal comorbidities associated with *Scn1a*^{-/-} mouse model.

The efficacy of CBD has been demonstrated in several animal models of seizures and epilepsy (Do Val-da Silva *et al.*, 2017; Jones *et al.*, 2012; Kaplan *et al.*, 2017) including the rat model of TLE (Chapter 2). However, a disease modifying effect of CBD has never been assessed in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice. Furthermore, as stated earlier, the $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice present with a severe epilepsy phenotype that results in premature death with no currently available antiepileptic drugs reported to be efficacious in extending their survival. Conventional antiepileptic drug diazepam improved the seizures in these mice but failed to extend their survival (Yu *et al.*, 2006). This study was therefore designed to investigate the effect of CBD in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mouse model to evaluate its potential to extend the survivability and modify disease associated comorbidities in the $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Animals and test substances

The present experiment was performed following UK Home Office regulations (Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act, 1986) under licence 70/8397 "Mouse Model of Dravet Syndrome" and was approved by the Animal Welfare and Ethics Review Board at the

University of Reading. All mice were maintained in 12h:12h light:dark cycle (experiments were conducted during light cycle 8:00-20:00 h), a room temperature of 21°C and humidity of 50 \pm 10 %, with ad libitum access to food and water. 129S-*Scn1a*^{tm1Kea/Mmjax} heterozygote mice (Jackson Laboratory, USA) were maintained in the BioResource Unit at the University of Reading (UK) and bred together to obtain *Scn1a*^{-/-} and wild type (*WT*) animals (Figure 3.1). *Scn1a*^{-/-} and *wild type* (*WT*) animals were maintained in the Unit as described earlier before entering the study and commencing drug treatment as outlined below. The maternal behaviour of the dams was also assessed simultaneously to ensure that any of the parameters observed in the study animals (*Scn1a*^{-/-}/*WT* mice) were not affected by the dam's behaviour (See 3.2.4.2). At the end of the study, animals were humanely killed by a Schedule 1 method (cervical dislocation). CBD (batch no. 6046727R) was supplied by GW Pharmaceuticals (Cambridge, UK). All other chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Poole, UK) unless otherwise stated.



Figure 3.1. Schematic diagram showing breeding and experimental design for this experiment. Male and female $129S-Scn1a^{tm1KeaMmjax}$ heterozygote $(Scn1a^{+/-})$ mice were crossed to obtain $Scn1a^{+/+}$ (*WT*) and $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice used in the study. Tissue collection (tail clippings) and genotyping was conducted in between postnatal day 2 (P2) and P4. On P5 these animals were randomised into four groups i.e. *WT* vehicle-treated, *WT* CBD-treated, $Scn1a^{-/-}$ vehicle-treated and $Scn1a^{-/-}$ CBD-treated (n=10/group). The animals were treated twice daily subcutaneously with either vehicle (ethanol: Kolliphor®: 0.9% saline=2:1:17) or CBD (100 mg/kg) from postnatal day 8 (P8) onwards until P25/death (whichever was earlier). Twice daily welfare was conducted to assess body weight, total neonatal welfare, natural activity, reflex/response to touch, orbital tightening and body condition scores. Survivability was also assessed.

3.2.2 Genotyping of animals

Approximately 1-2 mm of tail tip was clipped from each animal at P2-4. DNA was extracted by incubating each sample at 75°C for 5 minutes followed by 95°C for 10 minutes (deactivation step) with 20 μ L 5X PCRBIO Rapid Extract Buffer A (1u/ μ L), 10 μ L 10X PCRBIO Rapid Extract Buffer B (PCR Biosystems, USA) and 70 μ L PCR grade water. The volume was then adjusted by adding 900 μ L PCR grade water followed by centrifugation at 16000g for 1 minute. The supernatant containing mouse DNA was collected and kept at - 20°C until use.

1 µL DNA sample solution was amplified in 20 µL PCR reaction mixture containing 0.4 µL each of: 25 µM forward primer (AGT CTG TAC CAG GCA GAA CTT G) and reverse primers (Rwt: CCC TGA GAT GTG GGT GAA TAG; Rmut: AGA CTG CCT TGG GAA AAG CG), 10 µL taq mix red (PCR Biosystems, USA) and 7.8 µL Rnase-free PCR grade water. The reaction condition included an activation step at 94°C for 2 minutes followed by 15 cycles of denaturation (94°C for 2 seconds), annealing (65°C for 15 seconds) and extension (68°C for 21 seconds); and another 15 cycles of denaturation (94°C for 15 seconds), annealing (60°C for 15 seconds) and extension (72°C for 21 seconds) which was followed by a final extension at 72°C for 2 minutes.

After the reaction was complete, samples (10 μ L) were loaded in 2% agarose gel (stained with 2 μ L Syber Safe DNA gel stain, Invitrogen, USA) in 1X TAE (Promega, USA) buffer and run for 2 minutes at 70V in a gel electrophoresis apparatus (BIORAD, USA). The gel was then observed under a UV transilluminator (Syngene, UK; Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2. Example result from PCR used for genotyping animals produced via breeding of the 129S-*Scn1a*^{tm1Kea/Mmjax} transgenic mouse line. Mouse tail DNA was amplified with primers for the *wild type* (*WT*) and mutated (*Scn1a*^{-/-}) *Scn1a* alleles. The presence of a 357bp band indicates the *WT* allele, and a 200bp band indicates the *Scn1a*^{-/-} allele. -ve: negative control; +ve: positive control.

3.2.3 Experimental design

Following genotyping, animals were randomly divided into four groups *WT* vehicletreated, *WT* CBD-treated, $Scn1a^{-/-}$ vehicle-treated and $Scn1a^{-/-}$ CBD-treated (n=10/group). They were injected subcutaneously twice daily with either CBD (100 mg/kg) or its vehicle (ethanol: Kolliphor[®]: 0.9% saline=2:1:17) from P8 until P25 or death (whichever was earlier). A twice daily welfare check was conducted throughout the entire duration of the study. Drug administration was conducted at 0800 h and followed by welfare checks. Conversely, afternoon welfare checks were conducted from 1600 h and followed by drug administration in order to provide the maximum possible time between doses. The experimental timeline is depicted in Figure 3.1.

3.2.4 Assessment of welfare scores

3.2.4.1 Neonatal welfare

Welfare scoring of neonates was conducted twice daily using a blinded spreadsheet that lacks the information on the genotype of the animals and the treatment (CBD/vehicle) given to them, to ensure the experimenter remained blind to both treatment and genotype. Neonatal welfare scoring (Table 3.1) was based upon a previously validated standardised approach used widely in murine models (Wolfensohn and Lloyd, 2007; Langford *et al.*, 2010; Ullman-Culleré and Foltz, 1999). Here, the parameters used for the welfare assessment were: weight, natural activity (NA; 0-3), reflex/response to touch (RT; 0-3), orbital tightening (OT; 0-2; Figure 3.3), body condition score (BC; 1-3) and surface temperature (ST; 0-2; data not shown). Finally, a total neonatal welfare score (TNW; range 0-8) was calculated by adding together scores from NA, RT, and ST.

Table 3.1. Welfare assessment sheet for neonatal mice; adapted from (Wolfensohn andLloyd, 2007; Ullman-Culleré and Foltz, 1999; Langford *et al.*, 2010)

Parameters	Observations	Scores
i) Natural activity (NA)	Wriggling ++ (highly active)	0
	Wriggling + (active)	1
	Not active but can move	2
	Still	3
ii) Reflexes/respond to touch (RT)	Righting reflex +++ (time taken to return back on its feet: <1 second)	0
	Righting reflex ++ (time taken to return back on its feet: 1-3 seconds)	1
	Righting reflex + (time taken to return back on its feet: 4-10 seconds)	2
	No righting reflex - (unable to return back on its feet within 10 seconds)	3
iii) Surface temperature (ST)	Warm (~35°C)	0
	Partial cold (dorsal/ventral part of the body)	1
	Cold	2
iv) Total neonatal welfare score (TNW; Sum of scores i to iii)		
v) Body condition (BC)	Mouse is emaciated, skeleton is extremely prominent, vertebrae distinctly segmented	1
	Mouse is underconditioned, segmented vertebral column evident, dorsal pelvic bones are palpable	2
	Mouse is well-conditioned, vertebrae and dorsal pelvis not prominent, palpable with slight pressure	3
vi) Orbital tightening (OT) (closing of the eyelid or narrowing of orbital area- see exemplar Figure 3.3)	Not present	0
	Moderately present	1
	Obviously present	2



Not present '0' Moderately present '1' Obviously present '2'

Figure 3.3. Scoring of orbital tightening in mice to assess pain. Orbital tightening is the closing of the eyelid or narrowing of orbital area, a wrinkle might also be visible around the eye. Adapted from National Centre for the Replacement Refinement and Reduction in Animals in Research (NC3R) and Langford *et al* (Langford *et al.*, 2010).

3.2.4.2 Dam welfare

A dam welfare score (range: 0-6; Table 3.2) was also measured to assess maternal behaviour where parameters e.g. milk in neonate's stomach (0-2), nest building (0-2) and retrieval of young (0-2) were checked. These parameters were scored in comparison to the other *WT* C57BL/6 mice (not included in the study) maintained in the animal house. A high dam welfare score (5-6), indicative of a dam exhibiting weak maternal behaviours or impaired recovery from gestation and birth, was undesirable and increased the likelihood of rejection of neonates and so presented a confounding factor for a given litter in a study. In the present study, dam scores remained 0 throughout the study and so the responses of the pups were not considered to have been affected by variations in maternal behaviours.

Parameters	Observations	Scores
Milk in stomach (only applicable when the body colour is pink)	Milk is visible	0
	Milk is slightly visible	1
	No visible milk in stomach	2
Nest building	Good nest making	0
	Some nest making	1
	No nest	2
	Always	0
Retrieval of young	Sometimes	1
	Never	2
Total Score		0-6

 Table 3.2. Welfare assessment sheet for dam; adapted from (Wolfensohn and Lloyd, 2007).

3.2.5 Assessment of survivability

Due to UK Home Office limitations imposed upon the use of this model of epilepsy due to its severity, animal suffering was minimised by employing a validated, welfare scoring system (mentioned in section 3.2.4.1) alongside a mathematical model to predict death (Appendix I; developed by M. Bazelot, GW Pharmaceuticals, UK). In this way, any animal for which the model predicted death could be sacrificed 0.5 day before enduring the maximal severity of the disease. The model used an algorithm to predict death based on prior data obtained from untreated *Scn1a*^{4/2} mice (n=19) that exhibited the maximum severity of the disease and died a natural death (data not shown). In this algorithm, the thresholds for each parameter (TNW, NA, RT, OT, BC scores) to predict death were obtained using the following procedure: (i) each parameter, measured every half day from birth for each animal, is averaged with a moving mean with a 1.5 day window; (ii) the least severe score for each parameter observed across the 19 animals over 0.5 day before their death was found; (iii) each of the 5 parameters exhibited by the animals in the study were compared to scores

obtained in (ii) twice a day; (iv) if each of the 5 parameters reached their respective threshold defined in (ii) at least once since P8, the animal would undergo a Schedule 1 procedure (cervical dislocation) within 0.5 day. Additionally, surface temperature (ST) threshold was employed such that if the sum of the ST scores over the last 1.5 days, was equal to or greater than 3, the animal would be killed by Schedule 1 procedure (cervical dislocation) within 0.5 day.

3.2.6 Statistical analysis

Welfare parameters were analysed using SPSS 24 (IBM SPSS Statistics[®], UK), whilst survivability data were analysed using GraphPad Prism 6 software (GraphPad Software, Inc., USA). Data obtained from welfare parameters were compared using a three-way ANOVA to observe the main effects of treatment, genotype and time, and their two-way and three-way interactions. If significant two-way interactions were found the Bonferroni's *post hoc* test was conducted on any treatment×genotype interactions to assess the effect of CBD treatment on different genotypes ($WT/Scn1a^{-/}$). The Bonferroni's *post hoc* test was also conducted for a significant three-way treatment×genotype×time interaction to compare the effect of CBD treatment with vehicle treatment at every time point of welfare assessment in both the WT and $Scn1a^{-/}$ groups. In all cases, the *post hoc* test was corrected for multiple comparisons. Data from 2.2% welfare scores were outliers and were excluded from further analysis (±2.5*SD) (Miller, 1991). For the survivability data, survival curves from $Scn1a^{-/-}$ vehicle-treated and CBD-treated groups were compared using a Mantel-Cox test. No WT animals died during the study, so survivability curves were not compared. All the data are expressed as mean ± SEM. In all cases, p<0.05 is considered as the level of significance.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 CBD administration improved neonatal welfare

3.3.1.1 Weight

The mean weights of *WT* vehicle-treated, *WT* CBD-treated, *Scn1a^{-/-}* vehicle-treated and *Scn1a^{-/-}* CBD-treated group were respectively 7.41 \pm 0.09, 7.34 \pm 0.09, 4.85 \pm 0.09 and 5.43 \pm 0.09 g. A three-way ANOVA showed main effects of treatment (F_(1,612)=9.06; p<0.01), genotype (F_(1,612)=683.41; p<0.001) and time (F_(16,612)=13.01; p<0.001) on weight. Overall, the weight was higher in CBD-treated animals (6.39 \pm 0.06 g) compared to the vehicle-treated animals (6.13 \pm 0.06 g) and in *WT* animals (7.38 \pm 0.06 g) compared to the *Scn1a^{-/-}* animals (5.14 \pm 0.06 g). Here, no three-way interaction among treatment×genotype×time was observed (F_(16,612)=0.02; p>0.05; Figure 3.4A). Among the two-way interactions, the genotype×time (F_(16,612)=18.36; p<0.001) and treatment×genotype (F_(1,612)=13.96; p<0.001) interactions were found to be significant, whilst the treatment×time interaction was not significant (F_(16,612)=18.36; p>0.05). The Bonferroni's *post hoc* analysis was conducted for treatment×genotype which showed that CBD treatment increased weight only in *Scn1a^{-/-}* mice (p<0.001) but it did not produce any effect in *WT* mice (p>0.05).

3.3.1.2 Total neonatal welfare (TNW)

The mean TNW scores in WT vehicle-treated, WT CBD-treated, $Scn1a^{-/-}$ vehicle-treated and $Scn1a^{-/-}$ CBD-treated group were respectively 0.39 ± 0.04 , 0.24 ± 0.04 , 3.66 ± 0.04 and 2.85 ± 0.04 . Main effects of treatment ($F_{(1,612)}=128.78$; p<0.001), genotype ($F_{(1,612)}=4850.12$; p<0.001) and time ($F_{(16,612)}=57.89$; p<0.001) on TNW scores was found. Overall, scores were better in CBD treated animals (1.55 ± 0.03) compared to vehicle treated animals (2.03 ± 0.03) and in WT animals (0.32 ± 0.03) compared to the $Scn1a^{-/-}$ animals (3.26 ± 0.03). A significant three-way interaction among treatment×genotype×time was observed

(F_(16,612)=5.46, p<0.001). Two-way interactions were observed for treatment×genotype (F_(1,612)=62.74; p<0.001), treatment×time (F_(16,612)=2.19; p<0.01) and genotype×time (F_(16,612)=112.22; p<0.001). Bonferroni's *post hoc* test was conducted for treatment×genotype and treatment×genotype×time interactions. The *post hoc* analysis for treatment×genotype revealed that CBD treatment significantly improved the TNW score both in *WT* (p<0.05) and *Scn1a^{-/-}* mice (p<0.001). The *post hoc* comparison for treatment×genotype×time interactions revealed that CBD delayed the worsening of welfare scores in *Scn1a^{-/-}* mice from P12 to P16 compared to the vehicle-treated *Scn1a^{-/-}* mice on respective days (p<0.01; Figure 3.4B). This *post hoc* test further showed that CBD improved TNW score in *WT* animals from P8-P8.5 i.e. in first day of treatment compared to the *WT* vehicle-treated animals on respective occasions (p<0.05; Figure 3.4B).



Figure 3.4. Plots showing chronic administration of CBD to wild type (WT) and Scn1a^{-/-} mice on weight and total neonatal welfare (TNW) scores. A. Weight of WT vehicletreated, WT CBD-treated, Scn1a-/- vehicle-treated and Scn1a-/- CBD-treated mice from postnatal day 8 (P8) onwards (n=10/group). CBD had no effect on weight in WT mice compared the vehicle-treated WT mice. No three-way interaction of to treatment×genotype×time was observed on weight. B. TNW scores. CBD significantly improved the TNW score in WT mice from P8 to P8.5 compared to the vehicle-treated WT mice. CBD significantly improved the TNW score in Scn1a^{-/-} mice from P12 onwards compared to the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; data were analysed by a three-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post hoc test; #p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001; # represents WT vehicle-treated vs WT CBD-treated; * represents Scn1a^{-/-} vehicle-treated vs *Scn1a^{-/-}* CBD-treated.

3.3.1.3 Natural activity (NA)

The mean NA score in WT vehicle-treated, WT CBD-treated, $Scn1a^{-/-}$ vehicle-treated and $Scn1a^{-/-}$ CBD-treated group were respectively 0.24 ± 0.02 , 0.21 ± 0.02 , 1.64 ± 0.02 and 1.35 ± 0.02 . A three-way ANOVA revealed the main effect of treatment (F_(1,612)=47.24; p<0.001), genotype (F_(1,612)=3090.07; p<0.001) and time (F_(16,612)=28.82; p<0.001) on NA scores. Taken together, the NA score was better in CBD-treated animals (0.78 ± 0.02) compared to the vehicle-treated animals (0.94 ± 0.02) and in *WT* animals (0.22 ± 0.02) compared to the *Scn1a*^{-/-} animals (1.49 ± 0.02) . Further, a significant three-way interaction of treatment×genotype×time was observed here (F_(16,612)=3.12, p<0.05). Two-way interactions were observed for treatment×genotype (F_(1,612)=34.12.13; p<0.001), treatment×time (F_(16,612)=2.30; p<0.01) and genotype×time (F_(16,612)=81.61; p<0.001). Bonferroni *post hoc* analysis was conducted for treatment×genotype and treatment×genotype×time interactions. The *post hoc* test for treatment×genotype revealed that CBD improved natural activity only in *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice (p<0.001) but not in *WT* mice (p>0.05). The *post hoc* analysis for treatment×genotype×time revealed that CBD significantly (p<0.05) delayed the worsening of NA scores in *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice from P12 to P16 compared to the vehicle-treated *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice on respective days (Figure 3.5A).

3.3.1.4 Reflex/response to touch (RT)

The mean RT score in WT vehicle-treated, WT CBD-treated, Scn1a^{-/-} vehicle-treated and Scn1a^{-/-} CBD-treated group were respectively 0.15 ± 0.02 , 0.04 ± 0.02 , 1.83 ± 0.02 and 1.42 ± 0.02 . The main effect of treatment (F_(1,612)=112.78; p<0.001), genotype (F_(1,612)=3958.19; p<0.001) and time (F_(16,612)=32.25; p<0.001) on RT scores was found in three-way ANOVA. Altogether the RT score was better in CBD-treated animals (0.73 ± 0.02) when compared to the vehicle-treated animals (1.00 ± 0.02) and in WT animals (0.10 ± 0.02) when compared to the $Scn1a^{-/-}$ animals (1.63 \pm 0.02). The three-way interaction among treatment×genotype×time interaction was also noticed here ($F_{(16,612)}$ =5.19, p<0.001). The treatment×genotype ($F_{(1,612)}$ =38.05; p<0.001), treatment×time ($F_{(16,612)}$ =2.27; p<0.01) and genotype×time ($F_{(16,612)}$ =61.73; p<0.001) interactions were found to be significant. Bonferroni hoc test conducted for treatment×genotype and post was treatment×genotype×time interactions. The *post hoc* analysis for treatment×genotype

revealed that CBD significantly improved the RT score both in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ (p<0.001) and WT (p<0.01) mice. The *post hoc* analysis for treatment×genotype×time showed that CBD significantly improved (lower value) the RT score in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ group from P12 to P14.5 and on P16 compared to its vehicle-treated counterpart on respective days (p<0.01; Figure 3.5B). The *Post hoc* test for treatment×genotype×time further revealed that CBD significantly improved the RT score in WT animals from P8-P9.5 compared to the WT vehicle-treated mice on respective days (p<0.01; Figure 3.5B).



Figure 3.5. Plots showing chronic administration of CBD to *wild type* (*WT*) and *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice on natural activity (NA) and reflex/response to touch (RT) scores. A. NA scores of *WT* vehicle-treated, *WT* CBD-treated, *Scn1a*^{-/-} vehicle-treated and *Scn1a*^{-/-} CBD-treated mice from postnatal day 8 (P8) onwards (n=10/group). CBD had no effect on NA score of *WT* mice. CBD significantly improved the NA score in *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice from P12 onwards compared to the vehicle-treated *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice. B. RT scores. CBD significantly improved the RT score in *WT* mice from P8 to P9.5 compared to the vehicle-treated *WT* mice. CBD significantly improved to the vehicle-treated *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice from P12 to P14.5 and on P16 compared to the vehicle-treated *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; data were analysed by a three-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's *post hoc* test; ##p<0.01; ***p<0.01; ***p<0.001; # represents *WT* vehicle-treated vs *WT* CBD-treated; * represents *Scn1a*^{-/-} vehicle-treated vs *Scn1a*^{-/-} CBD-treated.

3.3.1.5 Orbital tightening (OT)

The mean OT score in *WT* vehicle-treated, *WT* CBD-treated, *Scn1a^{-/-}* vehicle-treated and *Scn1a^{-/-}* CBD-treated group were respectively 0.00 ± 0.00 , 0.00 ± 0.00 , 0.50 ± 0.02 and 0.25 ± 0.02 . A three-way ANOVA showed the main effect of treatment (F_(1,612)=56.67; p<0.001), genotype ($F_{(1,612)}$ =483.67; p<0.001) and time ($F_{(16,612)}$ =65.42; p<0.001) on OT score. Altogether, OT score was better in CBD-treated animals (0.12 ± 0.01) compared to vehicle-treated animals (0.25 ± 0.01) and in *WT* animals (0.00 ± 0.00) compared to *Scn1a^{+/-}* animals (0.37 ± 0.01). A three-way treatment×genotype×time interaction was observed ($F_{(16,612)}$ =6.78; p<0.001). Further, significant two-way interactions for treatment×genotype ($F_{(1,612)}$ =56.66; p<0.001), treatment×time ($F_{(16,612)}$ =6.78; p<0.001) and genotype×time ($F_{(16,612)}$ =65.42; p<0.001) were observed. Bonferroni's *post hoc* test was conducted for treatment×genotype and treatment×genotype×time interactions. The *post hoc* test for treatment×genotype revealed that CBD improved OT score in *Scn1a^{-/-}* mice (p<0.001) no such change was observed in *WT* mice (p>0.05). The *post hoc* test for treatment×genotype×time revealed that the OT score was better (lower) in CBD-treated *Scn1a^{-/-}* group from P13 until P16 compared to the vehicle-treated *Scn1a^{-/-}* group on respective days (p<0.01; Figure 3.6A).

3.3.1.6 Body condition (BC)

The mean BC score in *WT* vehicle-treated, *WT* CBD-treated, *Scn1a^{-/-}* vehicle-treated and *Scn1a^{-/-}* CBD-treated group were respectively 3.00 ± 0.01 , 3.00 ± 0.01 , 2.71 ± 0.01 and 2.82 ± 0.01 . The main effect of treatment (F_(1,612)=36.37; p<0.001), genotype (F_(1,612)=623.81; p<0.001) and time (F_(16,612)=84.18; p<0.001) on BC score was observed in three-way ANOVA. Overall, the BC score was better in CBD-treated animals (2.91 ± 0.01) compared to vehicle-treated animals (2.86 ± 0.01) and in *WT* animals (3.00 ± 0.01) compared to *Scn1a^{-/-}* animals (2.77 ± 0.01). A significant treatment×genotype×time three-way interaction was observed here (F_(16,612)=4.82; p<0.001). The two-way interactions were observed for treatment×genotype (F_(1,612)=36.37; p<0.001), treatment×time (F_(16,612)=4.82; p<0.001) and genotype×time (F_(16,612)=84.18; p<0.001). Bonferroni's *post hoc* analysis was done for treatment×genotype and treatment×genotype×time interactions. The *post hoc* analysis for treatment×genotype revealed that CBD treatment improved this score only in *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice (p<0.001), but it did not exert any effect on *WT* animals (p>0.05). The *post hoc* analysis for treatment×genotype×time revealed that BC scores were higher (better) in CBD-treated *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice from P13.5 until P15.5 compared to the vehicle treated *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice on respective days (p<0.01; Figure 3.6B).

CBD thus well-tolerated by the *WT* mice and it delayed the worsening of the welfare scores in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice compared to their vehicle-treated counterpart.



Figure 3.6. Plots showing chronic administration of CBD to *wild type* (*WT*) and *Scn1a^{-/-}* mice on orbital tightening (OT) and body condition (BC) scores. A. OT of *WT* vehicle-treated, *WT* CBD-treated, *Scn1a^{-/-}* vehicle-treated and *Scn1a^{-/-}* CBD-treated mice from postnatal day 8 (P8) onwards (n=10/group). CBD had no effect on OT score of *WT* mice. CBD significantly improved the OT score in *Scn1a^{-/-}* mice from P13 onwards compared to the vehicle-treated *Scn1a^{-/-}* mice. B. BC scores. CBD had no effect on BC score of *WT* mice. CBD significantly improved the BC score in *Scn1a^{-/-}* mice from P13.5 to P15.15 compared to the vehicle-treated *Scn1a^{-/-}* mice. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; data were analysed by a three-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's *post hoc* test; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001; * represents *Scn1a^{-/-}* vehicle-treated vs *Scn1a^{-/-}* CBD-treated.

3.3.2 CBD administration increased survivability

As expected, none of the *WT* animals died during the study. Survivability of the two $Scn1a^{-/-}$ groups were therefore analysed using the Mantel-Cox test. Here, the median survivability in the CBD-treated $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice was significantly higher (16.25 days) compared to the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice (15.5 days; X²=8.61; p<0.01; n=10/group; Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.7. Plot showing chronic administration of CBD on survival of $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice. CBD treatment significantly (p<0.01) increased survival compared to the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{-/-}$ group. Error bars are SEM; Data were analysed by Mantel-Cox test.

3.4 Discussion

In the present study, the effect of CBD on standard welfare parameters; such as natural activity, reflex/response to touch, total neonatal welfare, orbital tightening and body condition scores; was evaluated in both WT and $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice. I showed that CBD was well-tolerated by the neonatal WT mice and that CBD delayed the worsening of these scores in such a severe animal model of epilepsy. Remarkably, it is established here that CBD treatment extended the survivability of $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice; to date, this is the only drug that has increased survivability in this model.

In this study, *WT* vehicle-treated pups become fully active and responsive around P11-P12 from which stage the natural activity and reflex/response to touch scores were found to be zero. Interestingly, the reflex/response to touch score was found to be zero in the CBDtreated *WT* animals as early as P9 and was better (lower) from P8 to P9.5 compared to the vehicle-treated *WT* animals. Reflex is a good indicator of neurological development in mouse pups (Fox, 1965), however the effect observed in this study was so small that it was unlikely that CBD expedited the developmental process in these mice. I further demonstrated that CBD was well-tolerated and had no adverse effects upon natural activity and reflex/response to touch and total neonatal welfare scores in neonatal WT mice throughout the observation period which establishes the fact that the beneficial effects of CBD in $Scn1a^{-/}$ mice have not been influenced by any other confounding effects. The tolerability of CBD on motor function are well documented in adult rodent models of hepatic encephalopathy (Magen *et al.*, 2010), multiple sclerosis (Mecha *et al.*, 2013), schizophrenia (Peres *et al.*, 2016), catalepsy (Sonego *et al.*, 2016; Gomes *et al.*, 2013), seizures (Jones *et al.*, 2012; Klein *et al.*, 2017), epilepsy (Chapter 2) and Dravet syndrome (Kaplan *et al.*, 2017). However, the effect of CBD on motor function in neonates has not been previously demonstrated. The current findings thus extend our knowledge by highlighting that sustained exposure to CBD is safe and well-tolerated in neonates at the doses employed.

Although the neonates perceive pain and distress they are unable to behaviourally express them (Wolfensohn and Lloyd, 2007). It is therefore difficult to use conventional behavioural methodologies to assess the disease-related suffering in neonates. Here, I scored the natural activity and reflex/response to touch to determine the motor function and wellbeing of the pups as described previously in neonates (Wolfensohn and Lloyd, 2007). In the present study, both scores were significantly higher, indicating worsening symptomology, in the *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice compared to the *WT* mice. Previously it has been reported that *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice start exhibiting the symptoms of limb tremors from P9 which progressively deteriorated to loss of postural control nearer to death (Yu *et al.*, 2006), thus my results are in agreement with this study. As previously mentioned the total neonatal welfare score obtained from a combined scores of natural activity, reflex/response to touch and surface temperature and provides an overview of general health and wellbeing of these animals (Wolfensohn and Lloyd, 2007). A significantly higher total neonatal welfare score in the *Scn1a*^{-/-} mice

compared to the *WT* mice therefore advocates that lack of Nav1.1 expression had a significant impact on overall health and welfare in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice.

The current study further established that CBD treatment significantly delayed the worsening of natural activity and reflex/response to touch scores in Scn1a^{-/-} mice compared to their vehicle-treated counterparts. These findings thus illustrate that CBD has a protective effect against motor deficits induced by the *Scn1a* mutation. Notably, I already demonstrated in the previous chapter that CBD improves motor function in RISE-SRS rats, thus this is the second evidence of CBD's beneficial role upon motor function in epilepsy. Children with Dravet syndrome often exhibit motor deficits (Aljaafari et al., 2017), therefore these results indicates that CBD may be beneficial to treat motor dysfunction in those children. However, more focussed behavioural assays using $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice, which survive longer to be tested on more conventional motor function tests (e.g. rotarod, static beam tests etc), are required to validate this and are described in a less severe model of Dravet syndrome in the next chapter. In line with the changes in natural activity and reflex/response to touch score, similarly beneficial results were obtained for total neonatal welfare score i.e. CBD treatment significantly delayed the worsening of this score in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ animals compared to their vehicle-treated counterparts. This suggests an improvement in the overall health status of the mutant animals after CBD treatment.

Children with Juvenile myoclonic epilepsy often experience headache as a comorbidity associated with seizures (Dedei Daryan and Guveli, 2018; Ertem *et al.*, 2017; Rozen, 2011). Both human and animals exhibit orbital tightening (closing of the eyelid or narrowing of orbital area) as a pain related physiological sign (Prkachin, 1992; Langford *et al.*, 2010). So, this serves as a valuable parameter for the assessment of pain. Hence, the orbital tightening was measured in this phenotype as an indicator of pain. The orbital tightening score was found to be significantly higher, indicating worst symptoms, in *Scn1a^{-/-}*

animals compared to the *WT* animals. Prolonged CBD treatment showed no effect on the orbital tightening scores of *WT* animals. CBD treatment has been reported to produce analgesia in several rodent models such as nerve injury (De Gregorio *et al.*, 2019), osteoarthritis (Philpott *et al.*, 2017) and surgical incision (Genaro *et al.*, 2017) in rats, and nerve injury (Casey *et al.*, 2017), corneal injury (Thapa *et al.*, 2018) and chemotherapy induced pain (King *et al.*, 2017) in mice. However, the analgesic effect of CBD in epilepsy model has never been studied. Here, CBD significantly delayed the worsening of the orbital tightening score in *Scn1a*^{-/-} animals compared to their vehicle-treated cohorts. This highlights that CBD may have analgesic properties in neonatal epilepsy. Of note, this is the first study that indicates a possible analgesic effect of CBD in any epilepsy model.

Body condition score is considered as a sensitive and reliable parameter to assess the health status of animals. It is a widely used technique for routine health check-up of laboratory, farm and pet animals (Ullman-Culleré and Foltz, 1999; Roche *et al.*, 2006; Sapowicz *et al.*, 2016). This method was also used to assess the health in several animal disease condition such as polycystic kidney disease in rats (Hickman and Swan, 2010), cancer in dogs (Michel *et al.*, 2004) and hyperthyroidism in cats (Peterson *et al.*, 2016). In our laboratory, body condition scoring is used for monitoring the health of epileptic rats. The scoring is done by overserving and palpating the flesh covering the bony protuberances of hips and vertebral column (Ullman-Culleré and Foltz, 1999). The present study showed that the body condition score was significantly lower (worse) in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice compared to their *WT* counterparts. This corroborates a previous study which reported a lack of body fat in post-mortem examination of $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice (Yu *et al.*, 2006). In this study, treatment with CBD in *WT* animals did not produce any effect on the body condition score in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice demonstrated

that hand feeding could improve the survivability in these mice upto 2.5 days (Yu *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, it might be argued that CBD increased the feed intake here which overall improved the body condition score in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice. However, this is highly unlikely as CBD did not produce any impact on weight over the course of the study in neither *WT* nor $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice compared to their respective vehicle-treated cohorts. Further, several studies proved that CBD has no effect on food intake or weight in adult healthy mice (Wiley *et al.*, 2005; Riedel *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, this is justified to interpret that the delay in worsening of body condition score by CBD-treatment in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice did not rely on increased food intake but may reflect an overall disease modification property of CBD.

The present study further demonstrated that the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice died prematurely with an overall medial survivability of 15.5 days which was expected with this severe epilepsy phenotype (Yu *et al.*, 2006; Kalume *et al.*, 2007). Interestingly, here CBD treatment significantly extended the survivability of $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice when compared to their vehicle-treated counterparts (median survivability 16.25 days vs 15.5 days). This result is highly promising as standard antiepileptic drugs, such as diazepam, fail to extend survivability (Yu *et al.*, 2006). An extension of survivability in this model was only shown after hand feeding (Yu *et al.*, 2006) but as discussed in the previous paragraph CBD induced extension of survivability was not due to increased feeding but possibly due to its anticonvulsant and disease modifying property. This hypothesis is supported by a previous study which established the anticonvulsant effect of CBD in a similar but less severe model with haploinsufficiency of Nav1.1 channels (Kaplan *et al.*, 2017). Overall, this is the first study which demonstrates the beneficial effect of CBD upon the survival of $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice.
3.5 Conclusion

In this study, I characterised the $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mouse model using well established neonatal welfare scores and assessed the effect of CBD on welfare and survivability of $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice. The welfare parameters were found to be significantly worse in the $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice compared to their *WT* counterparts. Notably, this is the first study to demonstrate that CBD-treatment improves the welfare parameters and extends the survivability of $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice. CBD is also the first drug that exerted such positive effect in this model. The $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice shares several common features with human Dravet syndrome patients, therefore CBD may be useful to prevent premature mortalities and neonatal comorbidities associated with Dravet syndrome.

Despite reproducing several key features of human Dravet syndrome, the $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice differ with the human patients genotypically by their complete loss of voltage-gated Nav1.1 expression and phenotypically by the extreme disease severity. Further, due to early mortality, this model limits the use of standard behavioural tests to assess intricate comorbidities such as motor dysfunction, social deficit, anxiety, depression and cognitive impairment associated with Dravet syndrome. This thesis therefore extended in the next chapter to investigate the effect of CBD using the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mouse model that phenotypically and genotypically resembles the human Dravet syndrome.

Chapter 4: Effect of CBD in reducing premature mortality and comorbidities in Scn1a^{+/-} mouse model of Dravet syndrome

4.1 Introduction

In the previous chapter, I showed that cannabidiol (CBD) improved the welfare parameters and extended the survivability of $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice. However, due to early mortality and extreme severity of the model it was not possible to assess intricate behavioural comorbidities. In this chapter, I therefore evaluated the effect of chronic CBD treatment on survivability and comorbidities associated with Dravet syndrome using a less severe $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mouse model that phenotypically and genotypically resembles the human Dravet syndrome.

As mentioned in Chapter 1, premature mortality is common in Dravet syndrome patients (Sakauchi et al., 2011; Cooper et al., 2016). In addition, they exhibit multiple comorbidities including psychomotor delay, gait abnormality, hyperactivity, attention deficits, autism, sleep disorders, anxiety, depression, language impairment and severe cognitive deficits that have profound adverse effects upon the quality of life (Black and Gaebler-Spira, 2016; Brunklaus et al., 2011; Genton et al., 2011; Li et al., 2011). The current 'gold' standard treatment for Dravet syndrome includes the combination of two or more antiepileptic drugs in the therapeutic regimen, such as benzodiazepines, valproic acid, topiramate, levetiracetam and stiripentol (Morimoto et al., 2018; Devinsky et al., 2017). However, these drugs often fail to adequately control seizures and are also associated with severe drug-induced motor and psychiatric adverse effects including anxiety, depression and memory impairments (Ristić et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2017a). As mentioned in previous chapters, CBD has been approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (USFDA) for the treatment of Dravet syndrome patients, however CBD's effect on the premature mortality and behavioural comorbidities associated with Dravet syndrome is yet to be established (FDA, 2018). Of note, in the previous chapter, I demonstrated the preliminary evidence of CBD's efficacy on a severe *Scn1a^{-/-}* mouse model of Dravet syndrome.

The widely used preclinical model of Dravet syndrome involves $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice which resembles the human disease form (Miller *et al.*, 2014; Yu *et al.*, 2006; Han *et al.*, 2012; Hawkins *et al.*, 2017). Interestingly, the phenotype of the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice largely depends on their background strain with $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice on a 129S background strain failing to demonstrate seizures and premature mortality that can be observed on C57BL/6 background (Yu *et al.*, 2006). However, the reproductive performance of the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice on C57BL/6 background strain is very poor which limits their use in any preclinical studies (Yu *et al.*, 2006). Fortunately, hybrid $Scn1a^{+/-}$ offspring obtained from a cross of 129S×C57BL/6 strains recapitulate several features of Dravet syndrome including seizures, premature mortality and other comorbidities such as social deficit, anxiety and memory impairments (Han *et al.*, 2012; Yu *et al.*, 2006), thus they are considered as a standard model to study drug effect on Dravet syndrome (Kaplan *et al.*, 2017; Anderson *et al.*, 2017; Hawkins *et al.*, 2017).

Efficacy of several conventional AEDs have previously been tested in this model. For example, a single intraperitoneal dose of carbamazepine (20 mg/kg), levetiracetam (10 mg/kg) or topiramate (40 mg/kg) was shown to prevent premature mortality (Hawkins *et al.*, 2017). Further, clonazepam (0.0625 mg/kg) was reported to protect the social deficits and memory impairment in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice following single intraperitoneal dosing (Han *et al.*, 2012). Not only that, CBD has recently been shown to improve seizures (100 mg/kg twice daily for 8 days; i.p.) and social deficit (10 mg/kg single dose; i.p.) in these mice (Kaplan *et al.*, 2017). However, none of these studies used chronic doses of AEDs to observe their effect on comorbidities which are ether induced, made worse or both by several AEDs as mentioned before. The present study was therefore designed to observe the effect of chronic CBD treatment on premature mortality and several comorbidities such as motor impairment, social deficit, anxiety, depression and cognitive dysfunction in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mouse model of Dravet syndrome.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Animals and test substances

These experiments were performed following UK Home Office regulations (Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act, 1986) and was approved by the Animal Welfare and Ethics Review Board at the University of Reading. All mice were maintained in 12h:12h dark:light cycle, a room temperature of 21°C and humidity of 50 ± 10 %, with *ad libitum* access to food and water. The animals were group housed throughout the experiment except for 3 days during sucrose preference test when each animal was individually housed. This experiment was conducted in dark cycle (dim red light, 8:00-20:00 h). Male 129S-*Scn1a*^{tm1Kea/Mmjax} heterozygote mice (Jackson Laboratory, USA) maintained in the BioResource Unit, University of Reading (UK) were bred with female wild type C57BL/6 mice (Charles River, UK) to obtain *Scn1a*^{+/-} and wild type (*WT*) littermate mice used in this experiment. At the end of the study, animals were humanely killed by a Schedule 1 method (cervical dislocation).

CBD with batch no. 070214 was supplied by GW Pharmaceuticals (Cambridge, UK). All other chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Poole, UK) unless otherwise stated.

4.2.2 Experimental design

Here, $Scn1a^{+/-}$ were randomly divided into two groups and subcutaneously injected with either CBD (100 mg/kg twice daily; n=12) or its vehicle (ethanol: Kolliphor[®]: 0.9% saline=2:1:17; n=29) from P8 onwards until P52 or death (whichever was earlier). Similarly, wild type (*WT*) littermate mice (n=11) were injected with vehicle for the entire period of the study. Given that a significant number of deaths (~60%) were predicted to occur between P20-P27 in vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ a larger initial group size was utilised to obtain a minimum n=10 animals/group for behavioural assessment from P35 onwards. Of note, I accounted the possibility that CBD-treated animals might also die, therefore in the first run equal group sizes were taken. However, the mortality was higher in the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ group than the CBD-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ group, so in subsequent runs, a greater number of animals were included in the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ group.



Figure 4.1. Schematic representation of breeding and experimental design for this experiment. Male 129S-*Scn1a*^{tm1Kea/Mmjax} heterozygote (*Scn1a*^{+/-}) mice were crossed with female C57BL/6 *WT* (*Scn1a*^{+/+}) mice to obtain *Scn1a*^{+/+} (*WT*) and *Scn1a*^{+/-} mice used in the study. Tissue collection (tail clippings) and genotyping was conducted in between postnatal day 2 (P2) and P4. These animals were randomised into three groups i.e. *WT* vehicle-treated (n=11), *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated (n=29) and *Scn1a*^{+/-} CBD-treated (n=12). The animals were treated twice daily subcutaneously with either vehicle (ethanol: Kolliphor[®]: 0.9% saline=2:1:17) or CBD (100 mg/kg) from postnatal day 8 (P8) onwards until P52/death (whichever was earlier). Since a higher number of deaths were predicted from P20-27, an initial larger group size was considered for vehicle-treated *Scn1a*^{+/-} mice to obtain a minimum n=10 animals/group for behavioural assessments such as social interaction (P35-37), sucrose preference (P39-P41), elevated plus maze (P42) and motor function and radial arm maze (P45-P52) tests.

4.2.3 Assessment of survivability

As seizure related deaths in this model were unpredictable, animals were video monitored continuously $(24h \times 7 days)$ throughout the study and any mortality observed was cross checked with the available video footage to confirm the reason of death.

4.2.4 Assessment of motor function

Fine motor control in animals were assessed by the accelerated rotarod and static beam tests. Animals were habituated to the stationary rotarod for 2 min a day for 2 days. In the accelerated rotarod test each mouse was placed individually on a linearly accelerating rod (4-40 rpm over 5 minutes; LE8500, Letica Scientific Instruments, UK) and average latency to fall from the rod (maximum 300 seconds) was calculated from 3 consecutive trials (2 min interval between trials).

The static beam task was further employed to analyse balance and coordination (Sedy *et al.*, 2008), where the animals were required to walk along a cylindrical elevated beam (100 cm long, 0.9 cm diameter and 50 cm height from floor) and enter a dark enclosure at the beam end. The mice were habituated to the task for three consecutive days before the test day. Each day of the habituation period, the animals were placed 30, 60 and 100 cm away from the enclosure and allowed to traverse along the beam. On the test day, each mouse performed two consecutive trials (2 minutes interval between trials) with a maximum given time of 2 minutes to complete the task (the nose entering the box was taken as task completion). The test was video monitored (Sony DCR-SX21E) and blinded offline analysis was conducted (Observer XT 12, Noldus, The Netherlands) to evaluate the average number of foot slips made from two consecutive trials.

4.2.5 Assessment of gait

Gait test was conducted to assess the cerebellar function of the animals (Patel and Hillard, 2001). In this test, the hind paws of each mouse were marked with a non-toxic ink and the mouse was allowed to walk on a white paper (50×10 cm) placed on the floor of a custom-made plexiglass tunnel ($50 \times 10 \times 10$ cm). To obtain the left and right stride length, the distance between two ipsilateral paw prints was measured, whereas stride width was calculated from the distance between a foot print and its contralateral stride length at right angle (Wecker *et al.*, 2013). The initial and last foot prints were not considered in measurements. All the animals were habituated to the test procedures and the apparatus for 2 days prior to the test. On the day of test, two trials were conducted for each animal to obtain mean stride length (left or right) and width for that animal.

4.2.6 Assessment of social interaction

The social interaction test was conducted in the home cage of test mouse to assess the social behaviour of the animals (Sato *et al.*, 2013). On test day, cage mate(s) were removed from the home cage of the test mouse and the mouse remained in isolation for 15 minutes. A novel wild type mouse of same strain, same sex and similar weight to the test mouse was then introduced to the home cage of the test mouse. Activity was video recorded (Sony DCR-SX21E) for 10 minutes and the obtained video files were blinded at the end of all experiments. Time spent in active interactions (e.g. close following, sniffing, allogrooming/social grooming and mounting) and number of rearing (lifting the front paws on the air) occasions were coded offline using Observer XT 12 (Noldus, Netherlands). Aggressive behaviours were not considered as social interactions and were not coded. In this test, a reduced social interaction is considered as autistic like behaviour (Sato *et al.*, 2013), while increased rearing occasions is sign of defensive escapes (Kaplan *et al.*, 2017).

102

4.2.7 Assessment of anxiety-like behaviour

The elevated plus maze (EPM) test was performed to assess the level of anxiety in animals (Chen *et al.*, 2017c). The wooden test apparatus consists of two closed arms ($50 \times 10 \times 40$ cm) and two open arms (50×10 cm) connected via a central platform (10×10 cm) and raised at a height of 50 cm above the floor. Each animal was placed on the central platform facing towards an open arm. Activity was video recorded (Swann SRDVR-16440H, UK) for 5 minutes. The video files were blinded and coded offline at the end of all experiments using Observer XT 12 (Noldus, Netherlands). Time spent on open arms was inversely related to the level of anxiety.

4.2.8 Assessment of depression-like behaviour

The sucrose preference test was carried out to assess the depression-like behaviour (Serova *et al.*, 2017). The animals were separately housed during this test. Here, 24 hours before the test, animals were trained to drink from two bottles each containing 2% sucrose. On the first day of test, the animals were provided with a pre-weighed bottle of 2% sucrose and another containing a pre-weighed volume of tap water. The positions of the bottles were swapped after 24 hours to avoid any side preferences. After 48 hours, both bottles were weighed, and sucrose preference was calculated by using the following formula.

Sucrose preference (%) = $\frac{\text{Sucrose consumption}}{\text{Sucrose consumption} + \text{Water consumption}} \times 100$

4.2.9 Assessment of cognition

An 8-arm radial maze (each arm 60×10 cm; raised at 50 cm above the floor) was used to assess the reference memory (RM) and working memory (WM) of the animals. On four consecutive days, animals were given two 10-minute sessions of habituation to the test apparatus and rules of the test, separated by a 90 min interval. During the first two days of habituation, food rewards (1/4 Cheerios[®], Nestle) were randomly scattered on the floor of the apparatus covering all arms and food-troughs at the end of each arm. On the 3rd and 4th habituation day, food rewards were placed only in food troughs of four randomly selected arms (fixed for each animal during the habituation and test day). Food was withdrawn 4-6 hours before the trial (both during habituation and test days) to motivate the animals to locate the rewards and thus perform the task. On the test day two trials of 10 min were conducted at 90 min interval and the activity of the animals were video recorded for offline blinded coding after the end of experiment. Entry to a non-baited arm was considered as a reference memory error (RME), whereas re-entry to a previously baited arm from which the food was already taken is considered as a working memory error (WME). The mean WME or RME were calculated from the two test trials.

4.2.10 Statistical analysis

All data were analysed in GraphPad Prism 6 software. The percentage of animals from the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated groups that survived until the end of the study (P52) were compared by Fisher's exact test. Survival curves of $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicletreated and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated group were compared using a Mantel-Cox test. Further, data obtained from the comorbidity assessment were checked for normality by D'Agostino & Pearson omnibus normality test. Data obtained from rotarod, gait, social interaction (active interaction), EPM, sucrose preference, RAM (RME) tests were normally distributed and the differences between the three groups were analysed by one-way ANOVA. If a significant difference was found then Holm-Sidak *post hoc* test was conducted between the *WT* vehicletreated and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated groups (to assess any disease related deterioration), and between $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated groups (to evaluate the effect of CBD in improvement/deterioration of the disease condition). On the other hand, data obtained from static beam, social interaction (rearing occasions), RAM (WME) were found to be nonparametric, thus were analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test. Upon observing a significant difference among the groups, the Dunn's *post hoc* test was employed to assess the differences between *WT* vehicle-treated and *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated groups, and between *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated and *Scn1a*^{+/-} CBD-treated groups. Multiple comparisons were corrected in all cases. Parametric data are presented in scattered dot plot in the figures and are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Non-parametric data are presented in box plot in the figures and are expressed as median, min to max, and interquartile range (IQR). In all cases, p<0.05 is considered as the level of significance.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 CBD increased survivability of *Scn1a*^{+/-} mice

The mortality rate was highest between P20-P27 in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice except for a single animal from the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated group which died at P47. I reviewed the recorded video footages and confirmed that tonic-clonic seizures were the cause of death in all cases. Approximately 66% (19 of 29) $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated animals died before the completion of the study in contrast to only 17% (2 of 12) $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated animals (Fisher's exact test; p<0.0001) (Figure 4.2A). Further, survivability was significantly (Mantel-Cox test; X^2 =5.94; p<0.05; Figure 4.2B) less in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated group (median survival 24 days) compared to the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated group (more than 50% animals survived until the end of the study so median survivability could not be assessed).



Figure 4.2. Plots showing chronic administration of CBD on survival of $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice. A. Percentage of $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated animals that survived until the completion of experiment (P52). A significantly higher number of CBD treated animals survived until the end of experiment compared to the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated animals. Data were analysed by Fisher's exact test; ****p<0.0001. B. Survival curve. CBD treatment significantly increased survival of $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice compared to the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice. Error bars are SEM; Data were analysed by Mantel-Cox test; p<0.05.

4.3.2 CBD did not exert any adverse effect on motor function

Motor function was assessed by both the accelerating rotarod and static beam test. In accelerating rotarod test, the mean total time spent on the moving rod by the *WT* vehicle-treated (n=11), $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated (n=11) and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated (n=10) were respectively 90.33 ± 2.00, 97.76 ± 5.41 and 91.27 ± 5.14 seconds. No significant difference in time spent on rod was observed among the groups (One-way ANOVA; $F_{(2,29)}=0.86$; p=0.44; Figure 4.3A).

On the other hand, in static beam test, the median number of foot slips made by the *WT* vehicle-treated (n=11), *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated (n=11) and *Scn1a*^{+/-} CBD-treated (n=10) were respectively 0.00, 1.00 and 0.50. Here, a significant difference in number of foot slips was found (Kruskal-Wallis test, $H_{(2)}$ = 10.67; p<0.01). Dunn's *post hoc* test revealed that *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated group made significantly (p<0.01) more foot slips compared to the *WT* vehicle-treated group, however no significant difference was observed in between *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated and *Scn1a*^{+/-} CBD-treated groups (p>0.05; Figure 4.3B). A further comparison between the *WT* vehicle-treated and the *Scn1a*^{+/-} CBD-treated groups revealed no significant difference in number of foot slips between these two groups (p>0.05).





Figure 4.3. Dot plot, and box and whisker plot showing chronic administration of CBD to *Scn1a*^{+/-} mice on motor function. A. Mean time (seconds) spent on accelerated rotarod by the *wild type* (*WT*) vehicle-treated (n=11), *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated (n=11) and *Scn1a*^{+/-} CBD-treated (n=10) groups. No difference was observed among the groups. Data were analysed by one-way ANOVA and are expressed as mean \pm SEM. B. Median number of foot slips made in static beam test. CBD treatment did not increase the number of foot slips by the *Scn1a*^{+/-} mice compared to both the *WT* vehicle-treated and *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated mice. Data were analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's *post hoc* test and are expressed as median, min to max, and interquartile range; **p<0.01.

4.3.3 CBD did not produce any gait abnormalities

The gait test was conducted to assess left stride length (LSL), right stride length (RSL) and stride width (SW) of the animals. The mean values of LSL (Figure 4.4A) of *WT* vehicle-treated (n=11), $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated (n=11) and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated (n=10)

animals were respectively 69.55 ± 1.39 , 67.79 ± 1.33 and 70.51 ± 2.07 millimetres, whereas the mean values of RSL (Figure 4.4B) in these groups were respectively 70.42 ± 1.03 , 67.58 ± 1.84 and 70.18 ± 2.16 millimetres. Further, SW (Figure 4.4C) in these groups were respectively 20.52 ± 0.55 , 19.64 ± 0.62 and 21.29 ± 0.64 millimetres. In the gait test, no significant change was observed for left stride length (One-way ANOVA, $F_{(2,29)}=0.73$; p=0.49), right stride length (One-way ANOVA, $F_{(2,29)}=0.86$; p=0.44) and stride width (Oneway ANOVA, $F_{(2,29)}=1.87$; p=0.17) among the *WT* vehicle-treated, *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated and *Scn1a*^{+/-} CBD-treated groups (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4. Dot plots showing chronic administration of CBD to $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice on gait. A. Left stride length (millimeters) **B.** Right stride length (millimeters) and **C.** Stride width of the *wild type (WT)* vehicle-treated (n=11), $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated (n=11) and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated (n=10) groups. CBD did not produce any adverse effect on any of these parameters. All the data were analysed by one-way ANOVA and are expressed as mean ± SEM.

4.3.4 CBD improved social behaviour of $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice

The social interaction test was conducted to assess the active social interaction and rearing behaviour exhibited in the home cage of the test animals.

The time spent on active interaction was significantly differed among the groups (One-way ANOVA; $F_{(2,29)}=13.58$; p<0.0001). The *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated animals (39.52 ± 7.82 seconds; n=11) spent significantly less time in performing active interaction with the stranger mouse compared to both *WT* vehicle-treated (142.10 ± 20.39 seconds; n=11) and *Scn1a*^{+/-} CBD-treated (138.00 ± 16.89 seconds; n=10) animals (Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test; p<0.001; Figure 4.5A).

Further, a significant difference in number of rearing events was observed among the groups (Kruskal-Wallis test, $H_{(2)}$ = 16.18; p<0.001) with Dunn's *post hoc* test revealing a significantly higher number of rearing occasions for $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated animals (median 38.00; IQR=19.00-47.00) compared to both *WT* vehicle-treated (median 12.00; IQR=3.00-21.00; p<0.05) or $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated (median 3.50; IQR=2.00-6.75; p<0.001) animals (Figure 4.5B).



Figure 4.5. Dot plot, and box and whisker plot showing the effect of chronic administration of CBD to $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice on active social interaction and rearing behaviour. A. Time (second) spent on active interaction in social interaction (SI) test by the wild type (WT) vehicle-treated (n=11), $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated (n=11) and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated (n=10) groups. CBD significantly increased the active interaction time compared to the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated group. The data were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test and are expressed as mean ± SEM; ***p<0.001. B. Rearing events made in social interaction test. CBD treatment significantly reduced the number of rearing compared to the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated group. The data were analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test and are expressed as median, min to max, and interquartile range (IQR). *p<0.05; ***p<0.001.

4.3.5 CBD reduced anxiety-like behaviour in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice

The anxiety of the animals was assessed by the amount of the time spent on the open arms of an elevated plus maze (EPM). The time spent on the open arms differs significantly among the groups (One-way ANOVA, $F_{(2,28)=}5.11$; p<0.05). The *Scn1a^{+/-}* vehicle-treated animals (11.17 ± 3.31 seconds; n=11) spent significantly less time on the open arms compared to both *WT* vehicle-treated (83.62 ± 22.69 seconds; n=11) and *Scn1a^{+/-}* CBDtreated (93.90 ± 28.09 seconds) animals (Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test; p<0.05; Figure 4.6A).

4.3.6 CBD reduced depression-like behaviour in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice

Depression-like behaviour is inversely correlated with sucrose preference (Murray *et al.*, 2013). In the present study, sucrose preference differed significantly among the groups (One way ANOVA, $F_{(2,29)}=8.37$; p<0.01). A Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test showed that the *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated animals (67.93 ± 4.42 %; n=11) had less preference to sucrose over water in comparison to both *WT* vehicle-treated (84.91 ± 2.02 %; n=11; p<0.01) or *Scn1a*^{+/-} CBD-treated (80.82 ± 2.05 %; n=10; p<0.05) animals (Figure 4.6B).



Figure 4.6. Dot plots showing the effect of chronic administration of CBD to $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice on anxiety-like and depression-like behaviours. A. Mean time (seconds) spent on open arms in Elevated Plus Maze (EPM) test by the *wild type* (*WT*) vehicle-treated (n=11), $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated (n=11) and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated (n=10) groups. CBD treatment significantly increased the time spent on the open arms of EPM compared to the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated group. **B.** Mean sucrose preference (%) in sucrose preference (SP) test. CBD significantly increased the sucrose preference compared to the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated group. The data were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test and are expressed as mean \pm SEM. *p<0.05; **p<0.01.

4.3.7 CBD improved cognition in *Scn1a*^{+/-} mice

The reference memory (RM) and working memory (WM) function in the animals were assessed using an eight-arm radial arm maze (RAM) test.

A significant difference (One-way ANOVA, $F_{(2,28)}=29.54$; p<0.0001) in the number of reference memory errors (RME) was observed among the groups. The *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated group (11.15 ± 1.17; n=10) made significantly more RME compared to both *WT* vehicle-treated (4.09 ± 0.53; n=11) and *Scn1a*^{+/-} CBD-treated (3.6 ± 0.45; n=10) groups (Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test; p<0.0001; Figure 4.7A).

Further, working memory errors (WME) were significantly different among the groups (Kruskal-Wallis test; $H_{(2)}=15.22$; p<0.001). The Dunn's *post hoc* analysis revealed that *Scn1a*^{+/-} vehicle-treated group (median 2.5; IQR 1.50-14.00) made significantly more WME compared to both *WT* vehicle-treated (median 0.5; IQR 0.00-1.00; p<0.01) and *Scn1a*^{+/-} CBD-treated (median 0.25; IQR 0.00-1.00; p<0.001) groups (Figure 4.7B).



Figure 4.7. Dot plot, and box and whisker plot showing chronic administration of CBD to $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice on spatial memory in 8-arm radial arm maze test (RAM). A. Median reference memory errors (RME) by the *wild type* (*WT*) vehicle-treated (n=11), $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated (n=10) and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ CBD-treated (n=10) groups. CBD treatment significantly reduced RME of $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice compared to the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated mice. The data were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak's *post hoc* test and are expressed as mean \pm SEM; ****p<0.0001. B. Median working memory errors (WME). CBD significantly reduced WME of $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice compared to the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ vehicle-treated group. Data were analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test and are expressed as median, min to max, and interquartile range (IQR); **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

4.4 Discussion

In this experiment, the effect of chronic CBD treatment upon premature mortality and comorbidities such as motor dysfunction, social deficit, anxiety, depression and memory impairment associated with Dravet syndrome using the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mouse model was investigated. This mouse model appropriately represents the human Dravet syndrome both genetically by its haploinsufficiency of Nav1.1 channel, and phenotypically by exhibiting the characteristics such as seizures, premature mortality and behavioural comorbidities such as social deficit, anxiety and memory dysfunction. associated with the disease. Here, I demonstrated for the first time that CBD treatment has beneficial effect on survivability and disease associated comorbidities in this model.

In the present study, chronic CBD treatment significantly increased the survivability of $Scn1a^{+/}$ mice in comparison to their vehicle-treated counterparts: 66% of $Scn1a^{+/}$ vehicletreated (19 of 29) animals died before the completion of the study compared to just 17% those treated with CBD (2 of 12). Not only that, the median survivability of $Scn1a^{+/}$ vehicle-treated animals was only 24 days. Because of this higher mortality in vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/}$ group a larger initial group size had to be employed to attain a minimum n=10 animals/group for behavioural experiments at the later part of the study. I further confirmed from the video recorded data that tonic-clonic seizure was the reason for death in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice, thus a significantly lower mortality in CBD-treated group suggests that CBD provided significant protection against seizure related premature mortality. Although exploring the mechanism of anticonvulsant action of CBD is beyond the scope of this study, it is worth highlighting that a previous study on $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice suggested that CBD exerts its anticonvulsant action through GPR55 receptor antagonism (Kaplan *et al.*, 2017).

As previously mentioned, seizures and premature mortality are not the only concern in Dravet syndrome. Comorbidities such as motor deficits including abnormal gait is frequently reported in patients with Dravet syndrome (Aljaafari et al., 2017; Fasano et al., 2014; Rilstone et al., 2012; Gitiaux et al., 2016). Not only that, several AEDs such as phenobarbital, valproic acid, phenytoin and lacosamide also shown to have motor adverse effects in epileptic patients (Zaccara et al., 2004; Ristić et al., 2006; Zaccara et al., 2013; Bainbridge et al., 2017). In this study, vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice did not demonstrate any motor deficit on the accelerating rotarod. So, I assessed a different component of motor behaviour on static beam where the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice exhibited motor deficits by making significantly more foot slips compared to their WT counterparts. Here, CBD treatment had no adverse effect on motor function in the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice. This result corroborates the previous finding that $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice did not show any motor dysfunction in accelerated rotarod test following 3 days of CBD treatment (100 mg/kg; i.p.) (Kaplan et al., 2017). I further showed in the gait test that there was no difference in either stride length (left/right) or stride width among the groups. It is therefore clear that CBD was well-tolerated by $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice, and no adverse effect was observed in gait or motor function.

In addition to motor disorders, Dravet syndrome is linked to several neuropsychiatric comorbidities. For example, social deficit, a common feature of autism is often observed in Dravet syndrome patients (Berkvens *et al.*, 2015; Wolff *et al.*, 2006; Li *et al.*, 2011). Although a case study involving only three children with Dravet syndrome reported an improvement in autistic behaviour following treatment with valproate, clobazam, levetiracetam and oxcarbazepine (Chepure *et al.*, 2018), larger studies involving more patients are lacking in the literature. Conversely, several clinical studies have reported autistic traits in children prenatally exposed to valproic acid (Rasalam *et al.*, 2005; Moore *et al.*, 2000). In this study, I investigated the effect of CBD on the social behaviour of the *Scn1a*^{+/-}

mice. I observed that the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice had significant social deficits compared to their WT counterparts which is in line with the previous studies conducted in this animal model (Kaplan et al., 2017; Han et al., 2012). These authors hypothesised that an impairment of GABAergic neurotransmission might be the underlying mechanism behind the social deficits in these mice. Han et al demonstrated that a single dose (0.0625 mg/kg; i.p.) of clonazepam, a positive allosteric modulator of the GABAA receptor could significantly rescue the impaired social behaviour of the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice when administered 30 minutes before the three-chamber social interaction test (Han et al., 2012). Further to this, Kaplan et al. showed that a single low dose of CBD (10-20 mg/kg, i.p.) also improved social behaviour of the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice in the same test and they anticipated the role of CBD in GABAergic neuromodulation (Kaplan et al., 2017). However, the dose and frequency of administration of CBD applied in the above mentioned study is impracticable in Dravet syndrome therapy in clinics where patients receive multiple doses of CBD (Devinsky et al., 2017; Devinsky et al., 2018b). In the present study, the CBD-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice spent significantly more time in active social interaction compared to their vehicle-treated counterparts. I therefore demonstrated that CBD improved the social behaviour of $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice after chronic administration using a dose (100 mg/kg, twice daily, s.c.) already shown to have an anticonvulsant effect in these mice (Kaplan et al., 2017). Apart from this model, the efficacy of CBD has also been demonstrated in attenuating Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (Malone *et al.*, 2009) and MK-801-induced (Gururajan et al., 2012) social deficits in rats. However, results obtained from behavioural assessment alone has its own limitation to explore the mechanism of action of CBD in the restoration of social deficits. A more detailed study using electrophysiological and molecular biological approach is therefore warranted to gain the molecular insight of CBD's role in it.

In addition to impaired social behaviour, anxiety and depression are also major problems for patients with Dravet syndrome, severely impacting their quality of life (Wang et al., 2018; Jain et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2018). Although antiepileptic drugs such as valproate, lamotrigine, clobazam, gabapentin, oxcarbazepine etc have been reported to improve these behavioural comorbidities, several antiepileptic drugs like levetiracetam, topiramate, zonisamide etc progressively worsen these comorbidities (Chen et al., 2017a). The present study was therefore conducted to observe whether CBD has any effect on anxiety/depression associated with Dravet syndrome employing $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mouse model. The $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice exhibits anxiety-like behaviour in elevated plus maze (EPM) and open field tests (Han et al., 2012). Here, I observed a similar effect in EPM test where the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice showed anxiety-like behaviour by spending significantly less time on the open arm compared to the WT animals. Further, a significantly higher number of rearing behaviours exhibited by the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice compared to the WT animals in the social interaction test could be due to their higher level of anxiety that compelled them to escape from the test situation (Mines et al., 2010). Interestingly, CBD-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice spent significantly more time on the open arm of EPM compared to the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice. This illustrates that chronic CBD treatment has anxiolytic potential in this mouse model of Dravet syndrome. In addition, the reduced rearing numbers in the CBD-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice as opposed to the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice in the social interaction test might be attributed to an anxiolytic effect of CBD. This is the first study to suggest an anxiolytic effect of CBD in an epilepsy model. However, anxiolytic effects of CBD have previously been reported in a chronic unpredicted stress model in mice using both EPM and novelty supressed feeding test (Fogaca et al., 2018; Campos *et al.*, 2013).

In the present study, the conventional sucrose preference test was employed to assess the depression-like behaviour in the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice (Serova *et al.*, 2017). This test is based upon the concept that depression-like behaviour in rodents is inversely correlated with their sucrose preference (Murray *et al.*, 2013). Here, the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice showed the typical depression-like behaviour i.e. a reduced preference to sucrose over water when compared to the WT mice. Remarkably, chronic CBD-treatment exerted antidepressant effect in the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice which exhibited an increased (normalised) sucrose preference in comparison with their vehicle-treated cohorts. The antidepressant action of CBD has previously been documented in genetic (Shoval et al., 2016), olfactory bulbectomy (Linge et al., 2016) and chronic unpredictable stress (Campos et al., 2013) models of depression. However, similar to the anxiolytic potential of CBD, its antidepressant effect has also never been studied in any epilepsy model, thus I am the first to demonstrate such effect of CBD in a mouse model of Dravet syndrome. Previous studies in naïve rodents have proposed that CBD exerts its antidepressant action via modulating the 5-HT neurotransmission or endocannabinoid signalling (Linge et al., 2016; Campos et al., 2013). Nevertheless, the underlying pathology of depression in epilepsy is complex and still unclear which necessitates a detailed mechanistic study to gain a better understanding on the antidepressant effect of CBD.

Cognitive deficit is also a frequently reported comorbidity in Dravet syndrome patients which immensely depreciate their quality of life (Olivieri *et al.*, 2016; Acha *et al.*, 2015; Villeneuve *et al.*, 2014). Several domains of cognitive functions including visual attention, executive functions, and verbal, visual and working memories have found to be impaired in these patients (Pascalicchio *et al.*, 2007; Acha *et al.*, 2015; Roebling *et al.*, 2009). Dravet syndrome patients also have significant intellectual deficits including very low intelligence quotient (IQ) which adversely affect their social life (Akiyama *et al.*, 2010; Villeneuve *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, the existing antiepileptic drugs such as phenobarbital, phenytoin, topiramate etc. also possess negative impact on cognition in people with epilepsy (Chen *et*

al., 2001; Mei et al., 2006; Wandschneider et al., 2017). Previously it has been established that the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice exhibit spatial memory deficit in both context dependent fear conditioning test and Barnes circular maze test (Han et al., 2012). Here it was observed that the vehicle-treated $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice made significantly more reference and working memory errors compared to the WT mice in the radial arm maze (RAM) test. Therefore, in agreement with the previous study by Han *et al*, I showed that $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice have spatial memory deficits. Several hypotheses have been proposed to explain the underlying pathology of memory impairment in epilepsy. Seizure is a major contributory factor for cognitive decline during developmental process (Khan et al., 2010; Ben-Ari and Holmes, 2006) and this appears to be true in the Dravet syndrome animal model where animals exhibit seizures from an early age. Further, seizure related disruption of neural plasticity, an important factor for memory formation has also been demonstrated in other animal model of epilepsies (Zhou et al., 2011; Schubert et al., 2005; Lenck-Santini and Scott, 2015). In contrast, a previous study demonstrated that the memory deficits in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice might be due to the attenuation of GABAergic neurotransmission and this could be rescued by clonazepam, a selective GABAA modulator (Han et al., 2012). Similarly, another study established that a selective knockdown of Nav1.1 channel at basal forebrain of rats resulted in memory deficits without manifestation of seizures, thus proving the concept that seizure is not the only contributory factor in memory loss exhibited by the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice (Bender et al., 2013). Moreover, removing cause of seizures does not always restore cognitive deficits in people with epilepsy (Helmstaedter et al., 2003). Interestingly in this study, CBD improved both the reference and working memory function of the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice compared to their vehicle-treated counterparts. A similar result was obtained in Chapter 2 where CBD improved working memory deficits in RISE-SRS rats. This is further consistent with previous reports of CBD restoring cognitive deficits associated with bile-duct ligation (Magen *et al.*, 2010) and Δ^9 - tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) administration (Murphy *et al.*, 2017) in mice, and iron overloading in rats (Fagherazzi *et al.*, 2012), indicating this effect is consistent in different models of epilepsy and across species. Furthermore, a caregiver-reported quality of life in childhood epilepsy (QOLCE) survey stated an improved memory function in the patients with refractory childhood epilepsy following CBD treatment (Rosenberg *et al.*, 2017a). Nonetheless, the beneficial effect of CBD on memory function of $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice was studied here for the first time. Although the present study illustrates the memory impairment associated with the disease and restoration of this deficit upon chronic CBD treatment, an additional, more comprehensive study is required to understand the molecular mechanisms behind CBD's role in memory improvement in this model.

4.5 Conclusion

This study is the first to demonstrate that chronic administration of CBD prevents premature mortality and improves behavioural comorbidities associated with Dravet syndrome in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice without the detrimental effect on motor function that is otherwise seen with current pharmacotherapy. In light with the recent FDA approval of CBD, such highly promising results obtained from the present study undoubtedly increases the chance of a wider acceptance of Epidiolex[®] (GW Pharmaceuticals, UK) among the patients with Dravet syndrome.

Chapter 5: General discussion and conclusion

5.1 General Discussion

In this chapter, I will summarise the overall key findings of this project and discuss their potential implications in a wider therapeutic context. I will also briefly outline the future scope of research in this area.

The primary objective of this project was to investigate the effect of CBD treatment on seizures, premature mortality and comorbidities associated with epilepsy. This was achieved by evaluating CBD in three different models of epilepsy. The RISE-SRS rat model of TLE was employed to assess the effect of chronic CBD administration on seizures, motor function, gait and cognition (chapter 2). The $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mouse model which recapitulates several symptoms of Dravet syndrome was utilised to find out the effect of long-term CBD treatment on survivability and several welfare parameters such as natural activity, reflex/response to touch, total neonatal welfare, orbital tightening and body condition (chapter 3). Finally, the effects of chronic CBD administration on premature mortality and comorbidities such as motor dysfunction, social deficits, anxiety, depression and cognitive impairment were assessed in the *Scn1a*^{+/-} mouse model of Dravet syndrome (chapter 4).

In this project, chronic CBD treatment was found to reduce seizures in TLE animals and prevented premature mortality in the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice. A long-term CBD administration also increased survivability and improved the welfare parameters of the neonatal $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mice. Further, CBD was shown to improve social deficit and reduced the anxiety-like and depression-like behaviours in the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice. Most importantly, chronic CBD treatment improved the cognition and provided protection against the epilepsy induced motor deficit without producing any adverse effect on gait in both the preclinical models of TLE and Dravet syndrome. Overall, in this project, I have demonstrated the novel findings that CBDtreatment can prevent premature mortality, reduce seizures and improve comorbidities associated with epilepsy. In the coming sections, the beneficial effects of CBD in each of these domains and its wider implications will be discussed.

Although the anticonvulsant property of CBD is well-known (Do Val-da Silva *et al.*, 2017; Jones *et al.*, 2012; Klein *et al.*, 2017), its effectiveness against spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRS), the primary feature of epilepsy has never been evaluated in any preclinical models of epilepsy. In this project, I demonstrated for the first time that CBD can reduce the SRS and has the disease modifying effect in epilepsy. Additionally, this result provides a strong basis for clinical trials of CBD on other epilepsies (especially TLE) beyond Dravet Syndrome and Lennox Gastaut Syndrome, for which CBD (Epidiolex[®], GW Pharmaceuticals) has already gained the US-FDA approval (FDA, 2018).

Another major concern in epilepsy is premature mortality (Dravet *et al.*, 2005; Genton *et al.*, 2011) and not a single study has assessed the effect of CBD in the prevention of premature mortality. Therefore, the present project is also first of its kind which demonstrates that CBD prevents premature mortality in epilepsy using the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mouse model of Dravet syndrome. This effect of CBD could be attributed to its anticonvulsant action as all deaths were confirmed to be associated with seizures and the anticonvulsant action of CBD has already been established in the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice (Kaplan *et al.*, 2017). Interestingly, previous studies have reported that the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice have decreased heart rate variability (HRV) (Kalume *et al.*, 2013) and they may die due to a seizure-triggered ventricular fibrillation along with bradycardia at seizure offset (Auerbach *et al.*, 2013; Kalume *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, it is possible that CBD might have also played a cardioprotective role, in addition to its anticonvulsant property, to prevent the premature mortality in a severe form of epilepsy, such as Dravet syndrome. This hypothesis is supported by previous studies which demonstrated the cardioprotective effect of CBD against myocardial ischemic reperfusion injury in rats (Durst *et al.*, 2007; Walsh *et al.*, 2010) and type-I diabetic cardiomyopathy in

mice (Weiss *et al.*, 2006; Rajesh *et al.*, 2010). However, this needs to be further investigated to understand the precise mechanism by which CBD prevents premature mortality in epilepsy.

This project further established that CBD treatment improved the orbital tightening in the neonatal epileptic animals, which is a noteworthy finding as it suggests a possible analgesic property of CBD. The analgesic effect of CBD in various models of pain induced by nerve injury (De Gregorio *et al.*, 2019), osteoarthritis (Philpott *et al.*, 2017), surgical incision (Genaro *et al.*, 2017), corneal injury (Thapa *et al.*, 2018) and chemotherapy (King *et al.*, 2017) have been demonstrated. Interestingly, I observed that CBD was well-tolerated in the healthy neonatal animals. Therefore, considering the safety profile of CBD and its potential analgesic effect in neonates, CBD could be a promising pain-killer for children. Nevertheless, in order to gain better understanding on CBD's spectrum of analgesia in neonates, a well-designed study needs to be conducted on different validated pain models induced by repeated formalin injections, needle pricks or nerve injury (Bhutta *et al.*, 2001; Anand *et al.*, 1999; Gong *et al.*, 2018).

The protective role of CBD to attenuate motor deficits in adult epileptic animals was also established. Further, no adverse effect on gait of epileptic animals was observed following chronic CBD treatment in both the models studied in this thesis. The excellent motor-tolerability of CBD indeed proves its superiority over other AEDs such as phenobarbital, valproic acid, phenytoin and lacosamide which produce adverse effects on motor function and gait in the patients with epilepsy (Zaccara *et al.*, 2004; Ristić *et al.*, 2006; Zaccara *et al.*, 2013; Bainbridge *et al.*, 2017). Again, this result advocates the potential application of CBD as a combinational antiepileptic therapy with the above-mentioned AEDs as it would allow lowering the dose of the latter and this ultimately may minimise the chance

of drug induced comorbidities. Moreover, motor disorder including tremor, rigidity and bradykinesia are the common features of Parkinson's disease (Sethi, 2002). Thus, CBD might have the potential to protect against motor symptoms associated with Parkinson's disease and other disorders of motor function such as Huntington's disease. As mentioned in chapter 1, some studies have already shown that CBD reduced progressive degeneration of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons in rat model of Parkinson's disease (Lastres-Becker *et al.*, 2005; Garcia-Arencibia *et al.*, 2007). Further, a survey conducted on Parkinson's disease patients in the Czech Republic reported 39 of 85 cannabis users had an improvement in motor symptoms associated with Parkinson's disease (Venderova *et al.*, 2004). Additionally, a few small-scale clinical studies informed that CBD improved the psychotic symptoms and quality of life without causing any adverse effect on motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease patients (Zuardi *et al.*, 2009; Chagas *et al.*, 2014a; Chagas *et al.*, 2014b). However, a large-scale clinical trial is warranted to find out the effect of CBD on motor symptoms associated with Parkinson's disease.

Besides the protective role of CBD on motor deficits, its effectiveness in several neuropsychiatric comorbidities associated with epilepsy, including social deficits, has been illustrated in this project using the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice. Although a previous study with a single low dose of CBD (20 mg/kg; i.p.) has been shown to restore the social impairment in these animals, it is therapeutically irrelevant in the context of epilepsy where patients receive multiple anticonvulsant doses of AED for a long time (Kaplan *et al.*, 2017). In this project, for the first time chronic anticonvulsant doses of CBD have been demonstrated to improve social deficits associated with epilepsy. It is important to note that, in these experiments, CBD treatment was started at an early stage of the disease, which suggests that an early intervention could prevent the social impairment associated with epilepsy even with the higher anticonvulsant dose. Interestingly, social interaction deficit is a common trait in autism

(APA, 2013), therefore the results also cast a new light on the possible role of CBD in the treatment of autism.

Anxiety and depression are the most commonly observed comorbidities across all forms of epilepsy (Wiglusz et al., 2012; Ottman et al., 2011; Tellez-Zenteno et al., 2007). However, the role of CBD on these two comorbidities has never been evaluated in any preclinical epilepsy models. This project is therefore also the first to demonstrate that CBD attenuates the anxiety-like and depression-like behaviours associated with epilepsy. Further, AED-induced depression and anxiety disorders are often seen in epilepsy patients (Jacoby et al., 2015; Gómez-Arias et al., 2012). Treatment with conventional AEDs such as levetiracetam, zonisamide and phenobarbital causes multiple psychiatric comorbidities including anxiety and depression in patients with epilepsy (White et al., 2010; Herranz et al., 1988; Weintraub et al., 2007). Given CBD's apparent anxiolytic/antidepressant effects it is tempting to speculate that CBD may be used as an alternative or in combination with these AEDs not only to help reducing seizures but also to prevent the drug induced comorbidities. The anxiolytic and antidepressant effect of CBD has previously been demonstrated in rodents using genetic (Shoval et al., 2016), olfactory bulbectomy (Linge et al., 2016), chronic unpredictable stress (Campos et al., 2013) models of depression and repeated combination tests model of anxiety (Hsiao et al., 2012). Anxiolytic effect of CBD has also been reported in social phobia patients (Crippa et al., 2011; Bergamaschi et al., 2011). In agreement with these studies my results suggest a possible application of CBD in the treatment of generalised anxiety and depression associated with other diseases.

The present project further established cognitive deficits in two conventional preclinical models of epilepsy, which are in accordance with the reported cases of cognitive impairment in various types of epilepsy patients (Acha *et al.*, 2015; Riikonen, 1996; Riccio and Vidrine,

2017; Liu *et al.*, 2016; Verche *et al.*, 2018). Most importantly, I established another novel finding that CBD restored the epilepsy induced reference and working memory deficits in both TLE and Dravet syndrome. Therefore, it seems reasonable to speculate that the role of CBD in improvement of cognition is not restricted to a specific type of epilepsy, but it has the potential to restore memory deficit associated with other types of epilepsies. Moreover, several AEDs such as phenobarbital, phenytoin and topiramate aggravate the adverse effect upon cognition (Chen *et al.*, 2001; Mei *et al.*, 2006; Wandschneider *et al.*, 2017), thus CBD may essentially reduce their adverse effects if used in combination or perhaps replace these in certain circumstances.

The beneficial effect of CBD on different types of memory have previously been described in several preclinical and clinical studies (Osborne and Solowij, 2017; Martin-Moreno et al., 2011; Cheng et al., 2014a; Hindocha et al., 2015). For example, CBD has been demonstrated to attenuate working memory deficit in prenatal infection model in rats (Osborne and Solowij, 2017) and hepatic encephalopathy model in mice (Avraham et al., 2011; Magen et al., 2010; Magen et al., 2009). Furthermore, CBD associated improvements in spatial memory were evidenced on Morris water maze test in Alzheimer's disease (Martin-Moreno *et al.*, 2011), cerebral malaria (Campos *et al.*, 2015) and hypoxic brain injury (Schiavon et al., 2014) models in mice. As well as spatial memory, CBD has been reported to improve social recognition memory in rodents both in transgenic (Cheng et al., 2014a; Cheng et al., 2014b) and iron overload induced Alzheimer's disease model (Fagherazzi et al., 2012). Interestingly, CBD has been demonstrated to improve Δ^9 -THC induced deficits in verbal and recognition memory (Morgan et al., 2012; Morgan et al., 2010; Hindocha et al., 2015), and working memory (Englund et al., 2013) in human volunteers. Therefore, in line with the previous studies my results suggest that CBD could be a potential candidate drug for the treatment of memory disorders.
5.2 General Conclusion

Overall, I demonstrated the novel findings that CBD improves seizures, survivability and comorbidities associated with validated animal models of adult and childhood epilepsies. This is also the first study to establish that CBD has disease modifying role in both preclinical models of TLE and Dravet syndrome. Notably, the results of this project (Figure 5.1) contributed significantly towards the US-FDA approval of Epidiolex[®] (GW Pharmaceuticals) in 2018 (FDA, 2018). This project also highlights the further potential for CBD to reduce comorbidities associated with epilepsy and its current treatment. Taken together this project enhance the existing knowledge on CBD and its role in epilepsy.

Chapter 5



Formed a core part of the CBD drug development and FDA approval



Figure 5.1. Pictorial illustration of the overall findings of this project. Effect of CBDtreatment was investigated in RISE-SRS rat model of TLE, and $Scn1a^{-/-}$ and $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mouse models of Dravet syndrome. In RISE-SRS rat model of TLE, CBD reduced seizures, improved motor function and cognition without affecting the gait. Further, in $Scn1a^{-/-}$ mouse model, CBD extended survivability and improved several welfare parameters. Finally, in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mouse model of Dravet syndrome, CBD reduced premature mortality, improved social behaviour and cognition, and reduced anxiety-like and depression-like behaviours without producing any motor adverse effects. These results formed a core part of the development and approval of Epidiolex[®] (GW Pharmaceuticals) in 2018.

5.3 Future scope of research

The primary objective of this PhD project was to evaluate the effect of CBD on seizures, premature mortality and comorbidities associated with epilepsy. I establish that CBD reduces premature mortality and improves seizures and associated comorbidities. Nonetheless, several questions remain unanswered which need to be investigated in future studies.

It has been demonstrated that CBD improved spontaneous seizures, but it is still not clear how CBD exerted this role. Inclusion of *in vivo* electrophysiology techniques in future studies with similar experimental design may provide us with more information on CBD's role in modifying brain network activities in the epileptic animals. For example, electrocorticography (ECoG) or EEG could be conducted in the $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mouse model of Dravet syndrome during P21-27 (peak mortality period) to demonstrate that CBD can reduce the epileptiform activity in $Scn1a^{+/-}$ mice. Of note, I have collected and preserved the brain tissues from each of my experiments for future use. In order to gain a better understanding of the molecular mechanism of actions of CBD, these tissues could be utilised for immunohistochemistry and Western blot analysis to map the distribution, expression and the intracellular signalling pathways of several important receptor proteins such as GPR55, PPAR γ and adenosine A_{2A} that have previously been reported to be involved in CBD's antiepileptogenic and anticonvulsant action (O'Sullivan et al., 2009; Ryberg et al., 2007). It is to be mentioned that some of the blood and brain tissue samples derived from this project have been used to implicate the 1 carbon cycle in the mechanism of action of CBD and this work has currently been submitted to the journal *PNAS* (Perry *et al.*, unpublished work).

Here in this project, CBD prevented the premature mortality in epileptic animals possibly due to its well-known anticonvulsant effect. To further investigate, whether this preventive effect of CBD could also be attributed to its cardioprotective action, electrocardiography (ECG) may be conducted in a simillar experimental set up alongside already proposed EEG.

Although this project establish that CBD improves the comorbidities associated with epilepsy, it suffers from some limitations due to the lack of mechanistic insights which needs to be explored in future. Previous studies on healthy animals have shown that CBD exerts its anxiolytic and antidepressant effects by enhancing the 5-HT_{1A} signalling (Campos and Guimaraes, 2008; Soares Vde *et al.*, 2010), therefore in future studies (involving simillar protocol as used in my project) 5-HT_{1A} receptor antagonist like WAY-100635 could be administered before the relevant behavioural tasks. An absence of beneficial effect on these parameters will indicate that CBD acts on 5-HT_{1A} receptors to demonstrate its anxiolytic and antidepressant effects in epilepsy. Further, it has been proposed that CBD's anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective action play important role in memory protection in Alzheimer's disease (Esposito *et al.*, 2007; Esposito *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, the expression of inflammatory mediators such as iNOS, IL-1 β , GFAP and PPAR γ can be evaluated from the preserved brain tissues by both immunohistochemistry and Western blot analysis to shed light on CBD's role in attenuating epilepsy-induced memory deficits.

I demonstrated CBD's beneficial role only in spatial memory, therefore future studies are recommended to explore whether CBD can also improve other types of memories such as fear and recognition memories. This could be studied by fear conditioning (Kemppainen *et al.*, 2006) and novel object recognition tests (Pearson *et al.*, 2014) using the same experimental paradigm used in the present project. Further, it might be interesting to see whether CBD acts on the acquisition and/or retrieval step of the memory process using specially designed memory tasks.

133

In this project, the animals were chronically treated with CBD until the end of experiment. This approach allowed us to explore the disease modifying effect of CBD, however inclusion of a washout period for CBD at the end of experiment (instead of sacrificing them) followed by repeating the behavioural tasks would allow us to gain insight into the possible curative role of CBD against the comorbidities and further demonstrate that if the effect is truly disease modifying or not.

Finally, having observed the positive effects of CBD on motor and psychiatric comorbidities, future studies to assess the role of CBD on several other neurological and psychiatric disorders such as Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, generalised anxiety disorders, depression and autism would also be interesting.

References

- Aaberg, K. M., Bakken, I. J., Lossius, M. I., Lund Soraas, C., Haberg, S. E., Stoltenberg, C., Suren, P. & Chin, R. (2016). Comorbidity and childhood epilepsy: A nationwide registry study. *Pediatrics*, **138** (3), e20160921.
- Abel, E. L. (1980). Marihuana, the first twelve thousand years. New York: Plenum Press.
- Abrams, D. I., Jay, C. A., Shade, S. B., Vizoso, H., Reda, H., Press, S., Kelly, M. E., Rowbotham, M. C. & Petersen, K. L. (2007). Cannabis in painful HIV-associated sensory neuropathy: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Neurology*, 68 (7), 515-21.
- Acha, J., Perez, A., Davidson, D. J. & Carreiras, M. (2015). Cognitive characterization of children with Dravet syndrome: A neurodevelopmental perspective. *Child Neuropsychol*, **21** (5), 693-715.
- Adelow, C., Andersson, T., Ahlbom, A. & Tomson, T. (2012). Hospitalization for psychiatric disorders before and after onset of unprovoked seizures/epilepsy. *Neurology*, **78** (6), 396-401.
- Aghaei, I., Rostampour, M., Shabani, M., Naderi, N., Motamedi, F., Babaei, P. & Khakpour-Taleghani, B. (2015). Palmitoylethanolamide attenuates PTZ-induced seizures through CB1 and CB2 receptors. *Epilepsy Res*, **117**, 23-8.
- Ahmed, E. E. & Mohamed, I. N. (2015). Spectrum of attention deficit hyperactivity disorders (ADHD) among Sudanese children with epilepsy. *Sudan J Paediatr*, **15** (1), 42-8.
- Ahrens, J., Demir, R., Leuwer, M., de la Roche, J., Krampfl, K., Foadi, N., Karst, M. & Haeseler, G. (2009). The nonpsychotropic cannabinoid cannabidiol modulates and directly activates alpha-1 and alpha-1-Beta glycine receptor function. *Pharmacology*, 83 (4), 217-22.
- Akiyama, M., Kobayashi, K., Yoshinaga, H. & Ohtsuka, Y. (2010). A long-term follow-up study of Dravet syndrome up to adulthood. *Epilepsia*, **51** (6), 1043-52.
- Aldrich, M. (1997). *History of therapeutic cannabis*. Jefferson, NC, USA: McFarland & Co Inc.
- Alger, B. E. (2014). Seizing an opportunity for the endocannabinoid system. *Epilepsy Curr*, **14** (5), 272-6.
- Aljaafari, D., Fasano, A., Nascimento, F. A., Lang, A. E. & Andrade, D. M. (2017). Adult motor phenotype differentiates Dravet syndrome from Lennox-Gastaut syndrome and links SCN1A to early onset parkinsonian features. *Epilepsia*, 58 (3), e44-e48.
- Allen, A. N., Seminog, O. O. & Goldacre, M. J. (2013). Association between multiple sclerosis and epilepsy: large population-based record-linkage studies. *BMC Neurol*, 13 (1), 189.
- Anand, K. J., Coskun, V., Thrivikraman, K. V., Nemeroff, C. B. & Plotsky, P. M. (1999). Long-term behavioral effects of repetitive pain in neonatal rat pups. *Physiol Behav*, 66 (4), 627-37.
- Anavi-Goffer, S., Baillie, G., Irving, A. J., Gertsch, J., Greig, I. R., Pertwee, R. G. & Ross, R.
 A. (2012). Modulation of L-alpha-lysophosphatidylinositol/GPR55 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling by cannabinoids. *J Biol Chem*, 287 (1), 91-104.
- Anderson, L. L., Hawkins, N. A., Thompson, C. H., Kearney, J. A. & George, A. L., Jr. (2017). Unexpected Efficacy of a Novel Sodium Channel Modulator in Dravet Syndrome. Sci Rep, 7 (1), 1682.
- Andre, V., Dube, C., Francois, J., Leroy, C., Rigoulot, M.-A., Roch, C., Namer, I. J. & Nehlig, A. (2007). Pathogenesis and pharmacology of epilepsy in the lithiumpilocarpine model. *Epilepsia*, 48, 41-7.

- Andres-Mach, M., Zolkowska, D., Barcicka-Klosowska, B., Haratym-Maj, A., Florek-Luszczki, M. & Luszczki, J. J. (2012). Effect of ACEA--a selective cannabinoid CB1 receptor agonist on the protective action of different antiepileptic drugs in the mouse pentylenetetrazole-induced seizure model. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, **39** (2), 301-9.
- APA (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5)*. 5th ed.: Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Applegate, C. D. & Tecott, L. H. (1998). Global increases in seizure susceptibility in mice lacking 5-HT2C receptors: a behavioral analysis. *Exp Neurol*, **154** (2), 522-30.
- Aretaeus (1856). Cure of the paroxysm of the epileptics. *In:* Adams, F. (ed.) *The extant work of aretaeus*. London: The Sydenham Society.
- Arinzechi, E. O., Ogunrin, O. A., Nwosu, C. M., Nwani, P. O., Enwereji, K. O., Asomugha, L. A. & Dimkpa, U. (2016). A community-based case-control study of prevalence and pattern of cognitive impairments in patients with epilepsy residing in South-Eastern Nigeria. J Neurosci Rural Pract, 7 (3), 405-11.
- Armstrong, C., Morgan, R. J. & Soltesz, I. (2009). Pursuing paradoxical proconvulsant prophylaxis for epileptogenesis. *Epilepsia*, **50** (7), 1657-69.
- Aronica, E., van Vliet, E. A., Mayboroda, O. A., Troost, D., da Silva, F. H. & Gorter, J. A. (2000). Upregulation of metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype mGluR3 and mGluR5 in reactive astrocytes in a rat model of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Eur J Neurosci*, **12** (7), 2333-44.
- Arzimanoglou, A. (2009). Dravet syndrome: from electroclinical characteristics to molecular biology. *Epilepsia*, **50 Suppl 8**, 3-9.
- Asadi-Pooya, A. A., Stewart, G. R., Abrams, D. J. & Sharan, A. (2017). Prevalence and incidence of drug-resistant mesial temporal lobe epilepsy in the United States. *World Neurosurg*, **99**, 662-6.
- Aso, E., Andres-Benito, P. & Ferrer, I. (2016). Delineating the efficacy of a cannabis-based medicine at advanced stages of dementia in a murine model. J Alzheimers Dis, 54 (3), 903-12.
- Aso, E., Sanchez-Pla, A., Vegas-Lozano, E., Maldonado, R. & Ferrer, I. (2015). Cannabisbased medicine reduces multiple pathological processes in AbetaPP/PS1 mice. J Alzheimers Dis, 43 (3), 977-91.
- Atadzhanov, M., Haworth, A., Chomba, E. N., Mbewe, E. K. & Birbeck, G. L. (2010). Epilepsy-associated stigma in Zambia: what factors predict greater felt stigma in a highly stigmatized population? *Epilepsy Behav*, **19** (3), 414-8.
- Atwood, B. K. & Mackie, K. (2010). CB2: a cannabinoid receptor with an identity crisis. *Br J Pharmacol*, **160** (3), 467-79.
- Auerbach, D. S., Jones, J., Clawson, B. C., Offord, J., Lenk, G. M., Ogiwara, I., Yamakawa, K., Meisler, M. H., Parent, J. M. & Isom, L. L. (2013). Altered cardiac electrophysiology and SUDEP in a model of Dravet syndrome. *PLoS One*, 8 (10), e77843.
- Avraham, Y., Grigoriadis, N., Poutahidis, T., Vorobiev, L., Magen, I., Ilan, Y., Mechoulam, R. & Berry, E. (2011). Cannabidiol improves brain and liver function in a fulminant hepatic failure-induced model of hepatic encephalopathy in mice. *Br J Pharmacol*, **162** (7), 1650-8.
- Aykutlu, E., Baykan, B., Serdaroglu, P., Gokyigit, A. & Akman-Demir, G. (2002). Epileptic seizures in Behcet disease. *Epilepsia*, **43** (8), 832-5.
- Badowski, M. E. (2017). A review of oral cannabinoids and medical marijuana for the treatment of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting: a focus on pharmacokinetic variability and pharmacodynamics. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, **80** (3), 441-9.

- Badowski, M. E. & Yanful, P. K. (2018). Dronabinol oral solution in the management of anorexia and weight loss in AIDS and cancer. *Ther Clin Risk Manag*, **14**, 643-51.
- Bagdy, G., Kecskemeti, V., Riba, P. & Jakus, R. (2007). Serotonin and epilepsy. J Neurochem, 100 (4), 857-73.
- Bahremand, A., Shafaroodi, H., Ghasemi, M., Nasrabady, S. E., Gholizadeh, S. & Dehpour, A. R. (2008). The cannabinoid anticonvulsant effect on pentylenetetrazole-induced seizure is potentiated by ultra-low dose naltrexone in mice. *Epilepsy Res*, **81** (1), 44-51.
- Bainbridge, J., Backer, M. D., Eckhardt, K., Tennigkeit, F., Bongardt, S., Sen, D., Werhahn, K. J., Shaibani, A. & Faught, E. (2017). Safety and tolerability of lacosamide monotherapy in the elderly: A subgroup analysis from lacosamide trials in diabetic neuropathic pain. *Epilepsia Open*, 2 (4), 415-23.
- Baker, G. A., Brooks, J., Buck, D. & Jacoby, A. (2000). The stigma of epilepsy: a European perspective. *Epilepsia*, **41** (1), 98-104.
- Baker, G. A., Jacoby, A., Gorry, J., Doughty, J. & Ellina, V. (2005). Quality of life of people with epilepsy in Iran, the Gulf, and Near East. *Epilepsia*, **46** (1), 132-40.
- Barker-Haliski, M. L., Dahle, E. J., Heck, T. D., Pruess, T. H., Vanegas, F., Wilcox, K. S. & White, H. S. (2015). Evaluating an etiologically relevant platform for therapy development for temporal lobe epilepsy: effects of carbamazepine and valproic acid on acute seizures and chronic behavioral comorbidities in the Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus mouse model. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **353** (2), 318-29.
- Barker-Haliski, M. L., Johnson, K., Billingsley, P., Huff, J., Handy, L. J., Khaleel, R., Lu, Z., Mau, M. J., Pruess, T. H., Rueda, C., Saunders, G., Underwood, T. K., Vanegas, F., Smith, M. D., West, P. J. & Wilcox, K. S. (2017). Validation of a preclinical drug screening platform for pharmacoresistant epilepsy. *Neurochem Res*, 42 (7), 1904-18.
- Barone, P., Palma, V., DeBartolomeis, A., Tedeschi, E., Muscettola, G. & Campanella, G. (1991). Dopamine D1 and D2 receptors mediate opposite functions in seizures induced by lithium-pilocarpine. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **195** (1), 157-62.
- Barton, M. E., Klein, B. D., Wolf, H. H. & White, H. S. (2001). Pharmacological characterization of the 6 Hz psychomotor seizure model of partial epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res*, **47** (3), 217-27.
- Baulac, S., Huberfeld, G., Gourfinkel-An, I., Mitropoulou, G., Beranger, A., Prud'homme, J. F., Baulac, M., Brice, A., Bruzzone, R. & LeGuern, E. (2001). First genetic evidence of GABA(A) receptor dysfunction in epilepsy: a mutation in the gamma2-subunit gene. *Nat Genet*, 28 (1), 46-8.
- Beckung, E. & Urebrant, P. (1997). Hidden dysfunction in childhood epilepsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, **39** (2), 72-8.
- Ben-Ari, Y. & Holmes, G. L. (2006). Effects of seizures on developmental processes in the immature brain. *Lancet Neurol*, **5** (12), 1055-63.
- Bender, A. C., Natola, H., Holmes, G. L., Scott, R. C. & Lenck-Santini, P.-P. (2013). Focal Scn1a knockdown induces cognitive impairment without seizures. *Neurobiol Dis*, 54, 297-307.
- Benke, T. A., Luthi, A., Isaac, J. T. & Collingridge, G. L. (1998). Modulation of AMPA receptor unitary conductance by synaptic activity. *Nature*, **393** (6687), 793-7.
- Bergamaschi, M. M., Queiroz, R. H., Chagas, M. H., de Oliveira, D. C., De Martinis, B. S., Kapczinski, F., Quevedo, J., Roesler, R., Schroder, N., Nardi, A. E., Martin-Santos, R., Hallak, J. E., Zuardi, A. W. & Crippa, J. A. (2011). Cannabidiol reduces the anxiety induced by simulated public speaking in treatment-naive social phobia patients. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **36** (6), 1219-26.

- Berger, H. (1929). U"ber das Elektrenkephalogramm des Menschen. Arch Psychiatr Nervenkr, (87), 527-70.
- Berkvens, J. J., Veugen, I., Veendrick-Meekes, M. J., Snoeijen-Schouwenaars, F. M., Schelhaas, H. J., Willemsen, M. H., Tan, I. Y. & Aldenkamp, A. P. (2015). Autism and behavior in adult patients with Dravet syndrome (DS). *Epilepsy Behav*, 47, 11-6.
- Berman, J. S., Symonds, C. & Birch, R. (2004). Efficacy of two cannabis based medicinal extracts for relief of central neuropathic pain from brachial plexus avulsion: results of a randomised controlled trial. *Pain*, **112** (3), 299-306.
- Bertram, E. H. (2009). Temporal lobe epilepsy: where do the seizures really begin? *Epilepsy Behav*, **14 Suppl 1**, 32-7.
- Bertrand, D., Picard, F., Le Hellard, S., Weiland, S., Favre, I., Phillips, H., Bertrand, S., Berkovic, S. F., Malafosse, A. & Mulley, J. (2002). How mutations in the nAChRs can cause ADNFLE epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **43 Suppl 5**, 112-22.
- Besag, F., Aldenkamp, A., Caplan, R., Dunn, D. W., Gobbi, G. & Sillanpaa, M. (2016). Psychiatric and Behavioural Disorders in Children with Epilepsy (ILAE Task Force Report): Epilepsy and autism. *Epileptic Disord*, 18, S16-S23.
- Beyerstein, B. L. (1988). Neuropathology and the legacy of spiritual possession. *The Skeptical Inquirer*, **12**, 248-62.
- Bhaskaran, M. D. & Smith, B. N. (2010). Effects of TRPV1 activation on synaptic excitation in the dentate gyrus of a mouse model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Exp Neurol*, **223** (2), 529-36.
- Bhutta, A. T., Rovnaghi, C., Simpson, P. M., Gossett, J. M., Scalzo, F. M. & Anand, K. J. (2001). Interactions of inflammatory pain and morphine in infant rats: long-term behavioral effects. *Physiol Behav*, **73** (1-2), 51-8.
- Biagini, G., Baldelli, E., Longo, D., Pradelli, L., Zini, I., Rogawski, M. A. & Avoli, M. (2006). Endogenous neurosteroids modulate epileptogenesis in a model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Exp Neurol*, **201** (2), 519-24.
- Bien, C. G., Granata, T., Antozzi, C., Cross, J. H., Dulac, O., Kurthen, M., Lassmann, H., Mantegazza, R., Villemure, J. G., Spreafico, R. & Elger, C. E. (2005). Pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment of Rasmussen encephalitis: a European consensus statement. *Brain*, **128** (Pt 3), 454-71.
- Bilkei-Gorzo, A., Albayram, O., Draffehn, A., Michel, K., Piyanova, A., Oppenheimer, H., Dvir-Ginzberg, M., Racz, I. & Ulas, T. (2017). A chronic low dose of Delta(9)tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) restores cognitive function in old mice. 23 (6), 782-7.
- Bisogno, T., Hanus, L., De Petrocellis, L., Tchilibon, S., Ponde, D. E., Brandi, I., Moriello, A. S., Davis, J. B., Mechoulam, R. & Di Marzo, V. (2001). Molecular targets for cannabidiol and its synthetic analogues: effect on vanilloid VR1 receptors and on the cellular uptake and enzymatic hydrolysis of anandamide. *Br J Pharmacol*, **134** (4), 845-52.
- Bisogno, T., Howell, F., Williams, G., Minassi, A., Cascio, M. G., Ligresti, A., Matias, I., Schiano-Moriello, A., Paul, P., Williams, E. J., Gangadbaran, U., Hobbs, C., Di Marzo, V. & Doherty, P. (2003). Cloning of the first sn1-DAG lipases points to the spatial and temporal regulation of endocannabinoid signaling in the brain. *J Cell Biol*, 163 (3), 463-8.
- Bitencourt, R. M., Pamplona, F. A. & Takahashi, R. N. (2008). Facilitation of contextual fear memory extinction and anti-anxiogenic effects of AM404 and cannabidiol in conditioned rats. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, **18** (12), 849-59.
- Black, L. & Gaebler-Spira, D. (2016). Crouch Gait in Dravet Syndrome. *Pediatr Neurol* Briefs, **30** (11), 42.
- Blair, R. D. G. (2012). Temporal lobe epilepsy semiology. Epilepsy Res Treat, 2012, 751510.

- Blake, D. R., Robson, P., Ho, M., Jubb, R. W. & McCabe, C. S. (2006). Preliminary assessment of the efficacy, tolerability and safety of a cannabis-based medicine (Sativex) in the treatment of pain caused by rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology* (*Oxford*), **45** (1), 50-2.
- Blume, W. T., Lüders, H. O., Mizrahi, E., Tassinari, C., Van Emde Boas, W. & Engel, J. (2001). Glossary of descriptive terminology for ictal semiology: Report of the ILAE task force on classification and terminology. *Epilepsia*, **42** (9), 1212-8.
- Boelen, S., Nieuwenhuis, S., Steenbeek, L., Veldwijk, H., Van De Ven-Verest, M., Tan, I. & Aldenkamp, A. P. (2005). Effect of epilepsy on psychomotor function in children with uncomplicated epilepsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, **47** (8), 546-50.
- Boerhaave, H. (1761). Praelectiones academicae de morbis nervorum. Leiden.
- Bone, B., Fogarasi, A., Schulz, R., Gyimesi, C., Kalmar, Z., Kovacs, N., Ebner, A. & Janszky, J. (2012). Secondarily generalized seizures in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **53** (5), 817-24.
- Boro, A. & Haut, S. (2003). Medical comorbidities in the treatment of epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, **4 Suppl 2**, S2-S12.
- Brahimaj, B., Greiner, H. M., Leach, J. L., Horn, P. S., Stevenson, C. B., Miles, L., Byars, A., Holland, K., Sutton, M. & Mangano, F. T. (2014). The surgical management of pediatric brain tumors causing epilepsy: consideration of the epileptogenic zone. *Childs Nerv Syst*, **30** (8), 1383-91.
- Brandl, U., Kurlemann, G., Neubauer, B., Rettig, K., Schauble, B. & Schreiner, A. (2010). Seizure and cognitive outcomes in children and adolescents with epilepsy treated with topiramate. *Neuropediatrics*, **41** (3), 113-20.
- Brandt, C., Gastens, A. M., Sun, M. z., Hausknecht, M. & Löscher, W. (2006). Treatment with valproate after status epilepticus: effect on neuronal damage, epileptogenesis, and behavioral alterations in rats. *Neuropharmacology*, **51** (4), 789-804.
- Brandt, C., Nozadze, M., Heuchert, N., Rattka, M. & Loscher, W. (2010). Disease-modifying effects of phenobarbital and the NKCC1 inhibitor bumetanide in the pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *J Neurosci*, **30** (25), 8602-12.
- Brodie, M. J. (2017). Sodium channel blockers in the treatment of epilepsy. CNS Drugs, **31** (7), 527-34.
- Broicher, T., Seidenbecher, T., Meuth, P., Munsch, T., Meuth, S. G., Kanyshkova, T., Pape, H. C. & Budde, T. (2007). T-current related effects of antiepileptic drugs and a Ca2+ channel antagonist on thalamic relay and local circuit interneurons in a rat model of absence epilepsy. *Neuropharmacology*, **53** (3), 431-46.
- Brooks-Kayal, A. R., Shumate, M. D., Jin, H., Rikhter, T. Y. & Coulter, D. A. (1998). Selective changes in single cell GABA(A) receptor subunit expression and function in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Nat Med*, 4 (10), 1166-72.
- Brunklaus, A., Dorris, L. & Zuberi, S. M. (2011). Comorbidities and predictors of healthrelated quality of life in Dravet syndrome. *Epilepsia*, **52** (8), 1476-82.
- Brunklaus, A. & Zuberi, S. M. (2014). Dravet syndrome—From epileptic encephalopathy to channelopathy. *Epilepsia*, **55** (7), 979-84.
- Calandre, E. P., Dominguez-Granados, R., Gomez-Rubio, M. & Molina-Font, J. A. (1990). Cognitive effects of long-term treatment with phenobarbital and valproic acid in school children. *Acta Neurol Scand*, **81** (6), 504-6.
- Campos, A. C., Brant, F., Miranda, A. S., Machado, F. S. & Teixeira, A. L. (2015). Cannabidiol increases survival and promotes rescue of cognitive function in a murine model of cerebral malaria. *Neuroscience*, 289, 166-80.

- Campos, A. C. & Guimaraes, F. S. (2008). Involvement of 5HT1A receptors in the anxiolytic-like effects of cannabidiol injected into the dorsolateral periaqueductal gray of rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **199** (2), 223-30.
- Campos, A. C. & Guimaraes, F. S. (2009). Evidence for a potential role for TRPV1 receptors in the dorsolateral periaqueductal gray in the attenuation of the anxiolytic effects of cannabinoids. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, **33** (8), 1517-21.
- Campos, A. C., Ortega, Z., Palazuelos, J., Fogaca, M. V., Aguiar, D. C., Diaz-Alonso, J., Ortega-Gutierrez, S., Vazquez-Villa, H., Moreira, F. A., Guzman, M., Galve-Roperh, I. & Guimaraes, F. S. (2013). The anxiolytic effect of cannabidiol on chronically stressed mice depends on hippocampal neurogenesis: involvement of the endocannabinoid system. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, **16** (6), 1407-19.
- Carletti, F., Gambino, G., Rizzo, V., Ferraro, G. & Sardo, P. (2016). Involvement of TRPV1 channels in the activity of the cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2 in an acute rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res*, **122**, 56-65.
- Carrier, E. J., Auchampach, J. A. & Hillard, C. J. (2006). Inhibition of an equilibrative nucleoside transporter by cannabidiol: a mechanism of cannabinoid immunosuppression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **103** (20), 7895-900.
- Carvill, G. L., Weckhuysen, S., McMahon, J. M., Hartmann, C., Moller, R. S., Hjalgrim, H., Cook, J., Geraghty, E., O'Roak, B. J., Petrou, S., Clarke, A., Gill, D., Sadleir, L. G., Muhle, H., von Spiczak, S., Nikanorova, M., Hodgson, B. L., Gazina, E. V., Suls, A., Shendure, J., Dibbens, L. M., De Jonghe, P., Helbig, I., Berkovic, S. F., Scheffer, I. E. & Mefford, H. C. (2014). GABRA1 and STXBP1: Novel genetic causes of Dravet syndrome. *Neurology*, 82 (14), 1245-53.
- Casarejos, M. J., Perucho, J., Gomez, A., Munoz, M. P., Fernandez-Estevez, M., Sagredo, O., Fernandez Ruiz, J., Guzman, M., de Yebenes, J. G. & Mena, M. A. (2013). Natural cannabinoids improve dopamine neurotransmission and tau and amyloid pathology in a mouse model of tauopathy. *J Alzheimers Dis*, **35** (3), 525-39.
- Casey, S. L., Atwal, N. & Vaughan, C. W. (2017). Cannabis constituent synergy in a mouse neuropathic pain model. *Pain*, **158** (12), 2452-60.
- Cassol, O. J., Jr., Comim, C. M., Silva, B. R., Hermani, F. V., Constantino, L. S., Felisberto, F., Petronilho, F., Hallak, J. E., De Martinis, B. S., Zuardi, A. W., Crippa, J. A., Quevedo, J. & Dal-Pizzol, F. (2010). Treatment with cannabidiol reverses oxidative stress parameters, cognitive impairment and mortality in rats submitted to sepsis by cecal ligation and puncture. *Brain Res*, **1348**, 128-38.
- Caton, R. (1875). The electrical currents of the brain. BMJ, 2, 278.
- Ceulemans, B., Boel, M., Claes, L., Dom, L., Willekens, H., Thiry, P. & Lagae, L. (2004).
 Severe myoclonic epilepsy in infancy: Toward an optimal treatment. *J Child Neurol*, 19 (7), 516-21.
- Chagas, M. H., Eckeli, A. L., Zuardi, A. W., Pena-Pereira, M. A., Sobreira-Neto, M. A., Sobreira, E. T., Camilo, M. R., Bergamaschi, M. M., Schenck, C. H., Hallak, J. E., Tumas, V. & Crippa, J. A. (2014a). Cannabidiol can improve complex sleep-related behaviours associated with rapid eye movement sleep behaviour disorder in Parkinson's disease patients: a case series. J Clin Pharm Ther, **39** (5), 564-6.
- Chagas, M. H., Zuardi, A. W., Tumas, V., Pena-Pereira, M. A., Sobreira, E. T., Bergamaschi, M. M., dos Santos, A. C., Teixeira, A. L., Hallak, J. E. & Crippa, J. A. (2014b). Effects of cannabidiol in the treatment of patients with Parkinson's disease: an exploratory double-blind trial. *J Psychopharmacol*, 28 (11), 1088-98.
- Chang, Y.-T., Chen, P.-C., Tsai, I. J., Sung, F.-C., Chin, Z.-N., Kuo, H.-T., Tsai, C.-H. & Chou, I. C. (2011). Bidirectional relation between schizophrenia and epilepsy: A population-based retrospective cohort study. *Epilepsia*, **52** (11), 2036-42.

- Charlier, C., Singh, N. A., Ryan, S. G., Lewis, T. B., Reus, B. E., Leach, R. J. & Leppert, M. (1998). A pore mutation in a novel KQT-like potassium channel gene in an idiopathic epilepsy family. *Nat Genet*, **18** (1), 53-5.
- Cheah, C. S., Yu, F. H., Westenbroek, R. E., Kalume, F. K., Oakley, J. C., Potter, G. B., Rubenstein, J. L. & Catterall, W. A. (2012). Specific deletion of NaV1.1 sodium channels in inhibitory interneurons causes seizures and premature death in a mouse model of Dravet syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **109** (36), 14646-51.
- Chen, B., Choi, H., Hirsch, L. J., Katz, A., Legge, A., Buchsbaum, R. & Detyniecki, K. (2017a). Psychiatric and behavioral side effects of antiepileptic drugs in adults with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, **76**, 24-31.
- Chen, B., Detyniecki, K., Choi, H., Hirsch, L., Katz, A., Legge, A., Wong, R., Jiang, A., Buchsbaum, R. & Farooque, P. (2017b). Psychiatric and behavioral side effects of anti-epileptic drugs in adolescents and children with epilepsy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol*, 21 (3), 441-9.
- Chen, M., Yan, H.-h., Shu, S., Pei, L., Zang, L.-k., Fu, Y., Wang, Z.-f., Wan, Q. & Bi, L.-l. (2017c). Amygdalar endothelin-1 regulates pyramidal neuron excitability and affects anxiety. *Sci Rep*, **7**, 2316.
- Chen, Y., Chi Chow, J. & Lee, I. (2001). Comparison the cognitive effect of anti-epileptic drugs in seizure-free children with epilepsy before and after drug withdrawal. *Epilepsy Res*, **44** (1), 65-70.
- Chen, Y. Y., Huang, S., Wu, W. Y., Liu, C. R., Yang, X. Y., Zhao, H. T., Wu, L. C., Tan, L. Z., Long, L. L. & Xiao, B. (2018). Associated and predictive factors of quality of life in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, 86, 85-90.
- Cheng, D., Low, J. K., Logge, W., Garner, B. & Karl, T. (2014a). Chronic cannabidiol treatment improves social and object recognition in double transgenic APPswe/PS1E9 mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 231 (15), 3009-17.
- Cheng, D., Spiro, A. S., Jenner, A. M., Garner, B. & Karl, T. (2014b). Long-term cannabidiol treatment prevents the development of social recognition memory deficits in Alzheimer's disease transgenic mice. *J Alzheimers Dis*, **42** (4), 1383-96.
- Chepure, A. H., Somaiya, M. P., Subramanyam, A. A. & Kamath, R. K. (2018). Epileptic encephalopathy and autism: A complex interplay. *J Pediatr Neurosci*, **13** (2), 273-5.
- Chesher, G. B., Dahl, C. J., Everingham, M., Jackson, D. M., Marchant-Williams, H. & Starmer, G. A. (1973). The effect of cannabinoids on intestinal motility and their antinociceptive effect in mice. *Br J Pharmacol*, **49** (4), 588-94.
- Chiron, C. (2005). Stiripentol. Expert Opin Investig Drugs, 14 (7), 905-11.
- Chiu, P., Olsen, D. M., Borys, H. K., Karler, R. & Turkanis, S. A. (1979). Influence of cannabidiol and delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol on cobalt epilepsy in rats. *Epilepsia*, 20 (4), 365-75.
- Chou, I. C., Chang, Y. T., Chin, Z. N., Muo, C. H., Sung, F. C., Kuo, H. T., Tsai, C. H. & Kao, C. H. (2013). Correlation between epilepsy and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a population-based cohort study. *PLoS One*, **8** (3), e57926.
- Christensen, J., Vestergaard, M., Mortensen, P. B., Sidenius, P. & Agerbo, E. (2007). Epilepsy and risk of suicide: a population-based case-control study. *Lancet Neurol*, 6 (8), 693-8.
- Ciranna, L. (2006). Serotonin as a modulator of glutamate- and GABA-mediated neurotransmission: implications in physiological functions and in pathology. *Curr Neuropharmacol*, **4** (2), 101-14.
- Claes, L., Ceulemans, B., Audenaert, D., Smets, K., Lofgren, A., Del-Favero, J., Ala-Mello, S., Basel-Vanagaite, L., Plecko, B., Raskin, S., Thiry, P., Wolf, N. I., Van

Broeckhoven, C. & De Jonghe, P. (2003). De novo SCN1A mutations are a major cause of severe myoclonic epilepsy of infancy. *Hum Mutat*, **21** (6), 615-21.

- Claes, L., Del-Favero, J., Ceulemans, B., Lagae, L., Van Broeckhoven, C. & De Jonghe, P. (2001). De novo mutations in the sodium-channel gene SCN1A cause severe myoclonic epilepsy of infancy. *Am J Hum Genet*, **68** (6), 1327-32.
- Cleary, P., Shorvon, S. & Tallis, R. (2004). Late-onset seizures as a predictor of subsequent stroke. *Lancet*, **363** (9416), 1184-6.
- Clinckers, R., Smolders, I., Meurs, A., Ebinger, G. & Michotte, Y. (2004). Anticonvulsant action of hippocampal dopamine and serotonin is independently mediated by D and 5-HT receptors. *J Neurochem*, **89** (4), 834-43.
- Cloyd, J., Hauser, W., Towne, A., Ramsay, R., Mattson, R., Gilliam, F. & Walczak, T. (2006). Epidemiological and medical aspects of epilepsy in the elderly. *Epilepsy Res*, 68, 39-48.
- Cohen, R., Senecky, Y., Shuper, A., Inbar, D., Chodick, G., Shalev, V. & Raz, R. (2013). Prevalence of epilepsy and attention-deficit hyperactivity (ADHD) disorder: a population-based study. *J Child Neurol*, **28** (1), 120-3.
- Consroe, P., Benedito, M. A. C., Leite, J. R., Carlini, E. A. & Mechoulam, R. (1982). Effects of cannabidiol on behavioral seizures caused by convulsant drugs or current in mice. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **83** (3-4), 293-8.
- Cooper, M. S., McIntosh, A., Crompton, D. E., McMahon, J. M., Schneider, A., Farrell, K., Ganesan, V., Gill, D., Kivity, S., Lerman-Sagie, T., McLellan, A., Pelekanos, J., Ramesh, V., Sadleir, L., Wirrell, E. & Scheffer, I. E. (2016). Mortality in Dravet syndrome. *Epilepsy Res*, **128**, 43-7.
- Coulter, D. A., Huguenard, J. R. & Prince, D. A. (1989). Characterization of ethosuximide reduction of low-threshold calcium current in thalamic neurons. *Ann Neurol*, **25** (6), 582-93.
- Coupland, C., Dhiman, P., Morriss, R., Arthur, A., Barton, G. & Hippisley-Cox, J. (2011). Antidepressant use and risk of adverse outcomes in older people: population based cohort study. *BMJ*, 343, d4551.
- Crawford, V. (2002). A homelie herb: Medicinal cannabis in early England. J Cannabis Therapeutics, 2 (2), 71-9.
- Crippa, J. A., Derenusson, G. N., Ferrari, T. B., Wichert-Ana, L., Duran, F. L., Martin-Santos, R., Simoes, M. V., Bhattacharyya, S., Fusar-Poli, P., Atakan, Z., Santos Filho, A., Freitas-Ferrari, M. C., McGuire, P. K., Zuardi, A. W., Busatto, G. F. & Hallak, J. E. (2011). Neural basis of anxiolytic effects of cannabidiol (CBD) in generalized social anxiety disorder: a preliminary report. *J Psychopharmacol*, 25 (1), 121-30.
- Crippa, J. A., Zuardi, A. W., Garrido, G. E., Wichert-Ana, L., Guarnieri, R., Ferrari, L., Azevedo-Marques, P. M., Hallak, J. E., McGuire, P. K. & Filho Busatto, G. (2004). Effects of cannabidiol (CBD) on regional cerebral blood flow. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **29** (2), 417-26.
- Curia, G., Longo, D., Biagini, G., Jones, R. S. & Avoli, M. (2008). The pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *J Neurosci Methods*, **172** (2), 143-57.
- Curran, H. V., Brignell, C., Fletcher, S., Middleton, P. & Henry, J. (2002). Cognitive and subjective dose-response effects of acute oral Delta 9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) in infrequent cannabis users. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **164** (1), 61-70.
- D'Souza, D. C., Perry, E., MacDougall, L., Ammerman, Y., Cooper, T., Wu, Y. T., Braley, G., Gueorguieva, R. & Krystal, J. H. (2004). The psychotomimetic effects of intravenous delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol in healthy individuals: implications for psychosis. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **29** (8), 1558-72.

- Dailey, J. W., Mishra, P. K., Ko, K. H., Penny, J. E. & Jobe, P. C. (1992). Serotonergic abnormalities in the central nervous system of seizure-naive genetically epilepsy-prone rats. *Life Sci*, **50** (4), 319-26.
- Daras, M., Papakostas, G. & Tuchman, A. I. J. (1994). Epilepsy and the ancient world: From the magic beliefs of the Babylonians to the Hippocratic scientific thinking. *J Hist Neurosci*, **3** (4), 233-6.
- Davis, J. & Ramsey, H. (1949). Anti-epileptic action of marijuana-active substances. *Fed Proc, Am Soc Exp Biol,* **8**, 284.
- Davis, S. M., Katusic, S. K., Barbaresi, W. J., Killian, J., Weaver, A. L., Ottman, R. & Wirrell, E. C. (2010). Epilepsy in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatr Neurol*, 42 (5), 325-30.
- de Carvalho, C. R., Hoeller, A. A., Franco, P. L., Martini, A. P., Soares, F. M., Lin, K., Prediger, R. D., Whalley, B. J. & Walz, R. (2016). The cannabinoid CB2 receptorspecific agonist AM1241 increases pentylenetetrazole-induced seizure severity in Wistar rats. *Epilepsy Res*, **127**, 160-7.
- De Gregorio, D., McLaughlin, R. J., Posa, L., Ochoa-Sanchez, R., Enns, J., Lopez-Canul, M., Aboud, M., Maione, S., Comai, S. & Gobbi, G. (2019). Cannabidiol modulates serotonergic transmission and reverses both allodynia and anxiety-like behavior in a model of neuropathic pain. *Pain*, **160** (1), 136-50.
- de la Loge, C., Dimova, S., Mueller, K., Phillips, G., Durgin, T. L., Wicks, P. & Borghs, S. (2016). PatientsLikeMe(R) Online Epilepsy Community: Patient characteristics and predictors of poor health-related quality of life. *Epilepsy Behav*, **63**, 20-8.
- De Petrocellis, L., Ligresti, A., Moriello, A. S., Allara, M., Bisogno, T., Petrosino, S., Stott, C. G. & Di Marzo, V. (2011). Effects of cannabinoids and cannabinoid-enriched Cannabis extracts on TRP channels and endocannabinoid metabolic enzymes. Br J Pharmacol, 163 (7), 1479-94.
- De Petrocellis, L., Orlando, P., Moriello, A. S., Aviello, G., Stott, C., Izzo, A. A. & Di Marzo, V. (2012). Cannabinoid actions at TRPV channels: effects on TRPV3 and TRPV4 and their potential relevance to gastrointestinal inflammation. *Acta Physiol* (*Oxf*), **204** (2), 255-66.
- De Petrocellis, L., Vellani, V., Schiano-Moriello, A., Marini, P., Magherini, P. C., Orlando, P. & Di Marzo, V. (2008). Plant-derived cannabinoids modulate the activity of transient receptor potential channels of ankyrin type-1 and melastatin type-8. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 325 (3), 1007-15.
- Decker, M. W. (2006). Cognition Models and Drug Discovery. *In:* Levin, E. D. & Buccafusco, J. J. (eds.) *Animal Models of Cognitive Impairment*. Boca Raton FL: Taylor & Francis Group, LLC.
- Dedei Daryan, M. & Guveli, B. T. (2018). Prevalence and clinical characteristics of headache in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy: experience from a tertiary epilepsy center. *Neurol Sci*, **39** (3), 519-25.
- Dedek, K., Kunath, B., Kananura, C., Reuner, U., Jentsch, T. J. & Steinlein, O. K. (2001). Myokymia and neonatal epilepsy caused by a mutation in the voltage sensor of the KCNQ2 K+ channel. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **98** (21), 12272-7.
- Depienne, C. & LeGuern, E. (2012). PCDH19-related infantile epileptic encephalopathy: An unusual X-linked inheritance disorder. *Hum Mutat*, **33** (4), 627-34.
- Devinsky, O., Cross, J. H., Laux, L., Marsh, E., Miller, I., Nabbout, R., Scheffer, I. E., Thiele, E. A. & Wright, S. (2017). Trial of cannabidiol for drug-resistant seizures in the Dravet syndrome. *N Engl J Med*, **376** (21), 2011-20.
- Devinsky, O., Marsh, E., Friedman, D., Thiele, E., Laux, L., Sullivan, J., Miller, I., Flamini, R., Wilfong, A., Filloux, F., Wong, M., Tilton, N., Bruno, P., Bluvstein, J., Hedlund,

J., Kamens, R., Maclean, J., Nangia, S., Singhal, N. S., Wilson, C. A., Patel, A. & Cilio, M. R. (2016). Cannabidiol in patients with treatment-resistant epilepsy: an open-label interventional trial. *Lancet Neurol*, **15** (3), 270-8.

- Devinsky, O., Patel, A. D., Cross, J. H., Villanueva, V., Wirrell, E. C., Privitera, M., Greenwood, S. M., Roberts, C., Checketts, D., VanLandingham, K. E. & Zuberi, S. M. (2018a). Effect of cannabidiol on drop seizures in the Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. *N Engl J Med*, 378 (20), 1888-97.
- Devinsky, O., Patel, A. D., Thiele, E. A., Wong, M. H., Appleton, R., Harden, C. L., Greenwood, S., Morrison, G. & Sommerville, K. (2018b). Randomized, dose-ranging safety trial of cannabidiol in Dravet syndrome. *Neurology*, **90** (14), e1204-e1211.
- Devinsky, O., Vezzani, A., O'Brien, T. J., Jette, N., Scheffer, I. E., de Curtis, M. & Perucca, P. (2018c). Epilepsy. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*, **4**, 18024.
- Di Marzo, V., Melck, D., Bisogno, T. & De Petrocellis, L. (1998). Endocannabinoids: endogenous cannabinoid receptor ligands with neuromodulatory action. *Trends Neurosci*, **21** (12), 521-8.
- Dilorio, C., Osborne Shafer, P., Letz, R., Henry, T., Schomer, D. L. & Yeager, K. (2003). The association of stigma with self-management and perceptions of health care among adults with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, **4** (3), 259-67.
- Dinh, T. P., Carpenter, D., Leslie, F. M., Freund, T. F., Katona, I., Sensi, S. L., Kathuria, S. & Piomelli, D. (2002). Brain monoglyceride lipase participating in endocannabinoid inactivation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **99** (16), 10819-24.
- Do Val-da Silva, R. A., Peixoto-Santos, J. E., Kandratavicius, L., De Ross, J. B., Esteves, I., De Martinis, B. S., Alves, M. N., Scandiuzzi, R. C., Hallak, J. E., Zuardi, A. W., Crippa, J. A. & Leite, J. P. (2017). Protective effects of cannabidiol against seizures and neuronal death in a rat model of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Front Pharmacol*, 8, 131.
- Dooley, J. M., Camfield, P. R., Smith, E., Langevin, P. & Ronen, G. (1999). Topiramate in intractable childhood onset epilepsy--a cautionary note. *Can J Neurol Sci*, **26** (4), 271-3.
- Douma, B. R., Korte, S. M., Buwalda, B., la Fleur, S. E., Bohus, B. & Luiten, P. G. (1998). Repeated blockade of mineralocorticoid receptors, but not of glucocorticoid receptors impairs food rewarded spatial learning. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 23 (1), 33-44.
- Dravet, C., Bureau, M., Oguni, H., Fukuyama, Y. & Cokar, O. (2005). Severe myoclonic epilepsy in infancy: Dravet syndrome. *Adv Neurol*, **95**, 71-102.
- Dravet, C. & Roger, J. (1996). Henri Gastaut 1915–1995. Epilepsia, 37 (4), 410-5.
- Dunn, D. W. & Austin, J. K. (2004). Differential diagnosis and treatment of psychiatric disorders in children and adolescents with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, 5 Suppl 3, S10-S17.
- Dunn, D. W., Austin, J. K., Harezlak, J. & Ambrosius, W. T. (2003). ADHD and epilepsy in childhood. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, **45** (1), 50-4.
- Durst, R., Danenberg, H., Gallily, R., Mechoulam, R., Meir, K., Grad, E., Beeri, R., Pugatsch, T., Tarsish, E. & Lotan, C. (2007). Cannabidiol, a nonpsychoactive Cannabis constituent, protects against myocardial ischemic reperfusion injury. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, **293** (6), H3602-7.
- El-Alfy, A. T., Ivey, K., Robinson, K., Ahmed, S., Radwan, M., Slade, D., Khan, I., ElSohly, M. & Ross, S. (2010). Antidepressant-like effect of $\Delta(9)$ -tetrahydrocannabinol and other cannabinoids isolated from Cannabis sativa L. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **95** (4), 434-42.
- Elbaz, M., Nasser, M. W., Ravi, J., Wani, N. A., Ahirwar, D. K., Zhao, H., Oghumu, S., Satoskar, A. R., Shilo, K., Carson, W. E., 3rd & Ganju, R. K. (2015). Modulation of

the tumor microenvironment and inhibition of EGF/EGFR pathway: novel anti-tumor mechanisms of Cannabidiol in breast cancer. *Mol Oncol*, **9** (4), 906-19.

- Elger, C. E., Helmstaedter, C. & Kurthen, M. (2004). Chronic epilepsy and cognition. *Lancet Neurol*, **3** (11), 663-72.
- Ellis, R. J., Toperoff, W., Vaida, F., van den Brande, G., Gonzales, J., Gouaux, B., Bentley, H. & Atkinson, J. H. (2009). Smoked medicinal cannabis for neuropathic pain in HIV: a randomized, crossover clinical trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 34 (3), 672-80.
- Elsohly, M. & Gul, W. (2014). Constituents of Cannabis sativa. *In:* RG, P. (ed.) *Handbook of Cannabis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Engel, J., Jr. (2001). A proposed diagnostic scheme for people with epileptic seizures and with epilepsy: Report of the ILAE task force on classification and terminology. *Epilepsia*, **42** (6), 796-803.
- England, M. J., Liverman, C. T., Schultz, A. M. & Strawbridge, L. M. (2012). Epilepsy across the spectrum: Promoting health and understanding. A summary of the Institute of Medicine report. *Epilepsy Behav*, **25** (2), 266-76.
- Englund, A., Morrison, P. D., Nottage, J., Hague, D., Kane, F., Bonaccorso, S., Stone, J. M., Reichenberg, A., Brenneisen, R., Holt, D., Feilding, A., Walker, L., Murray, R. M. & Kapur, S. (2013). Cannabidiol inhibits THC-elicited paranoid symptoms and hippocampal-dependent memory impairment. *J Psychopharmacol*, 27 (1), 19-27.
- Ertem, D. H., Dirican, A. C., Aydin, A., Baybas, S., Sozmen, V., Ozturk, M. & Altunkaynak, Y. (2017). Exploring psychiatric comorbidities and their effects on quality of life in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy and juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*, **71** (4), 280-8.
- Esposito, G., Scuderi, C., Savani, C., Steardo, L., Jr., De Filippis, D., Cottone, P., Iuvone, T., Cuomo, V. & Steardo, L. (2007). Cannabidiol in vivo blunts beta-amyloid induced neuroinflammation by suppressing IL-1beta and iNOS expression. *Br J Pharmacol*, **151** (8), 1272-9.
- Esposito, G., Scuderi, C., Valenza, M., Togna, G. I., Latina, V., De Filippis, D., Cipriano, M., Carratu, M. R., Iuvone, T. & Steardo, L. (2011). Cannabidiol reduces Abeta-induced neuroinflammation and promotes hippocampal neurogenesis through PPARgamma involvement. *PLoS One*, **6** (12), e28668.
- Esquirol, J.-É. (1838). Des maladies mentales: considérées sous les rapports médical, hygiénique et médico-légal. Paris: J. B. Baillière.
- Ettinger, A. B., Ottman, R., Lipton, R. B., Cramer, J. A., Fanning, K. M. & Reed, M. L. (2015). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptoms in adults with self-reported epilepsy: Results from a national epidemiologic survey of epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 56 (2), 218-24.
- Fagherazzi, E. V., Garcia, V. A., Maurmann, N., Bervanger, T., Halmenschlager, L. H., Busato, S. B., Hallak, J. E., Zuardi, A. W., Crippa, J. A. & Schroder, N. (2012). Memory-rescuing effects of cannabidiol in an animal model of cognitive impairment relevant to neurodegenerative disorders. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **219** (4), 1133-40.
- Farrimond, J. A., Hill, A. J., Jones, N. A., Stephens, G. J., Whalley, B. J. & Williams, C. M. (2009). A cost-effective high-throughput digital system for observation and acquisition of animal behavioral data. *Behav Res Methods*, **41** (2), 446-51.
- Farwell, J. R., Lee, Y. J., Hirtz, D. G., Sulzbacher, S. I., Ellenberg, J. H. & Nelson, K. B. (1990). Phenobarbital for febrile seizures--effects on intelligence and on seizure recurrence. *N Engl J Med*, **322** (6), 364-9.

- Fasano, A., Borlot, F., Lang, A. E. & Andrade, D. M. (2014). Antecollis and levodoparesponsive parkinsonism are late features of Dravet syndrome. *Neurology*, 82 (24), 2250-1.
- Fasano, A., Di Bonaventura, C., Bove, F., Espay, A. J., Morgante, F., Fabbrini, G., Munhoz, R. P., Andrade, D., Borlot, F., Bui, E., Di Gennaro, G., Iorio, R., Katzberg, H., Luigetti, M., Striano, P., Defazio, G. & Berardelli, A. (2018). Movement disorders phenomenology in focal motor seizures. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 0 (0).
- Fazel, S., Wolf, A., Langstrom, N., Newton, C. R. & Lichtenstein, P. (2013). Premature mortality in epilepsy and the role of psychiatric comorbidity: a total population study. *Lancet*, 382 (9905), 1646-54.
- FDA (2008). Memorandum: Briefing Document for the July 10, 2008 Advisory Committee Meeting to Discuss Antiepileptic Drugs (AEDs) and Suicidality.
- FDA. (2018). FDA approves first drug comprised of an active ingredient derived from marijuana to treat rare, severe forms of epilepsy. URL: https://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm611046.htm.
- Feinstein, A. R. (1970). The pre therapeutic classification of co morbidity in chronic disease. *J Chronic Dis*, **23** (7), 455-68.
- Fishbein-Kaminietsky, M., Gafni, M. & Sarne, Y. (2014). Ultralow doses of cannabinoid drugs protect the mouse brain from inflammation-induced cognitive damage. J Neurosci Res, 92 (12), 1669-77.
- Fisher, R. S., Acevedo, C., Arzimanoglou, A., Bogacz, A., Cross, J. H., Elger, C. E., Engel, J., Forsgren, L., French, J. A., Glynn, M., Hesdorffer, D. C., Lee, B. I., Mathern, G. W., Moshe, S. L., Perucca, E., Scheffer, I. E., Tomson, T., Watanabe, M. & Wiebe, S. (2014). ILAE Official Report: A practical clinical definition of epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 55 (4), 475-82.
- Fisher, R. S., Boas, W. V., Blume, W., Elger, C., Genton, P., Lee, P. & Engel, J. (2005). Epileptic seizures and epilepsy: Definitions proposed by the International League against Epilepsy (ILAE) and the International Bureau for Epilepsy (IBE). *Epilepsia*, 46 (4), 470-2.
- Fisher, R. S., Cross, J. H., D'Souza, C., French, J. A., Haut, S. R., Higurashi, N., Hirsch, E., Jansen, F. E., Lagae, L., Moshe, S. L., Peltola, J., Roulet Perez, E., Scheffer, I. E., Schulze-Bonhage, A., Somerville, E., Sperling, M., Yacubian, E. M. & Zuberi, S. M. (2017). Instruction manual for the ILAE 2017 operational classification of seizure types. *Epilepsia*, **58** (4), 531-42.
- Flourens, P. (1823). Recherches expérimentales sur les propriétés et les fonctions du système nerveux, dans les animaux vertébrés. *Arch Gen Med*, **2**, 321-70.
- Fogaca, M. V., Campos, A. C., Coelho, L. D., Duman, R. S. & Guimaraes, F. S. (2018). The anxiolytic effects of cannabidiol in chronically stressed mice are mediated by the endocannabinoid system: Role of neurogenesis and dendritic remodeling. *Neuropharmacology*, **135**, 22-33.
- Forsgren, L. (1992). Prevalence of epilepsy in adults in northern sweden. *Epilepsia*, **33** (3), 450-58.
- Forsythe, I., Butler, R., Berg, I. & McGuire, R. (1991). Cognitive impairment in new cases of epilepsy randomly assigned to carbamazepine, phenytoin and sodium valproate. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, 33 (6), 524-34.
- Fox, W. M. (1965). Reflex-ontogeny and behavioural development of the mouse. Anim Behav, 13 (2), 234-41.
- Francois, J., Germe, K., Ferrandon, A., Koning, E. & Nehlig, A. (2011). Carisbamate has powerful disease-modifying effects in the lithium-pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuropharmacology*, **61** (1-2), 313-28.

- Fujiwara, T. & Shigematsu, H. (2004). Etiologic factors and clinical features of symptomatic epilepsy: focus on pediatric cases. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*, **58** (3), S9-S12.
- Furtado, M. A., Castro, O. W., Del Vecchio, F., Cortes de Oliveira, J. A. & Garcia-Cairasco, N. (2011). Study of spontaneous recurrent seizures and morphological alterations after status epilepticus induced by intrahippocampal injection of pilocarpine. *Epilepsy Behav*, **20** (2), 257-66.
- Fusar-Poli, P., Crippa, J. A., Bhattacharyya, S., Borgwardt, S. J., Allen, P., Martin-Santos, R., Seal, M., Surguladze, S. A., O'Carrol, C., Atakan, Z., Zuardi, A. W. & McGuire, P. K. (2009). Distinct effects of {delta}9-tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol on neural activation during emotional processing. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, **66** (1), 95-105.
- Gaitatzis, A., Sisodiya, S. M. & Sander, J. W. (2012). The somatic comorbidity of epilepsy: A weighty but often unrecognized burden. *Epilepsia*, **53** (8), 1282-93.
- Gamble, L. J., Boesch, J. M., Frye, C. W., Schwark, W. S., Mann, S., Wolfe, L., Brown, H., Berthelsen, E. S. & Wakshlag, J. J. (2018). Pharmacokinetics, safety, and clinical efficacy of cannabidiol treatment in osteoarthritic dogs. *Front Vet Sci*, **5**, 165.
- Garcia-Arencibia, M., Gonzalez, S., de Lago, E., Ramos, J. A., Mechoulam, R. & Fernandez-Ruiz, J. (2007). Evaluation of the neuroprotective effect of cannabinoids in a rat model of Parkinson's disease: importance of antioxidant and cannabinoid receptorindependent properties. *Brain Res*, **1134** (1), 162-70.
- Genaro, K., Fabris, D., Arantes, A. L. F., Zuardi, A. W., Crippa, J. A. S. & Prado, W. A. (2017). Cannabidiol Is a Potential Therapeutic for the Affective-Motivational Dimension of Incision Pain in Rats. *Front Pharmacol*, 8, 391.
- Genton, P., Velizarova, R. & Dravet, C. (2011). Dravet syndrome: The long-term outcome. *Epilepsia*, **52**, 44-9.
- George, J., Kulkarni, C. & Sarma, G. R. K. (2015). Antiepileptic drugs and quality of life in patients with epilepsy: A tertiary care hospital-based study. *Value Health Reg Issues*, 6, 1-6.
- Gilliam, F. G., Maton, B. M., Martin, R. C., Sawrie, S. M., Faught, R. E., Hugg, J. W., Viikinsalo, M. & Kuzniecky, R. I. (2007). Hippocampal H-1-MRSI correlates with severity of depression symptoms in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurology*, 68 (5), 364-8.
- Gitiaux, C., Chemaly, N., Quijano-Roy, S., Barnerias, C., Desguerre, I., Hully, M., Chiron, C., Dulac, O. & Nabbout, R. (2016). Motor neuropathy contributes to crouching in patients with Dravet syndrome. *Neurology*, 87 (3), 277-81.
- Glien, M., Brandt, C., Potschka, H., Voigt, H., Ebert, U., Löscher, W. (2001). Repeated lowdose treatment of rats with pilocarpine: low mortality but high proportion of rats developing epilepsy, *Epilepsy Res*, **46** (2), 111-9.
- Gloersen, G., Loyning, T. & Nakken, K. O. (2000). Hidden motor dysfunctions in children with epilepsy. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen*, **120** (18), 2115-7.
- Goffin, K., Nissinen, J., Van Laere, K. & Pitkanen, A. (2007). Cyclicity of spontaneous recurrent seizures in pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy in rat. *Exp Neurol*, 205 (2), 501-5.
- Gomes, F. V., Del Bel, E. A. & Guimarães, F. S. (2013). Cannabidiol attenuates catalepsy induced by distinct pharmacological mechanisms via 5-HT1A receptor activation in mice. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 46, 43-7.
- Gómez-Arias, B., Crail-Meléndez, D., López-Zapata, R. & Martínez-Juárez, I. E. (2012). Severity of anxiety and depression are related to a higher perception of adverse effects of antiepileptic drugs. *Seizure*, **21** (8), 588-94.
- Gong, X., Chen, Y., Chang, J., Huang, Y., Cai, M. & Zhang, M. (2018). Environmental enrichment reduces adolescent anxiety- and depression-like behaviors of rats subjected to infant nerve injury. *J Neuroinflammation*, **15** (1), 262.

- Griffith, H. R., Pyzalski, R. W., O'Leary, D., Magnotta, V., Bell, B., Dow, C., Hermann, B. & Seidenberg, M. (2003). A controlled quantitative MRI volumetric investigation of hippocampal contributions to immediate and delayed memory performance. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 25 (8), 1117-27.
- Guerrini, R., Dravet, C., Genton, P., Belmonte, A., Kaminska, A. & Dulac, O. (1998). Lamotrigine and seizure aggravation in severe myoclonic epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **39** (5), 508-12.
- Guimaraes, F. S., Chiaretti, T. M., Graeff, F. G. & Zuardi, A. W. (1990). Antianxiety effect of cannabidiol in the elevated plus-maze. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **100** (4), 558-9.
- Gururajan, A., Taylor, D. A. & Malone, D. T. (2012). Cannabidiol and clozapine reverse MK-801-induced deficits in social interaction and hyperactivity in Sprague-Dawley rats. *J Psychopharmacol*, **26** (10), 1317-32.
- Han, S., Tai, C., Westenbroek, R. E., Yu, F. H., Cheah, C. S., Potter, G. B., Rubenstein, J. L., Scheuer, T., de la Iglesia, H. O. & Catterall, W. A. (2012). Autistic-like behaviour in Scn1a+/- mice and rescue by enhanced GABA-mediated neurotransmission. *Nature*, 489 (7416), 385-90.
- Hanada, T., Hashizume, Y., Tokuhara, N., Takenaka, O., Kohmura, N., Ogasawara, A., Hatakeyama, S., Ohgoh, M., Ueno, M. & Nishizawa, Y. (2011). Perampanel: a novel, orally active, noncompetitive AMPA-receptor antagonist that reduces seizure activity in rodent models of epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **52** (7), 1331-40.
- Hansen, S. L., Nielsen, A. H., Knudsen, K. E., Artmann, A., Petersen, G., Kristiansen, U., Hansen, S. H. & Hansen, H. S. (2009). Ketogenic diet is antiepileptogenic in pentylenetetrazole kindled mice and decrease levels of N-acylethanolamines in hippocampus. *Neurochem Int*, 54 (3-4), 199-204.
- Harkin, L. A., McMahon, J. M., Iona, X., Dibbens, L., Pelekanos, J. T., Zuberi, S. M., Sadleir, L. G., Andermann, E., Gill, D., Farrell, K., Connolly, M., Stanley, T., Harbord, M., Andermann, F., Wang, J., Batish, S. D., Jones, J. G., Seltzer, W. K., Gardner, A., Sutherland, G., Berkovic, S. F., Mulley, J. C., Scheffer, I. E. & Infantile Epileptic, E. (2007). The spectrum of SCNIA-related infantile epileptic encephalopathies. *Brain*, 130, 843-52.
- Hart, C. L., van Gorp, W., Haney, M., Foltin, R. W. & Fischman, M. W. (2001). Effects of acute smoked marijuana on complex cognitive performance. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 25 (5), 757-65.
- Hauptmann, A. (1912). Luminal bei Epilepsie. Munch Med Wochenschr, 59, 1907-9.
- Hauser, A. (2014). Commentary: ILAE definition of epilepsy. Epilepsia, 55 (4), 488-90.
- Hawkins, N. A., Anderson, L. L., Gertler, T. S., Laux, L., George, A. L., Jr. & Kearney, J. A. (2017). Screening of conventional anticonvulsants in a genetic mouse model of epilepsy. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol*, 4 (5), 326-39.
- Helbig, I., Scheffer, I. E., Mulley, J. C. & Berkovic, S. F. (2008). Navigating the channels and beyond: unravelling the genetics of the epilepsies. *Lancet Neurol*, **7** (3), 231-45.
- Helmstaedter, C., Kurthen, M., Lux, S., Reuber, M. & Elger, C. E. (2003). Chronic epilepsy and cognition: a longitudinal study in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Ann Neurol*, **54** (4), 425-32.
- Herranz, J. L., Armijo, J. A. & Arteaga, R. (1988). Clinical side effects of phenobarbital, primidone, phenytoin, carbamazepine, and valproate during monotherapy in children. *Epilepsia*, **29** (6), 794-804.
- Hesdorffer, D. C., Hauser, W. A., Annegers, J. F. & Cascino, G. (2000). Major depression is a risk factor for seizures in older adults. *Ann Neurol*, **47** (2), 246-9.
- Hesdorffer, D. C., Hauser, W. A., Annegers, J. F., Kokmen, E. & Rocca, W. A. (1996). Dementia and adult-onset unprovoked seizures. *Neurology*, **46** (3), 727-30.

- Hesdorffer, D. C., Hauser, W. A., Olafsson, E., Ludvigsson, P. & Kjartansson, O. (2006). Depression and suicide attempt as risk factors for incident unprovoked seizures. *Ann Neurol*, **59** (1), 35-41.
- Hesdorffer, D. C., Ishihara, L., Mynepalli, L., Webb, D. J., Weil, J. & Hauser, W. A. (2012). Epilepsy, suicidality, and psychiatric disorders: A bidirectional association. Ann Neurol, 72 (2), 184-91.
- Hesdorffer, D. C., Ishihara, L., Webb, D. J., Mynepalli, L., Galwey, N. W. & Hauser, W. A. (2016). Occurrence and recurrence of attempted suicide among people with epilepsy. *JAMA Psychiatry*, **73** (1), 80-6.
- Hess, E. J., Moody, K. A., Geffrey, A. L., Pollack, S. F., Skirvin, L. A., Bruno, P. L., Paolini, J. L. & Thiele, E. A. (2016). Cannabidiol as a new treatment for drug-resistant epilepsy in tuberous sclerosis complex. *Epilepsia*, 57 (10), 1617-24.
- Hickman, D. L. & Swan, M. (2010). Use of a Body Condition Score Technique to Assess Health Status in a Rat Model of Polycystic Kidney Disease. J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci, 49 (2), 155-9.
- Hill, A. J., Mercier, M. S., Hill, T. D. M., Glyn, S. E., Jones, N. A., Yamasaki, Y., Futamura, T., Duncan, M., Stott, C. G., Stephens, G. J., Williams, C. M. & Whalley, B. J. (2012). Cannabidivarin is anticonvulsant in mouse and rat. *Br J Pharmacol*, 167 (8), 1629-42.
- Hill, T., Coupland, C., Morriss, R., Arthur, A., Moore, M. & Hippisley-Cox, J. (2015). Antidepressant use and risk of epilepsy and seizures in people aged 20 to 64 years: cohort study using a primary care database. *BMC Psychiatry*, **15**, 315.
- Hill, T. D. M., Cascio, M. G., Romano, B., Duncan, M., Pertwee, R. G., Williams, C. M., Whalley, B. J. & Hill, A. J. (2013). Cannabidivarin-rich cannabis extracts are anticonvulsant in mouse and rat via a CB1 receptor-independent mechanism. *Br J Pharmacol*, **170** (3), 679-92.
- Hindocha, C., Freeman, T. P., Schafer, G., Gardener, C., Das, R. K., Morgan, C. J. & Curran, H. V. (2015). Acute effects of delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol, cannabidiol and their combination on facial emotion recognition: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study in cannabis users. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, 25 (3), 325-34.
- Hippocrates (1950). The sacred disease. In: Chadwich J, M. W. (ed.) The Medical Works of Hippocrates. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Hsiao, Y. T., Yi, P. L., Li, C. L. & Chang, F. C. (2012). Effect of cannabidiol on sleep disruption induced by the repeated combination tests consisting of open field and elevated plus-maze in rats. *Neuropharmacology*, **62** (1), 373-84.
- Huguenard, J. R. (2002). Block of T-type Ca(2+) channels is an important action of succinimide antiabsence drugs. *Epilepsy Curr*, **2** (2), 49-52.
- Hussain, S. A., Zhou, R., Jacobson, C., Weng, J., Cheng, E., Lay, J., Hung, P., Lerner, J. T. & Sankar, R. (2015). Perceived efficacy of cannabidiol-enriched cannabis extracts for treatment of pediatric epilepsy: A potential role for infantile spasms and Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. *Epilepsy Behav*, 47, 138-41.
- ILAE (1989). Proposal for revised classification of epilepsies and epileptic syndromes. Commission on classification and terminology of the International League Against Epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **30** (4), 389-99.
- Jackson, J. H. (1863). Convulsive spasms of the right hand and arm preceding epileptic seizures. *Medical Times and Gazette*, **1**, 110-1.
- Jackson, J. H. (1864). Epileptic aphemia with epileptic seizures on the right side. *Medical Times and Gazette*, **2**, 167.
- Jacob, J. (2016). Cortical interneuron dysfunction in epilepsy associated with autism spectrum disorders. *Epilepsia*, **57** (2), 182-93.

- Jacoby, A., Snape, D., Lane, S. & Baker, G. A. (2015). Self-reported anxiety and sleep problems in people with epilepsy and their association with quality of life. *Epilepsy Behav*, **43**, 149-58.
- Jain, P., Subendran, J., Smith, M. L. & Widjaja, E. (2018). Care-related quality of life in caregivers of children with drug-resistant epilepsy. *J Neurol*, **265** (10), 2221-30.
- Jefferys, J. G. R. & Jiruska, P. (2009). The tetanus toxin model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *In:* Schwartzkroin, P. A. (ed.) *Encyclopedia of Basic Epilepsy Research*. Oxford: Academic Press.
- Johnson, J. R., Lossignol, D., Burnell-Nugent, M. & Fallon, M. T. (2013). An open-label extension study to investigate the long-term safety and tolerability of THC/CBD oromucosal spray and oromucosal THC spray in patients with terminal cancer-related pain refractory to strong opioid analgesics. *J Pain Symptom Manage*, **46** (2), 207-18.
- Jokeit, H. & Ebner, A. (2002). Effects of chronic epilepsy on intellectual functions. *Prog Brain Res*, **135**, 455-63.
- Jones, J. E., Hermann, B. P., Barry, J. J., Gilliam, F. G., Kanner, A. M. & Meador, K. J. (2003). Rates and risk factors for suicide, suicidal ideation, and suicide attempts in chronic epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, 4, S31-S38.
- Jones, N. A., Glyn, S. E., Akiyama, S., Hill, T. D., Hill, A. J., Weston, S. E., Burnett, M. D., Yamasaki, Y., Stephens, G. J., Whalley, B. J. & Williams, C. M. (2012). Cannabidiol exerts anti-convulsant effects in animal models of temporal lobe and partial seizures. *Seizure*, **21** (5), 344-52.
- Jones, N. A., Hill, A. J., Smith, I., Bevan, S. A., Williams, C. M., Whalley, B. J. & Stephens, G. J. (2010). Cannabidiol displays antiepileptiform and antiseizure properties in vitro and in vivo. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **332** (2), 569-77.
- Jones, N. C., Salzberg, M. R., Kumar, G., Couper, A., Morris, M. J. & O'Brien, T. J. (2008). Elevated anxiety and depressive-like behavior in a rat model of genetic generalized epilepsy suggesting common causation. *Exp Neurol*, **209** (1), 254-60.
- Jope, R. S., Morrisett, R. A. & Snead, O. C. (1986). Characterization of lithium potentiation of pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus in rats. *Exp Neurol*, **91** (3), 471-80.
- Kalemenev, S. V., Zubareva, O. E., Frolova, E. V., Sizov, V. V., Lavrentyeva, V. V., Lukomskaya, N. Y., Kim, K., Zaitsev, A. V. & Magazanik, L. G. (2015). Impairment of exploratory behavior and spatial memory in adolescent rats in lithium-pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Dokl Biol Sci*, 463, 175-7.
- Kalume, F. (2013). Sudden unexpected death in Dravet syndrome: respiratory and other physiological dysfunctions. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol*, **189** (2), 324-8.
- Kalume, F., Westenbroek, R. E., Cheah, C. S., Yu, F. H., Oakley, J. C., Scheuer, T. & Catterall, W. A. (2013). Sudden unexpected death in a mouse model of Dravet syndrome. *J Clin Invest*, **123** (4), 1798-808.
- Kalume, F., Yu, F. H., Westenbroek, R. E., Scheuer, T. & Catterall, W. A. (2007). Reduced sodium current in Purkinje neurons from Nav1.1 mutant mice: implications for ataxia in severe myoclonic epilepsy in infancy. *J Neurosci*, **27** (41), 11065-74.
- Kanner, A. M. (2003). Depression in epilepsy: Prevalence, clinical semiology, pathogenic mechanisms, and treatment. *Biol Psychiatry*, **54** (3), 388-98.
- Kanner, A. M., Ashman, E., Gloss, D., Harden, C., Bourgeois, B., Bautista, J. F., Abou-Khalil, B., Burakgazi-Dalkilic, E., Llanas Park, E., Stern, J., Hirtz, D., Nespeca, M., Gidal, B., Faught, E. & French, J. (2018a). Practice guideline update summary: Efficacy and tolerability of the new antiepileptic drugs I: Treatment of new-onset epilepsy: Report of the American Epilepsy Society and the guideline development, dissemination, and implementation subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Epilepsy Curr*, 18 (4), 260-8.

- Kanner, A. M., Ashman, E., Gloss, D., Harden, C., Bourgeois, B., Bautista, J. F., Abou-Khalil, B., Burakgazi-Dalkilic, E., Llanas Park, E., Stern, J., Hirtz, D., Nespeca, M., Gidal, B., Faught, E. & French, J. (2018b). Practice guideline update summary: Efficacy and tolerability of the new antiepileptic drugs II: Treatment-resistant epilepsy: Report of the American Epilepsy Society and the guideline development, dissemination, and implementation subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Epilepsy Curr*, 18 (4), 269-78.
- Kanner, A. M., Schachter, S. C., Barry, J. J., Hesdorffer, D. C., Mula, M., Trimble, M., Hermann, B., Ettinger, A. E., Dunn, D., Caplan, R., Ryvlin, P., Gilliam, F. & LaFrance, W. C., Jr. (2012). Depression and epilepsy: epidemiologic and neurobiologic perspectives that may explain their high comorbid occurrence. *Epilepsy Behav*, 24 (2), 156-68.
- Kano, M., Ohno-Shosaku, T., Hashimotodani, Y., Uchigashima, M. & Watanabe, M. (2009). Endocannabinoid-mediated control of synaptic transmission. *Physiol Rev*, **89** (1), 309-80.
- Kaplan, J. S., Stella, N., Catterall, W. A. & Westenbroek, R. E. (2017). Cannabidiol attenuates seizures and social deficits in a mouse model of Dravet syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **114** (42), 11229-34.
- Kathmann, M., Flau, K., Redmer, A., Trankle, C. & Schlicker, E. (2006). Cannabidiol is an allosteric modulator at mu- and delta-opioid receptors. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, **372** (5), 354-61.
- Katsidoni, V., Kastellakis, A. & Panagis, G. (2013). Biphasic effects of $\Delta 9$ tetrahydrocannabinol on brain stimulation reward and motor activity. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, **16** (10), 2273-84.
- Katsurabayashi, S., Kubota, H., Tokutomi, N. & Akaike, N. (2003). A distinct distribution of functional presynaptic 5-HT receptor subtypes on GABAergic nerve terminals projecting to single hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. *Neuropharmacology*, 44 (8), 1022-30.
- Kaufman, P. Y. (1912). Electrical phenomena in cerebral cortex (in Russian). *Obz Psichiatr Nev Eksp Psikhol*, **7-9**, 403.
- Kaupmann, K., Huggel, K., Heid, J., Flor, P. J., Bischoff, S., Mickel, S. J., McMaster, G., Angst, C., Bittiger, H., Froestl, W. & Bettler, B. (1997). Expression cloning of GABA(B) receptors uncovers similarity to metabotropic glutamate receptors. *Nature*, **386** (6622), 239-46.
- Keezer, M. R., Sisodiya, S. M. & Sander, J. W. (2016). Comorbidities of epilepsy: current concepts and future perspectives. *Lancet Neurol*, **15** (1), 106-15.
- Keller, S. S., Baker, G., Downes, J. J. & Roberts, N. (2009). Quantitative MRI of the prefrontal cortex and executive function in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, **15** (2), 186-95.
- Kemppainen, E. J., Nissinen, J. & Pitkanen, A. (2006). Fear conditioning is impaired in systemic kainic acid and amygdala-stimulation models of epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 47 (5), 820-9.
- Kew, J. N. & Kemp, J. A. (2005). Ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptor structure and pharmacology. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **179** (1), 4-29.
- Khan, O. I., Zhao, Q., Miller, F. & Holmes, G. L. (2010). Interictal spikes in developing rats cause long-standing cognitive deficits. *Neurobiol Dis*, **39** (3), 362-71.
- Kim, J. & Li, Y. (2015). Chronic activation of CB2 cannabinoid receptors in the hippocampus increases excitatory synaptic transmission. *J Physiol*, **593** (4), 871-86.
- Kim, M., Kim, Y. S., Kim, D. H., Yang, T. W. & Kwon, O. Y. (2018). Major depressive disorder in epilepsy clinics: A meta-analysis. *Epilepsy Behav*, **84**, 56-69.

- King, K. M., Myers, A. M., Soroka-Monzo, A. J., Tuma, R. F., Tallarida, R. J., Walker, E. A. & Ward, S. J. (2017). Single and combined effects of Delta(9) -tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol in a mouse model of chemotherapy-induced neuropathic pain. *Br J Pharmacol*, **174** (17), 2832-41.
- Klein, B. D., Jacobson, C. A., Metcalf, C. S., Smith, M. D., Wilcox, K. S., Hampson, A. J. & Kehne, J. H. (2017). Evaluation of cannabidiol in animal seizure models by the Epilepsy Therapy Screening Program (ETSP). *Neurochem Res*, **42** (7), 1939-48.
- Klitgaard, H., Matagne, A. & Lamberty, Y. (2002). Use of epileptic animals for adverse effect testing. *Epilepsy Res*, **50** (1-2), 55-65.
- Knopp, A., Frahm, C., Fidzinski, P., Witte, O. W. & Behr, J. (2008). Loss of GABAergic neurons in the subiculum and its functional implications in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Brain*, **131** (Pt 6), 1516-27.
- Kobau, R., Gilliam, F. & Thurman, D. J. (2006). Prevalence of self-reported epilepsy or seizure disorder and its associations with self-reported depression and anxiety: results from the 2004 HealthStyles Survey. *Epilepsia*, **47** (11), 1915-21.
- Kowalski, K. & Di Fabio, R. P. (1995). Gross motor and balance impairments in children and adolescents with epilepsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, **37** (7), 604-19.
- Kraft, B., Frickey, N. A., Kaufmann, R. M., Reif, M., Frey, R., Gustorff, B. & Kress, H. G. (2008). Lack of analgesia by oral standardized cannabis extract on acute inflammatory pain and hyperalgesia in volunteers. *Anesthesiology*, **109** (1), 101-10.
- Krishnakumar, A., Abraham, P. M., Paul, J. & Paulose, C. S. (2009). Down-regulation of cerebellar 5-HT(2C) receptors in pilocarpine-induced epilepsy in rats: therapeutic role of Bacopa monnieri extract. *J Neurol Sci*, **284** (1-2), 124-8.
- Kwan, P., Yu, E., Leung, H., Leon, T. & Mychaskiw, M. A. (2009). Association of subjective anxiety, depression, and sleep disturbance with quality-of-life ratings in adults with epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **50** (5), 1059-66.
- Kwong, K. L., Lam, D., Tsui, S., Ngan, M., Tsang, B., Lai, T. S. & Lam, S. M. (2016). Selfesteem in adolescents with epilepsy: Psychosocial and seizure-related correlates. *Epilepsy Behav*, 63, 118-22.
- Labat (1951). *Traité akkadien de diagnostics et pronostics médicaux*. Leiden, The Netherlands: Interactive Factory.
- Lambert, D. M., Vandevoorde, S., Diependaele, G., Govaerts, S. J. & Robert, A. R. (2001). Anticonvulsant activity of N-palmitoylethanolamide, a putative endocannabinoid, in mice. *Epilepsia*, **42** (3), 321-7.
- Langford, D. J., Bailey, A. L., Chanda, M. L., Clarke, S. E., Drummond, T. E., Echols, S., Glick, S., Ingrao, J., Klassen-Ross, T., Lacroix-Fralish, M. L., Matsumiya, L., Sorge, R. E., Sotocinal, S. G., Tabaka, J. M., Wong, D., van den Maagdenberg, A. M., Ferrari, M. D., Craig, K. D. & Mogil, J. S. (2010). Coding of facial expressions of pain in the laboratory mouse. *Nat Methods*, 7 (6), 447-9.
- Langford, R. M., Mares, J., Novotna, A., Vachova, M., Novakova, I., Notcutt, W. & Ratcliffe, S. (2013). A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, parallel-group study of THC/CBD oromucosal spray in combination with the existing treatment regimen, in the relief of central neuropathic pain in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neurol, 260 (4), 984-97.
- Lastres-Becker, I., Molina-Holgado, F., Ramos, J. A., Mechoulam, R. & Fernández-Ruiz, J. (2005). Cannabinoids provide neuroprotection against 6-hydroxydopamine toxicity in vivo and in vitro: Relevance to Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol of Dis*, **19** (1), 96-107.
- Lee, M. C., Ploner, M., Wiech, K., Bingel, U., Wanigasekera, V., Brooks, J., Menon, D. K. & Tracey, I. (2013). Amygdala activity contributes to the dissociative effect of cannabis on pain perception. *Pain*, **154** (1), 124-34.

- Lehre, K. P., Levy, L. M., Ottersen, O. P., Storm-Mathisen, J. & Danbolt, N. C. (1995). Differential expression of two glial glutamate transporters in the rat brain: quantitative and immunocytochemical observations. *J Neurosci*, **15** (3 Pt 1), 1835-53.
- Lenck-Santini, P. P. & Scott, R. C. (2015). Mechanisms responsible for cognitive impairment in epilepsy. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, **5** (10), a022772.
- Lerche, H., Shah, M., Beck, H., Noebels, J., Johnston, D. & Vincent, A. (2013). Ion channels in genetic and acquired forms of epilepsy. *J Physiol*, **591** (4), 753-64.
- Leweke, F. M., Mueller, J. K., Lange, B., Fritze, S., Topor, C. E., Koethe, D. & Rohleder, C. (2018). Role of the Endocannabinoid System in the Pathophysiology of Schizophrenia: Implications for Pharmacological Intervention. CNS Drugs, 32 (7), 605-19.
- Leweke, F. M., Piomelli, D., Pahlisch, F., Muhl, D., Gerth, C. W., Hoyer, C., Klosterkoetter, J., Hellmich, M. & Koethe, D. (2012). Cannabidiol enhances anandamide signaling and alleviates psychotic symptoms of schizophrenia. *Transl Psychiatry*, 2, e94.
- Li, B. M., Liu, X. R., Yi, Y. H., Deng, Y. H., Su, T., Zou, X. & Liao, W. P. (2011). Autism in Dravet syndrome: prevalence, features, and relationship to the clinical characteristics of epilepsy and mental retardation. *Epilepsy Behav*, **21** (3), 291-5.
- Li, Y. & Kim, J. (2015). Neuronal expression of CB2 cannabinoid receptor mRNAs in the mouse hippocampus. *Neuroscience*, **311**, 253-67.
- Liigant, A., Haldre, S., Oun, A., Linnamagi, U., Saar, A., Asser, T. & Kaasik, A. E. (2001). Seizure disorders in patients with brain tumors. *Eur Neurol*, **45** (1), 46-51.
- Lima, E. M., Rzezak, P., Guimarães, C. A., Montenegro, M. A., Guerreiro, M. M. & Valente, K. D. (2017). The executive profile of children with Benign Epilepsy of Childhood with Centrotemporal Spikes and Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, 72, 173-7.
- Linge, R., Jiménez-Sánchez, L., Campa, L., Pilar-Cuéllar, F., Vidal, R., Pazos, A., Adell, A. & Díaz, Á. (2016). Cannabidiol induces rapid-acting antidepressant-like effects and enhances cortical 5-HT/glutamate neurotransmission: role of 5-HT1A receptors. *Neuropharmacology*, **103**, 16-26.
- Liou, H. H., Wang, C. R., Chen, C. J., Chen, R. C., Chuang, C. Y., Chiang, I. P. & Tsai, M. C. (1996). Elevated levels of anticardiolipin antibodies and epilepsy in lupus patients. *Lupus*, 5 (4), 307-12.
- Liu, H. H., Wang, J., Chen, X. M., Li, J. P., Ye, W. & Zheng, J. (2016). Interhemispheric functional and structural alterations and their relationships with alertness in unilateral temporal lobe epilepsy. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci*, **20** (8), 1526-36.
- Longrigg, J. (2000). Epilepsy in ancient Greek medicine--the vital step. Seizure, 9 (1), 12-21.
- Lopes-Cendes, I. (2008). The genetics of epilepsies. J Pediatr (Rio J), 84 (4 Suppl), S33-S39.
- Lopes, M. W., Lopes, S. C., Santos, D. B., Costa, A. P., Goncalves, F. M., de Mello, N., Prediger, R. D., Farina, M., Walz, R. & Leal, R. B. (2016). Time course evaluation of behavioral impairments in the pilocarpine model of epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, 55, 92-100.
- Loscher, W., Jackel, R. & Muller, F. (1989). Anticonvulsant and proconvulsant effects of inhibitors of GABA degradation in the amygdala-kindling model. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 163 (1), 1-14.
- Lowenstein, D. H. (2009). Epilepsy after head injury: An overview. *Epilepsia*, **50**, 4-9.
- Lozano, I. (2001). The therapeutic use of Cannabis sativa (L.) in Arabic medicine. J Cannabis Ther 1, 63-70.
- Luszczki, J. J., Czuczwar, P., Cioczek-Czuczwar, A. & Czuczwar, S. J. (2006). Arachidonyl-2'-chloroethylamide, a highly selective cannabinoid CB1 receptor agonist, enhances the anticonvulsant action of valproate in the mouse maximal electroshock-induced seizure model. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **547** (1-3), 65-74.

- Luszczki, J. J., Czuczwar, P., Cioczek-Czuczwar, A., Dudra-Jastrzebska, M., Andres-Mach, M. & Czuczwar, S. J. (2010). Effect of arachidonyl-2'-chloroethylamide, a selective cannabinoid CB1 receptor agonist, on the protective action of the various antiepileptic drugs in the mouse maximal electroshock-induced seizure model. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, **34** (1), 18-25.
- Luszczki, J. J., Misiuta-Krzesinska, M., Florek, M., Tutka, P. & Czuczwar, S. J. (2011). Synthetic cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2 mesylate enhances the protective action of four classical antiepileptic drugs against maximal electroshock-induced seizures in mice. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **98** (2), 261-7.
- Maccarrone, M., Dainese, E. & Oddi, S. (2010). Intracellular trafficking of anandamide: new concepts for signaling. *Trends Biochem Sci*, **35** (11), 601-8.
- Maejima, T., Hashimoto, K., Yoshida, T., Aiba, A. & Kano, M. (2001). Presynaptic inhibition caused by retrograde signal from metabotropic glutamate to cannabinoid receptors. *Neuron*, **31** (3), 463-75.
- Magen, I., Avraham, Y., Ackerman, Z., Vorobiev, L., Mechoulam, R. & Berry, E. M. (2009). Cannabidiol ameliorates cognitive and motor impairments in mice with bile duct ligation. *J Hepatol*, **51** (3), 528-34.
- Magen, I., Avraham, Y., Ackerman, Z., Vorobiev, L., Mechoulam, R. & Berry, E. M. (2010). Cannabidiol ameliorates cognitive and motor impairments in bile-duct ligated mice via 5-HT(1A) receptor activation. *Br J Pharmacol*, **159** (4), 950-7.
- Malo, D., Schurr, E., Dorfman, J., Canfield, V., Levenson, R. & Gros, P. (1991). Three brain sodium channel alpha-subunit genes are clustered on the proximal segment of mouse chromosome 2. *Genomics*, **10** (3), 666-72.
- Malone, D. T., Jongejan, D. & Taylor, D. A. (2009). Cannabidiol reverses the reduction in social interaction produced by low dose Delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol in rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **93** (2), 91-6.
- Manford, M., Hart, Y. M., Sander, J. W. & Shorvon, S. D. (1992). National General Practice Study of Epilepsy (NGPSE): partial seizure patterns in a general population. *Neurology*, **42** (10), 1911-7.
- Manna, S. S. & Umathe, S. N. (2012). Involvement of transient receptor potential vanilloid type 1 channels in the pro-convulsant effect of anandamide in pentylenetetrazole-induced seizures. *Epilepsy Res*, **100** (1-2), 113-24.
- Marini, C., Scheffer, I. E., Nabbout, R., Suls, A., De Jonghe, P., Zara, F. & Guerrini, R. (2011). The genetics of Dravet syndrome. *Epilepsia*, **52**, 24-9.
- Marrs, W. R., Blankman, J. L., Horne, E. A., Thomazeau, A., Lin, Y. H., Coy, J., Bodor, A. L., Muccioli, G. G., Hu, S. S., Woodruff, G., Fung, S., Lafourcade, M., Alexander, J. P., Long, J. Z., Li, W., Xu, C., Moller, T., Mackie, K., Manzoni, O. J., Cravatt, B. F. & Stella, N. (2010). The serine hydrolase ABHD6 controls the accumulation and efficacy of 2-AG at cannabinoid receptors. *Nat Neurosci*, **13** (8), 951-7.
- Martin-Moreno, A. M., Reigada, D., Ramirez, B. G., Mechoulam, R., Innamorato, N., Cuadrado, A. & de Ceballos, M. L. (2011). Cannabidiol and other cannabinoids reduce microglial activation in vitro and in vivo: relevance to Alzheimer's disease. *Mol Pharmacol*, **79** (6), 964-73.
- Martin, M. S., Dutt, K., Papale, L. A., Dube, C. M., Dutton, S. B., de Haan, G., Shankar, A., Tufik, S., Meisler, M. H., Baram, T. Z., Goldin, A. L. & Escayg, A. (2010). Altered function of the SCN1A voltage-gated sodium channel leads to gamma-aminobutyric acid-ergic (GABAergic) interneuron abnormalities. *J Biol Chem*, 285 (13), 9823-34.
- Massi, P., Vaccani, A., Ceruti, S., Colombo, A., Abbracchio, M. P. & Parolaro, D. (2004). Antitumor effects of cannabidiol, a nonpsychoactive cannabinoid, on human glioma cell lines. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **308** (3), 838-45.

- Masur, D., Shinnar, S., Cnaan, A., Shinnar, R. C., Clark, P., Wang, J., Weiss, E. F., Hirtz, D. G. & Glauser, T. A. (2013). Pretreatment cognitive deficits and treatment effects on attention in childhood absence epilepsy. *Neurology*, **81** (18), 1572-80.
- Matagne, A. & Klitgaard, H. (1998). Validation of corneally kindled mice: a sensitive screening model for partial epilepsy in man. *Epilepsy Res*, **31** (1), 59-71.
- Mbuba, C. K., Ngugi, A. K., Newton, C. R., & Carter, J. A. (2008). The epilepsy treatment gap in developing countries: a systematic review of the magnitude, causes, and intervention strategies. *Epilepsia*, **49**(9), 1491–503.
- McGuire, P., Robson, P., Cubala, W. J., Vasile, D., Morrison, P. D., Barron, R., Taylor, A. & Wright, S. (2018). Cannabidiol (CBD) as an Adjunctive Therapy in Schizophrenia: A Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial. *Am J Psychiatry*, **175** (3), 225-31.
- McKinney, M. K. & Cravatt, B. E. (2005). Structure and function of fatty acid amide hydrolase. *Annu Rev Biochem*, **74**, 411-32.
- McMeens, R. R. (1856). Cannabis indica in convulsions. Western Lancet, 327-31.
- McMeens, R. R. (1860). *Report of the Ohio State Medical Committee on Cannabis indica*. White Sulphur Springs, OH: Ohio State Medical Society.
- McMillin, G. A. & Krasowski, M. D. (2016). Therapeutic drug monitoring of newer antiepileptic drugs. In: Clarke, W. & Dasgupta, A. (eds.) Clinical Challenges in Therapeutic Drug Monitoring. San Diego: Elsevier.
- Meador, K. J., Gilliam, F. G., Kanner, A. M. & Pellock, J. M. (2001). Cognitive and behavioral effects of antiepileptic drugs. *Epilepsy Behav*, **2** (4), SS1-SS17.
- Mecha, M., Feliu, A., Inigo, P. M., Mestre, L., Carrillo-Salinas, F. J. & Guaza, C. (2013). Cannabidiol provides long-lasting protection against the deleterious effects of inflammation in a viral model of multiple sclerosis: a role for A2A receptors. *Neurobiol Dis*, **59**, 141-50.
- Mei, P. A., Montenegro, M. A., Guerreiro, M. M. & Guerreiro, C. A. (2006). Pharmacovigilance in epileptic patients using antiepileptic drugs. Arq Neuropsiquiatr, 64 (2A), 198-201.
- Meldrum, B. (1980). Mechanism of action of valproate. Brain Research Bulletin, 5, 579-584.
- Meldrum, B. S. (1989). GABAergic mechanisms in the pathogenesis and treatment of epilepsy. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, **27 Suppl 1**, 3s-11s.
- Meldrum, B. S., Akbar, M. T. & Chapman, A. G. (1999). Glutamate receptors and transporters in genetic and acquired models of epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res*, **36** (2-3), 189-204.
- Mendez, M. F., Cummings, J. L. & Benson, D. F. (1986). Depression in epilepsy. Significance and phenomenology. *Arch Neurol*, **43** (8), 766-73.
- Merritt, H. & Putnam, T. J. (1938). Sodium diphenyl hydantoinate in the treatment of convulsive disorders. *JAMA*, **111** (12), 1068-73.
- Meunier, H., Carraz, G., Neunier, Y., Eymard, P. & Aimard, M. (1963). [Pharmacodynamic properties of N-dipropylacetic acid]. *Therapie*, **18**, 435-8.
- Michel, K. E., Sorenmo, K. & Shofer, F. S. (2004). Evaluation of body condition and weight loss in dogs presented to a veterinary oncology service. *J Vet Intern Med*, **18** (5), 692-5.
- Miller, A. R., Hawkins, N. A., McCollom, C. E. & Kearney, J. A. (2014). Mapping genetic modifiers of survival in a mouse model of Dravet syndrome. *Genes, brain, and behavior*, 13 (2), 163-72.
- Miller, J. (1991). Reaction time analysis with outlier exclusion: bias varies with sample size. *Q J Exp Psychol A*, **43** (4), 907-12.

- Miller, L. A., Mothakunnel, A., Flanagan, E., Nikpour, A. & Thayer, Z. (2017). Accelerated Long Term Forgetting in patients with focal seizures: Incidence rate and contributing factors. *Epilepsy Behav*, **72**, 108-13.
- Min, R., Di Marzo, V. & Mansvelder, H. D. (2010). DAG lipase involvement in depolarization-induced suppression of inhibition: Does endocannabinoid biosynthesis always meet the demand? *Neuroscientist*, **16** (6), 608-13.
- Mines, M. A., Yuskaitis, C. J., King, M. K., Beurel, E. & Jope, R. S. (2010). GSK3 influences social preference and anxiety-related behaviors during social interaction in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome and autism. *PloS one*, **5** (3), e9706.
- Modebadze, T., Morgan, N. H., Peres, I. A., Hadid, R. D., Amada, N., Hill, C., Williams, C., Stanford, I. M., Morris, C. M., Jones, R. S., Whalley, B. J. & Woodhall, G. L. (2016).
 A Low Mortality, High Morbidity Reduced Intensity Status Epilepticus (RISE) Model of Epilepsy and Epileptogenesis in the Rat. *PLoS One*, **11** (2), e0147265.
- Moore, S. J., Turnpenny, P., Quinn, A., Glover, S., Lloyd, D. J., Montgomery, T. & Dean, J. C. (2000). A clinical study of 57 children with fetal anticonvulsant syndromes. *J Med Genet*, **37** (7), 489-97.
- Moreira, F. A., Aguiar, D. C. & Guimaraes, F. S. (2006). Anxiolytic-like effect of cannabidiol in the rat Vogel conflict test. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, **30** (8), 1466-71.
- Morgan, C. J., Gardener, C., Schafer, G., Swan, S., Demarchi, C., Freeman, T. P., Warrington, P., Rupasinghe, I., Ramoutar, A., Tan, N., Wingham, G., Lewis, S. & Curran, H. V. (2012). Sub-chronic impact of cannabinoids in street cannabis on cognition, psychotic-like symptoms and psychological well-being. *Psychol Med*, 42 (2), 391-400.
- Morgan, C. J., Schafer, G., Freeman, T. P. & Curran, H. V. (2010). Impact of cannabidiol on the acute memory and psychotomimetic effects of smoked cannabis: naturalistic study: naturalistic study [corrected]. *Br J Psychiatry*, **197** (4), 285-90.
- Morimoto, M., Shimakawa, S., Hashimoto, T., Kitaoka, T. & Kyotani, S. (2018). Marked efficacy of combined three-drug therapy (Sodium Valproate, Topiramate and Stiripentol) in a patient with Dravet syndrome. *J Clin Pharm Ther*, **43** (4), 571-3.
- Mueller, C. J., Bankstahl, M., Groeticke, I. & Loescher, W. (2009). Pilocarpine vs. lithiumpilocarpine for induction of status epilepticus in mice: development of spontaneous seizures, behavioral alterations and neuronal damage. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **619** (1-3), 15-24.
- Mulligan, C. K. & Trauner, D. A. (2014). Incidence and behavioral correlates of epileptiform abnormalities in autism spectrum disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord*, **44** (2), 452-8.
- Murphy, M., Mills, S., Winstone, J., Leishman, E., Wager-Miller, J., Bradshaw, H. & Mackie, K. (2017). Chronic Adolescent Delta(9)-Tetrahydrocannabinol Treatment of Male Mice Leads to Long-Term Cognitive and Behavioral Dysfunction, Which Are Prevented by Concurrent Cannabidiol Treatment. *Cannabis Cannabinoid Res*, 2 (1), 235-46.
- Murray, R., Boss-Williams, K. A. & Weiss, J. M. (2013). Effects of chronic mild stress on rats selectively bred for behavior related to bipolar disorder and depression. *Physiol Behav*, **119**, 115-29.
- Naderi, N., Ahmad-Molaei, L., Aziz Ahari, F. & Motamedi, F. (2011). Modulation of anticonvulsant effects of cannabinoid compounds by GABA-A receptor agonist in acute pentylenetetrazole model of seizure in rat. *Neurochem Res*, **36** (8), 1520-5.
- Naderi, N., Aziz Ahari, F., Shafaghi, B., Najarkolaei, A. H. & Motamedi, F. (2008). Evaluation of interactions between cannabinoid compounds and diazepam in electroshock-induced seizure model in mice. *J Neural Transm*, **115** (11), 1501-11.

- Naderi, N., Shafieirad, E., Lakpoor, D., Rahimi, A. & Mousavi, Z. (2015). Interaction between cannabinoid compounds and capsazepine in protection against acute pentylenetetrazole-induced seizure in mice. *Iran J Pharm Res*, **14** (Suppl), 115-20.
- Nau, A. L., Mwape, K. E., Wiefek, J., Schmidt, K., Abatih, E., Dorny, P., Praet, N., Chiluba, C., Schmidt, H., Phiri, I. K., Winkler, A. S., Gabriel, S. & Blocher, J. (2018). Cognitive impairment and quality of life of people with epilepsy and neurocysticercosis in Zambia. *Epilepsy Behav*, 80, 354-9.
- Naydenov, A. V., Horne, E. A., Cheah, C. S., Swinney, K., Hsu, K. L., Cao, J. K., Marrs, W. R., Blankman, J. L., Tu, S., Cherry, A. E., Fung, S., Wen, A., Li, W., Saporito, M. S., Selley, D. E., Cravatt, B. F., Oakley, J. C. & Stella, N. (2014). ABHD6 blockade exerts antiepileptic activity in PTZ-induced seizures and in spontaneous seizures in R6/2 Mice. *Neuron*, 83 (2), 361-71.
- Niemeyer, M. I., Yusef, Y. R., Cornejo, I., Flores, C. A., Sepulveda, F. V. & Cid, L. P. (2004). Functional evaluation of human ClC-2 chloride channel mutations associated with idiopathic generalized epilepsies. *Physiol Genomics*, **19** (1), 74-83.
- Nobile, C., Michelucci, R., Andreazza, S., Pasini, E., Tosatto, S. C. & Striano, P. (2009). LGI1 mutations in autosomal dominant and sporadic lateral temporal epilepsy. *Hum Mutat*, **30** (4), 530-6.
- O'Shaughnessy, W. B. (1840). On the preparations of the Indian hemp, or gunjah (Cannabis indica). *Transactions of the Medical and Physical Society of Bengal* 71-102.
- O'Sullivan, S. E., Kendall, D. A. & Randall, M. D. (2009). Time-dependent vascular effects of Endocannabinoids mediated by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma). *PPAR Res*, **2009**, 425289.
- Ogiwara, I., Miyamoto, H., Morita, N., Atapour, N., Mazaki, E., Inoue, I., Takeuchi, T., Itohara, S., Yanagawa, Y., Obata, K., Furuichi, T., Hensch, T. K. & Yamakawa, K. (2007). Nav1.1 localizes to axons of parvalbumin-positive inhibitory interneurons: a circuit basis for epileptic seizures in mice carrying an Scn1a gene mutation. J Neurosci, 27 (22), 5903-14.
- Ohno-Shosaku, T., Matsui, M., Fukudome, Y., Shosaku, J., Tsubokawa, H., Taketo, M. M., Manabe, T. & Kano, M. (2003). Postsynaptic M1 and M3 receptors are responsible for the muscarinic enhancement of retrograde endocannabinoid signalling in the hippocampus. *Eur J Neurosci*, **18** (1), 109-16.
- Okamoto, Y., Morishita, J., Tsuboi, K., Tonai, T. & Ueda, N. (2004). Molecular characterization of a phospholipase D generating anandamide and its congeners. *J Biol Chem*, **279** (7), 5298-305.
- Olivieri, G., Battaglia, D., Chieffo, D., Rubbino, R., Ranalli, D., Contaldo, I., Dravet, C., Mercuri, E. & Guzzetta, F. (2016). Cognitive-behavioral profiles in teenagers with Dravet syndrome. *Brain Dev*, **38** (6), 554-62.
- Olsen, T. S. (2001). Post-stroke epilepsy. Curr Atheroscler Rep, 3 (4), 340-4.
- Olton, D. S. (1979). Mazes, maps, and memory. Am Psychol, 34 (7), 583-96.
- Osborne, A. L. & Solowij, N. (2017). Improved Social Interaction, Recognition and Working Memory with Cannabidiol Treatment in a Prenatal Infection (poly I:C) Rat Model. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **42** (7), 1447-57.
- Ottman, R. & Lipton, R. B. (1994). Comorbidity of migraine and epilepsy. *Neurology*, **44** (11), 2105-10.
- Ottman, R., Lipton, R. B., Ettinger, A. B., Cramer, J. A., Reed, M. L., Morrison, A. & Wan, G. J. (2011). Comorbidities of epilepsy: Results from the Epilepsy Comorbidities and Health (EPIC) survey. *Epilepsia*, **52** (2), 308-15.

- Pack, A. M., Olarte, L. S., Morrell, M. J., Flaster, E., Resor, S. R. & Shane, E. (2003). Bone mineral density in an outpatient population receiving enzyme-inducing antiepileptic drugs. *Epilepsy Behav*, 4 (2), 169-74.
- Panayiotopoulos, C. P. (2005). *The Epilepsies: Seizures, Syndromes and Management*. Oxfordshire, UK: Bladon Medical Publishing.
- Paracelsus (1933). Von den hinfallenden siechtagen. In: Sudfhoff, v. k. (ed.) Abteilung, medizinische naturwissenschaftlische und philosophische schriften. Munich-Berlin: Oldenbourg.
- Pascalicchio, T. F., de Araujo Filho, G. M., da Silva Noffs, M. H., Lin, K., Caboclo, L. O., Vidal-Dourado, M., Ferreira Guilhoto, L. M. & Yacubian, E. M. (2007). Neuropsychological profile of patients with juvenile myoclonic epilepsy: a controlled study of 50 patients. *Epilepsy Behav*, **10** (2), 263-7.
- Patel, S. & Hillard, C. J. (2001). Cannabinoid CB(1) receptor agonists produce cerebellar dysfunction in mice. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **297** (2), 629-37.
- Patra, P. H., Barker-Haliski, M., White, H. S., Whalley, B. J., Glyn, S., Sandhu, H., Jones, N., Bazelot, M., Williams, C. M. & McNeish, A. J. (2018). Cannabidiol reduces seizures and associated behavioral comorbidities in a range of animal seizure and epilepsy models. *Epilepsia*, **0** (0).
- Payandemehr, B., Ebrahimi, A., Gholizadeh, R., Rahimian, R., Varastehmoradi, B., Gooshe, M., Aghaei, H. N., Mousavizadeh, K. & Dehpour, A. R. (2015). Involvement of PPAR receptors in the anticonvulsant effects of a cannabinoid agonist, WIN 55,212-2. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 57, 140-5.
- Pazos, M. R., Cinquina, V., Gomez, A., Layunta, R., Santos, M., Fernandez-Ruiz, J. & Martinez-Orgado, J. (2012). Cannabidiol administration after hypoxia-ischemia to newborn rats reduces long-term brain injury and restores neurobehavioral function. *Neuropharmacology*, 63 (5), 776-83.
- Pearson, J. N., Schulz, K. M. & Patel, M. (2014). Specific alterations in the performance of learning and memory tasks in models of chemoconvulsant-induced status epilepticus. *Epilepsy Res*, **108** (6), 1032-40.
- Peres, F. F., Diana, M. C., Suiama, M. A., Justi, V., Almeida, V., Bressan, R. A., Zuardi, A. W., Hallak, J. E., Crippa, J. A. & Abilio, V. C. (2016). Peripubertal treatment with cannabidiol prevents the emergence of psychosis in an animal model of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, **172** (1), 220-1.
- Perry, C., Finch, P., Muller-Taubenberger, A., Warren, E., Oddy, J., Sharma, D., Patra, P. H., Glyn, S., Boberska, J., Stewart, B., Baldwin, A., Piscitelli, F., Harvey, R., Harwood, A., Thompson, C., Claus, S., Williams, C., McNeish, A. J., Whalley, B. & Williams, R. S. B. (unpublished work). Cannabis insights to a therapeutic mechanism in epilepsy treatment, from amoeba to mammals.
- Pertwee, R. G. (2006). The pharmacology of cannabinoid receptors and their ligands: An overview. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, **30 Suppl 1**, S13-S18.
- Pertwee, R. G. (2008). Ligands that target cannabinoid receptors in the brain: from THC to anandamide and beyond. *Addict Biol*, **13** (2), 147-59.
- Perucca, P., Carter, J., Vahle, V. & Gilliam, F. G. (2009). Adverse antiepileptic drug effects: toward a clinically and neurobiologically relevant taxonomy. *Neurology*, **72** (14), 1223-9.
- Peterson, M. E., Castellano, C. A. & Rishniw, M. (2016). Evaluation of body weight, body condition, and muscle condition in cats with hyperthyroidism. J Vet Intern Med, 30 (6), 1780-9.

- Philpott, H. T., O'Brien, M. & McDougall, J. J. (2017). Attenuation of early phase inflammation by cannabidiol prevents pain and nerve damage in rat osteoarthritis. *Pain*, **158** (12), 2442-51.
- Pirkner, E. H. (1929). Epilepsy in the light of history. Annals of Medical History, 1, 453-80.
- Pitkanen, A. & Lukasiuk, K. (2011). Mechanisms of epileptogenesis and potential treatment targets. *Lancet Neurol*, **10** (2), 173-86.
- Plioplys, S. (2003). Depression in children and adolescents with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, **4**, S39-S45.
- Pomeroy, S. L., Holmes, S. J., Dodge, P. R. & Feigin, R. D. (1990). Seizures and other neurologic sequelae of bacterial meningitis in children. N Engl J Med, 323 (24), 1651-7.
- Poolos, N. P. & Johnston, D. (2012). Dendritic ion channelopathy in acquired epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **53 Suppl 9** (Suppl 9), 32-40.
- Potschka, H., Soerensen, J., Pekcec, A., Loureiro, A. & Soares-da-Silva, P. (2014). Effect of eslicarbazepine acetate in the corneal kindling progression and the amygdala kindling model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res*, **108** (2), 212-22.
- Pravdicz-Neminski, V. V. (1912). Ein versuch der registrierung der elektrischen Gehirnerscheinungen. Zbl Physiol 27, 951–60.
- Prescott, W. R., Gold, L. H. & Martin, B. R. (1992). Evidence for separate neuronal mechanisms for the discriminative stimulus and catalepsy induced by delta 9-THC in the rat. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **107** (1), 117-24.
- Prichard, J. C. (1828). A treatise on diseases of the nervous System, part the first London: Octavo.
- Prkachin, K. M. (1992). The consistency of facial expressions of pain: a comparison across modalities. *Pain*, **51** (3), 297-306.
- Racine, R. J. (1972). Modification of seizure activity by electrical stimulation: II. Motor seizure. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, **32** (3), 281-94.
- Radwan, M. M., ElSohly, M. A., Slade, D., Ahmed, S. A., Khan, I. A. & Ross, S. A. (2009).
 Biologically active cannabinoids from high-potency Cannabis sativa. *J Nat Prod*, 72 (5), 906-11.
- Rai, D., Kerr, M. P., McManus, S., Jordanova, V., Lewis, G. & Brugha, T. S. (2012). Epilepsy and psychiatric comorbidity: a nationally representative population-based study. *Epilepsia*, 53 (6), 1095-103.
- Rajesh, M., Mukhopadhyay, P., Bátkai, S., Patel, V., Saito, K., Matsumoto, S., Kashiwaya, Y., Horváth, B., Mukhopadhyay, B., Becker, L., Haskó, G., Liaudet, L., Wink, D. A., Veves, A., Mechoulam, R. & Pacher, P. (2010). Cannabidiol attenuates cardiac dysfunction, oxidative stress, fibrosis, and inflammatory and cell death signaling pathways in diabetic cardiomyopathy. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, **56** (25), 2115-25.
- Ramaekers, J. G., Kauert, G., van Ruitenbeek, P., Theunissen, E. L., Schneider, E. & Moeller, M. R. (2006). High-potency marijuana impairs executive function and inhibitory motor control. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **31** (10), 2296-303.
- Ramer, R., Bublitz, K., Freimuth, N., Merkord, J., Rohde, H., Haustein, M., Borchert, P., Schmuhl, E., Linnebacher, M. & Hinz, B. (2012). Cannabidiol inhibits lung cancer cell invasion and metastasis via intercellular adhesion molecule-1. *FASEB J*, 26 (4), 1535-48.
- Rasalam, A. D., Hailey, H., Williams, J. H., Moore, S. J., Turnpenny, P. D., Lloyd, D. J. & Dean, J. C. (2005). Characteristics of fetal anticonvulsant syndrome associated autistic disorder. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, **47** (8), 551-5.
- Realmuto, S., Zummo, L., Cerami, C., Agro, L., Dodich, A., Canessa, N., Zizzo, A., Fierro, B. & Daniele, O. (2015). Social cognition dysfunctions in patients with epilepsy:

Evidence from patients with temporal lobe and idiopathic generalized epilepsies. *Epilepsy Behav*, **47**, 98-103.

- Reijs, R. P., de la Parra, N. M., van Mil, S. G. M., van Hall, M. H. J. A., Arends, J. B. A. M., Weber, J. W., Renier, W. O. & Aldenkamp, A. P. (2010). Motor function in children with cryptogenic localization related epilepsy. *Seizure*, **19** (8), 467-9.
- Reilly, C., Atkinson, P., Das, K. B., Chin, R. F., Aylett, S. E., Burch, V., Gillberg, C., Scott, R. C. & Neville, B. G. (2014). Neurobehavioral comorbidities in children with active epilepsy: a population-based study. *Pediatrics*, **133** (6), e1586-93.
- Reus, G. Z., Stringari, R. B., Ribeiro, K. F., Luft, T., Abelaira, H. M., Fries, G. R., Aguiar, B.
 W., Kapczinski, F., Hallak, J. E., Zuardi, A. W., Crippa, J. A. & Quevedo, J. (2011).
 Administration of cannabidiol and imipramine induces antidepressant-like effects in the forced swimming test and increases brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in the rat amygdala. *Acta Neuropsychiatr*, 23 (5), 241-8.
- Reynolds, J. R. (1861). *Epilepsy: its symptoms, treatment, and relation to other chronic convulsive diseases* London: John Churchill.
- Reynolds, J. R. (1868). Therapeutical uses and toxic effects of Cannabis indica. *Lancet*, **1**, 637-8.
- Riccio, C. A. & Vidrine, S. M. (2017). Neurocognitive and behavioral profiles of children with Landau-Kleffner syndrome. *Appl Neuropsychol Child*, **6** (4), 345-54.
- Richardson, E. J., Griffith, H. R., Martin, R. C., Paige, A. L., Stewart, C. C., Jones, J., Hermann, B. P. & Seidenberg, M. (2007). Structural and functional neuroimaging correlates of depression in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, **10** (2), 242-9.
- Riedel, G., Fadda, P., McKillop-Smith, S., Pertwee, R. G., Platt, B. & Robinson, L. (2009). Synthetic and plant-derived cannabinoid receptor antagonists show hypophagic properties in fasted and non-fasted mice. *Br J Pharmacol*, **156** (7), 1154-66.
- Riikonen, R. (1996). Long-term otucome of West syndrome: a study of adults with a history of infantile spasms. *Epilepsia*, **37** (4), 367-72.
- Rilstone, J. J., Coelho, F. M., Minassian, B. A. & Andrade, D. M. (2012). Dravet syndrome: seizure control and gait in adults with different SCN1A mutations. *Epilepsia*, **53** (8), 1421-8.
- Ristić, A. J., Vojvodić, N., Janković, S., Sindelić, A. & Sokić, D. (2006). The frequency of reversible parkinsonism and cognitive decline associated with valproate treatment: a study of 364 patients with different types of epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **47** (12), 2183-5.
- Roche, J. R., Berry, D. P. & Kolver, E. S. (2006). Holstein-Friesian strain and feed effects on milk production, body weight, and body condition score profiles in grazing dairy cows. *J Dairy Sci*, **89** (9), 3532-43.
- Rock, E. M., Limebeer, C. L. & Parker, L. A. (2015). Effect of combined doses of Delta(9)tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and cannabidiolic acid (CBDA) on acute and anticipatory nausea using rat (Sprague- Dawley) models of conditioned gaping. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 232 (24), 4445-54.
- Rock, E. M., Limebeer, C. L. & Parker, L. A. (2018). Effect of cannabidiolic acid and (9)tetrahydrocannabinol on carrageenan-induced hyperalgesia and edema in a rodent model of inflammatory pain. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 235 (11), 3259-71.
- Rodda, J. M., Scheffer, I. E., McMahon, J. M., Berkovic, S. F. & Graham, H. K. (2012). Progressive gait deterioration in adolescents with Dravet syndrome. *Arch Neurol*, 69 (7), 873-8.
- Roebling, R., Scheerer, N., Uttner, I., Gruber, O., Kraft, E. & Lerche, H. (2009). Evaluation of cognition, structural, and functional MRI in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 50 (11), 2456-65.

- Rog, D. J., Nurmikko, T. J. & Young, C. A. (2007). Oromucosal delta9tetrahydrocannabinol/cannabidiol for neuropathic pain associated with multiple sclerosis: an uncontrolled, open-label, 2-year extension trial. *Clin Ther*, **29** (9), 2068-79.
- Romanelli, M. F., Morris, J. C., Ashkin, K. & Coben, L. A. (1990). Advanced Alzheimer's disease is a risk factor for late-onset seizures. *Arch Neurol*, 47 (8), 847-50.
- Ronen, G. M., Rosales, T. O., Connolly, M., Anderson, V. E. & Leppert, M. (1993). Seizure characteristics in chromosome 20 benign familial neonatal convulsions. *Neurology*, 43 (7), 1355-60.
- Rosander, C. & Hallbook, T. (2015). Dravet syndrome in Sweden: a population-based study. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, **57** (7), 628-33.
- Rosenberg, E. C., Louik, J., Conway, E., Devinsky, O. & Friedman, D. (2017a). Quality of Life in Childhood Epilepsy in pediatric patients enrolled in a prospective, open-label clinical study with cannabidiol. *Epilepsia*, **58** (8), e96-e100.
- Rosenberg, E. C., Patra, P. H. & Whalley, B. J. (2017b). Therapeutic effects of cannabinoids in animal models of seizures, epilepsy, epileptogenesis, and epilepsy-related neuroprotection. *Epilepsy Behav*, **70** (Pt B), 319-27.
- Ross, R. A. (2003). Anandamide and vanilloid TRPV1 receptors. *Br J Pharmacol*, **140** (5), 790-801.
- Rossi, P. G., Parmeggiani, A., Bach, V., Santucci, M. & Visconti, P. (1995). EEG features and epilepsy in patients with autism. *Brain Dev*, **17** (3), 169-74.
- Rosso, I. M., Cintron, C. M., Steingard, R. J., Renshaw, P. F., Young, A. D. & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2005). Amygdala and hippocampus volumes in pediatric major depression. *Biol Psychiatry*, 57 (1), 21-6.
- Rowan, A. J. (2005). Epilepsy in older adults. Common morbidities influence development, treatment strategies, and expected outcomes. *Geriatrics*, **60** (12), 30-2, 34.
- Rowley, H. L., Martin, K. F. & Marsden, C. A. (1995). Decreased GABA release following tonic-clonic seizures is associated with an increase in extracellular glutamate in rat hippocampus in vivo. *Neuroscience*, 68 (2), 415-22.
- Rozen, T. D. (2011). Juvenile myoclonic epilepsy presenting as a new daily persistent-like headache. *J Headache Pain*, **12** (6), 645-7.
- Rundfeldt, C. (1997). The new anticonvulsant retigabine (D-23129) acts as an opener of K+ channels in neuronal cells. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **336** (2-3), 243-9.
- Russo, E. B., Burnett, A., Hall, B. & Parker, K. K. (2005). Agonistic properties of cannabidiol at 5-HT1a receptors. *Neurochem Res*, **30** (8), 1037-43.
- Russo, M., Naro, A., Leo, A., Sessa, E., D'Aleo, G., Bramanti, P. & Calabro, R. S. (2016). Evaluating Sativex(R) in Neuropathic Pain Management: A Clinical and Neurophysiological Assessment in Multiple Sclerosis. *Pain Med*, **17** (6), 1145-54.
- Ryan, D., Drysdale, A. J., Lafourcade, C., Pertwee, R. G. & Platt, B. (2009). Cannabidiol targets mitochondria to regulate intracellular ca 2+ levels. *J Neurosci*, **29** (7), 2053-63.
- Ryberg, E., Larsson, N., Sjögren, S., Hjorth, S., Hermansson, N. O., Leonova, J., Elebring, T., Nilsson, K., Drmota, T. & Greasley, P. J. (2007). The orphan receptor GPR55 is a novel cannabinoid receptor. *Br J Pharmacol*, **152** (7), 1092-101.
- Rzezak, P., Lima, E. M., Gargaro, A. C., Coimbra, E., de Vincentiis, S., Velasco, T. R., Leite, J. P., Busatto, G. F. & Valente, K. D. (2017). Everyday memory impairment in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy caused by hippocampal sclerosis. *Epilepsy Behav*, 69, 31-6.
- Sakauchi, M., Oguni, H., Kato, I., Osawa, M., Hirose, S., Kaneko, S., Takahashi, Y., Takayama, R. & Fujiwara, T. (2011). Retrospective multiinstitutional study of the prevalence of early death in Dravet syndrome. *Epilepsia*, **52** (6), 1144-9.

- Sales, A. J., Crestani, C. C., Guimaraes, F. S. & Joca, S. R. L. (2018). Antidepressant-like effect induced by cannabidiol is dependent on brain serotonin levels. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, **86**, 255-61.
- Salpekar, J. A. & Mishra, G. (2014). Key issues in addressing the comorbidity of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and pediatric epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, **37**, 310-5.
- Salpekar, J. A. & Mula, M. (2018). Common psychiatric comorbidities in epilepsy: How big of a problem is it? *Epilepsy Behav*, **0** (0).
- Samokhvalov, A. V., Irving, H., Mohapatra, S. & Rehm, J. (2010). Alcohol consumption, unprovoked seizures, and epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Epilepsia*, 51 (7), 1177-84.
- Sapowicz, S. A., Linder, D. E. & Freeman, L. M. (2016). Body condition scores and evaluation of feeding habits of dogs and cats at a low cost veterinary clinic and a general practice. *ScientificWorldJournal*, **2016**, 1901679.
- Sarne, Y., Toledano, R., Rachmany, L., Sasson, E. & Doron, R. (2018). Reversal of agerelated cognitive impairments in mice by an extremely low dose of tetrahydrocannabinol. *Neurobiol Aging*, 61, 177-86.
- Sarnyai, Z., Sibille, E. L., Pavlides, C., Fenster, R. J., McEwen, B. S. & Toth, M. (2000). Impaired hippocampal-dependent learning and functional abnormalities in the hippocampus in mice lacking serotonin(1A) receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97 (26), 14731-6.
- Sato, A., Mizuguchi, M. & Ikeda, K. (2013). Social interaction test: a sensitive method for examining autism-related behavioral deficits. *Protoc Exch.* URL: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/protex.2013.046</u>.
- Scharfman, H. E. (2007). The neurobiology of epilepsy. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep, 7 (4), 348-54.
- Scharfman, H. E. (2015). Chapter 17 Epilepsy. *In:* Zigmond, M. J., Rowland, L. P. & Coyle, J. T. (eds.) *Neurobiology of Brain Disorders*. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Scheffer, I. E., Berkovic, S., Capovilla, G., Connolly, M. B., French, J., Guilhoto, L., Hirsch, E., Jain, S., Mathern, G. W., Moshé, S. L., Nordli, D. R., Perucca, E., Tomson, T., Wiebe, S., Zhang, Y.-H. & Zuberi, S. M. (2017). ILAE classification of the epilepsies: Position paper of the ILAE Commission for Classification and Terminology. *Epilepsia*, **58** (4), 512-21.
- Scheffer, I. E. & Berkovic, S. F. (2003). The genetics of human epilepsy. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, **24** (8), 428-33.
- Scheffer, I. E., Bhatia, K. P., Lopes-Cendes, I., Fish, D. R., Marsden, C. D., Andermann, E., Andermann, F., Desbiens, R., Keene, D., Cendes, F. & et al. (1995). Autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy. A distinctive clinical disorder. *Brain*, **118** (**Pt 1**), 61-73.
- Schiavon, A. P., Soares, L. M., Bonato, J. M., Milani, H., Guimaraes, F. S. & Weffort de Oliveira, R. M. (2014). Protective effects of cannabidiol against hippocampal cell death and cognitive impairment induced by bilateral common carotid artery occlusion in mice. *Neurotox Res*, 26 (4), 307-16.
- Schindler, W. & Häfliger, F. (1954). Über Derivate des Iminodibenzyls. *Helv Chim Acta*, **37** (2), 472-83.
- Schipper, S., Aalbers, M. W., Rijkers, K., Lagiere, M., Bogaarts, J. G., Blokland, A., Klinkenberg, S., Hoogland, G. & Vles, J. S. (2016). Accelerated cognitive decline in a rodent model for temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, 65, 33-41.
- Schmitz, D., Empson, R. M. & Heinemann, U. (1995). Serotonin and 8-OH-DPAT reduce excitatory transmission in rat hippocampal area CA1 via reduction in presumed presynaptic Ca2+ entry. *Brain Res*, **701** (1-2), 249-54.

- Schubert, M., Siegmund, H., Pape, H. C. & Albrecht, D. (2005). Kindling-induced changes in plasticity of the rat amygdala and hippocampus. *Learn Mem*, **12** (5), 520-6.
- Schwarzer, C., Tsunashima, K., Wanzenbock, C., Fuchs, K., Sieghart, W. & Sperk, G. (1997). GABA(A) receptor subunits in the rat hippocampus II: altered distribution in kainic acid-induced temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuroscience*, **80** (4), 1001-17.
- Scott, A. J., Sharpe, L., Hunt, C. & Gandy, M. (2017). Anxiety and depressive disorders in people with epilepsy: A meta-analysis. *Epilepsia*, **58** (6), 973-82.
- Scutt, A. & Williamson, E. M. (2007). Cannabinoids stimulate fibroblastic colony formation by bone marrow cells indirectly via CB2 receptors. *Calcif Tissue Int*, **80** (1), 50-9.
- Sedy, J., Urdzikova, L., Jendelova, P. & Sykova, E. (2008). Methods for behavioral testing of spinal cord injured rats. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **32** (3), 550-80.
- Seeman, P. (2016). Cannabidiol is a partial agonist at dopamine D2High receptors, predicting its antipsychotic clinical dose. *Transl Psychiatry*, **6** (10), e920.
- Seifert, G., Schroder, W., Hinterkeuser, S., Schumacher, T., Schramm, J. & Steinhauser, C. (2002). Changes in flip/flop splicing of astroglial AMPA receptors in human temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **43 Suppl 5**, 162-7.
- Selassie, A. W., Wilson, D. A., Martz, G. U., Smith, G. G., Wagner, J. L. & Wannamaker, B.
 B. (2014). Epilepsy beyond seizure: a population-based study of comorbidities. *Epilepsy Res*, **108** (2), 305-15.
- Selvarajah, D., Gandhi, R., Emery, C. J. & Tesfaye, S. (2010). Randomized placebocontrolled double-blind clinical trial of cannabis-based medicinal product (Sativex) in painful diabetic neuropathy: depression is a major confounding factor. *Diabetes Care*, 33 (1), 128-30.
- Serova, L., Mulhall, H. & Sabban, E. (2017). NPY1 receptor agonist modulates development of depressive-like behavior and gene expression in hypothalamus in SPS rodent PTSD model. *Front Neurosci*, **11**, 203.
- Sethi, K. D. (2002). Clinical aspects of Parkinson disease. Curr Opin Neurol, 15 (4), 457-60.
- Shbiro, L., Hen-Shoval, D., Hazut, N., Rapps, K., Dar, S., Zalsman, G., Mechoulam, R., Weller, A. & Shoval, G. (2018). Effects of cannabidiol in males and females in two different rat models of depression. *Physiol Behav*, **201**, 59-63.
- Sheffler, D. J., Williams, R., Bridges, T. M., Xiang, Z., Kane, A. S., Byun, N. E., Jadhav, S., Mock, M. M., Zheng, F., Lewis, L. M., Jones, C. K., Niswender, C. M., Weaver, C. D., Lindsley, C. W. & Conn, P. J. (2009). A novel selective muscarinic acetylcholine receptor subtype 1 antagonist reduces seizures without impairing hippocampusdependent learning. *Mol Pharmacol*, **76** (2), 356-68.
- Shen, M. & Thayer, S. A. (1999). Delta9-tetrahydrocannabinol acts as a partial agonist to modulate glutamatergic synaptic transmission between rat hippocampal neurons in culture. *Mol Pharmacol*, 55 (1), 8-13.
- Shmuely, S., Sisodiya, S. M., Gunning, W. B., Sander, J. W. & Thijs, R. D. (2016). Mortality in Dravet syndrome: A review. *Epilepsy Behav*, **64** (Pt A), 69-74.
- Shoval, G., Shbiro, L., Hershkovitz, L., Hazut, N., Zalsman, G., Mechoulam, R. & Weller, A. (2016). Prohedonic effect of cannabidiol in a rat model of depression. *Neuropsychobiology*, **73** (2), 123-9.
- Shrivastava, A., Kuzontkoski, P. M., Groopman, J. E. & Prasad, A. (2011). Cannabidiol induces programmed cell death in breast cancer cells by coordinating the cross-talk between apoptosis and autophagy. *Mol Cancer Ther*, **10** (7), 1161-72.
- Shubina, L., Aliev, R. & Kitchigina, V. (2015). Attenuation of kainic acid-induced status epilepticus by inhibition of endocannabinoid transport and degradation in guinea pigs. *Epilepsy Res*, **111**, 33-44.
- Sieveking, E. H. (1857). Analysis of fifty-two cases of epilepsy. *Med Chir Trans*, 40, 527-8.

- Smolders, I., Khan, G. M., Manil, J., Ebinger, G. & Michotte, Y. (1997). NMDA receptormediated pilocarpine-induced seizures: Characterization in freely moving rats by microdialysis. *Br J Pharmacol*, **121** (6), 1171-9.
- Soares Vde, P., Campos, A. C., Bortoli, V. C., Zangrossi, H., Jr., Guimaraes, F. S. & Zuardi, A. W. (2010). Intra-dorsal periaqueductal gray administration of cannabidiol blocks panic-like response by activating 5-HT1A receptors. *Behav Brain Res*, 213 (2), 225-9.
- Sofia, R. D., Vassar, H. B. & Knobloch, L. C. (1975). Comparative analgesic activity of various naturally occurring cannabinoids in mice and rats. *Psychopharmacologia*, 40 (4), 285-95.
- Sonego, A. B., Gomes, F. V., Del Bel, E. A. & Guimaraes, F. S. (2016). Cannabidiol attenuates haloperidol-induced catalepsy and c-Fos protein expression in the dorsolateral striatum via 5-HT1A receptors in mice. *Behav Brain Res*, **309**, 22-8.
- Staley, K. (2015). Molecular mechanisms of epilepsy. Nat Neurosci, 18 (3), 367-72.
- Stempel, A. V., Stumpf, A., Zhang, H. Y., Özdoğan, T., Pannasch, U., Theis, A. K., Otte, D. M., Wojtalla, A., Rácz, I., Ponomarenko, A., Xi, Z. X., Zimmer, A. & Schmitz, D. (2016). Cannabinoid type 2 receptors mediate a cell type-specific plasticity in the hippocampus. *Neuron*, **90** (4), 795-809.
- Stores, G., Williams, P. L., Styles, E. & Zaiwalla, Z. (1992). Psychological effects of sodium valproate and carbamazepine in epilepsy. *Arch Dis Child*, **67** (11), 1330-7.
- Sugiura, T., Kondo, S., Kishimoto, S., Miyashita, T., Nakane, S., Kodaka, T., Suhara, Y., Takayama, H. & Waku, K. (2000). Evidence that 2-arachidonoylglycerol but not Npalmitoylethanolamine or anandamide is the physiological ligand for the cannabinoid CB2 receptor. Comparison of the agonistic activities of various cannabinoid receptor ligands in HL-60 cells. *J Biol Chem*, **275** (1), 605-12.
- Svob Strac, D., Pivac, N., Smolders, I. J., Fogel, W. A., De Deurwaerdere, P. & Di Giovanni, G. (2016). Monoaminergic mechanisms in epilepsy may offer innovative therapeutic opportunity for monoaminergic multi-target drugs. *Front Neurosci*, **10**, 492.
- Szot, P., Weinshenker, D., White, S. S., Robbins, C. A., Rust, N. C., Schwartzkroin, P. A. & Palmiter, R. D. (1999). Norepinephrine-deficient mice have increased susceptibility to seizure-inducing stimuli. *J Neurosci*, **19** (24), 10985-92.
- Takeuchi, A. & Onodera, K. (1972). Effect of bicuculline on the GABA receptor of the crayfish neuromuscular junction. *Nat New Biol*, **236**, 55-6.
- Takumi, Y., Bergersen, L., Landsend, A. S., Rinvik, E. & Ottersen, O. P. (1998). Synaptic arrangement of glutamate receptors. *Prog Brain Res*, **116**, 105-21.
- Tatulian, L. & Brown, D. A. (2003). Effect of the KCNQ potassium channel opener retigabine on single KCNQ2/3 channels expressed in CHO cells. *J Physiol*, 549 (Pt 1), 57-63.
- Tekle-Haimanot, R., Abebe, M., Forsgren, L., Gebre-Mariam, A., Heijbel, J., Holmgren, G. & Ekstedt, J. (1991). Attitudes of rural people in central Ethiopia towards epilepsy. *Soc Sci Med*, **32** (2), 203-9.
- Tellez-Zenteno, J. F., Matijevic, S. & Wiebe, S. (2005). Somatic comorbidity of epilepsy in the general population in Canada. *Epilepsia*, **46** (12), 1955-62.
- Tellez-Zenteno, J. F., Patten, S. B., Jette, N., Williams, J. & Wiebe, S. (2007). Psychiatric comorbidity in epilepsy: a population-based analysis. *Epilepsia*, **48** (12), 2336-44.
- Temkin, O. (1945). The falling sickness. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Thapa, D., Cairns, E. A., Szczesniak, A. M., Toguri, J. T., Caldwell, M. D. & Kelly, M. E. M. (2018). The cannabinoids delta(8)THC, CBD, and HU-308 act via distinct receptors to reduce corneal pain and inflammation. *Cannabis Cannabinoid Res*, 3 (1), 11-20.
- Thiele, E. A., Marsh, E. D., French, J. A., Mazurkiewicz-Beldzinska, M., Benbadis, S. R., Joshi, C., Lyons, P. D., Taylor, A., Roberts, C. & Sommerville, K. (2018).

Cannabidiol in patients with seizures associated with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome (GWPCARE4): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet*, **391** (10125), 1085-96.

- Thomas, A., Baillie, G. L., Phillips, A. M., Razdan, R. K., Ross, R. A. & Pertwee, R. G. (2007). Cannabidiol displays unexpectedly high potency as an antagonist of CB1 and CB2 receptor agonists in vitro. *Br J Pharmacol*, **150** (5), 613-23.
- Thomas, B. F., Gilliam, A. F., Burch, D. F., Roche, M. J. & Seltzman, H. H. (1998). Comparative receptor binding analyses of cannabinoid agonists and antagonists. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 285 (1), 285-92.
- Thomas, R. H. & Berkovic, S. F. (2014). The hidden genetics of epilepsy-a clinically important new paradigm. *Nat Rev Neurol*, **10** (5), 283-92.
- Thome-Souza, S., Kuczynski, E., Assumpcao, F., Jr., Rzezak, P., Fuentes, D., Fiore, L. & Valente, K. D. (2004). Which factors may play a pivotal role on determining the type of psychiatric disorder in children and adolescents with epilepsy? *Epilepsy Behav*, 5 (6), 988-94.
- Thompson, S. M. & Gahwiler, B. H. (1992). Effects of the GABA uptake inhibitor tiagabine on inhibitory synaptic potentials in rat hippocampal slice cultures. *J Neurophysiol*, 67 (6), 1698-701.
- Thurman, D. J., Beghi, E., Begley, C. E., Berg, A. T., Buchhalter, J. R., Ding, D., Hesdorffer, D. C., Hauser, W. A., Kazis, L., Kobau, R., Kroner, B., Labiner, D., Liow, K., Logroscino, G., Medina, M. T., Newton, C. R., Parko, K., Paschal, A., Preux, P. M., Sander, J. W., Selassie, A., Theodore, W., Tomson, T., Wiebe, S. & Epidemiology, I. C. o. (2011). Standards for epidemiologic studies and surveillance of epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **52 Suppl 7**, 2-26.
- Tissot, S. A. (1770). Traité de l'épilepsie, faisant le tome troisième du traité des nerfs et de leurs maladies. Paris: P.F. Didot.
- Titiz, A. S., Mahoney, J. M., Testorf, M. E., Holmes, G. L. & Scott, R. C. (2014). Cognitive impairment in temporal lobe epilepsy: role of online and offline processing of single cell information. *Hippocampus*, 24 (9), 1129-45.
- Toman, J. E. P., Everett, G. M. & Richards, R. M. (1952). The search for new drugs against epilepsy. *Texas Reports on Biology & Medicine*, **10**, 96-104.
- Treiman, D. M. (2001). GABAergic mechanisms in epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **42 Suppl 3**, 8-12.
- Trinka, E., Cock, H., Hesdorffer, D., Rossetti, A. O., Scheffer, I. E., Shinnar, S., Shorvon, S. & Lowenstein, D. H. (2015). A definition and classification of status epilepticus--Report of the ILAE Task Force on Classification of Status Epilepticus. *Epilepsia*, 56 (10), 1515-23.
- Tsai, M. S., Lee, M. L., Chang, C. Y., Fan, H. H., Yu, I. S., Chen, Y. T., You, J. Y., Chen, C. Y., Chang, F. C., Hsiao, J. H., Khorkova, O., Liou, H. H., Yanagawa, Y., Lee, L. J. & Lin, S. W. (2015). Functional and structural deficits of the dentate gyrus network coincide with emerging spontaneous seizures in an Scn1a mutant Dravet Syndrome model during development. *Neurobiol Dis*, **77**, 35-48.
- Tuchman, R., Hirtz, D. & Mamounas, L. A. (2013). NINDS epilepsy and autism spectrum disorders workshop report. *Neurology*, **81** (18), 1630-6.
- Turri, M., Teatini, F., Donato, F., Zanette, G., Tugnoli, V., Deotto, L., Bonetti, B. & Squintani, G. (2018). Pain modulation after oromucosal cannabinoid spray (Sativex((R))) in patients with multiple sclerosis: a study with quantitative sensory testing and laser-evoked potentials. *Medicines (Basel)*, 5 (3), 59.
- Tzadok, M., Uliel-Siboni, S., Linder, I., Kramer, U., Epstein, O., Menascu, S., Nissenkorn, A., Yosef, O. B., Hyman, E., Granot, D., Dor, M., Lerman-Sagie, T. & Ben-Zeev, B.
(2016). CBD-enriched medical cannabis for intractable pediatric epilepsy: The current Israeli experience. *Seizure*, **35**, 41-4.

- Ullman-Culleré, M. H. & Foltz, C. J. (1999). Body condition scoring: a rapid and accurate method for assessing health status in mice. *Lab Anim Sci*, **49** (3), 319-23.
- Ure, J., Baudry, M. & Perassolo, M. (2006). Metabotropic glutamate receptors and epilepsy. J Neurol Sci, 247 (1), 1-9.
- Uribe-Marino, A., Francisco, A., Castiblanco-Urbina, M. A., Twardowschy, A., Salgado-Rohner, C. J., Crippa, J. A., Hallak, J. E., Zuardi, A. W. & Coimbra, N. C. (2012). Anti-aversive effects of cannabidiol on innate fear-induced behaviors evoked by an ethological model of panic attacks based on a prey vs the wild snake Epicrates cenchria crassus confrontation paradigm. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **37** (2), 412-21.
- van der Staay, F. J. (1999). Spatial working memory and reference memory of Brown Norway and WAG rats in a holeboard discrimination task. *Neurobiol Learn Mem*, **71** (1), 113-25.
- van Rijckevorsel, K. (2006). Cognitive problems related to epilepsy syndromes, especially malignant epilepsies. *Seizure*, **15** (4), 227-34.
- Vawter, M. P., De Wied, D. & Van Ree, J. M. (1997). Vasopressin fragment, AVP-(4-8), improves long-term and short-term memory in the hole board search task. *Neuropeptides*, **31** (5), 489-94.
- Vemuri, V. K. & Makriyannis, A. (2009). Endocannabinoids and Their Synthetic Analogs. *In:* Reggio, P. H. (ed.) *The Cannabinoid Receptors*. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press.
- Venderova, K., Ruzicka, E., Vorisek, V. & Visnovsky, P. (2004). Survey on cannabis use in Parkinson's disease: subjective improvement of motor symptoms. *Mov Disord*, **19** (9), 1102-6.
- Verche, E., San Luis, C. & Hernandez, S. (2018). Neuropsychology of frontal lobe epilepsy in children and adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Epilepsy Behav*, **88**, 15-20.
- Vilela, L. R., Medeiros, D. C., Rezende, G. H., de Oliveira, A. C., Moraes, M. F. & Moreira, F. A. (2013). Effects of cannabinoids and endocannabinoid hydrolysis inhibition on pentylenetetrazole-induced seizure and electroencephalographic activity in rats. *Epilepsy Res*, **104** (3), 195-202.
- Villeneuve, N., Laguitton, V., Viellard, M., Lepine, A., Chabrol, B., Dravet, C. & Milh, M. (2014). Cognitive and adaptive evaluation of 21 consecutive patients with Dravet syndrome. *Epilepsy Behav*, **31**, 143-8.
- Viscidi, E. W., Triche, E. W., Pescosolido, M. F., McLean, R. L., Joseph, R. M., Spence, S. J. & Morrow, E. M. (2013). Clinical characteristics of children with autism spectrum disorder and co-occurring epilepsy. *PLoS One*, 8 (7), e67797.
- von Rüden, E. L., Bogdanovic, R. M., Wotjak, C. T. & Potschka, H. (2015). Inhibition of monoacylglycerol lipase mediates a cannabinoid 1-receptor dependent delay of kindling progression in mice. *Neurobiol Dis*, **77**, 238-45.
- Vossen, R. (1958). Über die antikonvulsive Wirkung von Succinimiden.
- Vrinda, M., Arun, S., Srikumar, B. N., Kutty, B. M. & Shankaranarayana Rao, B. S. (2018). Temporal lobe epilepsy-induced neurodegeneration and cognitive deficits: Implications for aging. *J Chem Neuroanat*, **95**, 146-53.
- Wallace, M., Schulteis, G., Atkinson, J. H., Wolfson, T., Lazzaretto, D., Bentley, H., Gouaux, B. & Abramson, I. (2007). Dose-dependent effects of smoked cannabis on capsaicin-induced pain and hyperalgesia in healthy volunteers. *Anesthesiology*, **107** (5), 785-96.
- Wallace, M. J., Martin, B. R. & DeLorenzo, R. J. (2002). Evidence for a physiological role of endocannabinoids in the modulation of seizure threshold and severity. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **452** (3), 295-301.

- Wallace, M. J., Wiley, J. L., Martin, B. R. & DeLorenzo, R. J. (2001). Assessment of the role of CB1 receptors in cannabinoid anticonvulsant effects. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **428** (1), 51-7.
- Wallace, M. S., Marcotte, T. D., Umlauf, A., Gouaux, B. & Atkinson, J. H. (2015). Efficacy of Inhaled Cannabis on Painful Diabetic Neuropathy. *J Pain*, **16** (7), 616-27.
- Wallace, R. H., Wang, D. W., Singh, R., Scheffer, I. E., George Jr, A. L., Phillips, H. A., Saar, K., Reis, A., Johnson, E. W., Sutherland, G. R., Berkovic, S. F. & Mulley, J. C. (1998). Febrile seizures and generalized epilepsy associated with a mutation in the Na+-channel ß1 subunit gene SCN1B. *Nat Genet*, **19**, 366.
- Walsh, S. K., Hepburn, C. Y., Kane, K. A. & Wainwright, C. L. (2010). Acute administration of cannabidiol in vivo suppresses ischaemia-induced cardiac arrhythmias and reduces infarct size when given at reperfusion. 160 (5), 1234-42.
- Wandschneider, B., Burdett, J., Townsend, L., Hill, A., Thompson, P. J., Duncan, J. S. & Koepp, M. J. (2017). Effect of topiramate and zonisamide on fMRI cognitive networks. *Neurology*, 88 (12), 1165-71.
- Wang, H. J., Tan, G., Deng, Y., He, J., He, Y. J., Zhou, D. & Liu, L. (2018). Prevalence and risk factors of depression and anxiety among patients with convulsive epilepsy in rural West China. Acta Neurol Scand, 138 (6), 541-7.
- Ward, S. J., Ramirez, M. D., Neelakantan, H. & Walker, E. A. (2011). Cannabidiol prevents the development of cold and mechanical allodynia in paclitaxel-treated female C57Bl6 mice. *Anesth Analg*, **113** (4), 947-50.
- Weatherburn, C. J., Heath, C. A., Mercer, S. W. & Guthrie, B. (2017). Physical and mental health comorbidities of epilepsy: Population-based cross-sectional analysis of 1.5 million people in Scotland. *Seizure*, 45, 125-31.
- Wecker, L., Engberg, M. E., Philpot, R. M., Lambert, C. S., Kang, C. W., Antilla, J. C., Bickford, P. C., Hudson, C. E., Zesiewicz, T. A. & Rowell, P. P. (2013). Neuronal nicotinic receptor agonists improve gait and balance in olivocerebellar ataxia. *Neuropharmacology*, **73**, 75-86.
- Weinshenker, D., Szot, P., Miller, N. S., Rust, N. C., Hohmann, J. G., Pyati, U., White, S. S. & Palmiter, R. D. (2001). Genetic comparison of seizure control by norepinephrine and neuropeptide Y. *J Neurosci*, **21** (19), 7764-9.
- Weintraub, D., Buchsbaum, R., Resor, S. R., Jr. & Hirsch, L. J. (2007). Psychiatric and behavioral side effects of the newer antiepileptic drugs in adults with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*, **10** (1), 105-10.
- Weiss, L., Zeira, M., Reich, S., Har-Noy, M., Mechoulam, R., Slavin, S. & Gallily, R. (2006). Cannabidiol lowers incidence of diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice. *Autoimmunity*, **39** (2), 143-51.
- Weiss, L., Zeira, M., Reich, S., Slavin, S., Raz, I., Mechoulam, R. & Gallily, R. (2008). Cannabidiol arrests onset of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. *Neuropharmacology*, 54 (1), 244-9.
- White, H. S., Woodhead, J. H., Franklin, M. R., Swinyard, E. A. & Wolf, H. H. (1995). General principles: Experimental selection, quantification, and evaluation of antiepileptic drugs. *In:* Levy, R. H., Mattson, R. H. & Meldrum, B. S. (eds.) *Antiepileptic Drugs, Fourth Edition.* New York: Raven Press, Ltd.
- White, J. R., Walczak, T. S., Marino, S. E., Beniak, T. E., Leppik, I. E. & Birnbaum, A. K. (2010). Zonisamide discontinuation due to psychiatric and cognitive adverse events: a case-control study. *Neurology*, **75** (6), 513-8.
- WHO (2018). Epilepsy. 8 February ed.

- Wiglusz, M. S., Cubala, W. J., Galuszko-Wegielnik, M., Jakuszkowiak-Wojten, K. & Landowski, J. (2012). Mood disorders in epilepsy - diagnostic and methodological considerations. *Psychiatr Danub*, **24 Suppl 1**, S44-S50.
- Wiley, J. L., Burston, J. J., Leggett, D. C., Alekseeva, O. O., Razdan, R. K., Mahadevan, A. & Martin, B. R. (2005). CB1 cannabinoid receptor-mediated modulation of food intake in mice. *Br J Pharmacol*, **145** (3), 293-300.
- Winston, G. P., Stretton, J., Sidhu, M. K., Symms, M. R., Thompson, P. J. & Duncan, J. S. (2013). Structural correlates of impaired working memory in hippocampal sclerosis. *Epilepsia*, 54 (7), 1143-53.
- Wissel, J., Haydn, T., Muller, J., Brenneis, C., Berger, T., Poewe, W. & Schelosky, L. D. (2006). Low dose treatment with the synthetic cannabinoid Nabilone significantly reduces spasticity-related pain : a double-blind placebo-controlled cross-over trial. J Neurol, 253 (10), 1337-41.
- Wolf, D. C., Bueno-Junior, L. S., Lopes-Aguiar, C., Do Val Da Silva, R. A., Kandratavicius, L. & Leite, J. P. (2016). The frequency of spontaneous seizures in rats correlates with alterations in sensorimotor gating, spatial working memory, and parvalbumin expression throughout limbic regions. *Neuroscience*, **312**, 86-98.
- Wolfensohn, S. & Lloyd, M. (2007). Pain, Stress and Humane End Points. In: Sarah Wolfensohn, M. L. (ed.) Handbook of Laboratory Animal Management and Welfare. Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- Wolff, M., Casse-Perrot, C. & Dravet, C. (2006). Severe myoclonic epilepsy of infants (Dravet syndrome): natural history and neuropsychological findings. *Epilepsia*, 47 Suppl 2, 45-8.
- Yi, J. H. & Hazell, A. S. (2006). Excitotoxic mechanisms and the role of astrocytic glutamate transporters in traumatic brain injury. *Neurochem Int*, **48** (5), 394-403.
- Yu, F. H., Mantegazza, M., Westenbroek, R. E., Robbins, C. A., Kalume, F., Burton, K. A., Spain, W. J., McKnight, G. S., Scheuer, T. & Catterall, W. A. (2006). Reduced sodium current in GABAergic interneurons in a mouse model of severe myoclonic epilepsy in infancy. *Nat Neurosci*, 9 (9), 1142-9.
- Zaccara, G., Cincotta, M., Borgheresi, A. & Balestrieri, F. (2004). Adverse motor effects induced by antiepileptic drugs. *Epileptic Disord*, **6** (3), 153-68.
- Zaccara, G., Perucca, P., Loiacono, G., Giovannelli, F. & Verrotti, A. (2013). The adverse event profile of lacosamide: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Epilepsia*, **54** (1), 66-74.
- Zanelati, T. V., Biojone, C., Moreira, F. A., Guimaraes, F. S. & Joca, S. R. (2010). Antidepressant-like effects of cannabidiol in mice: possible involvement of 5-HT1A receptors. *Br J Pharmacol*, **159** (1), 122-8.
- Zhou, C., Lippman Bell, J. J., Sun, H. & Jensen, F. E. (2011). Hypoxia-induced neonatal seizures diminish silent synapses and long-term potentiation in hippocampal CA1 neurons. *J Neurosci*, **31** (50), 18211-22.
- Zou, S. & Kumar, U. (2018). Cannabinoid receptors and the endocannabinoid system: Signaling and function in the central nervous system. *Int J Mol Sci*, **19** (3), 833.
- Zuardi, A. W., Crippa, J. A., Hallak, J. E., Pinto, J. P., Chagas, M. H., Rodrigues, G. G., Dursun, S. M. & Tumas, V. (2009). Cannabidiol for the treatment of psychosis in Parkinson's disease. *J Psychopharmacol*, 23 (8), 979-83.

Appendix-I (Seizure vs memory correlation)



Figure I. Dot plot showing the correlation of seizure burden with memory function. No correlation was found between seizure burden and **A.** reference memory function in epileptic vehicle-treated animals. **B.** working memory function in epileptic vehicle-treated animals. **C.** reference memory function in epileptic CBD-treated animals. **D.** working memory function in epileptic CBD-treated animals. **n**=8/group; data were analysed by linear regression.

Appendix-II (Survivability model script)

Surrivului							
%%Loading GUI							
function varargout = EndpointGui2(varargin)							
gui_Singleton = 1;							
gui_State = struct('gui_Name', mfilename,							
'gui_Singleton', gui_Singleton,							
'gui_OpeningFcn', @EndpointGui2_OpeningFcn,							
'gui_OutputFcn', @EndpointGui2_OutputFcn,							
'gui_LayoutFcn', [],							
'gui_Callback', []);							
if nargin && ischar(varargin{1})							
<pre>gui_State.gui_Callback = str2func(varargin{1});</pre>							
end							
if nargout							
<pre>[varargout{1:nargout}] = gui_mainfcn(gui_State, varargin{:});</pre>							
else							
gui_mainfcn(gui_State, varargin{:});							
end							
% End initialization code - DO NOT EDIT							
% Executes just before EndpointGui2 is made visible							

% --- Executes just before EndpointGui2 is made visible.

 $function\ EndpointGui2_OpeningFcn(hObject,\ eventdata,\ handles,\ varargin)$

```
handles.output = hObject;
```

guidata(hObject, handles);

function varargout = EndpointGui2_OutputFcn(hObject, eventdata, handles)
varargout{1} = handles.output;

%% _____Objects_____

function edit1_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

function edit1_CreateFcn(hObject, eventdata, handles)

if ispc && isequal(get(hObject,'BackgroundColor'), get(0,'defaultUicontrolBackgroundColor'))

set(hObject,'BackgroundColor','white');

end

function edit2_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

function edit2_CreateFcn(hObject, eventdata, handles)

if ispc && isequal(get(hObject,'BackgroundColor'), get(0,'defaultUicontrolBackgroundColor'))

set(hObject,'BackgroundColor','white');

end

function edit3_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

function edit3_CreateFcn(hObject, eventdata, handles)

if ispc && isequal(get(hObject,'BackgroundColor'), get(0,'defaultUicontrolBackgroundColor'))

```
set(hObject,'BackgroundColor','white');
```

end

function NWSedit_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

function NWSedit_CreateFcn(hObject, eventdata, handles)

if ispc && isequal(get(hObject,'BackgroundColor'), get(0,'defaultUicontrolBackgroundColor'))

```
set(hObject,'BackgroundColor','white');
```

end

function NAedit_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

function NAedit_CreateFcn(hObject, eventdata, handles)

if ispc && isequal(get(hObject,'BackgroundColor'), get(0,'defaultUicontrolBackgroundColor')) set(hObject,'BackgroundColor','white');

end

function RTedit_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

function RTedit_CreateFcn(hObject, eventdata, handles)

```
if ispc && isequal(get(hObject,'BackgroundColor'),
get(0,'defaultUicontrolBackgroundColor'))
```

set(hObject,'BackgroundColor','white');

end

function OTedit_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

function OTedit_CreateFcn(hObject, eventdata, handles)

```
if ispc && isequal(get(hObject,'BackgroundColor'),
get(0,'defaultUicontrolBackgroundColor'))
```

set(hObject,'BackgroundColor','white');

end

function BCSedit_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

function BCSedit_CreateFcn(hObject, eventdata, handles)

if ispc && isequal(get(hObject,'BackgroundColor'), get(0,'defaultUicontrolBackgroundColor'))

set(hObject,'BackgroundColor','white');

end

function Weightcrit_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

function Weightcrit_CreateFcn(hObject, eventdata, handles)

```
if ispc && isequal(get(hObject,'BackgroundColor'),
get(0,'defaultUicontrolBackgroundColor'))
```

set(hObject,'BackgroundColor','white');

end

function BCS_checkbox_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

function OT_checkbox_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)
function RT_checkbox_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)
function NA_checkbox_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)
function NWS_checkbox_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)
function Weight_checkbox_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)
function SurfTemp_checkbox_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

%% _____Loading parameters_____

%% 1. Loading file

function Load_File_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)
function Load_xl_file_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)
%uiopen
[FileName,FilePath] = uigetfile('*.xls','File Selector');
global Param

try

cd(FilePath)

Param = xlsread(FileName);

catch

disp(strcat('you have to select a file or it does not work'))

```
end
```

%% _____Buiding model_____

function Go1_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

%% 1.Averaging values

global Param

global DeadAnimalNb

global DeadAnimalind

ind = find(Param(:,11) == 1); DeadAnimalind = []; for i = 1:length(ind) DeadAnimalind = cat(1,DeadAnimalind,Param(ind(i),1)); end

DeadAnimalNb = length(DeadAnimalind);

AvParam = Param;

```
for i = 1:max(Param(:,1))
ind = find(Param(:,1) == i);
for j = 3:8
    for k = 3:length(ind)-1
        AvParam(ind(k),j) = mean(Param(ind(k)-2:ind(k),j));
        end
    end
end
```

%% 2.Death Day

DeathDay = [];

```
for i = 1:DeadAnimalNb
ind = find(Param(:,1) == DeadAnimalind(i));
DeathDay = cat(2,DeathDay,max(Param(ind,2)));
end
```

%% 3.Death delay calculation

```
DayBefDeath = [];
AnimalN = 0;
for i = 1:max(Param(:,1))
  if isempty(find(DeadAnimalind(:) == i))
    ind = find(Param(:,1) == i);
    for j = 1:length(ind)
       DayBefDeath = cat(1,DayBefDeath,NaN);
    end
  else
    AnimalN = AnimalN + 1;
    ind = find(Param(:,1) == i);
    for j = 1:length(ind)
       DayBefDeath = cat(1,DayBefDeath,DeathDay(1,AnimalN)- Param(ind(j),2));
    end
  end
end
```

```
global Param2
```

```
Param2 = cat(2,Param(:,1),DayBefDeath,AvParam(:,4:8),Param(:,3),Param(:,9));
```

%% 3.Criterions calculation

CritMatrix = [];

global DelayParam

DelayParam = str2double(get(handles.edit2,'string'));

ind = find(Param2(:,2) == DelayParam);

global NWScrit

NWScrit = min(Param2(ind,3));

%disp(strcat('NWS criterion >= ',num2str(NWScrit)))
%set(handles.NWSedit,'string',num2str(NWScrit))
CritMatrix = cat(2,CritMatrix,Param2(ind,3));

global NAcrit

NAcrit = min(Param2(ind,4)); %disp(strcat('NA criterion >= ',num2str(NAcrit))) %set(handles.NAedit,'string',num2str(NAcrit))

CritMatrix = cat(2,CritMatrix,Param2(ind,4));

global RTcrit

RTcrit = min(Param2(ind,5)); %disp(strcat('RT criterion >= ',num2str(RTcrit))) %set(handles.RTedit,'string',num2str(RTcrit)) CritMatrix = cat(2,CritMatrix,Param2(ind,5));

global OTcrit
OTcrit = min(Param2(ind,6));
%disp(strcat('OT criterion >= ',num2str(OTcrit)))
%set(handles.OTedit,'string',num2str(OTcrit))
CritMatrix = cat(2,CritMatrix,Param2(ind,6));

global BCScrit
BCScrit = max(Param2(ind,7));
%disp(strcat('BCS criterion <= ',num2str(BCScrit)))
%set(handles.BCSedit,'string',num2str(BCScrit))
CritMatrix = cat(2,CritMatrix,Param2(ind,7));</pre>

global Weightcrit

Weightcrit = max(Param2(ind,8));

%disp(strcat('Weight criterion <= ',num2str(Weightcrit)))
%set(handles.Weightcrit,'string',num2str(Weightcrit))</pre>

CritMatrix = cat(2,CritMatrix,Param2(ind,8));

global critVec

critVec = cat(1,NWScrit,NAcrit,RTcrit,OTcrit,BCScrit,Weightcrit);

CritDev = [];

for i = 1:6

if i <= 4

```
CritDev = cat(2,CritDev,critVec(i)-nanstd(CritMatrix(:,i)));
```

else

```
CritDev = cat(2,CritDev,critVec(i)+nanstd(CritMatrix(:,i)));
```

end

end

```
NWScrit = CritDev(1);
```

set(handles.NWSedit,'string',num2str(CritDev(1)))

NAcrit = CritDev(2);

set(handles.NAedit,'string',num2str(CritDev(2)))

RTcrit = CritDev(3);

set(handles.RTedit,'string',num2str(CritDev(3)))

OTcrit = CritDev(4);

set(handles.OTedit,'string',num2str(CritDev(4)))

BCScrit = CritDev(5);

set(handles.BCSedit,'string',num2str(CritDev(5)))

Weightcrit = CritDev(6);

set(handles.Weightcrit,'string',num2str(CritDev(6)))

%% 4.Death delay calculation

```
NWSCheck = get(handles.NWS_checkbox,'value');
```

NACheck = get(handles.NA_checkbox,'value');

RTCheck = get(handles.RT_checkbox,'value');

OTCheck = get(handles.OT_checkbox,'value');

BCSCheck = get(handles.BCS_checkbox,'value');

WeightCheck = get(handles.Weight_checkbox,'value');

```
SurfCheck = get(handles.SurfTemp_checkbox,'value');
```

Vec = cat(1,NWSCheck,NACheck,RTCheck,OTCheck,BCSCheck,WeightCheck);

```
CheckVec = [];
```

for i = 1:length(Vec)

if Vec(i) == 1

CheckVec = cat(1,CheckVec,i);

end

end

```
Results = [];
```

AnimalVec = [];

for i = 1:DeadAnimalNb

AnimalVec = cat(1,AnimalVec,DeadAnimalind(i));

ind = find(Param2(:,1) == DeadAnimalind(i) & Param2(:,2) <= 8);</pre>

SurfTempValue = 0;

for j = 1:length(ind)

```
TempValue = 0;
```

```
if SurfCheck == 1
```

SurfTempValue = SurfTempValue + Param2(ind(j),9);

if SurfTempValue >= 2

disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(DeadAnimalind(i)),'--> death delay is :',num2str(Param2(ind(j),2))))

```
disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(DeadAnimalind(i)),'--> body surface temp >= 2'))
Results = cat(1,Results,Param2(ind(j),2));
break
end
end
```

if j < length(ind)

```
for k = 1:length(CheckVec)
```

```
if CheckVec(k) == 1 | CheckVec(k) == 2 | CheckVec(k) == 3 | CheckVec(k) == 4
if max(Param2(ind(1):ind(j),CheckVec(k)+2)) >= critVec(CheckVec(k))
TempValue = TempValue + 1;
end
elseif CheckVec(k) == 5 | CheckVec(k) == 6
if min(Param2(ind(1):ind(j),CheckVec(k)+2)) <= critVec(CheckVec(k))
TempValue = TempValue + 1;
end
end
end</pre>
```

```
if TempValue == length(CheckVec)
```

disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(DeadAnimalind(i)),'--> death delay is :',num2str(Param2(ind(j),2))))

```
Results = cat(1,Results,Param2(ind(j),2));
break
```

end

elseif j == length(ind)

for k = 1:length(CheckVec)

```
if CheckVec(k) == 1 | CheckVec(k) == 2 | CheckVec(k) == 3 | CheckVec(k) == 4
```

```
if max(Param2(ind(1):ind(j),CheckVec(k)+2)) >= critVec(CheckVec(k))
```

```
TempValue = TempValue + 1;
```

end

```
elseif CheckVec(k) == 5 | CheckVec(k) == 6
```

```
if min(Param2(ind(1):ind(j),CheckVec(k)+2)) <= critVec(CheckVec(k))
```

```
TempValue = TempValue + 1;
```

end

end

end

if TempValue == length(CheckVec)

disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(DeadAnimalind(i)),'--> death delay is :',num2str(Param2(ind(j),2))))

```
Results = cat(1,Results,Param2(ind(j),2));
```

break

else

```
disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(DeadAnimalind(i)),'--> welfare scores are still satisfactory'))
```

Results = cat(1,Results,0);

break

end

end

end

end

set(handles.edit1,'string',num2str(cat(2,AnimalVec,Results)))

%% _____Predicting death_____

function Go2_Callback(hObject, eventdata, handles)

global Param2 global DeadAnimalind global critVec

NWSCheck = get(handles.NWS_checkbox,'value');

NACheck = get(handles.NA_checkbox,'value');

RTCheck = get(handles.RT_checkbox,'value');

OTCheck = get(handles.OT_checkbox,'value');

BCSCheck = get(handles.BCS_checkbox,'value');

WeightCheck = get(handles.Weight_checkbox,'value');

SurfCheck = get(handles.SurfTemp_checkbox,'value');

```
Vec = cat(1,NWSCheck,NACheck,RTCheck,OTCheck,BCSCheck,WeightCheck);
```

CheckVec = [];

```
for i = 1:length(Vec)
  if Vec(i) == 1
    CheckVec = cat(1,CheckVec,i);
  end
end
```

global NWScrit

```
global NAcrit
```

global RTcrit

global OTcrit

global BCScrit

global Weightcrit

```
critVec = cat(1,NWScrit,NAcrit,RTcrit,OTcrit,BCScrit,Weightcrit);
```

AliveAnimalind = [];

```
for i = 1:max(Param2(:,1))
```

if isempty(find(DeadAnimalind(:) == i))

```
AliveAnimalind = cat(1,AliveAnimalind,i);
```

end

end

Results = [];

AnimalVec = [];

for i = 1:length(AliveAnimalind)

AnimalVec = cat(1,AnimalVec,AliveAnimalind(i));

ind = find(Param2(:,1) == AliveAnimalind(i));

if length(ind) < 17

disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(AliveAnimalind(i)),'--> welfare scores are still
satisfactory'));

```
Results = cat(1,Results,0);
```

else

```
if SurfCheck == 1
SurfTempValue = sum(Param2(ind(16):ind(end),9) > 0);
if SurfTempValue >= 3
```

```
disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(AliveAnimalind(i)),'--> body surface temp >= 3'))
```

```
disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(AliveAnimalind(i)),'--> needs to be killed
```

ASAP'))

Results = cat(1,Results,1);

else

```
TempValue = 0;
```

```
for k = 1:length(CheckVec)
```

```
if CheckVec(k) == 1 | CheckVec(k) == 2 | CheckVec(k) == 3 | CheckVec(k) ==
if max(Param2(ind(16):ind(end),CheckVec(k)+2)) >= critVec(CheckVec(k))
TempValue = TempValue + 1;
end
elseif CheckVec(k) == 5 | CheckVec(k) == 6
if min(Param2(ind(16):ind(end),CheckVec(k)+2)) <= critVec(CheckVec(k))
TempValue = TempValue + 1;
end
end
end
if TempValue == length(CheckVec)</pre>
```

disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(AliveAnimalind(i)),'--> needs to be killed'))
Results = cat(1,Results,1);

else

4

```
disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(AliveAnimalind(i)),'--> welfare scores are still
satisfactory'))
```

```
Results = cat(1,Results,0);
```

end

end

else

```
TempValue = 0;
```

```
for k = 1:length(CheckVec)
```

```
if CheckVec(k) == 1 | CheckVec(k) == 2 | CheckVec(k) == 3 | CheckVec(k) == 4
if max(Param2(ind(16):ind(end),CheckVec(k)+2)) >= critVec(CheckVec(k))
TempValue = TempValue + 1;
end
```

```
elseif CheckVec(k) == 5 | CheckVec(k) == 6
```

```
if min(Param2(ind(16):ind(end),CheckVec(k)+2)) <= critVec(CheckVec(k))
```

```
TempValue = TempValue + 1;
```

end

end

end

```
if TempValue == length(CheckVec)
```

disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(AliveAnimalind(i)),'--> needs to be killed'))

Results = cat(1,Results,1);

else

```
disp(strcat('Animal nb :',num2str(AliveAnimalind(i)),'--> welfare scores are still
satisfactory'))
```

```
Results = cat(1,Results,0);
end
```

end

end

end

set(handles.edit3,'string',num2str(cat(2,AnimalVec,Results)

Appendix-III (Published journal articles)

FULL-LENGTH ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Epilepsia

Cannabidiol reduces seizures and associated behavioral comorbidities in a range of animal seizure and epilepsy models

Pabitra Hriday Patra^{1,2} | Melissa Barker-Haliski³ (D | H. Steve White³ | Benjamin J. Whalley⁴ | Sarah Glyn^{1,2} | Haramrit Sandhu¹ | Nicholas Jones⁴ | Michael Bazelot^{1,4} | Claire M. Williams² | Alister James McNeish¹ (D

¹School of Pharmacy, University of Reading, Reading, United Kingdom ²School of Psychology and Clinical Language Sciences, University of Reading, Reading, United Kingdom

³Department of Pharmacy, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington

⁴GW Research, Cambridge, United Kingdom

Correspondence

Alister James McNeish, School of Pharmacy, University of Reading, Reading, United Kingdom. Email: a.mcneish@reading.ac.uk and Claire M. Williams, School of Psychology and Clinical Language Sciences, University of Reading, Reading, United Kingdom. Email: claire.williams@reading.ac.uk

Funding information

GW Research; National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, Grant/ Award Number: HHSN 271201100029 C

Summary

Objective: Epilepsy is a progressive neurological disease characterized by recurrent seizures and behavioral comorbidities. We investigated the antiseizure effect of cannabidiol (CBD) in a battery of acute seizure models. Additionally, we defined the disease-modifying potential of chronic oral administration of CBD on associated comorbidities in the reduced intensity status epilepticus–spontaneous recurrent seizures (RISE-SRS) model of temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE).

Methods: We evaluated the acute antiseizure effect of CBD in the maximal electroshock seizure, 6-Hz psychomotor seizure, and pentylenetetrazol acute seizure tests, as well as the corneal kindling model of chronic seizures in mice following intraperitoneal administration. Median effective or behavioral toxic dose was determined in both mice and rats. Next, we tested an intravenous preparation of CBD (10 mg/kg single dose) in a rat model of pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus. We defined the effect of chronic CBD administration (200 mg/kg orally) on spontaneous seizures, motor control, gait, and memory function in the rat RISE-SRS model of TLE.

Results: CBD was effective in a battery of acute seizure models in both mice and rats following intraperitoneal administration. In the pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus rat model, CBD attenuated maximum seizure severity following intravenous administration, further demonstrating CBD's acute antiseizure efficacy in this rat model. We established that oral CBD attenuated the time-dependent increase in seizure burden and improved TLE-associated motor comorbidities of epileptic rats in the RISE-SRS model without affecting gait. Chronic administration of CBD after the onset of SRS ameliorated reference memory and working memory errors of epileptic animals in a spatial learning and memory task.

Significance: The present study illustrates that CBD is a well-tolerated and effective antiseizure agent and illustrates a potential disease-modifying effect of CBD on reducing both seizure burden and associated comorbidities well after the onset of symptomatic seizures in a model of TLE.

Williams and McNeish contributed equally.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

© 2018 The Authors Epilepsia published by Wiley Periodicals, Inc. on behalf of International League Against Epilepsy

³⁰⁴ Epilepsia⁻

KEYWORDS

cannabinoids, gait, maximal electroshock, memory, motor function, pilocarpine

1 | **INTRODUCTION**

Epilepsy is a progressive, chronic neurological disorder characterized by recurrent seizures.¹ Approximately 65 million people worldwide live with epilepsy, of whom ~30% are considered pharmacoresistant to the currently available antiseizure drugs (ASDs).² Seizures, although the primary symptom, are not the only aspect of epilepsy that affects a patient's quality of life. Several comorbidities (eg, depression, anxiety, motor disorder, cognitive deficits, social dysfunction) also contribute to a reduced quality of life in addition to the poor prognosis associated with the disease.³ Furthermore, currently available ASDs are also known to produce a variety of cognitive, psychiatric, and motor adverse effects^{4,5}; thus, therapies that do not carry the potential to increase the adverse effects liability are in significant clinical demand.

Cannabis has been used since prehistoric times to treat several diseases, including epilepsy.⁶ However, the therapeutic benefits of whole cannabis are overshadowed by its psychoactive effects,⁷ which have limited its clinical use. More than 100 phytocannabinoids have been isolated, of which Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol, cannabidiol (CBD), and cannabidivarin are considered most relevant in the treatment of epilepsy; however, Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol has poor clinical potential due to its psychoactive and potential proconvulsive properties, which may limit chronic use.^{1,6} CBD has been shown to have antiseizure activity in several animal models.^{6,8–10} Given its anticonvulsant efficacy in phase 3 clinical trials, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2018 approved CBD (Epidiolex; GW Research) as a drug for the treatment of seizures associated with Dravet syndrome or Lennox-Gastaut syndrome in patients 2 years of age and older.^{11–13}

Here, we initially tested CBD in a battery of well-established preclinical seizure and epilepsy models following intraperitoneal administration to define CBD's pharmacological profile and differentiate it from other ASD standards of care. Second, we investigated the efficacy of intravenous (IV) pretreatment with CBD in the rat pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus (SE) model. SE is one of the most common medical emergencies in patients with epilepsy, and is clinically defined as a seizure lasting >5 minutes or repetitive seizures within this time frame without regaining consciousness.¹⁴ The pilocarpine-induced SE model is typically sensitive to most ASDs when they are administered prior to or commensurate with SE onset; nonetheless, this model is useful to interrogate pharmacological efficacy in a severe

Key Points

- CBD is effective in a battery of acute seizure models following intraperitoneal administration
- CBD is effective in attenuating maximum seizure severity following intravenous administration in rats
- Oral CBD can attenuate time-dependent increase in seizure burden and motor comorbidities in a rat model of TLE
- Oral CBD can reverse epilepsy-induced cognitive deficits in a rat model of TLE
- This is the first study to demonstrate the diseasemodifying effect of CBD on spontaneous recurrent seizure and associated comorbidities

seizure model. Finally, there is little information on the potential of CBD to modify epilepsy-related behavioral comorbidities despite its preclinical and clinical ability to provide acute seizure control.^{6,8-11,13} Furthermore, no preclinical study has yet shown that sustained exposure to CBD not only reduces seizure burden in a temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) model but can also attenuate the severity of the associated behavioral comorbidities. Therefore, as a final step we assessed the effects of chronic oral administration of CBD on spontaneous seizures and associated behavioral comorbidities in the newly developed reduced intensity SE-induced spontaneous recurrent seizures (RISE-SRS) model.¹⁵ The RISE-SRS model exhibits a similar disease progression and pathology as the traditional post-SE rat models, but with reduced mortality during the immediate post-SE period. This model provides a platform for the conduct of long-duration disease modification studies with candidate investigational therapies. Of note, the present study utilized a clinically relevant treatment design, as animals were only enrolled to receive CBD well after the onset of SRS. The results of the present study indicate that CBD exerts acute antiseizure efficacy by multiple routes of administration in several well-validated preclinical seizure and epilepsy models with a preclinical profile that is different from other prototype ASDs.^{16,17} Moreover, this present study provides the first demonstration in a preclinical model of TLE to suggest that CBD may exert potential diseasemodifying effects on SRS and attendant behavioral comorbidities.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

All materials and methods are described in online Appendix S1.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | CBD demonstrates acute antiseizure efficacy following intraperitoneal administration in a battery of well-established acute rodent seizure models

CBD (intraperitoneal [IP]) was initially evaluated for acute antiseizure efficacy in a battery of well-defined rodent seizure and epilepsy models (Table 1). These models have formed the basis for ASD discovery for decades^{17,18} and were thus employed to initially define the acute antiseizure efficacy of CBD relative to standard ASDs.¹⁷ For the purposes of the present study, we have also included the efficacy data for the ASDs phenobarbital (PB), valproic acid (VPA), and felbamate (FBM) as reported in the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke public database PANAChE (Table 1). The rotarod test was used to determine the potential for CBD to induce minimal motor impairment in mice and to calculate a median behaviorally impairing dose (TD50). Male mice were found to be impaired in their ability to perform on the rotorod test at a TD50 of 272 mg/kg (95% confidence interval [CI] = 241-303) when it was administered IP 1 hour prior to testing. In the antiseizure tests in mice, IP administration of CBD prior to electrical stimulation was found to block tonic extension seizures induced by maximal electroshock seizure (MES) in male mice with a median effective dose (ED50) of 80.0 mg/kg (95% CI = 65.5-96.0), yielding a protective index (PI; TD50/ED50) of 3.4. CBD was also effective in male mice against clonic seizures induced by subcutaneous administration of pentylenetetrazol when administered 1 hour prior to testing (ED50 = 120 mg/kg IP, PI = 2.3). CBD was found to protect male mice against the 6-Hz partial psychomotor seizure at two different currents following IP administration. With a 32-mA stimulation delivered 1 hour after drug administration, CBD had an ED50 of 144 mg/kg, yielding a PI for this test of 1.9. Importantly, CBD was also found to be effective and retained its potency at the 44-mA stimulation current in the 6-Hz test when administered 1 hour prior to electrical stimulation; ED50 at this current and time point of 173 mg/kg (PI = 1.6). Additionally, in male corneal kindled mice, the ED50 of CBD was determined to be 144 mg/kg (PI = 1.9). Thus, CBD demonstrates broad antiseizure efficacy in several well-validated mouse models of acute (MES, subcutaneous pentylenetetrazol, 6 Hz) and chronic (corneal kindled) seizures at doses well below the motor-impairing dose.

-Epilepsia^{__}

305

In male rats, visual evaluation of minimal motor impairment was scored by a trained investigator to determine the adverse effects of CBD on behavioral performance. Naive male rats were not found to be impaired on this test following administration of CBD doses up to 500 mg/kg; thus, a TD50 was determined to exceed 500 mg/kg (IP). In the antiseizure tests in rats, IP administration of CBD 2 hours prior to electrical stimulation was found to block tonic extension seizures induced by MES with an ED50 of 53.2 mg/kg, yielding a PI of >9.4. Thus, as demonstrated in male mice, CBD was effective in the rat MES test at a dose well below the motor-impairing dose. Based on this demonstration of efficacy and tolerability in several wellestablished acute seizure models in rats and mice. CBD was further evaluated in the pilocarpine-SE model and an etiologically relevant rat model of post-SE TLE.

3.2 | IV administration of CBD reduces severity of pilocarpine-induced SE

The pilocarpine-induced SE model is a well-established model of severe generalized seizures that is often used in the pursuit of novel ASDs. Based on the acute efficacy of CBD in the rat MES test following IP administration (Table 1), CBD was administered by the IV route 1 hour prior to the onset of SE to determine any potential for effect on maximal SE severity. This dose of CBD was found to significantly attenuate the maximum seizure severity (MSS; P < 0.05) compared to the vehicle-treated group (Figure 1A). To demonstrate the validity of the protocol and tractability of the model, we also evaluated the efficacy of a supratherapeutic dose of PB (30 mg/kg IV). Administration of PB 30 minutes prior to SE onset significantly reduced the MSS (P < 0.0001) relative to the vehicle-treated group (Figure 1B). It should be emphasized that the doses of CBD versus PB tested in this model were not pharmacologically equivalent (Table 1), as the IV dose of CBD was threefold lower than the rat MES ED50 (IP), whereas the dose of PB was 15-fold higher than the rat MES ED50 (IP). Of note, no mortality was observed in any of the experimental animals during the behavioral seizure monitoring period. Thus, CBD pretreatment was found to acutely attenuate MSS in this rat model of SE to a degree consistent with PB.

3.3 | Chronic oral administration of CBD attenuates seizure burden in the RISE-SRS model of TLE

3.3.1 | Chronic oral administration of CBD reduces long-term seizure burden

To evaluate the effect of chronic CBD administration on disease progression, we examined the effect of treatment

TABLE 1 Effect of CBD, PB, VPA, and FBM in acute mouse and rat seizure models

Epilepsia

Antiseizure Test	CBD ED50, mg/kg IP (95% CI) PI	CBD TPE, h	PB ED50, mg/kg IP (95% CI) ^a PI	PB TPE, h	VPA ED50 mg/kg IP (95% CI) ^a PI	VPA TPE, h	FBM ED50 mg/kg IP (95% CI) ^a PI	FBM TPE, h
Maximal electroshock, mouse	80 (65.5-96.0) 3.4	1	11.3 (9.39-13.7) 4.0	2	213 (138-274) 1.8	0.25	49.3 (39.8-78.3) 9.1	1
Subcutaneous pentylenetetrazol, mouse	120 (98.5-146) 2.3	1	13.9 (12.1-16.0) 3.3	0.5	305 (212-403) 1.3	0.25	219 (150-331) 2.1	1
6 Hz, 32 mA, mouse	144 (102-194) 1.9	1	14.8 (8.92-23.9) 3.1	0.5	139 (92.4-197) 2.8	0.25	72.9 (55.3-89.6) 6.2	1
6 Hz, 44 mA, mouse	173 (136-213) 1.6	1	No public data availab	ole	289 (242-384) 1.3	0.25	97.5 (79.3-122) 4.6	1
Corneal kindled mouse	115 (77.5-169) 2.4	1	9.42 (7.91-17.0) 4.8	0.5	174 (135-208) 2.2	0.25	No public data availal	ble
Minimal motor impairment, TD50, mouse rotarod	272 (241-303)	2	45.5 (41.8-49.3)	0.25	390 (382-396)	0.25	452 (363-563)	1
Maximal electroshock, rat	53.2 (39.1-67.0) 9.4	2	2.61 (1.70-4.04) 15.7	2	212 (167-256) 2.2	0.25	35.0 (21.9-52.3) 16.4	0.5
Minimal motor impairment, TD50, rat open field analysis	> 500 (ND)	ND	41.2 (37.0-46.6)	0.5	470 (431-497)	0.5	573 (285-886)	1
Maximal electroshock, formulation vehicle, mice	0/4 protected	1	Methylcellulose; no po data available	ublic	Methylcellulose; no data available	public	Methylcellulose; no p data available	ublic
6 Hz, 32 mA, formulation vehicle, mice	0/4 protected	1	Methylcellulose; no po data available	ublic	Methylcellulose; no data available	public	Methylcellulose; no p data available	ublic
Maximal electroshock, formulation vehicle, rats	0/4 protected	1	Methylcellulose; no po data available	ublic	Methylcellulose; no data available	public	Methylcellulose; no p data available	ublic

CBD, cannabidiol; CI, confidence interval; ED50, median effective dose; FBM, felbamate; IP, intraperitoneal; ND, not done; PB, phenobarbital; PI, protective index; TD50, median behaviorally impairing dose; TPE, time to peak effect; VPA, valproic acid.

^aData are from the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke PANAChE database (https://panache.ninds.nih.gov/ChemDetail.aspx?CHEM_ID= 2&TEST_NO=7B#seereport).

upon seizure burden and seizure burden ratio of rats displaying chronic epilepsy. The seizure burden ratio was calculated from the seizure burden in each recording session by using the following formula: seizure burden ratio = (mean seizure burden in final bin) / (mean seizure burden in first bin). A higher seizure burden ratio therefore indicates a worsening of the disease over time (Figure 2B and 2C), as is typical of post-SE rat models of TLE.^{15,19} The seizure burden ratio was significantly greater in vehicletreated epileptic animals compared to CBD-treated epileptic animals (n = 10 per group; Mann-Whitney test, U = 22, P < 0.05; Figure 2B). Moreover, disease severity was improved (seizure burden ratio < 1) significantly in 70% of the CBD-treated animals, in contrast to only 10% of vehicle-treated rats (Fisher's exact test, P < 0.05; Figure 2C). CBD-treated epileptic rats did not demonstrate a timedependent increase in seizure burden (Wilcoxon matchedpairs test, W = -31, P = 0.13; Figure 2E) observed by a change of median value from 28.50 (interquartile range [IQR] = 26.81-39.75) to 24.75 (IQR = 19.69-35.94), whereas vehicle-treated rats showed a robust increase in seizure burden from a median value of 25.75



FIGURE 1 Acute administration of subtherapeutic doses of cannabidiol (CBD) attenuates maximum seizure severity to a similar degree as supratherapeutic doses of the prototype antiseizure drug, phenobarbital (PB), in the pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus rat model. A, Median maximum seizure severity of vehicle (n = 15) and CBD (n = 12, 10 mg/kg intravenous [IV]). CBD or vehicle was administered to rats 1 hour prior to systemic administration of the chemoconvulsant pilocarpine. CBD-treated rats demonstrated significantly reduced maximum seizure severity compared to vehicle-treated rats. B, Median maximum seizure severity of PB (n = 13, 30 mg/kg IV) and its vehicle (n = 12). PB or vehicle was administered to rats 1 hour prior to systemic administration of the chemoconvulsant pilocarpine. PB-treated rats demonstrated significantly reduced maximum seizure severity compared to vehicle-treated rats administration of the chemoconvulsant pilocarpine. PB-treated rats demonstrated significantly reduced maximum seizure severity compared to vehicle-treated rats administration of the chemoconvulsant pilocarpine. PB-treated rats demonstrated significantly reduced maximum seizure severity compared to vehicle-treated rats (raw maximum seizure severity data), confirming the therapeutic responsiveness of the model. Data are expressed as median, minimum to maximum, and interquartile range. Data were analyzed by Mann-Whitney test, **P* < 0.05, *****P* < 0.0001

(IQR = 18.94-39.34) to 30.13 (IQR = 21.00-49.91) in this same time period (Wilcoxon matched-pairs test, W = 53, P < 0.01; Figure 2D).

3.3.2 | Chronic oral administration of CBD to RISE-SRS rats attenuates the severity of behavioral comorbidities of TLE

Motor coordination

Motor coordination was tested with the accelerating rotarod test. A significant difference in time spent on the accelerating rod was observed among the groups (one-way analysis of variance [ANOVA], $F_{2, 27} = 5.996$, P < 0.01). The Holm-Sidak post hoc test revealed that naive vehicle-treated (P < 0.05) and epileptic CBD-treated (P < 0.01) animals spent significantly more time on the rod, compared to the epileptic vehicle-treated group. This motor test indicates that chronic oral CBD administration attenuated the TLE-induced motor dysfunction (Figure 3A).

Gait

The gait test was performed to assess left stride length, right stride length, and stride width of the animals. No significant differences among the groups were observed for any of these parameters (one-way ANOVA; for left stride length, $F_{2, 27} = 0.019$; for right stride length, $F_{2, 27} = 0.198$; for stride width, $F_{2, 27} = 0.842$; Figure 3B-D). Furthermore, as animals were actively on CBD or vehicle

therapy during this motor performance test, this study demonstrates that the dose of CBD necessary to reduce seizure burden was not associated with motor-impairing effects in rats with SRS.

307

Cognitive function

To assess the effect of CBD on cognitive performance, epileptic animals were challenged in the hole board test of reference and working memory. In this study, an agematched cohort of nonepileptic, naive rats was also included to determine whether chronic CBD administration could normalize behavioral performance. Chronic oral administration of CBD to epileptic rats was found to significantly reduce the number of reference memory errors (RMEs) and working memory errors (Figure 4). A significant difference in RMEs was observed among the groups (one-way ANOVA, $F_{2, 42} = 15.06$, P < 0.0001). Here, the naive vehicle-treated (P < 0.0001) and epileptic CBD-treated (P < 0.05) rats made significantly fewer RMEs (Figure 4A) compared to the epileptic vehicle-treated rats (Holm-Sidak post hoc test). However, the CBD-treated epileptic rats made significantly more RMEs when compared to the naive vehicle-treated group (Holm-Sidak post hoc test, P < 0.05). Therefore, CBD failed to completely restore the reference memory in epileptic animals to the extent of their naive, nonepileptic controls. Working memory was similarly affected (one-way ANOVA, $F_{2, 42} = 35.72$, P < 0.0001; Figure 4B), with the epileptic vehicle-treated group



308

FIGURE 2 Chronic administration of cannabidiol (CBD) modifies the overall spontaneous seizure burden ratio and seizure burden in the reduced intensity status epilepticus (SE)–induced spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRS) rat model of chronic temporal lobe epilepsy up to 7 weeks postinsult. A, Study time line for the epileptic animals. PSBB, postseizure behavioral battery. B, Median seizure burden ratio of epileptic vehicle-treated and epileptic CBD-treated animals recorded during a 7-week continuous video monitoring period. CBD significantly reduced the seizure burden ratio compared to the vehicle-treated counterpart (n = 10/group; data were analyzed by Mann-Whitney test, **P* < 0.05). Data are expressed as median, minimum to maximum, and interquartile range. C, Number of epileptic vehicle-treated and epileptic CBD-treated animals with seizure burden ratio < or > 1 (data were analyzed by Fisher's exact test, **P* < 0.05). D, Median seizure burden before and after vehicle treatment. Seizure burden was increased significantly in this group at the end of the observation period (n = 10; data were analyzed by Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-rank test, ***P* < 0.01). E, Median seizure burden before and after CBD treated rats showed no change in seizure burden (n = 10; data were analyzed by Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-rank test)



FIGURE 3 Chronic administration of cannabidiol (CBD) to spontaneously epileptic rats improves some indices of motor coordination 6 weeks after status epilepticus. A, Mean time (in seconds) spent on accelerated rotarod. The naive vehicle-treated and epileptic CBD-treated groups spent significantly more time on the accelerating rotarod compared to the epileptic vehicle-treated group (n = 10/group). B, There were no significant differences in mean left stride length (in millimeters) of naive vehicle-treated, epileptic vehicle-treated, and epileptic CBD-treated rats (n = 10/group). C, There were no significant differences in mean right stride length (in millimeters) between naive vehicle-treated, epileptic vehicle-treated, and epileptic CBD-treated rats (n = 10/group). D, There were no significant differences in mean stride width (in millimeters) of naive vehicle-treated, epileptic vehicle-treated, and epileptic CBD-treated rats (n = 10/group). Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Data were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance with Holm-Sidak post hoc test, *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01





FIGURE 4 Chronic administration of cannabidiol (CBD) to reduced intensity status epilepticus-induced spontaneous recurrent seizures rats reduces onset of behavioral comorbidities of epilepsy in the hole-board task of spatial memory. A, Mean reference memory errors in naive vehicle-treated, epileptic vehicle-treated, and epileptic CBD-treated groups (n = 15 mean trial/group). CBD significantly improved reference memory error compared to the vehicle-treated epileptic group. B, Mean working memory errors. CBD significantly improved working memory error compared to the naive vehicle-treated and epileptic vehicle-treated groups. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Data were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance with Holm-Sidak multiple comparison test, **P* < 0.05, *****P* < 0.0001

demonstrating significantly more errors compared to the naive vehicle-treated group (Holm-Sidak post hoc test, P < 0.0001). Importantly, chronic CBD-treated rats demonstrated significantly fewer working memory errors compared to epileptic vehicle-treated animals (Holm-Sidak post hoc test, P < 0.0001). Interestingly, working memory performance for CBD-treated epileptic rats was superior to the naive vehicle-treated group (Holm-Sidak post hoc test, P < 0.05).

4 | DISCUSSION

In the present study, we have demonstrated the acute antiseizure efficacy of CBD in a battery of well-defined and established acute seizure tests in both mice and rats following IP administration. Our findings are consistent with other reports of the acute antiseizure efficacy of CBD in numerous preclinical seizure models.^{10,20} We have also demonstrated that acute IV administration of a subtherapeutic dose of CBD is able to significantly attenuate the MSS in the rat pilocarpine-induced SE model to a similar degree as a supratherapeutic dose of the prototype ASD, PB. Furthermore, we have demonstrated for the first time that chronic oral administration of CBD improves seizure burden ratio, motor comorbidities, and cognitive function in the RISE-SRS model of TLE in rats well after the onset of symptomatic seizures. Altogether, the present study further supports a growing body of evidence to demonstrate that CBD is a well-tolerated and effective therapy for acute and chronic seizures,¹¹ as well as now demonstrating

the potential that chronic oral administration of CBD may confer disease-modifying effects in an etiologically relevant preclinical model of TLE.

All of the FDA-approved ASDs exhibit acute antiseizure efficacy in one or more of the acute seizure and epilepsy models presently used for the evaluation of CBD.^{16,21} However, many of the FDA-approved ASDs are associated with significant motor adverse effects that may limit clinical utility. In this regard, we presently provide pharmacological data that suggest differentiation between CBD and the FDA-approved ASD, PB (Table 1). Of note, the activity profile of CBD in these acute seizure models is generally comparable to PB (Table 1). CBD is thus differentiated from numerous ASDs with broad-spectrum efficacy, including another broad-spectrum ASD, VPA (Table 1), because of this wide margin separating antiseizure efficacy and minimal motor impairment in numerous preclinical seizure models. The broad-spectrum efficacy and margin of safety of CBD are more directly comparable to FBM (Table 1), which, like CBD, is also approved for patients with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome.²² CBD presently demonstrated efficacy in the acute mouse MES, subcutaneous pentylenetetrazol, and 6-Hz assays at both 32- and 44-mA stimulus intensities. CBD also demonstrated a PI > 1.5 in the 6-Hz model of pharmacoresistant epilepsy at a 44-mA stimulus intensity, which substantially differentiates this compound from many other FDAapproved ASDs, including VPA.^{23,24} The activity of FBM is also preserved in the 44-mA version of the 6-Hz assay (Table 1); the PI of FBM is also much greater than CBD

in this assay (4.6 for FBM vs 1.6 for CBD; Table 1). As the 6-Hz stimulation intensity increases from 32 to 44 mA, most ASDs lose efficacy or are only effective at motorimpairing doses^{16,17,23,25}; thus, the finding that CBD retained efficacy and potency at both stimulation intensities in this assay at doses well below the mouse TD50 (272 mg/kg IP) suggests that CBD is highly differentiated from other FDA-approved ASDs (eg, PB and VPA; Table 1) and suggests potential for efficacy in pharmacoresistant patient populations akin to FBM. Unlike FBM, there have been no reports to date of hepatotoxicity or aplastic anemia with CBD use,^{26,27} but whether other clinical adverse events will emerge with greater clinical use of this agent remains to be determined.

The presently reported ED50 values in these acute mouse assays align with work reported by Klein and colleagues using CBD provided by the US National Institute of Drug Abuse¹⁰ and by an independent laboratory using the same CF-1 mouse strain.²⁸ However, we presently report significantly greater potency of CBD in the rat MES test than that reported by Klein and colleagues (ED50 = 88.9 mg/kg [95% CI = 69-124] IP¹⁰), likely due to differences in compound formulation, source, and purity. We also report that CBD exerted dose-dependent reductions in seizure score in the corneal kindled mouse model of chronic focal seizures, further suggesting that CBD is effective as an antiseizure agent in an epileptic substrate (ie, kindled rodents). Altogether, the presently reported pharmacological profile of CBD supports further evaluation of its broad clinical utility for epilepsy.

IV administration of CBD also reduced MSS in the pilocarpine-induced SE in rats (Figure 1A), consistent with earlier findings demonstrating efficacy of a preclinical CBD formulation administered via the IP route.⁹ We believe this is the first demonstration of the efficacy of IV CBD against the onset of SE, with this route of administration most commonly employed in the treatment of clinical SE.^{6,9} Although further studies are needed to define whether IV CBD can effectively reduce MSS after the onset of SE (eg, against benzodiazepine-resistant SE), the present results in the pilocarpine-SE model further support the acute antiseizure efficacy of CBD in diverse preclinical models of seizure.

TLE is one of the most common forms of acquired epilepsy in humans.²⁹ Therefore, we investigated the effect of a clinically relevant CBD administration protocol in the RISE-SRS model of TLE.¹⁵ We presently demonstrate that CBD is disease-modifying in this model, where all animals exhibit SRS before being assigned to treatment groups. Specifically, chronic oral administration of CBD significantly decreased the seizure burden ratio of epileptic animals and improved reference memory function. Although CBD did not significantly reduce seizure burden after 7 weeks of treatment, it did markedly modify the natural disease course following SE, as demonstrated by no overall increase in the seizure burden from the first to final seizure monitoring bin (Figure 2). These findings are in stark contrast to the vehicle-treated post-SE rats, which demonstrated a notable, time-dependent increase in disease severity (ie, seizure burden ratio increased). Disease severity, as characterized by a seizure burden ratio < 1, was improved in 70% of the CBD-treated animals, in contrast to only 10% of vehicle-treated rats attaining such a ratio (Figure 2). Although several FDA-approved ASDs have demonstrated disease-modifying potential in preclinical models of chronic seizure,^{30,31} and CBD has been found to be disease-modifying in a mouse model of Dravet syndrome,³² to our knowledge, this is the first study to demonstrate such an effect with CBD in any preclinical TLE model. The third-generation ASD topiramate has demonstrated some potential for cognitive sparing and modification of behavioral deficits when administered shortly after SE onset,^{33,34} but no study has yet demonstrated such a disease-modifying effect when treatment is initiated well after the SE insult (8 weeks in present study). Although our study did not include a CBD washout arm, the present results demonstrate that chronic oral administration of CBD is associated with long-term improvements in disease trajectory in this rat model of epilepsy.

A number of ASDs (eg, PB, VPA, phenytoin) are reported to have an adverse effect on motor function characterized by dyskinesia in people with epilepsy.^{5,35–37} Moreover, patients on phenytoin and VPA treatment sometimes exhibit parkinsonism.⁵ Although we presently demonstrate that acute administration of CBD is well tolerated at doses up to 500 mg/kg (IP) in naive rats (Table 1), in line with prior reports,⁹ no studies have yet been conducted to examine the long-term effects of chronic CBD administration on tolerability and motor function in epileptic animals. Furthermore, no study has yet administered CBD for disease modification purposes after the onset of SRS. In this regard, the present study employed a clinically realistic treatment scenario in a preclinical model of TLE to demonstrate that chronic oral administration of CBD is associated with notable antiseizure efficacy, minimal adverse effects liability, and disease-modifying potential well after the onset of symptomatic seizures.

It is well known that humans and animals with epilepsy are more sensitive to adverse effects of ASDs³⁸; thus, our present findings that chronic oral administration of CBD in rats with epilepsy was not associated with any adverse effects further supports the potential of this agent for chronic clinical use in epilepsy patient populations. In addition to these drug-induced adverse effects on motor function, motor deficits are one of the most common comorbidities exhibited by patients with epilepsy.³⁹ Here, we used two well-validated models of motor function to assess the fine motor

³¹² Epilepsia⁻

control, balance, and gait of animals. Epileptic vehicle-treated animals fell from the accelerating rotarod sooner than the naive vehicle-treated ones, indicating that SRS produced significant motor dysfunction related to balance. Similar findings were reported previously in the rotarod⁴⁰ test, where motor dysfunction was exhibited by epileptic rats. In contrast, CBD-treated animals remained on the accelerating rotarod for a significantly longer time than the vehicle-treated epileptic animals. Thus, we show for the first time that CBD is not only well-tolerated by epileptic animals after prolonged oral administration, but that CBD reduces the severity of motor deficits induced by epilepsy.

Epileptic rats performed comparably to healthy animals in the gait test, which is consistent with gait disorders being rarely reported in adult epileptic patients with TLE. However, ASDs such as VPA and lacosamide have a detrimental effect on gait in human patients.^{35,37} It should be emphasized that animals were in the active CBD administration period during this motor test, suggesting that CBD at the dose tested did not confer any adverse effects on motor coordination. Our results demonstrate that chronic oral administration of CBD did not have any adverse effect on gait in rats with epilepsy. Clinical trials conducted on Dravet syndrome and Lennox-Gastaut syndrome patients also did not report any gait disturbances following CBD administration.^{11,13} Whether these side effects may also be absent in the general TLE patient population remains to be further determined.

Cognitive decline is a common comorbidity associated with TLE.⁴¹ For example, patients with TLE often exhibit poor executive control and working memory deficits,⁴² and amnesia or accelerated long-term loss of memory is also frequently reported in patients with TLE.⁴³ Cognitive function in animals is typically assessed using spatial memory tasks measuring reference memory and working memory errors.^{32,33} Reference memory can be defined as long-term storage of acquired information that remains constant over successive training sessions, whereas working memory is a form of short-term memory that refers to storage and manipulation of information acquired within a trial session.⁴⁴ Several spatial memory tasks (eg, radial arm maze, Morris water maze, hole-board task) have been used to evaluate these two types of memory in rodents.^{45,46} Here, we employed the hole-board task, where epileptic vehicletreated rats exhibited impairment of both the working and reference memory aspects of the hole-board test. These findings are comparable with previous studies of spatial or hippocampus-dependent memory in rats with TLE, for example, a delayed nonmatching to position task,⁴⁷ eight arm radial maze,⁴⁸ and Morris water maze.⁴⁹ In contrast, CBD-treated epileptic animals exhibited improved reference memory function compared to epileptic vehicle-treated animals; however, reference memory function was not restored to levels seen in healthy animals. Interestingly, our study

PATRA ET AL.

shows that chronic oral administration of CBD improved working memory function compared to both epileptic vehicle-treated and naive vehicle-treated animals. However, as we did not include a nonepileptic CBD treated group in our design, we are unable to ascertain whether CBD has memory enhancement properties in healthy animals. A memoryenhancement effect would be unusual, as previous studies using a radial arm maze have shown that CBD does not improve working memory function in healthy mice.^{50,51} Given that the integrity of the blood-brain barrier is commonly disrupted in epilepsy,⁵² a limitation of the present study is that we did not determine whether higher CBD concentrations were present in the brains of these epileptic rats. Thus, the dose of CBD required to reach this concentration might not be therapeutically significant in healthy animals. Although SRS are the primary cause of cognitive decline in TLE,⁵³ the improved cognitive function in the CBD-treated epileptic group might be due to a seizure-independent mechanism rather than solely by seizure reduction, for example, anti-inflammatory/neuroprotective action.⁶ However, further detailed investigation is thus warranted to shed light on the mechanism by which CBD improved the presently tested behavioral comorbidities.

Epidiolex (CBD) was approved by the FDA in 2018 for the treatment of seizures in the catastrophic pediatric encephalopathies Dravet syndrome and Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. The present study has demonstrated that CBD is also a good potential candidate drug for the treatment of spontaneous symptomatic seizures of TLE. Moreover, chronic oral administration of CBD also reduced severity of motor disorders and cognitive deficits typically associated with TLE, in line with prior demonstrations of disease-modifying effects in a mouse model of Dravet syndrome.³² Taken altogether, this study further illustrates that CBD not only is a potent and broad-spectrum ASD, but may also find use to attenuate cognitive deficits associated with TLE well after the onset of SRS.⁴¹ More detailed studies are thus required to investigate the potential mechanism of action for CBD as a disease-modifying agent for the patient with epilepsy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work described was funded by GW Research and the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke's Epilepsy Therapy Screening Program. Open-access fee was Supported by Greenwich Biosciences, Inc. P.H.P. is a post-graduate student sponsored by GW Research (Cambridge, UK) and the University of Reading. M.B.-H. and H.S.W. were supported by the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke's Epilepsy Therapy Screening Program contract HHSN 271201100029 C to H.S.W. while at the University of Utah.

DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

GW Research (Cambridge, UK) supplied CBD and financially supported this study. B.J.W., M.B., and N.J. are employees of GW Research. The other authors have no conflicts of interest to report. We confirm that we have read the Journal's position on issues involved in ethical publication and affirm that this report is consistent with those guidelines.

ORCID

Melissa Barker-Haliski Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0002-8175-0553

Alister James McNeish https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3466-8442

REFERENCES

- Hill AJ, Williams CM, Whalley BJ, et al. Phytocannabinoids as novel therapeutic agents in CNS disorders. Pharmacol Ther. 2012;133:79–97.
- World Health Organization. Epilepsy fact sheet. 2018. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/epilepsy. Accessed October 10, 2018.
- England MJ, Liverman CT, Schultz AM, et al. Epilepsy across the spectrum: promoting health and understanding. A summary of the Institute of Medicine report. Epilepsy Behav. 2012;25:266–76.
- George J, Kulkarni C, Sarma GRK. Antiepileptic drugs and quality of life in patients with epilepsy: a tertiary care hospital-based study. Value Health Reg Issues. 2015;6:1–6.
- Zaccara G, Cincotta M, Borgheresi A, et al. Adverse motor effects induced by antiepileptic drugs. Epileptic Disord. 2004;6:153–68.
- Rosenberg EC, Patra PH, Whalley BJ. Therapeutic effects of cannabinoids in animal models of seizures, epilepsy, epileptogenesis, and epilepsy-related neuroprotection. Epilepsy Behav. 2017;70:319–27.
- 7. Volkow ND, Baler RD, Compton WM, et al. Adverse health effects of marijuana use. N Engl J Med. 2014;370:2219–27.
- Do Val-da Silva RA, Peixoto-Santos JE, Kandratavicius L, et al. Protective effects of cannabidiol against seizures and neuronal death in a rat model of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. Front Pharmacol. 2017;8:131.
- Jones NA, Glyn SE, Akiyama S, et al. Cannabidiol exerts anticonvulsant effects in animal models of temporal lobe and partial seizures. Seizure. 2012;21:344–52.
- Klein BD, Jacobson CA, Metcalf CS, et al. Evaluation of cannabidiol in animal seizure models by the Epilepsy Therapy Screening Program (ETSP). Neurochem Res. 2017;42:1939–48.
- Devinsky O, Cross JH, Laux L, et al. Trial of cannabidiol for drug-resistant seizures in the Dravet syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:2011–20.
- 12. US Food and Drug Administration. FDA approves first drug comprised of an active ingredient derived from marijuana to treat rare, severe forms of epilepsy, 2018. Available at: https:// www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/uc m611046.htm. Accessed October 10, 2018.

- Thiele EA, Marsh ED, French JA, et al. Cannabidiol in patients with seizures associated with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome (GWPCARE4): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2018;391:1085–96.
- Trinka E, Cock H, Hesdorffer D, et al. A definition and classification of status epilepticus—report of the ILAE Task Force on Classification of Status Epilepticus. Epilepsia. 2015;56:1515–23.
- Modebadze T, Morgan NH, Peres IA, et al. A low mortality, high morbidity reduced intensity status epilepticus (RISE) model of epilepsy and epileptogenesis in the rat. PLoS One. 2016;11: e0147265.
- 16. Barker-Haliski M, Harte-Hargrove LC, Ravizza T, et al. A companion to the preclinical common data elements for pharmacological studies in animal models of seizures and epilepsy. A report of the TASK3 Pharmacology Working Group of the ILAE/AES Joint Translational Task Force. Epilepsia Open. 2018;3(Suppl 1):53–68.
- Barker-Haliski ML, Johnson K, Billingsley P, et al. Validation of a preclinical drug screening platform for pharmacoresistant epilepsy. Neurochem Res. 2017;42:1904–18.
- White HS, Barker-Haliski M. Antiepileptic drug discovery. In: Shorvon SD, Perucca E, Engel J Jr, eds. *The treatment of epilepsy*. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons; 2016:52–60.
- Hellier JL, Patrylo PR, Buckmaster PS, et al. Recurrent spontaneous motor seizures after repeated low-dose systemic treatment with kainate: assessment of a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Res. 1998;31:73–84.
- Consroe P, Wolkin A. Cannabidiol–antiepileptic drug comparisons and interactions in experimentally induced seizures in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1977;201:26–32.
- Bialer M, Twyman RE, White HS. Correlation analysis between anticonvulsant ED50 values of antiepileptic drugs in mice and rats and their therapeutic doses and plasma levels. Epilepsy Behav. 2004;5:866–72.
- Montouris GD, Wheless JW, Glauser TA. The efficacy and tolerability of pharmacologic treatment options for Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. Epilepsia. 2014;55(Suppl 4):10–20.
- Barton ME, Klein BD, Wolf HH, et al. Pharmacological characterization of the 6 Hz psychomotor seizure model of partial epilepsy. Epilepsy Res. 2001;47:217–27.
- Barker-Haliski ML, Löscher W, White HS, Galanopoulou AS. Neuroinflammation in epileptogenesis: insights and translational perspectives from new models of epilepsies. Epilepsia. 2017;58 (Suppl 3):39–47.
- Metcalf CS, West PJ, Thomson KE, et al. Development and pharmacologic characterization of the rat 6 Hz model of partial seizures. Epilepsia. 2017;58:1073–84.
- Cunha JM, Carlini EA, Pereira AE, et al. Chronic administration of cannabidiol to healthy volunteers and epileptic patients. Pharmacology. 1980;21:175–85.
- Iffland K, Grotenhermen F. An update on safety and side effects of cannabidiol: a review of clinical data and relevant animal studies. Cannabis Cannabinoid Res. 2017;2:139–54.
- Wallace MJ, Wiley JL, Martin BR, et al. Assessment of the role of CB1 receptors in cannabinoid anticonvulsant effects. Eur J Pharmacol. 2001;428:51–7.
- Jefferys JGR, Jiruska P. MODELS | The tetanus toxin model of temporal lobe epilepsy. In:Schwartzkroin PA, ed. *Encyclopedia of basic epilepsy research*. Oxford, UK: Academic Press; 2009:804–7.

Epilepsia

Epilepsia

- Potschka H, Soerensen J, Pekcec A, et al. Effect of eslicarbazepine acetate in the corneal kindling progression and the amygdala kindling model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Res. 2014;108:212–22.
- Brandt C, Gastens AM, Sun MZ, et al. Treatment with valproate after status epilepticus: effect on neuronal damage, epileptogenesis, and behavioral alterations in rats. Neuropharmacology. 2006;51:789–804.
- Kaplan JS, Stella N, Catterall WA, et al. Cannabidiol attenuates seizures and social deficits in a mouse model of Dravet syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114:11229–34.
- Shatskikh T, Zhao Q, Zhou JL, et al. Effect of topiramate on cognitive function and single units from hippocampal place cells following status epilepticus. Epilepsy Behav. 2009;14:40–7.
- Frisch C, Kudin AP, Elger CE, et al. Amelioration of water maze performance deficits by topiramate applied during pilocarpineinduced status epilepticus is negatively dose-dependent. Epilepsy Res. 2007;73:173–80.
- Ristić AJ, Vojvodić N, Janković S, et al. The frequency of reversible parkinsonism and cognitive decline associated with valproate treatment: a study of 364 patients with different types of epilepsy. Epilepsia. 2006;47:2183–5.
- Zaccara G, Perucca P, Loiacono G, et al. The adverse event profile of lacosamide: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Epilepsia. 2013;54:66–74.
- Bainbridge J, Backer MD, Eckhardt K, et al. Safety and tolerability of lacosamide monotherapy in the elderly: a subgroup analysis from lacosamide trials in diabetic neuropathic pain. Epilepsia Open. 2017;2:415–23.
- Klitgaard H, Matagne A, Lamberty Y. Use of epileptic animals for adverse effect testing. Epilepsy Res. 2002;50:55–65.
- Boelen S, Nieuwenhuis S, Steenbeek L, et al. Effect of epilepsy on psychomotor function in children with uncomplicated epilepsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2005;47:546–50.
- Krishnakumar A, Abraham PM, Paul J, et al. Down-regulation of cerebellar 5-HT(2C) receptors in pilocarpine-induced epilepsy in rats: therapeutic role of Bacopa monnieri extract. J Neurol Sci. 2009;284:124–8.
- Brooks-Kayal AR, Bath KG, Berg AT, et al. Issues related to symptomatic and disease-modifying treatments affecting cognitive and neuropsychiatric comorbidities of epilepsy. Epilepsia. 2013;54(Suppl 4):44–60.
- Lima EM, Rzezak P, Guimarães CA, et al. The executive profile of children with benign epilepsy of childhood with centrotemporal spikes and temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2017;72:173–7.
- Miller LA, Mothakunnel A, Flanagan E, et al. Accelerated long term forgetting in patients with focal seizures: incidence rate and contributing factors. Epilepsy Behav. 2017;72:108–13.
- 44. Olton DS. Mazes, maps, and memory. Am Psychol. 1979;34: 583–96.

- 45. Decker MW. Cognition models and drug discovery. In: Levin ED, Buccafusco JJ, eds. *Animal models of cognitive impairment*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press/Taylor & Francis; 2006. Chapter 16. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2526/. Accessed October 1, 2018.
- van der Staay FJ. Spatial working memory and reference memory of brown Norway and WAG rats in a holeboard discrimination task. Neurobiol Learn Mem. 1999;71:113–25.
- Schipper S, Aalbers MW, Rijkers K, et al. Accelerated cognitive decline in a rodent model for temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2016;65:33–41.
- Wolf DC, Bueno-Junior LS, Lopes-Aguiar C, et al. The frequency of spontaneous seizures in rats correlates with alterations in sensorimotor gating, spatial working memory, and parvalbumin expression throughout limbic regions. Neuroscience. 2016;312: 86–98.
- Kalemenev SV, Zubareva OE, Frolova EV, et al. Impairment of exploratory behavior and spatial memory in adolescent rats in lithium-pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Dokl Biol Sci. 2015;463:175–7.
- Magen I, Avraham Y, Ackerman Z, et al. Cannabidiol ameliorates cognitive and motor impairments in bile-duct ligated mice via 5-HT(1A) receptor activation. Br J Pharmacol. 2010;159:950–7.
- Avraham Y, Grigoriadis NC, Poutahidis T, et al. Cannabidiol improves brain and liver function in a fulminant hepatic failureinduced model of hepatic encephalopathy in mice. Br J Pharmacol. 2011;162:1650–8.
- Marchi N, Granata T, Ghosh C, et al. Blood-brain barrier dysfunction and epilepsy: pathophysiologic role and therapeutic approaches. Epilepsia. 2012;53:1877–86.
- van Rijckevorsel K. Cognitive problems related to epilepsy syndromes, especially malignant epilepsies. Seizure. 2006;15: 227–34.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

How to cite this article: Patra PH, Barker-Haliski M, White HS, et al. Cannabidiol reduces seizures and associated behavioral comorbidities in a range of animal seizure and epilepsy models. *Epilepsia*. 2019;60:303–314. https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.14629